

#### Elaboration et caractérisation de nouvelles architectures macromoléculaires à base de lignine : applications dans le domaine du bâtiment

Stéphanie Laurichesse

#### ► To cite this version:

Stéphanie Laurichesse. Elaboration et caractérisation de nouvelles architectures macromoléculaires à base de lignine : applications dans le domaine du bâtiment. Polymères. Université de Strasbourg, 2013. Français. NNT : 2013STRAE016 . tel-02003512

#### HAL Id: tel-02003512 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02003512v1

Submitted on 1 Feb 2019

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





### Thèse de doctorat de l'Université de Strasbourg

Ecole doctorale de Physique et Chimie-Physique

Discipline : Chimie des matériaux

Présentée par :

**Stéphanie Laurichesse** 

Pour l'obtention du grade de Docteur de l'Université de Strasbourg

Soutenue le 18 novembre 2013

#### Elaboration et caractérisation de nouvelles architectures macromoléculaires à base de lignine -Applications dans le domaine du bâtiment

THÈSE dirigée par : Luc AVEROUS

RAPPORTEURS : Antonio PIZZI Naceur BELGACEM

EXAMINATEUR : Pierre LUTZ Président du Jury Professeur, Université de Strasbourg

Professeur, Université de Lorraine Professeur, Institut Polytechnique de Grenoble (INPG)

Directeur de Recherche (CNRS), Institut Charles Sadron (ICS)

ICPEES, Institut de Chimie et Procédés pour l'Energie, l'Environnement et la Santé – UMR (CNRS) 7515 ECPM, Ecole Européenne de Chimie Polymères et Matériaux 25 rue Becquerel – 67087 Strasbourg Cedex 2

« Le succès c'est d'aller d'échecs en échecs sans perdre son enthousiasme »

Winston Churchill

Trois années se sont écoulées, une véritable aventure pour moi, jalonnée de difficultés bien sûr mais également de rencontres inoubliables. Je tiens donc en premier lieu à remercier et exprimer ma profonde gratitude à tous ceux, qui de près ou de loin, m'ont permis d'avancer et de ne jamais renoncer en gardant le sourire et l'enthousiasme.

Les travaux présentés dans cette thèse de doctorat ont fait l'objet d'une convention CIFRE entre la société SOPREMA et l'Institut de Chimie et Procédés pour l'Energie, l'Environnement et la Santé (ICPEES). J'aimerais tout d'abord remercier vivement le Pr. Avérous qui m'a permis de réaliser cette thèse dont le sujet me tenait à cœur. Il a su trouver les mots pour me pousser à me dépasser , ses conseils et ses critiques m'ont aidée à mener à bien ce travail.

Je tiens aussi à remercier particulièrement M. Rémi Perrin sans qui cette thèse n'aurait pu voir le jour. Je voudrais lui exprimer ma reconnaissance pour l'intérêt porté à mon travail et ses encouragements. J'associe également l'équipe encadrante de SOPREMA, Christine, Corinne, Céline, Sébastien, Pascal et bien sûr l'ensemble des techniciens pour leur soutien, et leurs petits conseils techniques...

Pour son expertise qui a permis de faire avancer de manière significative ce projet, ses conseils précieux sur la chimie des polyuréthanes, je remercie également le Pr. Jean Pierre Pascault.

Je remercie les professeurs Guy Schlatter et Cuong Pham-Huu pour m'avoir accueillie dans les laboratoires du LIPHT dorénavant dénommé l'ICPEES.

Je tiens également à témoigner toute ma reconnaissance à messieurs les Pr. Naceur Belgacem et Antonio Pizzi pour l'honneur qu'ils m'ont fait en acceptant d'être rapporteurs de ce travail de recherche et membres du jury. J'associe à ces remerciements, le Pr. Pierre Lutz pour avoir accepté de présider mon jury de thèse et d'avoir apporté son expertise à l'évaluation de celleci.

Ce travail de thèse n'aurait jamais pu voir le jour sans l'aide et le soutien de nombreuses personnes. J'espère que mon rire ne hante pas trop les couloirs du laboratoire ainsi que le retentissement de mes pas « pas vraiment discrets »... !

Un grand merci tout d'abord à ma « maman du labo », Catherine, tu as pris soin de moi pendant ces trois années, tu es la personne sur laquelle j'ai pu m'appuyer. Nos petites conversations matinales ont rythmé ces années, elles ont été un véritable souffle de bonne humeur pour moi et m'ont toujours remonté le moral pour repartir au deuxième étage et me relancer dans les manips! Un grand merci à toi.

Je continuerai bien sûr par l'ensemble des permanents du labo; les « piliers », toujours présents. Les deux Christophe bien sûr, tour à tour vous avez réparé les machines que j'ai maraboutées avec ma poisse infernale. Lorsque je venais frapper à votre bureau, ma venue était souvent accompagnée d'une mauvaise nouvelle mais vous m'avez toujours accueillie avec le sourire...Merci pour votre aide mais surtout pour votre calme et votre zénitude qui m'ont remis les pieds sur terre. !! Bien sûr je pense à également à Sébastien, toujours présent pour un conseil scientifique et technique (le fameux réacteur sous pression n'aurait jamais tourné sans toi !). Nos discussions scientifiques ou non m'ont toujours redonné la pêche. Tu es le pilier du deuxième étage pour tous les doctorants, merci à toi tout simplement pour toujours être présent pour nous. J'adresse également un remerciement particulier à Chheng pour avoir toujours répondu à mes besoins au labo, Sabine et Romain pour ces moments pause café, pâtisseries et chocolat durant ce dernier été ensoleillé...

Doctorants et Post-doctorants, beaucoup de personnes ont défilé dans ce laboratoire...Dans le désordre et sans oublier personne, merci à tous pour votre bonne humeur, pour toutes ces séances de rires et de fou-rires, et pour toutes ces discussions autour d'un café et d'un Fémina où, comme il se doit, nous avons refait le monde et conversé sur des sujets hautement « philosophiques »... !

Tout d'abord les premiers qui m'ont accueillie au laboratoire et voguent désormais vers de nouveaux horizons... Marie et Florence, les deux copines du bureau qui m'ont montré la voie. Docteur Floriane, tu m'as mis le pied à l'étrier pour les permières manips, et tu m'as donné confiance en moi pour les débuts... Inès, Véro, Jérôme (mon soutien sans faille, dans les bons et les mauvais moments tu as toujours été là). Les petites « nouvelles » qui ont bien grandi maintenant, Mumu (et ses fraises à la chantilly), Camille, Marie et Alice, la « dream team » SOPREMA, Salima (la deuxième Miss catastrophe du labo qui ne perd jamais sa bonne humeur !). Elena, Patricia (Madame Porto !), Corinne pour vos conseils de « vieilles » pendant la rédaction et pour toutes ces discussions autour d'un café. Parmi les étudiants du

labo, ils sont souvent de passage mais laissent toujours de très bons souvenirs. Je pense bien sûr à toute la bande des brésiliens qui se sont succédés au labo et ont apporté soleil et légéreté dans notre quotidien : Otilia, Ildeu, Wilson, João, Bruno, Rogerio, Juliano, Juliana et Marina. Enfin, les garçons du labo, Stéphane, Alexandre, F-X, Ikram, Wei, Ibrahim, Lukas, Thibaud ; vous avez apporté un peu de virilité dans ce laboratoire, un humour « masculin » mais surtout beaucoup de bonne humeur. Bon courage à tous pour la suite, je vous souhaite beaucoup de réussite mais surtout encore de grands moments de convivialité entre étudiants autour de quelques bières !

Je n'oublie bien sûr pas mes deux courageux stagiaires : Cédric et Canan. Un grand merci à tous les deux pour avoir répondu à mes exigences de thésarde et permis de faire avancer significativement mes travaux.

Enfin, une pensée particulière pour Dam. Nous sommes arrivés au laboratoire à quelques mois d'intervalle et avons partagé le même bureau. Je t'ai fait découvrir la pâtisserie et les gâteaux au chocolat, mais tu m'as apporté bien plus. Ta philosophie indienne m'a souvent fait relativiser et toujours redonner le sourire. Une amitié sincère et réelle s'est construite entre nous et je suis très fière de pouvoir compter dans mes amis une personne aux qualités humaines exceptionnelles telle que toi. Bon courage pour la suite, la vie est devant toi (tu en as sept!).

Je termine par une profonde pensée à mes parents et à ma petite sœur pour leur soutien sans faille durant ces trois années. Malgré la distance vous avez toujours su trouver les mots pour me faire avancer et m'aider à surmonter les différentes « épreuves » de cette thèse. Enfin, je remercie de tout cœur Fix, pour tout simplement avoir été là.

Cette thèse de doctorat a été rédigée en utilisant pour chaque chapitre le format habituellement adopté pour la rédaction d'article scientifique paraissant dans des revues à comité de lecture. L'indulgence du lecteur est ainsi sollicitée pour les répétitions et redites nécessairement inhérente à la forme de rédaction choisie.

Le présent mémoire de thèse a ainsi partiellement été rédigé en langue anglaise, conformément à l'autorisation délivrée par le Professeur Jean-Pierre Bucher, professeur des universités à l'Institut de Physique et Chimie des Matériaux de Strasbourg et directeur de l'Ecole Doctorale de Physique et Chimie-Physique.

# Communications liées à l'étude

#### **Publications**

Les résultats présentés dans cette thèse font l'objet de trois articles et d'une revue bibliographique.

#### • Article publié

- <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, L. Avérous. Synthesis, thermal properties, rheological and mechanical behaviors of lignins-grafted-poly(ε-caprolactone), *Polymer*, **2013**, 54, (15), 3882-3890.
- Articles en cours de publication
- <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, L. Avérous. Chemical modification of lignins: towards biobased polymers, *soumis dans Progress in Polymer Science (juin 2013)*.
- <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, C. Huillet, P. Pichon, L. Avérous. Original polyols based on organosolv lignin and fatty acids: new bio-based building blocks for polyurethanes synthesis, *soumis ultérieurement dans Green Chemistry*.
- <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, C. Ilan, L. Avérous. Novel segmented polyurethanes based on oxypropylated soda lignins: toward high performance materials, *soumis dans Green Chemistry (Septembre 2013)*.

#### Conférences

- <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, L. Avérous. New challenges for lignins: towards the synthesis of biobased polymeric materials. Woodchem 2011, 1-3 décembre 2011, Strasbourg (France) *Communication par poster*.
- <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, L, Avérous. New challenges for lignins: towards the synthesis of biobased polymeric materials. São Carlos Advanced School on Materials Science & Engineering (SanCAS-MSE), 25-31 mars 2012, São Carlos (Brésil) *Communication par poster*.
- <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, L. Avérous. Valorisation de la lignine: vers l'élaboration de nouveaux matériaux polymères. Journée de rencontres Bioplastiques Les Bioplastiques : polymères biosourcés et/ou biodégradables, 23 et 24 mai 2012, Strasbourg (France) *Communication par poster*.

- <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, L. Avérous. Valorisation de la lignine: vers l'élaboration de nouveaux matériaux polymères. Journée d'Etude des Polymères (JEPO 40), 30 septembre au 5 octobre **2012**, Anduze (France) *Communication orale*.
- S. Laurichesse, L. Avérous. Original polyol based on organosolv lignin: towards polyurethane synthesis. Woodchem 2013, 26-27 Septembre **2013**, Nancy (France) *Communication par poster*.
- <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, L. Avérous. Chemical modifications of lignin: Towards polymer synthesis. BIOPOL 2013, 1-3 Octobre **2013**, Rome (Italie) *Communication par poster*.
- A. Arbenz, <u>S. Laurichesse</u>, L. Avérous. Oxypropylation: Efficient polymerization process to obtain new biobased polyols for the development of innovative macromolecular architecture. BIOPOL 2013, 1-3 Octobre **2013**, Rome (Italie) *Communication par poster*.

## Liste des abréviations

AFM	Microscopie à force atomique
ATG / TGA	Analyse thermogravimétrique, i.e. courbe de perte de masse
BTX	Benzène Toluène et les Xylènes
С	Catalyseur
CES / SEC	Chromatographie à exclusion stérique
CL	Caprolactone
CDCl <sub>3</sub>	Chloroforme deutéré
DCM	Dichlorométhane
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
DMTA	Analyse thermo-mécanique dynamique
DBTDL	Dilaurate de dibutylétain
DP <sub>n</sub>	Degré de polymerisation
DSC	Calorimétrie différentielle à balayage
E (MPa)	Module d'Young
E' (Pa)	Module de conservation (DMTA)
E'' (Pa)	Module de perte (DMTA)
EL	Lignine estérifiée par l'acide oléique (Esterified lignin)
ELO	Lignine estérifiée-époxydée (Epoxy Lignin Oleate)
f	Fonctionnalité
FT-IR (ATR)	Spectroscopie infrarouge à transformée de Fourier –
	Réflexion totale atténuée
G' (Pa)	Module de conservation (ARES)
G'' (Pa)	Module de perte (ARES)
Н	Homopolymer
I <sub>OH</sub>	Indice d'hydroxyle
Ip / PDI	Indice de molécularité / Polydispersity Index
k (kg.mol <sup>-1</sup> .min <sup>-1</sup> )	Constante de vitesse
КОН	Hydroxyde de Potassium
L (SL- OL- KL)	Lignine (Lignine soda – lignine organosolve – lignine Kraft)
LOAP	Polyol à base de lignine estérifiée par l'acide oléique (Lignin-
	Oleic Acid Polyol)
LPU	Polyuréthane à base de lignine modifiée acide gras
$M_n$ (g.mol <sup>-1</sup> )	Masse molaire moyenne en nombre

$M_w$ (g.mol <sup>-1</sup> )	Masse molaire moyenne en poids
MEB / SEM	Microscopie électronique à balayage /
	Scanning electron microscopy
OC	Chlorure d'acide oléique (Oleoyl Chloride)
OL	Lignine oxypropylée (Oxypropylated lignin)
OLPU	Polyuréthane à base de lignine oxypropylée
P <sub>max</sub> (Bar)	Pression maximale
P <sub>x</sub>	Prepolymère polyuréthane synthétisé avec du PPO de masse
	molaire X (g.mol <sup>-1</sup> )
PCL	Poly(Caprolactone)
PEO	Poly(oxyde) d'éthylène / Poly(ethylene) oxide
PF	Phenol Formaldehyde
PMMA	Poly(méthacrylate) de méthyle
РО	Oxyde de propylène
РРО	Poly(propylène) oxyde / Polypropylene glycol
PU	Polyuréthane
PVC	Polychlorure de vinyle
RMN / NMR	Résonnance magnétique nucléaire / Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
$R (J.mol^{-1}.K^{-1})$	Constante des gaz parfaits
RI	Indice de réfraction
RPUF	Mousse rigide polyuréthane
SAXS	Diffusion des rayons X aux petits angles / Small-Angle X-ray
	Scattering
$Sn(Oct)_2$	Octanoate d'étain
T (°C ou K)	Température
$T_{\alpha}(^{\circ}C)$	Température de transition (DMTA)
$T_{c}(^{\circ}C)$	Température de cristallisation (DSC)
$T_{dmax}$ (°C)	Température de dégradation maximale
$T_{f}/T_{m}$ (°C)	Température de fusion (DSC)
T <sub>g</sub> (°C)	Température de transition vitreuse (DSC)
$T_{g SS}(^{\circ}C)$	Température de transition vitreuse des segments souples (soft
	segment)

$T_{gHS}/T_{gSR}(^{\circ}C)$	Température de transition vitreuse des segments rigides (hard
	segment)
T <sub>max</sub> (°C)	Température maximale
$T_{x\%}(^{\circ}C)$	Température à laquelle la perte de masse est égale à x% de la
	masse initiale
Tan δ	Angle de perte (DMTA et rhéologie)
TEA	Triéthylamine ou N,N-diéthyléthanamine
TEM	Microscopie électronique en transmission
THF	Tetrahydrofurane
UV	UltraViolet
V (mL)	Volume
WAX	Diffraction des rayons X aux grands angles- Wide Angle X-Ray
wt (%)	Pourcentage massique
$X_{c}(\%)$	Taux de cristallinité
δ (ppm)	Déplacement chimique (RMN)
$\Delta H_c (J.g^{-1})$	Enthalpie de cristallisation
$\Delta H_{f}/\Delta H_{m}(J.g^{\text{-}1})$	Enthalpie de fusion
$\Delta H_{f}^{\ 0}/ \ \Delta H_{m}^{\ 0} \ (J.g^{\text{-}1})$	Enthalpie de fusion du polymère 100% cristallin
ve	Densité de réticulation
ε (%)	Allongement à la rupture
σ (Pa)	Contrainte

# Liste des tables et figures

#### Chapitre I.

Table I- 1.	Properties	of to	echnica	l lignins.						
Table I- 2.	Summary	of	some	representative	systems	in	the	field	of	lignin
	esterification.									

#### Chapitre II.

Table II- 1.	Analysis results of Soda lignin.
Table II- 2.	Main parameters of SLPCL and blank syntheses with corresponding
	NMR and SEC results.
Table II- 3.	Thermal properties of SLPCL and blank samples.
Table II- 4.	Main degradation temperatures for the different SLPCL samples.
Table II- 5.	Reaction parameters for SLPCL synthesis with SEC and DSC results.
Table II- 6.	Uniaxial tensile tests results for samples with "soft behaviors".

#### Chapitre III.

Tableau III- 1	Formules brutes et structures des principaux acides gras contenant des
	insaturations.
Table III- 1.	Analysis results performed on organosolv lignin.
Table III- 2.	Synthesis of the different PUs with the corresponding designations and formulations.
Table III- 3.	Chemicals and materials used in the PU synthesis with their corresponding properties.
Table III- 4.	Dynamical mechanical and thermal properties for the synthesized polyurethanes.
Table III- 5.	Mechanical properties from uniaxial tensile tests of different synthesized PUs at ambient temperature with a crosshead speed of 20 mm.min <sup>-1</sup> .
Table III-S1.	T <sub>g</sub> data obtained from DSC experiments for blank PUs.
Table III-S2.	Glass transitions of soft and hard segments in lignin-based polyurethanes. Comparison of data obtained by DSC, DMTA and DRA experiments.

#### Chapitre IV.

**Table IV- 1.**Reaction parameters and operating conditions used during the<br/>oxypropylation.

Table IV- 2.	Reaction details for PU synthesis with four different oxypropylated lignins.
Table IV- 3.	Data concerning the PU formulations.
Table IV- 4.	Analysis results performed on Soda lignin.
Table IV- 5.	Chemical and thermal properties of oxypropylated lignins (OL).
Table IV- 6.	SEC results for OL and PPO-H fractions using PS standard.
Table IV- 7.	Signal assignments, hydroxyl content value and average arm lengths of PPO grafts from quantitative <sup>31</sup> P and <sup>1</sup> H analyses of soda lignin and OL samples.
Table IV- 8.	Main characteristics of OL samples based on quantitative <sup>1</sup> H and <sup>31</sup> P NMR results.
Table IV- 9.	Dynamical mechanical and thermal properties for the synthesized polyurethanes.
Table IV- 10.	Mechanical properties from uniaxial tensile tests of different synthesized OLPUs at ambient temperature with a crosshead speed of 20 mm.min <sup>-1</sup> .
Table IV- 11.	DSC results obtained for OLPU synthesized with $PM_{70/30}$ and $PM_{60/40}$ with various NCO:OH molar ratio respectively.

#### Conclusion

**Tableau C-1**Bilan des différentes caractéristiques des matériaux obtenus pour<br/>chacune des stratégies de synthèse retenues – Comparaison par rapport à<br/>un liant référence d'une membrane d'étanchéité.

#### Annexe

**Tableau A-1**Cahier des charges d'une membrane d'étanchéité.

\* \* \*

#### Introduction

Figure Int-1.	Représentation schématique de la structure de la paroi végétale
	secondaire. Outre la présence de cellulose, lignine et hémicellulose,
	d'autres constituants sont présents en moindres quantités tels que les
	protéines ou des composés phénoliques de faibles masses molaires.
Figure Int-2.	Organisation du manuscrit.

#### Chapitre I.

Figure I- 1.	The three main precursors of lignin (monolignols) and their corresponding structures in lignin polymers.
Figure I- 2.	Main linkages in a softwood lignin.
Figure I- 3.	Schematic concept of biorefinery based on lignocellulosic biomass.
Figure I- 4.	Different extraction processes to separate lignin from lignocellulosic
-	biomass and the corresponding productions of technical lignins.
Figure I- 5.	Global scheme of the uses of lignin with or without chemical modifications.
Figure I- 6.	Summary of main processes for lignin fragmentation.
Figure I- 7.	Processing temperatures used for lignin fragmentation.
Figure I- 8.	Global composition of the resulting products from the thermochemical conversion of the lignin.
Figure I- 9.	Aromatic compounds formed during lignin oxidation.
Figure I- 10.	Summary of the main types of reaction for the synthesis of new chemical
	active sites on lignin.
Figure I- 11.	Chemical modifications occurring during the DMSO production from
	lignin.
Figure I- 12.	Reaction scheme of lignin and formaldehyde with basic catalyst.
Figure I- 13.	Adapted representation of Mannich reaction of a simple phenolized sulfuric acid lignin compound with formaldehyde and dimethylamine.
Figure I- 14.	Summary of the chemical reactions for the functionalization of lignin
0	hydroxyl groups.
Figure I- 15.	Phenolysis reaction and potential reactive sites of phenolized lignin.
Figure I- 16.	Schematic representation of oxypropylation reaction performed using
	basic or acid catalyst, with the potential side reactions that can occurred.
Figure I- 17.	Reaction scheme for synthesis of HTPB polyurethane and lignin-HTPB
	copolyurethane.
Figure I- 18.	Example of rigid polyurethane foams made with lignin. A: PU foam
	based on 50% of organosolv lignin; B: PU foam based on 50%
	hardwood kraft lignin.
Figure I- 19.	General scheme of lignin macroinitiator synthesis and rosin polymer-
	grafted lignin composites.

Schéma de la formation d'un polyuréthane.
Structures des diisocyanates fréquemment utilisés.
Structure du dilaurate de dibutylétain (DBTDL).
Réaction de la fonction isocyanate en présence d'eau.
Ensemble des réactions secondaires pouvant s'effectuer avec les
isocyanates en conditions de synthèse particulières.
Schéma du procédé en deux étapes avec synthèse d'un prépolymère
intermédiaire pour l'élaboration de polyuréthanes.
Structure d'une séquence dans un polyuréthane linéaire.
Représentation schématique de la séparation de phase dans une matrice
polyuréthane.
Images MEB obtenues pour des mousses PU contenant respectivement
(i) 25%, (ii) 50%, (iii) 75% et (iv) 100% de polyols à base de lignine
organosolve (Alcell ®).
Photographie d'une mousse polyuréthane synthétisée à partir de lignine
organosolve oxypropylée

#### Chapitre II.

Figure II-1.	Structure et caractéristique de l' ɛ-caprolactone.
Figure II-2.	Mécanisme de polymérisation des lactones amorcé par Al(OR)3-
	mécanisme de coordination-insertion.
Figure II-3.	Structure de l'octanoate d'étain.
Figure II-4.	Schéma récapitulatif de la réaction de greffage de la PCL sur la lignine.
Figure II-5.	SEC chromatograms with RI (1 and 2) and UV (3 and 4) detectors for
	samples synthesized with CL/OH ratio of 5 and 50 and their
	corresponding blank syntheses.
Figure II-6.	FT-IR spectra of the SLPCL samples. Insets show the OH stretching
	$(3100-3700 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ and C=O stretching $(1680-1760 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ regions.
Figure II-7.	DSC curves showing the effect of chain lengths on the thermal
	properties.
Figure II-8.	TG curves of SLCPL and neat Soda lignin and PCL samples.
Figure II-9.	Isothermal dynamic frequency tests of SLPCL samples with different
	CL/OH ratios, at 80°C.
Figure II-10.	Isothermal dynamic frequency tests of SLPCL samples with different
	CL/OH ratios of 5 and 50 and their corresponding blank syntheses (neat
	PCL), at 80°C.
Figure II-11.	Relationships between the average-number of CL units per grafted
	chains and the reaction time for various OH/catalyst ratios. (•; 30, $\blacktriangle$ ;
	60, •; 120)
Figure II-12.	Relationships between the conversion of CL and the reaction time for
	various OH/catalyst ratios. (●; 30, ▲; 60, ■; 120)

**Figure II-13.** Isothermal dynamic frequency test of SLPCL samples.

#### Chapitre III.

Figure III-1.	Résumé des divers composés obtenus à partir de la fonctionnalisation
	des insaturations présentes sur les dérivés d'huiles végétales.
Figure III-2.	Structure de la linoléine époxydée.
Figure III-3.	Formation d'une fonction époxyde sous l'action d'un péracide et
	mécanisme associé.
Figure III-4.	Ouverture du cycle époxyde.
Figure III-5.	Mécanisme de l'ouverture du cycle époxy en conditions basique et acide.
Figure III-6.	Schéma général de la formation d'un diol vicinal à partir d'une fonction
	époxy.
Figure III-7.	Synthèse d'hydroperoxydes allyliques réduits en alcools secondaires.
Figure III-8.	Les 3 formes mésomères de l'ozone.
Figure III-9.	Schéma de la réaction d'ozonolyze des alcènes.
Figure III-10.	Réaction d'hydroformylation de l'insaturation suivie d'une
_	hydrogénation catalytique.
Figure III-11.	Addition de formaldéhyde sur l'acide oléique et l'acide undécylénique.
Figure III-12.	Mécanisme radicalaire de l'addition d'un thiol sur une double liaison.
Figure III-13.	Schéma récapitulatif de la stratégie de synthèse développée dans le
	chapitre III.
Figure III-14.	Reaction schemes for the synthesis of the esterified lignin – EL.
Figure III-15.	Synthetic pathway to macropolyol - LOAP (Lignin Oleic Acid Polyol) -
	from lignin and oleic acid. Schematic representation of lignin-fatty acid
	based polyol.
Figure III-16.	Synthesis of lignin based PU – LPU.
Figure III-17.	FTIR spectra of intermediates based on lignin and oleic acid.
Figure III-18.	<sup>1</sup> H NMR spectra of intermediates based on lignin and oleic acid.
Figure III-19.	FTIR spectra of PUs synthesized with P <sub>425</sub> and different NCO:OH molar
	ratios.
Figure III-20.	Schematic representation of PU networks with different NCO:OH molar
	ratios.
Figure III-21.	DMTA curves of the PUs (a : E' of PU based on $P_{425}$ systems ; b :E' of
	PU based on $P_{1000}$ systems; c: E' of PU based on $P_{2000}$ systems )
Figure III-22.	TGA/DTGA curves for PUs based on LOAP and isocyanate
	prepolymers (P <sub>425</sub> , P <sub>1000</sub> and P <sub>2000</sub> ).
Figure III-S1.	TGA/DTGA curves for BPUs based on PPO and 4,4' MDI (BPU <sub>425</sub> ,
	$BPU_{1000}$ and $BPU_{2000}$ ).

- **Figure III-S2.** Changes in the position and intensity of the relaxation transition (Tan  $\delta$ ) on the stoichiometric ratio of the component. (a: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>425</sub> systems; b: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>1000</sub> systems; c: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>2000</sub> systems).
- **Figure III-S1.** Temperature sweep of loss tangent (Tan  $\delta$ ) for synthesized PU performed by using a strain-controlled rheometer with parallel-plate geometry (a: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>425</sub> systems; b: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>1000</sub> systems; c: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>2000</sub> systems).

#### Chapitre IV.

Figure IV- 1.	Schéma récapitulatif de la stratégie de synthèse développée dans le
Figure IV- 2.	Derivatization of active hydrogen compounds with 2-chloro-4,4,5,5- tetramethyl- 1.3.2 dioxaphospholane (TMDP)
Figure IV 2	Basetion scheme for lignin oxymprovulation
Figure IV - 5.	
Figure IV - 4.	Schematic representation of the oxypropylation reaction mechanism;
	biomass activation, anionic grafting reaction on biomass and
	homopolymerization step are represented.
Figure IV- 5.	FTIR spectra of Soda lignin and oxypropylated sample (OL <sub>70/30</sub> ).
Figure IV- 6.	Chromatographic profile elution as a function of PO/L ratios.
Figure IV- 7.	Quantitative <sup>31</sup> P NMR spectra of OL samples and soda lignin.
Figure IV- 8.	Quantitative <sup>1</sup> H NMR spectra of oxypropylated lignin sample (OL <sub>70/30</sub> )
	and soda lignin.
Figure IV- 9.	FTIR spectra of LPUs synthesized with P <sub>425</sub> and different NCO:OH
C	molar ratios.
Figure IV- 10.	DMTA curves of the PUs (a: E' of PU based on $OL_{80/20}$ ; b: E' of PU
C	based on $OL_{70/30}$ ; c: E' of PU based on $OL_{60/40}$ ; d: E' of PU based on
	OL <sub>50/50</sub> ).
Figure IV- 11.	Evolutions in the position and intensity of the relaxation transition (Tan
8	$\delta$ ) on the stoichiometric ratio of the component (a: tan $\delta$ of PU based on
	$OI_{acros}$ : b: tan $\delta$ of PII based on $OI_{acros}$ : c: tan $\delta$ of PII based on $OI_{acros}$ :
	$d$ : top $\delta$ of PLI based on OL)
F: IV/ 10	Calculation of OLDU domain accomization Derticl
Figure IV - 12.	Schematic representation of OLPU domain organization – Partial
FI 11/ 40	structure of OLPU.
Figure IV - 13.	TGA/DTGA curves for soda lignin, PM, OL and PPO-H in case of PO/L
	of 80/20.
Figure IV- 14.	TGA/DTGA curves for OLPUs based on OL60/40 with various
	NCO:OH molar ratios.

Figure IV- 15.	Lignine oxypropylée avec un ratio $PO/L = 70/30$ . De gauche à droite :
	Mélange obtenue en fin de réaction, homopolymère extrait (PPO-H),
	polyol purifié sans homopolymère.
Figure IV-S1.	Chromatographic profile elution of polyol mixtures (PM) as a function
	of PO/L ratios.
Figure IV-S2.	Chromatographic profile elution of homopolymers (PPO-H) as a
	function of PO/L ratios.

#### Conclusion

**Figure C-1.** Schéma récapitulatif des différentes voies de modification chimique explorées.

#### Annexe

- **Figure A-1.** Représentation d'une coupe transversale d'une membrane d'étanchéité Photographie d'une membrane d'étanchéité SOPREMA à base de bitume élastomère et d'une armature en grille de verre/voile de verre auto protégée par des paillettes d'ardoise.
- **Figure A- 2.** Schéma de la mise en œuvre de membranes synthétiques Soudure à air chaud d'un joint d'étanchéité.

# Sommaire

I. Modification chimique de la lignine – Etat de l'art	14
1. Introduction	
2. Lignin chemistry	
<ul> <li>2.1. Historical outline</li> <li>2.2. Chemical structure</li> <li>2.3. Physical properties</li></ul>	
3. Isolation of lignin from wood	
<ul> <li>3.1. Concept of biorefinery</li> <li>3.2. Extraction processes and their resulting technical lignins</li></ul>	
4. Chemical modification	27
<ul><li>4.1. General background</li><li>4.2. Fragmentation of lignin</li></ul>	
4.2.2. Gasification	
4.2.3. Oxidation	
4.2.4. Liquefaction	
4.2.5. Enzymatic oxidation	
<ul><li>4.2.6. Outlook</li><li>4.3. Synthesis of new chemical active sites</li><li>4.3.1. Alkylation/dealkylation</li></ul>	
4.3.2. Hydroxalkylation	
4.3.3. Amination	
4.3.4. Nitration	39
4.4. Functionalization of hydroxyl groups	
4.4.2. Phenolation	44
4.4.3. Etherification	45
4.4.4. Urethanisation	47
4.5. Toward lignin based polymers and materials 4.5.1. Lignin as a viable route for polymers syntheses	
4.5.2. ATRP - A useful method to develop lignin-based functional material	50
4.5.3. High performance material made with lignin: carbon fibers	51

5. Conclusion	
II. Présentation générale des Polyuréthanes	55
1. La chimie des polyuréthanes	55
1.1. Mécanisme réactionnel entre un alcool et un isocyanate1.2. Réactions secondaires.	56 57
2. Procédés de synthèse	
<ul><li>2.1. Le procédé en deux étapes</li><li>2.2. Le procédé en une étape</li></ul>	59 60
3. Morphologies des polyuréthanes	61
4. Le cas particulier des Polyuréthanes segmentés	
5. Utilisation de la lignine pour l'élaboration de PU	63
Notes et Références	68

# Chapitre II. Réaction de polymérisation par ouverture de cycle – greffage de poly(caprolactone) PCL 83 I. Polymérisation par ouverture de cycle 86 II. Le système lignine – ε-caprolactone 88 1. Introduction 92 2. Experimental 94 2.1. Materials 94 2.3. General characterizations techniques 95 2.4. Specific techniques for lignin characterization 98 3.1. Lignin characterization 98 3.2. Synthesis and characterization of different SLPCL systems 99 3.2.1. Structural analyses 99 3.2.1. Istructural analyses 99 3.2.1. Methemical analyses

3.2.2. Thermal and mechanical analyses	
3.3. A particular case: CL/OH ratio= 5	
4. Conclusion	
III. Conclusion & perspectives de l'étude	
Notes et Références	

Chapitre III. Estérification de la lignine avec l'acide oléique –		
Fonctionnalisation et Synthèse de polyuréthanes		
I. L'oléochimie et la modification des acides gras		
1. Epoxydation des insaturations et conversion en alcool		
2. Oxydation des insaturations en péroxydes et réduction en alcool		
3. Mécanisme d'ozonolyse-réduction		
4. L'hydroformylation		
5. Addition électrophile		
6. Couplage thiol-ène		
II. Modification de la lignine par l'acide oléique, synthèse de polyu	réthanes. 134	
1. Introduction		
2. Experimental section		
<ul> <li>2.1. Raw materials</li> <li>2.2. General methods and analysis</li> <li>2.3. Synthesis and characterization of lignin-fatty acid based polyol</li> <li>2.3.1. Esterification of organosolv lignin</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>2.3.2. Epoxydation of oleic acid double bond</li></ul>		
3. Results and discussion		
<ul> <li>3.1. Lignin characterization</li></ul>		
4. Conclusion		
5. Supplementary information	161	
III. Conclusion & perspectives de l'étude		
Notes et références		
Chapitre IV. Oxypropylation de la lignine –Elaboration de macro pour la synthèse de polyuréthanes	opolyols 173	
--	-----------------	
I. Oxypropylation de la lignine, synthèse de polyuréthanes		
1. Introduction		
2. Experimental section		
<ul> <li>2.1. Raw materials</li></ul>		
3. Results and discussion		
<ul> <li>3.1. Lignin characterization</li> <li>3.2. Synthesis and characterization of oxypropylated lignin macromonomers</li> <li>3.3. Synthesis and characterization of polyurethanes</li> <li>3.4. Influence of NCO:OH molar ratio on polymer properties</li> <li>3.5. Influence of macropolyol structure on polymer properties</li> <li>3.6. Influence of the residual PPO-H on the material properties</li> <li>3.7. Thermal analysis</li> </ul>		
4. Conclusion		
5. Supplementary information		
II Conclusion & nerspectives de l'étude	213	
Notos and références	015	
Conclusion générale & Perspectives		
Bibliographie generale		
Annexes		
I. L'étanchéité des bâtiments		
1. Revêtement d'étanchéité bitumineux		
2. Membranes synthétiques		
3. L'étanchéité liquide		
II. Le cahier des charges de la nouvelle « éco-membrane »		

# Introduction générale

Encouragée par la quête perpétuelle de matériaux toujours plus innovants et performants, le XX<sup>ème</sup> siècle a vu le développement massif des polymères synthétiques. Face à cet essor, l'utilisation de produits chimiques issus des ressources fossiles (pétrole, gaz...) s'est considérablement accrue. Actuellement, la consommation mondiale de pétrole est évaluée à 3,5 milliards de tonnes par an, avec une forte empreinte carbone qui se traduit par l'émission d'une dizaine de milliards de tonnes de  $CO_2$  dans notre atmosphère. Toutefois, l'épuisement inévitable des réserves pétrolières, les problèmes de réchauffement climatique (Global Warming) et la mise en place de politiques environnementales strictes (Grenelle de l'environnement...) ont conduit à l'émergence de nouvelles alternatives. Elles visent à promouvoir la production de nouveaux produits chimiques et le développement d'une chimie plus respectueuse de l'environnement.

Dans un contexte économique difficile, impacté à la fois par (i) les variations et l'envolée des prix du pétrole et de ces dérivés, et (ii) la raréfaction de certaines fractions/coupes issues des raffineries (exemple : les bitumes), les enjeux actuels de l'industrie chimique deviennent cruciaux pour son avenir. Il s'agit à long terme de trouver, pérenniser et sécuriser de nouvelles ressources de substitution. Cependant, l'élaboration de nouveaux matériaux ou produits chimiques devra se faire avec un bilan écologique positif et en respectant les équilibres sociétaux actuels.

La démarche de substitution de produits pétro-sourcés par des matières renouvelables repose sur l'un des douze principes de la chimie verte. De nouvelles approches, autres que celles proposées par la chimie « classique », par exemple l'association chimie-biochimie (bioproduction) sur de nouveaux sites de production, ont permis de générer de nouvelles architectures chimiques.

Les industriels se sont donc peu à peu orientés vers de nouvelles sources de matières premières issues de la biomasse. Cette dernière est une source de carbone renouvelable abondante qui comprend les cultures et les résidus agricoles (paille, bagasse, etc.), le bois, la biomasse aquatique (macro et micro-algues) ainsi que les déchets organiques et animaux (boues d'épuration, lisiers, etc.). Parmi les recherches menées pour remplacer les intermédiaires issus de ressources fossiles, l'utilisation de la biomasse et notamment la biomasse lignocellulosique (bois et plantes annuelles) suscite un grand intérêt de par son abondance et sa disponibilité. Cette utilisation est d'autant plus intéressante qu'elle n'entre pas en compétition directe avec un usage alimentaire contrairement à l'amidon ou aux huiles végétales par exemple. Avec près de 4 à 5 milliards de tonnes de production au niveau

mondial par an, cette biomasse représente un potentiel exceptionnel d'innovations qu'il reste encore à exploiter.

Dans ce contexte favorable et passionnant, nous nous sommes donc attachés à la valorisation de la lignine, un polymère naturel issu de la biomasse lignocellulosique. La matière organique qui structure les végétaux est pour l'essentiel constituée de trois parties distinctes : la cellulose, les hémicelluloses et la lignine. Après la cellulose, la lignine est le deuxième biopolymère le plus abondant sur Terre. Constituant principal de la paroi cellulaire des végétaux, la lignine peut représenter jusqu'à 40% du poids sec de la biomasse lignocellulosique selon la ressource botanique. Elle confère la résistance mécanique et apporte aux tissus lignifiés une certaine hydrophobie. L'extraction de la lignine du végétal peut s'effectuer par divers procédés thermochimiques, chimiques et même biochimiques. La technique la plus communément utilisée est le procédé Kraft, procédé lié à l'industrie papetière et dans lequel la lignine est essentiellement utilisée comme ressource énergétique de par son fort pouvoir calorifique. Considérée comme résidu ou co-produit de l'industrie papetière, la lignine est très peu valorisée pour des applications industrielles, seulement 2 % sont utilisés, principalement comme sources d'additifs (anti-oxydant, anti UV...) pour les industries de l'agroalimentaire, la plasturgie, les peintures etc. Toutefois, la lignine est aussi valorisée pour la production industrielle de vanilline et de DMSO.



**Figure Int- 1.** Représentation schématique de la structure de la paroi végétale secondaire. Outre la présence de cellulose, lignine et hémicellulose, d'autres constituants sont présents en moindres quantités tels que les protéines ou des composés phénoliques de faibles masses molaires<sup>1</sup>.

Depuis quelques années de nouvelles productions de lignines techniques se développent dans des bioraffineries spécifiques. Au sein de ces entités, la biomasse est fractionnée par divers procédés basés sur des traitements chimiques, biochimiques et physiques afin de la convertir notamment en produits de hautes valeurs ajoutées tels que les carburants ou les produits chimiques par exemple. Dans cette optique de valorisation de la biomasse, de nombreuses recherches ont été menées afin d'améliorer les procédés d'extraction et de fractionnement pour proposer des structures chimiques de plus en plus « raffinées », capables de s'intégrer dans l'élaboration de matériaux polymères.

Dans une approche d'ingénierie macromoléculaire contrôlée, la lignine, de par son caractère hydrophobe et sa structure condensée aromatique, est apparue comme un synthon potentiel pour l'élaboration de nouveaux matériaux polymères. En effet, rares sont les synthons issus de la biomasse qui portent des noyaux aromatiques. De plus, d'un point de vue industriel, certaines lignines dites « techniques », sont disponibles commercialement en grande quantité, ce qui permet d'envisager l'exploitation industrielle de ce polymère naturel avec une finalité de matériaux polymères originaux pour un grand nombre d'applications.

Le présent projet de thèse mené en étroite collaboration entre l'Institut de Chimie et Procédés pour l'Energie, l'Environnement et la Santé (**ICPEES** – UMR (CNRS) 7515), au sein du groupe de recherche *BioTeam*, et la société **SOPREMA** (**So**ciété des **Pr**oduits d'Etanchéité « **Ma**mmouth ») repose sur le développement d' « éco-membranes » d'étanchéité à partir de biomasse et plus particulièrement de lignine. Dans un contexte d'éco-conception et de développement durable, l'objectif premier de ce travail est de trouver une alternative aux matériaux à base de bitume et autres produits issus de ressources fossiles.

Ce travail doctoral fait partie intégrante d'un projet ISI financé par l'organisme Oséo sur 5 ans réunissant un consortium de 6 partenaires industriels et académiques dont la coordination est assurée par la Société SOPREMA. Ce projet ambitieux de 20 millions d'Euros vise à améliorer significativement l'analyse du cycle de vie (ACV) des produits d'étanchéité et de couvertures développés par la société SOPREMA à travers la conception de matériaux durables (sous garantie décennale) issus de matières renouvelables ou recyclées, dans une approche de haute qualité environnementale (HQE). Les travaux de thèse s'inscrivent dans ce programme de recherche. Le but est de développer des éco-matériaux performants, durables et à coût compétitif pour se substituer aux produits actuellement utilisés. L'enjeu global de ce travail est donc de valoriser la lignine en l'intégrant dans la structure chimique de nouveaux polymères lesquels devant répondre à un cahier des charges industriel très précis (donné en annexe de ce mémoire). Une des premières difficultés à surmonter dans ce projet a consisté à sélectionner des gisements adéquats de lignine et à développer une chimie spécifique permettant une modification chimique de ce macromère. Des contraintes particulières ont orienté certains choix, par exemple la nécessité de scaling-up vers une production industrielle à grande échelle en respectant des critères économiques. Il s'agit de faire de ce macromère très abondant une alternative réaliste aux monomères traditionnels et synthons issus du pétrole. La recherche dans le domaine de la modification chimique des lignines, bien qu'abondante et mondialement active, n'a à ce jour pas encore été totalement convertie en une solution économiquement viable pour élaborer de nouveaux matériaux biosourcés, en dépassant à la fois les verrous technologiques et scientifiques actuels.

Un état de l'art scientifique et technique (Chapitre I) rend tout d'abord compte des différentes modifications chimiques effectuées sur la lignine en vue de l'intégrer dans la structure chimique de nouveaux matériaux polymères. Cette partie est essentiellement présentée sous forme d'un article de synthèse bibliographie (review) intitulé «Chemical modification of lignins: towards biobased polymers» et soumis dans Progress in Polymer Science. De manière générale, cette revue bibliographique a permis de mettre en avant plusieurs points : (i) La lignine présente une très grande variabilité structurale de par sa nature, son origine mais aussi son mode d'extraction, (ii) il est par ailleurs difficile d'envisager l'introduction de cette dernière en quantité importante dans des matrices polymères sans une modification chimique préalable, (iii) la lignine est généralement considérée comme un macropolyol avec des fonctions hydroxyles plus ou moins accessibles sur lesquelles on peut effectuer une fonctionnalisation. Cette modification chimique de la lignine a pour objectif d'augmenter l'accessibilité, et par conséquent la réactivité des fonctions hydroxyles de la lignine, en offrant aussi la possibilité de la solubiliser dans des solvants organiques usuels et donc de rendre plus facile son introduction dans des organisations macromoléculaires. Par ailleurs, la très grande diversité des lignines nous a conduits à privilégier dans un premier temps les lignines techniques dites « sans soufre », reconnues pour être plus appropriées à la modification chimique. Toutefois, dans un contexte industriel futur et dans la perspective d'une potentielle application industrielle, la question de l'utilisation de lignines Kraft (lignines « avec soufre ») sera abordée.



Figure Int- 2. Organisation du manuscrit.

Cet état de l'art associé à des essais préliminaires innovants nous a permis de sélectionner trois voies de synthèse (Figure Int-2) pour l'obtention de nouveaux intermédiaires réactifs à base de lignine. Rapidement dans cette étude, nous avons été amenés à développer des polymères du type polyuréthane à partir des synthons élaborés. La fonctionnalisation de la lignine nous a conduits à l'élaboration de nouveaux macropolyols avec des architectures contrôlées de type étoile dont la lignine est le « corps » et les segments greffées jouent le rôle de ramifications. Le partenaire industriel, l'entreprise SOPREMA, bénéficie d'une grande expertise dans le domaine des polyuréthanes. En effet, ces polymères sont appréciés pour leurs propriétés dans les matrices bitumineuses des revêtements d'étanchéité. On retrouve notamment les polyuréthanes thermoplastiques (TPU- norme NE ISO 18067) qui sont obtenus par réaction entre des polyisocyanates, des polyols (polyéther ou polyester généralement) et des diols de faibles masses moléculaires jouant le rôle d'extendeurs de chaines. Les propriétés des TPU dépendent de la structure des différents composés rentrant dans la formulation du polymère. Ces polymères présentent certaines particularités relativement intéressantes pour des applications dans le secteur du bâtiment et de la construction notamment en termes d'abrasion, de tenue mécanique, et de résistance à la pliure et la déchirure. Dans le cadre de ce projet de thèse, nous nous sommes donc attachés à l'élaboration de polymères de type polyuréthane à partir des macropolyols chimiquement modifiées. L'originalité de ce projet repose sur la structure en étoile des lignines modifiées obtenues, et sur leur intégration en tant que polyol dans des matrices polyuréthanes. Les modifications chimiques développées dans le projet de thèse ont donc donné lieu à la synthèse de nouvelles architectures polyuréthanes.

Dans un premier temps, nous avons étudié la réaction de polymérisation entre la lignine et l' $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone conduisant ainsi à la formation d'une lignine fonctionnalisée appelée Lignine-poly(caprolactone) (LPCL) (*Chapitre II*). Cette partie a fait l'objet d'une publication intitulée « Synthesis, thermal properties, rheological and mechanical behaviors of lignins-grafted-poly( $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) », publiée dans *Polymer* en 2013<sup>2</sup>. Les polymères synthétisés sont bio-sourcés jusqu'à 48% et ont pu être facilement mis en œuvre. Certains d'entre eux ont montré la formation de réseaux amorphes et flexibles due à la présence d'interactions intermoléculaires entre les chaines de PCL greffées et la lignine. La relation entre la longueur des chaines de polymères greffées sur la lignine et les propriétés finales obtenues est discutée et s'appuie sur des analyses rhéologiques et IR.

En s'inspirant de travaux réalisés sur l'hydrophobation du bois, de la cellulose et du papier à partir de chlorure d'acide gras, et afin de conférer des propriétés hydrophobes à notre polyol de base, la lignine a tout d'abord été modifiée avec un monoacide gras insaturé (*Chapitre III*). Cette partie à fait l'objet d'une publication intitulée « Original polyol based on organosolv lignin and fatty acids: new bio-based building blocks for polyurethane synthesis », soumise ultérieurement dans *Green Chemistry*. L'étude de l'estérification de la lignine par un dérivé d'acide est détaillée ainsi que la modification consécutive de l'insaturation présente sur la chaine alkyle greffée.

De la même façon, nous avons étudié la réaction d'oxypropylation de la lignine par réaction avec l'oxyde de propylène en condition de catalyse basique. L'étude de cette réaction et des propriétés chimiques des produits en résultant est présentée dans le *Chapitre IV* sous la forme d'une publication intitulée « Novel segmented polyurethanes based on oxypropylated lignins: toward high performance materials.», soumise dans *Green Chemistry*. Cette réaction a en effet été largement étudiée dans la littérature mais toujours dans la perspective de réaliser des mousses rigides de PU. L'approche de cette étude est donc différente et se positionne comme un moyen de concevoir un macropolyol à façon aux propriétés modulables.

En adéquation avec l'approche visant à développer des matrices polyuréthanes, les macropolyols synthétisés dans les Chapitres III et IV ont chacun été intégrés dans des matrices PU. On retrouvera ainsi au sein de chaque chapitre la description des différentes formulations développées. L'introduction de prépolymères isocyanate a contribué à

l'amélioration des propriétés de souplesse des matériaux. L'influence du ratio molaire NCO:OH, ainsi que la masse molaire des prépolymères a par ailleurs été étudiée. L'utilisation de méthodes de caractérisation thermo-mécaniques et rhéologiques a permis de déterminer les structures et organisations des différents polymères. L'existence d'une séparation de phase entre segments souples et rigides a été mise en évidence. La participation de chacun des composants dans les deux phases est également discutée.

L'objectif de cette thèse était double. Il s'agissait de développer des matériaux pour le domaine industriel de l'étanchéité et du bâtiment, tout en préservant une approche scientifique de qualité avec une bonne compréhension des mécanismes d'élaboration des systèmes synthétisés et des structures correspondantes. Le développement de nouvelles architectures moléculaires à base de lignine a permis d'apporter une expertise supplémentaire au laboratoire et à l'équipe *BioTeam* quant à l'utilisation de la lignine pour des applications matériaux mais aussi de proposer des solutions innovantes et viables pour la synthèse de nouveaux polyuréthanes fonctionnels.

#### Références

- 1. A. M. Boudet, S. Kajita, J. Grima-Pettenati and D. Goffner, Lignins and lignocellulosics: A better control of synthesis for new and improved uses. *Trends in Plant Science*, **2003**: 8: 576-581.
- 2. S. Laurichesse and L. Avérous, Synthesis, thermal properties, rheological and mechanical behaviors of lignins-grafted-poly(ε-caprolactone). *Polymer (United Kingdom)*, **2013**: 54: 3882-3890.

## Chapitre I.

## Modification chimique de la lignine : vers l'élaboration de nouveaux polymères biosourcés - Etat de l'art



#### Introduction

Le travail de synthèse bibliographique présenté dans ce chapitre est composé de deux parties distinctes. La première partie se présente sous la forme d'une publication intitulée "Chemical modification of lignins: towards biobased polymers" et soumise dans le journal *Progress in Polymer Science*. Cette dernière est consacrée aux multiples modifications effectuées sur la lignine en vue de la fractionner ou encore de la fonctionnaliser. Cette publication vise, dans un premier temps, à présenter de façon synthétique les points marquants dans la récente histoire des découvertes scientifiques concernant la lignine. Les divers modes d'extraction et les propriétés correspondantes des différentes lignines techniques sont ainsi abordés de façon détaillée. Dans un second temps, ce papier fait état de l'art de l'ensemble des voies de modification de la lignine. Pour cela, nous avons choisi de les présenter en trois parties distinctes, chacune faisant l'objet d'un développement plus précis mettant en avant les résultats issus de travaux récents pertinents. Ainsi, la valorisation de la lignine peut suivre trois stratégies principales :

- (1) Fractionner la lignine par différentes techniques visant à la fragmenter en molécules de plus faibles masses moléculaires (synthons ou « building-blocks » pour la chimie).
- (2) Introduire de nouveaux sites réactionnels tels que des fonctions amines ou méthoxy en vue de la faire réagir chimiquement ultérieurement.
- (3) Fonctionnaliser la lignine par l'intermédiaire des fonctions hydroxyles existantes.

Chacune de ces voies présente un potentiel intéressant pour transformer la lignine en une matière première de plus forte valeur ajoutée. Dans le contexte de notre étude, nous nous sommes finalement concentrés sur l'utilisation de ces modifications pour intégrer la lignine dans des synthèses de polymères. Les propriétés et performances finales des polymères obtenus et leurs applications potentielles sont également discutées.

L'utilisation de la lignine en tant que synthon ou précurseur dans la synthèse de polymères constitue un axe majeur de recherche. Parmi les polymères développés, les polyuréthanes (PU) ont retenu notre attention et font l'objet de la seconde partie de cette synthèse bibliographique. La compréhension de la synthèse des PU, en relation avec leurs morphologies finales et propriétés correspondantes, doit nous permettre de mieux appréhender les stratégies de synthèse développées dans la suite de ce manuscrit.

\* \* \*

## I. Modification chimique de la lignine – Etat de l'art

### Chemical modification of lignins: Towards biobased polymers Stéphanie Laurichesse, Luc Avérous\*

BioTeam/ICPEES-ECPM, UMR 7515, Université de Strasbourg, 25 rue Becquerel, 67087 Strasbourg, Cedex 2, France

\* Corresponding author: Prof. Luc Avérous, Phone: + 333 68852784, Fax: + 333 68852716, E-mail: <u>luc.averous@unistra.fr</u>

Progress in Polymer Science – Article soumis

#### Abstract

Lignins are now considered as the main aromatic renewable resource. They represent an excellent alternative feedstock for the elaboration of chemicals and polymers. Lignin is a highly abundant biopolymeric material that constitutes with cellulose one of the major components in structural cell walls of higher vascular plants. Large quantities of lignin are yearly available from numerous pulping processes such as paper and biorefinery industries. Lignin extraction from lignocellulosic biomass (wood, annual plant) represents actually the key point to its large use for industrial applications. One of the major problems still remains is its unclearly defined structure and its versatility according to the origin, separation and fragmentation processes, which mainly limits its utilization. While currently often used as a filler or additive, lignin is rarely exploited as a raw material for chemical production. However, it may be an excellent candidate for chemical modifications and reactions due to its highly functional character (i.e., rich in phenolic and aliphatic hydroxyl groups) for the development of new biobased materials. Chemical modification of lignin has driven numerous efforts and researches with significant studies during the last decades.

After an overview with some generalities concerning the main extraction techniques, the structure and the properties of lignins, this review describes in details the different chemical modifications of lignins. They have been classified into three main groups: (1) lignin fragmentation into phenolic or other aromatic compounds for fine chemistry, (2) synthesis of new chemical active sites to impart new reactivity to lignin, and (3) functionalization of hydroxyl groups to enhance their reactivity. In that frame, the potential applications of lignin as precursor for the elaboration of original macromolecular architecture and the development

of new building blocks are discussed. Finally, the major achievement and remaining challenges for lignin modifications and its uses as a macromer for polymer synthesis are also mentioned with emphasis on the most promising and relevant applications.

### Keywords

Lignin, Biopolymer, Biomass, Pyrolysis, Polyurethane foams, Epoxy resins.

#### 1. Introduction

The petrochemical boom of the second half of the last century has marked the strong development of the production of synthetic polymers. The availability of a growing number of monomers from fossil resources has supplanted during a period of time the use of biobased chemicals and their corresponding polymers. For different reasons, mainly economic, modest investments were devoted for a long time to the development of renewable resources in chemistry. Nevertheless, the increasing use of fossil fuel associated with the lack of availability of some petrol fractions and an increasing awareness concerning the human impacts on the environment have led recently to a renew strong interest in the use of sustainable resources for energy and material<sup>1</sup>. This growing interest about another green and sustainable chemistry has also contributed to call attention to biomass and specifically on lignocellulosic feedstock that is considered as a promising, renewable and vast resource for chemicals. Lignocellulosic biomass is mainly composed of carbohydrate polymers (cellulose and hemicellulose), and aromatic polymers (lignin and tannin). After cellulose, lignin is the second most abundant polymer from biomass and the main based on aromatic units. It can be isolated from wood, annual plants such as wheat straw or agricultural residues (sugar cane bagasse) by different extraction processes. The research investigated on lignin chemistry is not recent. Several progresses concerning lignin characterization at the mid-nineteenth century have contributed to the actual development of new materials based on renewable resources. The improving of technologies associated with papermaking, wood processing and textile has also contributed to the actual development of these polymers from biomass<sup>2</sup> that could be integrated in biorefineries<sup>3, 4</sup> to produce a large range of outputs such as materials, power, chemicals and fuel. The following paper presents an overview of the major breakthrough in lignin valorization by mainly development of biorefinery industries and new processes to convert this biomacromolecule into value-added products.

The objective of this review is to provide overview and background information about lignin valorization from its extraction by several processes to its thermal conversion or chemical modification. Beyond the presentation of the different chemical investigations performed on lignin, a special stress will be laid on potential applications for production of chemicals and polymers.

#### 2. Lignin chemistry

#### 2.1 Historical outline

A period of about 170 years has passed since the French chemist, Anselme Payen (1795-1871) treated wood with nitric acid and caustic soda, removing two different products from the wood <sup>5</sup>. He called the first one "cellulose" and the other material with higher carbon content was considered as an *incrusting material*, in which the fiber-forming cellulose was imbedded. The Payen's "incrustation theory" <sup>6</sup> marks the beginning of the history of what latter was named "lignin", a word derived from the Latin *lignum*, meaning wood <sup>7, 8</sup>. At that time, the nature of this abundant material was very unclear for the researchers, and its chemical structure remained a mystery for a long time. The aromatic nature of lignin was highlighted by the work of Bente (1868), and as late as 1890, Benedikt and Bamberger found that lignified material, unlike the cellulose, contained methoxyl groups <sup>9</sup>. The first main understanding in lignin chemistry is in major part due to the work of Peter Klason (1848-1937), who has devoted a great interest to lignin chemistry and its characterization. Based on experimental evidence but also with his intuition, he postulated that lignin was build up from coniferyl alcohol <sup>10</sup>. Many of his procedures were valuable in lignin research, and his method is still largely used <sup>11, 12</sup>.

Freudenberg also well contributed to the field of lignin chemistry. With his co-workers, he investigated various methods for isolating lignin from the wood and characterizing it by careful analytical methods. On the basis of this work, he stated in 1928 that lignin is an amorphous and apparently unordered material, with a kind of structural order based on connected blocks consisting on phenylpropane units <sup>13</sup>. However, this principle was not as simple and clear as he had previously postulated for cellulose <sup>14</sup>. Based on the result of oxidative dehydrogenation procedures of lignin, he suggested that the main connecting systems would be both ether linkages, preferentially alkyl-aryl ether linkages, and carbon-carbon linkages <sup>15</sup>. Moreover, lignin structural formula has encouraged several investigations for its elucidation. Thus, Adler proposed in 1961 the first formulae containing 12 phenylpropanoïc units connected by C-C and C-O bonds while Freudenberg established a more complex structural models have been then published by Ludwig <sup>17</sup> and Nimz <sup>18</sup> for softwood and beech lignins respectively. The increasing interest on lignin during the last few years is also revealed by the considerable amount of books, reviews, publications and patents,

covering a wide range of topics and applications fields <sup>5, 12, 19</sup>. These works aimed to define the structure and reactivity of lignin. Some of them have also considered their valorization to produce polymers <sup>20, 21</sup>. It is also worth to mention the pioneering contributions of Glasser and Sarkanen who have greatly participated on the knowledge of lignin's structure and have published a great number of works on lignin valorization <sup>22-27</sup>.

#### 2.2 Chemical structure

As it has already been mentioned, lignocellulosic biomass is a composite of biopolymers with intertwined cellulose (35-83% dry weight basis), hemicellulose (0-30% dry weight basis), lignin (1-43% dry weight basis) and some other compounds (xylose, arabinose, tannin, etc.)<sup>28</sup>. Lignin plays a major role in woody plant, adding strength and structuration to the cell walls, controlling fluid flow and protecting against biochemical stresses by inhibiting enzymatic degradation of others components <sup>29</sup>. Its chemical structure consists of phenylpropane units, originating from three aromatic alcohol precursors (monolignols), *p*-coumaryl, coniferyl and sinapyl alcohols <sup>30</sup>. The phenolic substructures that originate from these monolignols are called *p*-hydroxyphenyl (**H**, from coumaryl alcohol), guaiacyl (**G**, from coniferyl alcohol) and syringyl (**S**, from sinapyl alcohol) moieties (Figure I-1).



Figure I-1. The three main precursors of lignin (monolignols) and their corresponding structures in lignin polymers.

During the biological lignification process, the monolignols units are linked together via radical coupling reactions <sup>13, 31</sup> to form a complex three-dimensional molecular architecture that contains a great variety of bonds with typically around 50%  $\beta$ -O-4 ether linkages <sup>30, 32, 33</sup>. The main characteristic linkages in a section of softwood lignin are depicted in Figure I-2. Lignin composition and content are influenced by the type of species and also by the environment. Hardwood lignins consist principally of **G** and **S** units and traces of **H** units <sup>34</sup>, whereas softwood lignins are mostly composed of **G** units with low levels of **H** units. Lignins from grasses -monocots- incorporate **G** and **S** units at comparable levels and more **H** units than dicots <sup>29</sup>. Based on the first full lignin structure proposed by Adler in 1977 <sup>10</sup>, lignin is recognized as a highly branched polymer with a variety of functional groups: aliphatic and phenolic hydroxyls, carboxylic, carbonyl and methoxyl groups. Its chemical structure has been thoroughly investigated by various chemical and spectroscopic methods, which are well described in numerous books and publications <sup>27, 28, 35-37</sup>. The abundance of the chemical sites offers different possibilities for chemical modification and suggests that lignin could play a

central role as a new chemical feedstock, particularly in the formation of supramolecular architecture and aromatic chemicals.



Figure I- 2. Main linkages in a softwood lignin <sup>38</sup>.

#### 2.3 Physical properties

Lignin may be defined as an amorphous polymer which behave as a thermoplastic material, undergoing a glass transition  $(T_g)$  at temperature which vary widely depending on the method of isolation, sorbed water, molecular weight and thermal history <sup>8</sup>. Thus, only two local mode relaxations are expected to be found in the lignin, i.e.  $T_g$  and decomposition temperature  $(T_d)$ .

 $T_g$  is usually determined by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) but other techniques such as dilatometry, viscoelastic measurements and temperature dependency of wide angle X-ray (WAXS) have been reported. The  $T_g$  of isolated lignin samples are often difficult to determine due to the heterogeneity of the lignin structure and its broad molecular weight distribution. WAXS results revealed the wide distribution of inter-molecular distance whereas IR spectra of lignin at different temperatures shown that around  $T_g$ , intermolecular hydrogen bonding is broken and molecular motions are enhanced <sup>39</sup>.  $T_g$  shifts to higher temperatures with increasing average molar masses. As already discussed, since  $T_g$  is a relaxation phenomenon, it is markedly affected by the thermal history of the corresponding samples <sup>40</sup>. Goring (1963) had first reported the  $T_g$  of different lignins, which can varies from 127-277°C <sup>41</sup>. Later, other authors founds that  $T_g$  varies from 90-150°C depending mainly on plant species and extraction procedures <sup>42</sup>.

The molecular motion of isolated lignin has also been investigated in the presence of water. So far, lignin is hydrophobic *in planta* and its numerous hydroxyl sites involve the hydrogen bonds with water molecules. Bouajila et al. (2006) <sup>43</sup> studied the mechanism of lignin plasticization in presence of small amount of water and its effect on  $T_g$ . The molecular mobility of water molecules is affected by lignin molecule resulting in a decreasing of the  $T_g$ , water being a plasticizer of lignin <sup>44</sup>. Furthermore, modifying inter and intramolecular hydrogen bondings by chemical modification of hydroxyl groups, usually by esterification or alkylation, resulted in glass transitions which are more easily detected <sup>24</sup>. This is typically accompanied by an increase in the solubility of the lignin and its ability to undergo melt flow, both characteristics desirable in polymer processing and blending.

Thermal decomposition of the lignins is another important topic and a considerable number of studies have been devoted to this field <sup>28, 45-47</sup>. Lignin degradation is a complex process including competitive and/or consecutive reaction steps due to its hindered structure. Lignin thermally decomposes over a broad temperature range, because e.g., the various oxygen-based functional groups have different thermal stability with scissions occurring at different temperatures. The decomposition of the lignin structure starts at relatively low temperatures, i.e. 150-275 °C <sup>48</sup>. It is though that the first step of decomposition is due to the dehydration from the hydroxyl groups located to the benzyl group. Between 150 and 300°C, the cleavage of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -aryl-alkyl-ether linkages takes place. Around 300°C, aliphatic side chains start splitting off from the aromatic ring while the carbon-carbon cleavage between lignin structural units occurs at 370-400°C. Finally, the complete rearrangement of the backbone at

higher temperatures (500-700°C) leads to 30-50 wt% char and to the release of volatile products (CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>)<sup>49</sup>.

#### **3.** Isolation of lignin from wood

#### **3.1** Concept of biorefinery

The objective of chemical pulping processes is to remove enough lignin to separate cellulosic fibers one from another to produce a suitable pulp for the manufacture of paper and other related products <sup>15</sup>. Until recently, lignin has been considered for a long time as a waste from pulp and paper industry that constitutes only the fuel to power paper mills. During kraft pulping process, the resulting black liquor (containing between 35 and 45% of lignin) <sup>50</sup> is concentrated with an evaporator train and then fired into a recovery boiler for the production of steam, electricity and inorganic chemical for internal mill use. However, with the increase of pulp production, a large excess of lignin was produced. Therefore, several studies were conducted for value addition to lignin via its conversion into various chemicals.

Currently, lignin represents 30% of all non-fossil organic carbon on Earth. Its availability exceeds 300 billion tons <sup>51</sup>, increasing annually by around 20 billion tons. The pulp and paper industry estimated that 50 million tons of lignin were extracted in 2010, but only 2% has been commercialized for the formulation of dispersants, adhesives, and surfactants or as antioxidants in plastics and rubbers. In this way, the challenge is then to explore the potential of this renewable resource, producing valuable functional molecules for chemistry.

At that time, the concept of biorefinery can be defined as "an integral unit that can convert biomass into bio-based products including food, feed, chemical and/or materials, and bioenergy such as biofuels and power" <sup>52</sup>. The aim of this emerging concept is to use e.g., lignocellulosic biomass by separating their main constituents with e.g., a valorization of cellulose, lignins, hemicelluloses and xylose. In that frame, pulp mills can be considered as fully integrated biorefinery which converts wood into (i) cellulose to make paper, (ii) high value co-products such as lignin, and (iii) hemicellulose, without degrading their functionality (Figure I-3). This concept of biorefinery falls within an approach of green chemistry avoiding the production of waste low value-products and recycling solvents used to extract all the components of biomass feedstock <sup>53</sup>. Considering this concept, it should be stated that lignin cannot be anymore considered as a waste, it is now a raw material with a huge potential for the synthesis of value-added products.



Figure I- 3. Schematic concept of biorefinery based on lignocellulosic biomass.

#### 3.2 Extraction processes and their resulting technical lignins

Lignin is extracted from the other lignocellulosic parts by physical and/or chemical and biochemical treatments. The botanical source, but also the pulping process (delignification) and extraction procedures highly influence the final lignin structure, purity and corresponding properties <sup>54</sup>. Common pulping processes are based on the cleavage of ester and ether linkages, then the resulted technical lignins differ considerably from the *in planta* lignin. In this part, we will focus on the different extraction processes that are used to recover these lignins, which are commercially available. Figure I-4 shows the classification into two main categories, sulfur and sulfur-free processes, respectively. A special attention will be paid on the chemical structure differences (Table I-1), which can affect the lignin reactivity e.g., for further chemical modifications.



**Figure I- 4.** Different extraction processes to separate lignin from lignocellulosic biomass and the corresponding productions of technical lignins.

#### 3.2.1 Sulfur lignins

Sulfur lignins include Kraft and lignosulfonates lignins, which are primarily produced by pulp and paper industries and mainly correspond to the lignin extraction from the cellulose. Kraft process uses a mixture of chemicals composed by sodium hydroxide (NaOH) and sodium sulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S), whereas the sulfite process is based on a cooking with an aqueous sulfur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>) and a base – calcium, sodium, magnesium or ammonium. The two kinds of black liquor generated are then acidified to recover both lignins.

Considering the high sulfur environment used for Kraft lignin extraction, it is quite surprising that the residual sulfur content is so low, typically less than 1-2%. Moreover, it contains a high amount of condensed structures and a high level of phenolic hydroxyl groups, due to extensive cleavage of  $\beta$ -aryl bonds during cooking. The number-average molar mass (M<sub>n</sub>) of Kraft lignin is generally low, between 1000 and 3000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup> <sup>55, 56</sup>. In order to improve the traditional process of Kraft pulping, several studies have investigated the lignin removal process to extract it more efficiently from black liquor <sup>57, 58</sup>. The new Lignoboost process has been developed by Innventia (Sweden) and largely patented with numerous applications <sup>59, 60</sup>, that are now owned by Metso Company (Finland) <sup>61, 62</sup>. Considering the biorefinery concept, this process represents an excellent enhancement to Kraft pulping process by using lignin as a chemical product or as fuel for lime kiln in paper mills.

Lignosulfonates contain a considerable amount of sulfur in the form of sulfonate groups present on the aliphatic side chains. Lignosulfonates are water-soluble. They have a higher average molar mass than Kraft lignin with a broad polydispersity index, around 6 to 8 <sup>63</sup>. They take advantages from these properties and represent the technical lignins which are the most exploited for several industrial applications such as e.g., binders, dispersing agent, surfactant, adhesives and cement additives. However, they are generally contaminated by the cations used during pulp production and recovery. Their reactivity depends to some extent on the cation nature. Calcium and ammonium-based products exhibit the lowest and the highest reactivity, respectively, while sodium and magnesium-based lignosulfonates show a medium reactivity <sup>64</sup>.

#### 3.2.2 Sulfur-free lignin

Sulfur-free lignins are an emerging class of lignin products which have a low macromolecular size, after the fractionation steps. The structure of these lignins is close to those of the native lignins. They show interesting properties that can make them as an attractive source of low-molar mass phenol or aromatic compounds. Sulfur-free lignins can be divided into two main categories, lignins from solvent pulping (organosolv lignin) and from alkaline pulping (soda lignin) (Figure I-4).

Organosolv lignins are generally the most pure, with the highest quality <sup>65, 66</sup>. They show high solubility in organic solvents and practically insoluble in water, since they are very hydrophobic. They are recovered from the solvent by precipitation, which typically involves adjusting different parameters such as concentration, pH, and temperature <sup>54</sup>. The most common organosolv processes are based on ethanol/water pulping (Lignol<sup>®</sup> - Canada) and pulping with acetic acid, containing a small amount of mineral acid such as hydrochloric or sulfuric acid (Acetosolv) <sup>67, 68</sup>. In addition, another extraction based on a mixture of formic acid, acetic acid and water was developed by CIMV Company (France). The lignin produced was called Biolignin<sup>®</sup> and was supposed to be linear and have low molecular weight according to some published works <sup>69-71</sup>.

Soda based cooking methods are mainly obtained from annual plants such as straw, flax, bagasse, and, to some extent, hardwoods. Lignin extraction is based on hydrolytic cleavage of the native lignin but it results in a relatively chemically unmodified lignin compared to the others lignin types. A famous example of this approach has been developed by Granit SA Company (Green Value SA - Switzerland) with a specific method for the precipitation of

lignin from black liquor, by adjusting pH value with mineral acids. This method is specially adapted from paper factories in the production of cellulose from annual plants or agricultural residual substances. Soda lignin can present also high silicate and nitrogen contents due to its extraction procedure <sup>72-75</sup>.

Lignin type –	Sulfur-lignins		Sulfur-free lignins	
	Kraft	Lignosulfonate	Soda	Organosolv
Aspect				
Raw materials	Softwood Hardwood	Softwood Hardwood	Annual plants	Softwood Hardwood Annual plants
Solubility	Alkali Organic solvents	Water	Alkali	Wide range of organic solvents
Number-average molar $(M_n - g.mol^{-1})$	1000 - 3000	15 000 - 50 000	800 - 3000	500 - 5000
Polydispersity	2.5 - 3.5	6-8	2.5 - 3.5	1.5-2.5
T <sub>g</sub> (°C)	140-150	130	140	90-110

**Table I-1.** Properties of technical lignins.

Efficient breakdown and conversion of lignocellulosic material to chemicals and fuels remain one of the biggest obstacle currently holding back the development of successful biomass-based biorefineries that can compete with traditional fossil-based refineries <sup>53</sup>.

Successful introduction of lignin in the production of new biobased materials is highly dependent on its structure and purity. Process extraction represents actually the key point to use lignin in industrial applications. However, despite these limitations, the huge amount of available lignin has driven numerous efforts and researches to develop its uses for industrial applications. Moreover, the absence of sulfur in lignin makes them more suitable for chemical modification. Hence, numerous researches have been investigated to develop sulfur-free extraction process to isolate lignin from biomass and to obtain chemicals that can be valorized for several applications.

#### 4. Chemical modification

#### 4.1 General background

The huge potential of lignin gives several opportunities to take advantage from its versatility for multiple applications. Main uses of lignin have been classified into two different groups, (i) without chemical modification, lignin is directly incorporated into matrix to give some new or improved properties, (ii) with chemical modification to carry out a large range of chemicals, building blocks and polymers.

Lignin has been subjected to a vast array of reactions for both fundamental and applied studies. However, this section has been restricted to the identification and discussion of relevant works in terms of the chemical exploitation of lignin as a source of chemicals and monomers for polymerization purpose. As presented in Figure I-5 and for a better understanding, the chemical modification of lignin can be classified into three main categories:

- Fragmentation or lignin depolymerization to use lignin as a carbon source or to cleave lignin structure into aromatic macromers.
- (2) Modification by creating new chemical active sites.
- (3) Chemical modification of hydroxyl groups.



Figure I- 5. Global scheme of the uses of lignin with or without chemical modifications.

As previously mentioned, due to its hindered phenol structure, lignin can be directly used with elastomers or polyolefins as antioxidant <sup>76-78</sup>, ultraviolet light stabilizer <sup>79</sup> and possibly also as a flame retardant <sup>80</sup>. Several studies have investigated the incorporation of lignin into polymeric matrix such as industrial thermoplastics (polyesters, polyamides, polycaprolactone and polyhydroxybutyrate) to reduce the costs of polymer production <sup>81-83</sup>. Lignin can also be utilized for other purposed where polyelectrolyte or surface active properties are required or where the tendency for self-condensation reaction is requested <sup>84, 85</sup>. For example, lignosulfonates provide plasticity and better flowability to some polymers giving also to the final material higher compressive strength, durability and better uniformity <sup>86, 87</sup>. Although lignin presents potential direct applications in polymer industry, it can only be incorporated in small amount, taking into account its thermal degradation and mechanical properties. At that time, the modification of lignin seems to be the best way to use this renewable product as a starting material for polymer and chemical synthesis.

#### 4.2 Fragmentation of lignin

Lignins have been found to be an appropriate raw material for producing low molar mass compounds like vanillin, simple and hydroxylated aromatics, quinines, aldehydes, aliphatic acids and many others chemical compounds<sup>88, 89</sup>. The recognition that lignin can be degraded into phenolic materials has stimulated almost 60 years of research. A great number of thermochemical conversion methods have been proposed to depolymerize lignin <sup>90</sup>. Among them, base-catalyzed depolymerization, pyrolysis, gasification and Lewis acid-catalyzed solvolysis have received a considerable amount of attention during the last decades <sup>48, 91-95</sup>. At the beginning, lignin fragmentation has had two objectives: (i) the elucidation of the composition and structure of lignin, and (ii) the production of useful materials from waste lignin. Recently, with the upcoming focus on biorefineries, lignin fragmentation has gained new interest as a chemical resource, since the fossil feedstock is becoming more and more insecure and expensive <sup>96</sup>.

#### Fragmentation



Figure I- 6. Summary of main processes for lignin fragmentation.

Thermochemical, biochemical and chemical conversions have also been developed to produce high value compounds (Figure I-6). Various types of lignins (alkali, sulfite and kraft) from both softwood and hardwood have been subjected to these processes. Figures I-7 and I-8 give a brief overview of the processing temperature and the composition of the products resulting from these fragmentation methods.

#### 4.2.1 Pyrolysis

Lignin pyrolysis has been studied for almost 100 years with the focus on two main aspects: (i) understanding biopolymer aromatic structure and (ii) breaking lignin down into aromatic components or repeat units. Lignin pyrolysis is based on thermochemical decomposition by heating biomass at around 500°C without oxygen. Lignin starts to decompose at 280-500°C by the cleavage of ether and carbon-carbon linkages. This degradation generates liquids (pyrolysis oil), solids and gaseous fractions (CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, etc.), in various proportions, depending on reactions parameters <sup>89, 92, 97</sup>. The liquid product resulting from lignin pyrolysis is composed by 20% of aqueous compounds (methanol, acetic acid, acetone and water) and 15% of tar (condensation of hot volatiles giving mainly phenolic compounds). The gaseous fraction represents around 10% in weight of the starting material and contains CH<sub>4</sub>, ethane and CO <sup>98</sup>.

Pyrolysis can be divided into two different categories: *conventional* (also named slow pyrolysis) and *flash pyrolysis*. In conventional slow pyrolysis, lignin is heated to around 500°C with a slower heating rate compared to the flash pyrolysis. The vapor residence time varies from 5 to 30 min. Thus, the components in the vapor phase continue to react with each other, as the solid char and any liquid are being formed. Pyrolysis can be used to produce predominantly a liquid (named "bio-oil") if flash pyrolysis is used, enabling the conversion of lignin to bio-crude with an efficiency of up to 80%. This process produces 60-75 wt % of liquid bio-oil, 15-25 wt % of solid char, and 10-20 wt % of noncondensable gases. Thanks to this method, no waste is generated, the bio-oil and solid char can each be used as a fuel and the gas can be recycled back into the process. Moreover, the process has the advantage of enabling short residence times (less than 2 s) and giving bio-oil by cooling rapidly vapors and aerosols.

In the past 20 years, *flash pyrolysis* techniques have been developed for the conversion of whole plant biomass into bio-oil using mainly continuous or batch fluidized-bed reactors from laboratory to demonstration scale.

However due to the complex structure of lignin, pyrolysis leaves significant amounts of residue and the corresponding bio-oil are rich in oxygen-containing compounds. Co-pyrolysis of lignin (or biomass) with polyolefins was considered as an opportunity to enhance the liquid production and to decrease the oxygen content of the pyrolysis oils <sup>99</sup>. In a recent publication, researchers have shown that co-pyrolysis of soda lignin with synthetic polymers, and particularly with materials having phenol-type structures (e.g., PS and PC) increase the interactions between both components and lead to higher amount of pyrolysis oil, mainly based on phenol compounds.



Figure I-7. Processing temperatures used for lignin fragmentation.



**Figure I- 8.** Global composition of the resulting products from the thermochemical conversion of the lignin.

#### 4.2.2 Gasification

Gasification transforms biomass by partial oxidation at high temperatures, typically in the range 800-900°C, into combustible gas mixture mainly  $O_2$  and CO with a low caloric value (about 4-6 MJ.Nm<sup>-3</sup>). Gases formed during gasification can be used for several applications. The most common is to use it as fuel for gas engine and gas turbine, but gasification can offer a lot of possibilities and mainly the production of synthetic gases (*syngas*), based on a mix of CO with H<sub>2</sub><sup>91</sup>. This syngas can be a basic source for the production of new chemicals and polymers by chemical pathways or by biochemistry (bioproduction) <sup>100</sup>. For example, Choi et al. (2010) have recently showed the feasibility of bioproduction of polyhydroxyalkanoates by fermentation with a carbon source based on fermentation of gasified biomass <sup>101</sup>.

#### 4.2.3 Oxidation

Lignin oxidation is one way to obtain phenolic derivatives. Nitrobenzene, some metallic oxides, air and oxygen are the most used oxidants that preserve the lignin aromatic rings and gives aldehydes (vanillin and syringic) and acids (vanillic and syringic acids) whose yield depend on the oxidant, with or without catalysts (Copper (II) and Cobalt (II))<sup>102, 103</sup>. Among all of the existing oxidants, nitrobenzene is theoretically considered to be the aromatic compound with the highest yield, from lignin. Various lignocellulosic materials including neat

ligning have been oxidized studying the most favorable conditions (temperature, reaction time, air pressure) to obtain fractions with high added-value compounds. Among all of the products that can be produced by lignin oxidation, vanillin (4-hydroxy-3methoxybenzaldehyde) constitute the most well-know and valuable product. Vanillin is mainly used as a flavor and as a chemical feedstock in the pharmaceutical industry <sup>104</sup>. The first hints that it might be possible to produce vanillin from lignin-containing wastes has been published in 1875, of a vanillin-type smell in spent acid sulfite pulping liquor <sup>105</sup>. This opportunity was developed, and for a long time vanillin was exclusively produced by oxidation of lignosulfonates. However, the oxidation of lignin into vanillin is still complex; the yield of vanillin varied somewhat with the source of liquor and with the degree of lignin sulfonation <sup>106</sup>. Recently, an interesting work has been developed by Tarabanko et al. (2013) to separate efficiently vanillin and syringaldehyde, two structurally and very similar compounds that are produced from lignin oxidation. They demonstrate the possibility to separate both compounds by a one-stage crystallization with a high yield (90%) and purity over 98% <sup>107</sup>. Beyond the production of vanillin, mainly used by food-processing industry, lignin oxidation can provide several polyfunctionnal monomeric compounds and fine chemical products for chemical industry (Figure I-9). They represent attractive bio-based monomers that can be successfully incorporated into polymeric materials. For example, recent contributions were devoted to the development of resins, composites and polymers with vanillin and vanillic acid 108-110. Mialon et al. synthesized a renewable polyethylene terephthalate mimic with vanillin and acetic acid anhydride with similar properties than conventional<sup>111</sup>. New healthy prepolymers (without bisphenol A and epichloridrin) were also designed by chemo-enzymatic epoxidation of vanillic acid in the presence of hydrogen peroxide and caprylic acid <sup>112</sup>.



Figure I-9. Aromatic compounds formed during lignin oxidation.

#### 4.2.4 Liquefaction

Liquefaction of biomass consists in its thermochemical conversion with different liquefying agents and catalysts. In relation to the others methods of biomass fragmentation, liquefaction involves solvolysis and depolymerization simultaneously <sup>113</sup>. The concept of liquefaction is to fully convert solid biomass to liquid products, which are rich in hydroxyl groups. The resulting liquefied products can be a potential feedstock for preparation of polyesters, polyurethanes, and epoxy-resins <sup>114, 115</sup>. Two liquefaction processes have been developed: (i) noncatalyzed liquefaction at an elevated temperature (250-500°C) under high pressure and (ii) an acid-catalyzed liquefaction, with a selected solvent system and a catalyst. The biomass can be liquefied under atmospheric pressure at moderate temperature (120-180°C). Several studies in lignocellulosic biomass liquefaction have been investigated using different liquefying agents such as phenol and polyhydric alcohols (ethylene glycol, glycerol) and acid catalysts (chloride, sulfuric and phosphoric acids) <sup>116-118</sup>. Mechanisms involved during lignocelluloses liquefaction are complex and are still not fully understood. Through

this method wood components (lignin, cellulose and hemicellulose) are decomposed into small and potentially self-condensed molecules but there are also some residues that are not soluble in solvent <sup>119</sup>. Zhang et al. (2011) have studied the liquefied wood residues with a liquefaction solvent based on a system of glycerol/ethylene glycol (EG). This study showed that wood liquefaction process takes place in a two-step route. Firstly, the rapid liquefaction is due to the removal of lignin, hemicellulose and amorphous part of cellulose and then the decrease of residue compounds occurs. Parameters such as the yield of catalyst, reaction temperature and the solvent ratio play an important role in the composition of the liquefied product, mostly the content of acid-insoluble lignin. Nevertheless, some applications with liquefied wood and/or lignin have been tested for Phenol Formaldehyde (PF) resins giving good mechanical and thermal properties <sup>115</sup>.

#### 4.2.5 Enzymatic oxidation

*In-planta* lignin is linked to both hemicelluloses and cellulose and acts as a barrier to any solutions or enzymes to prevent the penetration of lignocellulolytic enzymes into the lignocellulosic structure. Not surprisingly, concerning the degradation resistance, lignin is the strongest component among the different lignocellulosic macromolecules. Although lignin resists attacks by most microorganisms, basidiomycetes white-rot fungi, are able to degrade lignin efficiently <sup>120, 121</sup>.

Current methods for bioethanol production are based on physico-chemical pre-treatments, to remove lignin and hemicellulose and to access to the cellulose content of the vegetal biomass. Hence, there is interest in biological methods for lignin breakdown, which might be used for second generation biofuel production thereby increasing the bioavailability of cellulose, whilst requiring less energy input for pre-treatment. In this case, lignin degradation would release valuable aromatic chemicals. Lignin can be slowly degraded by white-rot fungi such as *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*, which produce an extracellular lignin peroxidase (LiP) enzyme to start the degradation process. Lignin degradation by enzyme is based on an oxidative process <sup>122</sup>. Other fungal strains can produce lignolytic enzymes such as manganese peroxidase (MnP) and laccase enzymes that are also active in lignin breakdown <sup>123, 124</sup>. However, in spite of a great deal of work on fungal lignin breakdown, all of them have been carried out in order to improve the cellulose extraction of wood but not to use lignin as a potential source of aromatic compounds. The main applications of enzymatic oxidation are

biopulping and biobleaching, which consist in a Solid State Fermentation (SSF) process, where wood-chips are treated with white-rot fungi to improve the delignification process <sup>98, 123</sup>.

#### 4.2.6 Outlook

Complete lignin depolymerization or fragmentation is an energy-negative process aimed at undoing what nature has done during biosynthesis. That is why, a lot of researches have been investigated to enhance the use and add value to the lignin, without modifying its intrinsic structure. As already mentioned, lignin can be considered as a macropolyol. The reactive hydroxyl sites can react with chemical compounds to give new chemical reactive sites based on carboxylic or amine groups, for example.

#### 4.3 Synthesis of new chemical active sites

Chemically, lignin has a variety of functional groups, namely hydroxyl, methoxyl, carbonyl and carboxyl groups. Higher end uses of lignin have not previously been achieved because of its structure complexity. To improve upon this limitation, lignin can be modified to increase the range of their applications. Different types of modification have been proposed with objectives to increase its chemical reactivity, reduce the brittleness of lignin-derived polymers, increase its solubility in organic solvents, and improve the ease of processing the lignin. These modifications consist in increasing the reactivity of hydroxyl groups or changing the nature of chemical active sites, but it is always in view of synthesizing new efficient and more reactive macromonomers. On the basis of the previously described lignin structure, its reactivity is based by its particular structure with both specific functional groups - mainly hydroxyl groups - and specific position (mainly ortho position) of aromatic ring. So far, different chemical modifications pathways have been investigated to introduce new chemical active sites in the lignin chemical structure. Several modifications such as nitration, amination, alkylation/dealkylation, carboxylation, and halogenation (Figure I-10) have been investigated but less extensively than reactions involving hydroxyl groups. These latter are separately presented.
# New chemical active sites



**Figure I- 10.** Summary of the main types of reaction for the synthesis of new chemical active sites on lignin.

### 4.3.1 Alkylation/dealkylation

Among the different examples based on alkylation and/or dealkylation, demethylation is the most well-known since demethylated lignins represent a byproduct of DMSO production. DMSO is a polar aprotic solvent, which plays an important role in the synthesis and processing of polymers. The corresponding synthesis starts with the reaction between lignin and molten sulfur in alkaline media. Two methyl groups are transferred from lignin to sulfur to yield DMS which is further oxidized with nitrogen dioxide to obtain DMSO (see Figure I-11). Currently, Gaylord Chemical Company (US) is the leader company to manufacture DMSO from lignin. Among various studies performed on this modification consisting on removing methyl groups from lignin, we have to mention the original work conducted by Liu and Li (2006)<sup>125</sup>. They have developed a new water resistant wood adhesive based on demethylated lignin and polyethylenimine. The combination of these two components was able to serve a formaldehyde-free wood adhesive, which is a very well-known lignin application<sup>125</sup>.



Figure I-11. Chemical modifications occurring during the DMSO production from lignin.

#### 4.3.2 Hydroxalkylation

The number of publications and patents pending on lignin as a substitute or extender for phenolic wood adhesives during the last decades is rather impressive <sup>64</sup>. The substitution of non-renewable phenol by biobased chemicals in the synthesis of phenol-formaldehyde (PF) resins and other adhesives represent some strong developments. Some similarities on chemical structure and their reactivities with formaldehyde have generated new routes for the production of wood adhesives based on lignins. The lignin-formaldehyde reaction chemistry has been described in details in the literature <sup>126</sup>. There are two different pathways to synthesize lignin-phenol-formaldehyde (LPF) resins. Firstly, crude lignin can react with formaldehyde. However, the condensation reaction with lignin and with PF resins is rather limited. The second pathway consists of lignin modification with demethylation, phenolation and methylolation <sup>127</sup> reaction processes to enhance lignin's reactivity. Methylolation consists in the reaction of lignin with formaldehyde in an alkaline medium to introduce methylol groups at  $C_5$  position of guaiacyl units, at side chains reactions  $\alpha$  to a carbonyl group and on the  $\beta$  carbon of  $\alpha$ - $\beta$  double bonds conjugated to free phenol units. However, undesirable side reactions can occur, including the well-known Canizzaro reaction in which formaldehyde reacts with itself, and the Tollens reaction where the lignin side chains are substituted by aliphatic methylol groups <sup>128</sup>.



Figure I-12. Reaction scheme of lignin and formaldehyde with basic catalyst.

By varying the reaction time and temperature, catalyst type, and the formaldehyde/lignin ratio, different adhesives systems with specific properties have been produced. Recently, hydroxymethylated lignin has been used to substitute 40 wt% phenol in PF resin synthesis, giving a formulated adhesive with low free formaldehyde content and with a satisfactory bonding strength <sup>129</sup>. While lignin integration into phenolic resin has utilized formaldehyde chemistry, the use of other aldehydes including glyoxal <sup>130-134</sup>, furfural <sup>135</sup> and more recently glutaraldehyde <sup>136</sup> have also been described. For example, glyoxal represents an interesting alternative to formaldehyde; it is a non-toxic and non-volatile dialdehyde <sup>134</sup> that can be obtained from natural resources such as the oxidation of lipids or as a by-product of biological processes <sup>137</sup>. Recently, Cheng et al. (2012) have achieved to demonstrate that low molar mass biocrude oil produced from the hydrothermal liquefaction of sawdust could replace phenol up to 75% in the synthesis of Methylolated Bio-Oil-Phenol Formaldehyde (MBPF) resol resins <sup>138</sup>. These promising results on the valorization of lignin and other biorefinery coproducts have been also investigated to modify PF resins by copolymerization. The ethanol biorefinery residue (ER) was found to be one of the best residues for the modification of PF resin. 50% of phenol could be replaced by ER without decrease of the properties of adhesives and plywood 139

#### 4.3.3 Amination

Amination of lignin is mainly based on Mannich reaction with amine and formaldehyde  $^{140}$ . In some recent studies, lignin amination is often carried out in presence of diethylamine and formaldehyde under various reactions conditions  $^{141}$ . The Mannich reaction occurs between a carbon with high electron density and an immonium ion formed from formaldehyde and an amine. Then, an aminoethyl group can be introduced at the *ortho* position of a phenolic hydroxyl group. To elucidate the chemical reactivity of lignin toward a Mannich reaction, 1-guaiacyl-1-*p* hydroxyphenylethane was chosen to represent a simple phenolized lignin model compound. Four compounds have been isolated from this reaction. Mannich reaction of a model compound of lignin is represented in Figure I-13. The Mannich reaction products were used for two different applications: (i) preparation of a cationic surfactant with a high surface activity, larger than that of lignosulfonate (a commercial surfactant from lignin) and (ii) preparation of a composite to improve interfacial mechanical performance of PVC/wood-flour composites by increasing interfacial bonding of polymer matrix and the aminated lignin. When the wood-flour was treated by 2 wt% of lignin amine, tensile and impact strengths of the composite achieved a maximum value. Furthermore, lignin

amine treatment has significantly reduced the water absorption of the composite <sup>142</sup>. Another interesting amination of lignin was also investigated in the synthesis of polyurethane foams (PUF). In this case, lignin-aminated polyol was prepared from lignin with diethanolamine and formaldehyde by the Mannich reaction. It was found that the new lignin-polyol based on lignin amination can react with diphenylmethane diisocyanates (MDI-50) and glycol (PEG) in the presence of water as a blowing agent to synthesize PUF. Crosslinking kinetics reactions were studied <sup>143</sup>. Recently, the way of using enzymes (precisely laccases) has been studied to mediate the coupling of long alkyl chains onto lignin compounds <sup>144</sup>. Two long chains alkylamines (docecylamine and dihexylamine) have been successfully grafted onto lignin model compounds by this method to increase the hydrophobicity of lignocellulosic material. In a context of improving wood hydrophobicity, enzymatic processes have shown interesting results increasing in 54 and 84% hydrophobicity of lignin, considering the two alkylamines, respectively.



**Figure I- 13.** Adapted representation of Mannich reaction of a simple phenolized sulfuric acid lignin compound with formaldehyde and dimethylamine <sup>141</sup>.

### 4.3.4 Nitration

Nitration is another reaction that can be carried out on lignin. It is typically run in nonaqueous solvents with nitrating agents such as nitric acid with acetic anhydride, nitric acid in concentrated acetic acid and fuming sulfuric acid. The resulting product is a reddish-brown amorphous powder with nitrogen content around 6 - 7 % estimated by elemental analysis <sup>145</sup>.

Recently, nitrolignin has been investigated for the synthesis of graft interpenetrating polymer networks (IPN) from polyurethane. Results showed that a relatively great network structure like a star by grafting with multi-PU networks (with different NCO:OH molar ratios) was formed based on nitrolignin (NL) molecule <sup>146, 147</sup>.

### 4.4 Functionalization of hydroxyl groups

Lignins have phenolic hydroxyl groups and aliphatic hydroxyl groups at C- $\alpha$  and C- $\gamma$  positions on the side chain. Phenolic hydroxyl groups are the most reactive functional groups and can significantly affect the chemical reactivity of the material. This type of modification - affecting hydroxyl groups - results in the formation of lignin polyol derivatives, which in turn improves the solubility of the lignin. After modification, the majority of phenolic hydroxyl groups are converted into aliphatic hydroxyl units (Figure I-14). Thus, more reactive hydroxyl groups become readily available. In fact, a good strategy frequently used in several studies is the reaction of lignin with bi-functionnal compounds which allows having a reaction with one reactive site and another free reactive one that can be involved e.g., in polymerization reaction.

# **Functionnalization of hydroxyls groups**



**Figure I- 14.** Summary of the chemical reactions for the functionalization of lignin hydroxyl groups.

### 4.4.1 Esterification

Among all of the reactions involving hydroxyl groups of lignin, esterification is probably the easiest to carry out considering the reaction parameters and reactants used. There are three types of reagents that can allow performing this type of reaction: acids compounds, acid anhydrides and chloride acids. The two latest are the most reactives. Table I-2 shows a summary of some representative studies with the highlight on the compounds used for lignin esterification. We can notice that most of the chemical compounds used are bi-functional which results in lignin-based polyester networks. Thus, it is a current practice to incorporate co-macromonomers such as poly(ethylene) glycol (PEG)<sup>148</sup>, bearing complementary chemical functions, yielding esters groups and playing also the role of co-solvent. By varying the molar mass and the co-monomer content, modulation of properties of the resulting lignin-based polyesters can be obtained. Besides, triethylamine (TEA) is often used in esterification reactions and can selectively modify phenolic alcohols in presence of aliphatic alcohols. It has been shown that it can be potentially achieved to yield phenol modified-lignin <sup>149</sup>. However, often time both aliphatic and phenolic hydroxyl groups take part in esterification reactions.

As can be observed in Table I-2, the major part of applications based on esterified lignins is dedicated to the synthesis of polyesters, epoxy resins and elastomeric materials. Lignin derivatives and products applications from lignin are more specifically developed in section *4.5*.

Reagents	Chemical formula	Ref	References and synthesis details	Applications
Sakaaavi	Cl Cl	1	Solvent: DMAc Catalyst: TEA 110°C – 22h	
chloride (SC) Terephtaloyl chloride (TC)		150	<i>Solvent</i> : DMAc <i>Catalyst</i> : TEA 0°C – 1h	Polyester synthesis
		151	<i>Co-monomer</i> : PEG 300,600, 1500 g.mol <sup>-1</sup> 120-130°C -9h	
Dimer acid	HOOC(H <sub>2</sub> C) <sub>7</sub> HC $\sim$ CH H <sub>3</sub> C(H <sub>2</sub> C) <sub>5</sub> (CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>7</sub> COOH H <sub>3</sub> C(H <sub>2</sub> C) <sub>5</sub>	152	<i>Solvent:</i> 1,4 Dioxane <i>Catalyst:</i> CER Reflux – 5h	Precursor for epoxy resins synthesis
Fatty acids and fatty acid chlorides		153	Transesterification reaction Ester: methyl 10- undecenoate Catalyst: TBD 80°C -8h	ADMET, thiol-ene addition, and polycondensation reaction
		154, 155	Acid: Octanoylchloride 130°C - 4h	Compounds with thermoplastics behaviors
PBD(COOH) <sub>2</sub>	HOOC - COOH	156	Kraft lignin modified with formaldehyde <i>Solvent</i> : 1,4 dioxane <i>Catalyst</i> : KOH 100°C - 24h	Lignin-based thermoplastic
HBPEA Highly branched poly(ester- amine)	HO HO O O HO HO O HO HO HO O HO O HO HO	157, 158	Solvent: THF Catalyst: TEA 100°C under vacuum - 4h to 20h	Polyesters amine Elastomeric materials
Phthalic anhydride		159	Solvent: Pyridine 120°C -3h	Compatibilizer in Low Density Polyethylene
Succinic / Maleic anhydride		160, 161	<i>Solvent</i> : basic aqueous media 28°C – 1 to 12h	Increase thermal stability of lignin
		162, 163	<i>Solvent</i> : 1,4 dioxane <i>Catalyst</i> :1 methyl- imidazole 70°C -12h	Preparation of lignopolyols

**Table I- 2.** Summary of some representative systems in the field of lignin esterification.

CER: Acid cation exchange resin ADMET: Acylic Diene Metathesis TBD: Triazabicyclodecene DMAc: Dimethylacetamide

#### 4.4.2 Phenolation

Phenolation (or phenolysis) consists in treating lignin with phenol in an acidic medium to lead to the condensation of phenol with the lignin aromatic rings and side chains <sup>12</sup>. This reaction is the most common modification for lignosulfonate, to increase the content of phenolic hydroxyl groups and thus to improve lignin reactivity as a phenol substitute <sup>164</sup>. The resulting material can then react readily with formaldehyde because of the phenolics with free *ortho* and *para* units. This chemical modification is most often used in the synthesis of PF resins where lignin is previously modified by phenol to react with formaldehyde in the same way than with the methylolation reaction that has been previously described. Modified lignin can also be added as a cross-linking material.



Figure I- 15. Phenolysis reaction and potential reactive sites of phenolized lignin.

A relevant study of phenolation of lignin can be mentioned <sup>165</sup>. This work deals with the phenolation of lignin with cardanol, a natural alkyl phenol from cashew nut shell liquid. The results demonstrate that the use of cardanol to modify lignin for the preparation of polyurethane films can improve some properties of the lignin-based polyurethanes. Moreover, it has been reported that the increase of cardanol content used in Cardanol-Lignin improves the flexibility as well as the tensile strength and the glass transition temperature of the polyurethane films.

### 4.4.3 Etherification

Among chemical modification reactions attempted on lignin is its reaction with alkylene oxide, especially with propylene oxide (PO), named in this case "oxypropylation" that is the most well-known <sup>166, 167</sup>. This reaction has been extensively studied by different research groups in the world and remains one of the most attractive etherification alternatives to modify lignins, giving new macropolyols <sup>21, 104</sup>. In fact, the reaction allows transforming a solid and insoluble product -lignin- into a highly soluble polyol, in several common organic solvents. This reaction has been investigated extensively on different biopolymers and biobased materials bearing hydroxyl groups such as chitosan <sup>168</sup>, cork <sup>169, 170</sup>, pine bark, corn starch <sup>171</sup>, sugar beet pulp <sup>172-174</sup> and sugar cane bagasse. This pathway has brought several polyols derived from different biomass-residue that can be potentially used for the production of novel polymeric materials such as e.g., polyurethanes foams <sup>175</sup>. The case of lignin has received considerable attention, Glasser and co-workers being pioneers in 1980s to investigate this type of reaction for the formulation of polyurethanes and epoxy resins <sup>176</sup>.

The mechanism involved during oxypropylation is based on the reaction of oxianions generated from the OH groups of lignin in the presence of the basic catalyst with PO. Usually, KOH is used to catalyze oxyalkyalation with hydroxyl groups. Nevertheless, original catalysts have also been studied such as polyphosphazenium, aluminum tetraphenyl porphine, cesium hydroxide and various tertiary amines giving also excellent reactivity of lignin <sup>177</sup>.

Through a "grafting from" approach controlled by an anionic ring opening polymerization, the phenolic hydroxyl groups are extended with poly(propylene) glycol chains leading to a long branched polyether with hydroxyl groups at the end. The modification only affects phenolic hydroxyl groups of lignin, oxypropylation being a selective reaction <sup>163, 166</sup>. Various techniques using quantitative methods such as <sup>31</sup>P NMR spectroscopy has been performed to highlight this selectivity towards hydroxyl groups <sup>178-180</sup>. However, the oxypropylation reaction is always accompanied by the occurrence of secondary reactions namely, Propylene Oxide (PO) homopolymerisation and isomerisation. The reaction is frequently carried out in bulk and the resulting polyol is a mixture of oxypropylated lignin oxypropylation are conducted in view of polyurethane and/or polyesters synthesis. The resulting homopolymer plays an important role in the ensuing reactivity of polyol mixture with isocyanate and/or carboxylic acid, but also in the mechanical properties of the final polymeric material. The oxypropylation parameters such as temperature (80 to 200°C), type of lignin (organosolv, soda, kraft), nature

and amount of catalyst (1-10% wt %), lignin/PO ratio were varied in order to study their influence on the composition of the resulting polyol mixture. Some studies from Gandini and Belgacem have shown that the content of homopolymer decreased with the increase of lignin/PO ratio whereas catalyst content did not impact significantly this phenomenon <sup>181, 182</sup>. Therefore, organosolv and soda lignins reacted considerably faster than kraft lignins. Molecular weight but also the nature of hydroxyl groups in lignin have then a small influence in lignin reactivity with PO<sup>175</sup>. Among the numerous works dealing with etherification of lignin with alkylene oxides, the main application of the new lignin-based polyol is the synthesis of rigid polyurethane foams (RPUF). Oxypropylation was proved to be a straightforward process yielding polyol with interesting properties for the production of RPUF <sup>183</sup>. The resulting polymers presented good thermal properties and dimensional stability, even after ageing. The absence of the addition of any other polyol or chain extender in the formulations has to be mentioned <sup>181, 184</sup>. Nowadays, this reaction is an encouraging way to valorize lignin in an abundant renewable industrial by-product. In fact, oxypropylated lignin could be introduced in thermoplastics syntheses such as polyol or co-polyol to synthesize new polyester or polyurethane, for example.



Secondary reactions: homopolymerisation (i) and transfer reaction with PO monomer (ii)



**Figure I- 16.** Schematic representation of oxypropylation reaction performed using basic or acid catalyst, with the potential side reactions that can occurred.

### 4.4.4 Urethanisation

Another reaction involving hydroxyl groups is the reaction with isocyanate groups, it means RNC=O active sites. Upon treatment with an alcohol, an isocyanate forms an urethane linkage during an exothermic reaction <sup>177</sup>. The polyurethane (PU) versatility offers the potential of preparing a wide range of products such as low temperature elastomers, high tensile adhesives, flexible or rigid foams depending on their applications. In a global context, factors such as price and availability of raw materials for polyurethanes syntheses contribute to create pressure on the uses of fossil-based products. Many industrials suppliers of chemicals are therefore looking for biobased alternatives of these chemical compounds. A very insistent attention was paid for many years to the use of renewable polyols in the polyurethane synthesis. Lignin can be considered as an aromatic macropolyol and its chemical modification can also convert it in a polyol precursor in the PU synthesis. In order to overcome intrinsic properties of lignin; such as polydisperse molar masses and hyperbranched structure, the reaction of lignin with isocyanate is always supporting by its chemical modification with alkilene oxide, for example <sup>185</sup> or by its mixing with other polyol compounds such as Poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) or others diols <sup>104, 186</sup>. We can divide lignin based polyurethane synthesis into two main categories: (1) the one step reaction by mixing lignin, diisocyanate with another diol co-monomer, or (2) a two-step reaction procedure with first the synthesis of an isocyanate-based prepolymer and then the polymerization reaction between lignin and this prepolymer, as a polyol chain extender.

Briefly, in the first approach, lignin is used directly without further chemical modification in combination with different polyols. In such a multicomponent system, lignin and the diisocyanate play the role of "hard segment" whereas the diol constitutes the main soft segment in the architecture of the lignin-based polyurethane. The segregation hard-soft segments give a specific nano/micro-organization to control the final global properties. Among different studied systems, we can mentioned the use of PEG with different average molar mass, varying from 400 to 2000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup> <sup>187-189</sup> and Poly(caprolactone)-PCL- diol (400-750-1000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>) <sup>190</sup>. 4,4' Diphenylmethane diisocyanate (4,4' MDI) is used as isocyanate. Resulting materials from the first synthetic route were described as three-dimensional networks whose lignin acts as a crosslinking agent. Thring et al <sup>188</sup> describe the macromolecular architecture of the polyurethane as a network consisting in relatively large and stiff islands, each comprising many branch points (i.e., chemical bonds), held together by a soft and pliable matrix. In each study, authors pointed out the fact that the molar mass of the

diols affects considerably the properties of the ensuing material by influencing the crosslink density of the synthesized network.

In the second approach, close to industrial production, a two-step process is used. First, the synthesis of isocyanate prepolymer is carried out using diisocyanate (MDI or 2,4-diisocyanato-1-methyl-benzene-TDI) with another shorter polyol, as chain extender. This method has been recently reviewed <sup>191</sup>. Two relevant studies investigated respectively by the groups of Sarkar and Huang have to be mentioned <sup>192, 193</sup>. In the first one, they synthesized a prepolymer with Hydroxyl Terminated PolyButadiene (HTPB) and 2,4 TDI <sup>192, 193</sup> with three molar ratios of NCO:OH (1.5, 2 and 2.5). Lignin is then reacted with the prepolymer with a lignin content reaching 15wt%. These experiments give flexible polyurethanes with good mechanical properties (Figure I-17). However, the best results are obtained with only 3 wt.% of lignin. In the second study <sup>146</sup>, a prepolymer was synthesized in the presence of castor oil and TDI with an NCO:OH molar ratio of 2.0. Then, three solutions with PU prepolymer, nitrolignin and butanediol (BDO) were mixed and stirred together with different NCO:OH molar ratios (from 0.73 to 2.0) and a constant amount of lignin (2.8 wt.%) to obtain a series of graft IPN.



Figure I- 17. Reaction scheme for synthesis of HTPB polyurethane and lignin-HTPB copolyurethane.

### 4.5 Toward lignin based polymers and materials

### 4.5.1 Lignin as a viable route for polymers syntheses

As previously discussed, due to the aromatic structure of lignins, most of the materials based on the simple addition or incorporation of lignin is too brittle. Accordingly, lignin should be chemically modified and synthesized with other polymers to be suitable for getting materials with advanced properties such as polyurethane and polyester polymers <sup>194</sup>. Through the functionalization of its hydroxyl groups, lignin becomes a good candidate as a building block unit for polymer synthesis to elaborate innovative macromolecular architectures <sup>38</sup>. The elaboration of numerous polymers by using lignin degradation products such as e.g., polyhydroxystyrene derivatives, polyethers and polyesters <sup>195, 196</sup> must be mentioned.

Several attempts have been made to integrate lignin into industrial processes to highlight its use as a renewable feedstock for replacement of synthetic phenols in binders and in epoxy or phenol-formaldehyde resins formulations, for example <sup>197</sup>. Literature reports several methods to synthesize lignin-based epoxy resins. They have been applied for polyesters and phenolic resins applications, following different strategies<sup>198</sup> such as (i) blending lignin with epoxy resins <sup>199</sup>, (ii) modifying lignin by epoxidation reaction, usually with epichloridrin <sup>200</sup> or (iii) modifying lignin by chemical reactions to improve its reactivity before the epoxidation step. Among all of the work dedicated to lignin-based epoxy resins synthesis, we have to mention the relevant work of Ismail et al. (2010) <sup>201</sup>. Sodium sulfate lignin and glycerol were modified with anhydride to formed ester-carboxylic acid derivatives, and used to crosslink glycerol diglycidyl ether and ethylene glycol diglycidyl ether to obtain the bio-based epoxy resins in replacement of PF resin in particleboard and plywood. Lignin-based epoxy resins show particularly high thermal stability and allow widen the range for applications based on lignin epoxy resins.

The synthesis of PUs has also been extensively investigated to explore high-value applications of lignin e.g., as a polyol (as previously mentioned, section *4.4.3* and *4.4.4*). In this way, thermoplastics <sup>202</sup>, rigid and flexible foams <sup>203, 204</sup> but also elastomers <sup>205</sup> were performed with advanced properties. In their review, Hatakeyama and Hatakeyama (2010) <sup>20</sup> emphasize that lignin chemical pre-modification increases the cost of the resulting PUs and reduce their competitive advantage compared to materials derived from fossil resources. According these authors, the use of lignin without further modification could be thus preferable. However, recent studies circumvent this problem by using lignin directly with

suitable macrodiols (PEG, DEG, TEG and glycerol) as co-monomer and co-solvent to reduce the number of chemical steps and also the cost of polymer processing <sup>203</sup>. According to this approach and with the use of polyisocyanate in the presence of surfactant, plasticizer, DBTDL and water (foaming agent), lignin-based rigid polyurethane foams were synthesized from Kraft, lignosulfonates, and hydrolysis lignins (Figure I-18).



**Figure I- 18**. Example of rigid polyurethane foams made with lignin. A: PU foam based on 50% of organosolv lignin; B: PU foam based on 50% hardwood kraft lignin<sup>204</sup>.

Polyurethane rigid foams have been also successfully obtained from oxypropylated lignin <sup>181, 182, 190</sup> (Section *4.4.3*).

Cazacu et al. (2013) have presented a good overview on lignin application perspectives for materials <sup>37</sup>. They highlight that integration of lignins in multi-component materials have been encouraged the last 10 years by their wide accessibility, low price and performances such as low density, high hardness, good thermal properties, chemical, friction and humidity resistance. However, until now, none of polymers developed at academic level have reached a sizable industrial scale.

### 4.5.2 ATRP - A useful method to develop lignin-based functional material

The use of lignin as a macroinitiator in atom transfer radical polymerization (ATRP) has been studied for the first time by the group of Kadla (2010)<sup>206, 207</sup>. The resulting graft copolymers displayed thermoresponsive properties due to the N- isopropylacrylamide (NIPAM) polymers grafted from Kraft lignin. This method provided good results to graft copolymers with well-defined structures onto lignin. In addition, this polymerization procedure has been successfully used to prepare polymers with various complex macromolecular architectures such as branched structure or linear chains with controlled dimension and dispersity <sup>208</sup>. This new approach offers several advantages including the

possibility to modulate molecular weight of grafted chains but also the number of grafts per macroinitiator. By designing new lignin-based-macroinitiators, it can be possible to polymerize them with different monomers in a controlled free radical system. 2-Bromoisobutyryl bromide (BiBB) is commonly used as an initiator for ATRP syntheses, and can be easily attached to lignin by esterification reaction with its phenolic and aliphatic hydroxyl groups in presence of catalyst, generally TEA is used. By varying ratios between BiBB, catalyst and hydroxyl groups of lignin, it was possible to modulate the number of bromine initiator sites per lignin molecule. A recent study succeed in synthesis of rosin polymer-grafted lignin composites by "grafting from" ATRP that showed interesting hydrophobic and high resistance water properties (around 90° of contact angle, less than 1.0 wt% of water uptake)<sup>209</sup> (see Figure I-19).



**Figure I- 19.** General scheme of lignin macroinitiator synthesis and rosin polymer-grafted lignin composites <sup>209</sup>.

### 4.5.3 High performance material made with lignin: carbon fibers.

Carbon fibers (CF) for high performance composites materials are one of the most important advanced engineering products produced today <sup>210</sup>. CF possess unique combination of properties that make them suitable for a wide range of applications (sports equipment, marine products, construction, aircraft and also automotive industry). CF are lightweight, have high strength, flexibility and fatigue resistance resulting from the orientation of the fiber during the production process. Currently, the precursor raw materials used for CF production are polyacrylonitrile (PAN) and to a lesser extent, coal or petroleum derived pitch and regenerated cellulose. The CF manufacturing process involves *melt* or *wet-spinning* (according to the raw material), *oxidative stabilization* at 200–300°C and *carbonization* under

an inert atmosphere at 1000-2000°C, (in some cases, graphitization at 2000–3000°C), which is then followed by surface treatment and sizing  $^{211}$ .

Almost 80% of commercial CF is predicated on using PAN as the starting raw material, but its expensive cost has thus limited application to high performance material. For more than 40 years, a large activity in research and patents has shown a wide interest for lignin-based CF, which takes advantages to be readily available at relative competitive prices. The first CF made with lignosulfonate lignin, using poly(vinyl alcohol) as a plasticizer has been manufactured and developed by Nippon Kayuka Company under the name of Kayacarbon during 1967-1973 period. Various type of lignin have ever been studied for the production of low-cost CF. Kadla and co-workers <sup>210</sup> have studied the use of Kraft lignin without chemical modification. They have developed a specific method to remove impurities such as carbohydrates or inorganic compounds from lignin and decrease the hydroxyl content by condensing the lignin. Fiber spinning was then facilitated by the addition of the poly(ethylene oxide) PEO (3 to 5%) to lignin. This work constitutes actually a reference in this scientific area because they reported the first lignin-based CF made with a commercially available Kraft lignin. The use of pyrolitic lignin has also been studied highlighting that under precise conditions parameters, mechanical properties for CF were similar to those obtained with Kraft or Alcell (organosolv) lignins <sup>212</sup>.

Nordström <sup>213</sup> et al. (Innventia) have developed a new softening agent for melt spinning softwood Kraft lignin based on ultra-filtrated black liquor. They achieved to obtain CF of very good quality solid carbon fibers. In parallel, they also developed a method to stabilize lignin CF using special oxidative conditions. These new improvements in lignin-based CF present a great potential to reduce time and cost production and to use lignin in larger scale applications. However, the need to purify lignin to make it suitable for melt spinning and carbon fiber production increases the cost of lignin based CF. The production of "low cost" carbon fibers still remains a challenge, lignin being low cost raw material compare to PAN with mechanical properties suitable for CF commercial grade <sup>214, 215</sup>. The development of lignin based high performance material will results in real benefits in the contexts of increased energy efficiency and reduced environmental production.

### 4.5.4 Toward commercialized lignin-based polymers

Recently, a new lignin-based thermoplastic polymer has been commercially developed under the trade name Arboform<sup>®</sup> (latin: arbor – the tree) by Tecnaro (Germany) <sup>216</sup>. This new thermoplastic material is made from specific types of lignin with natural fibers from wood, flax, hemp, sisal or other fibrous plants and natural additives (such as wax), which can be processed on injection molding machine at raised temperatures. The others advantages for this lignin-based thermoplastic include very low swelling and very high transverse tensile strength. The first produced Arboform<sup>®</sup> has been on the market since November 2000, and there are diverse applications e.g., in automotive sectors, children's toys, furniture, castings for watches, designer loudspeakers, degradable golf tees and even coffins...One of determinant barriers to the development of this material it is his price which start at 2.5  $\in$  per kilogram whereas conventional thermoplastic cost is 1-2  $\in$  per kilogram. However, the increasing demand of biobased polymers and the high performance of these new thermoplastic polymers give promising results to pursue research efforts in lignin valorization.

# 5. Conclusion

Over 70 million tons of lignin are produced annually in the world and around 95% are burnt. The remaining 5% is actually used for commercial applications including additives, dispersants, binders or surfactants. Observing the great number of studies performed on lignin, new technologies for extracting and processing it, lignin receive greater attention as the aromatic compounds ( $C_6$  ...) from oil exploitation are now more rare, and more costly. In this way, the emerging concept of biorefinery aimed to regard lignin as a high value added product that can compete with non-renewable aromatic compounds. In recent years, this renew interest on lignin has stimulate a great number of researches for the development of an economically viable lignin valorization route in view of production of chemicals and biobased polymers. For example, its depolymerization into phenol and BTX provides wide varieties of fine and bulk chemicals. Among all of modifications performed on lignin, some valuable successes have emerged with the industrial elaboration of vanillin, DMSO and lignin-based polyol for the synthesis of polymer giving high performance materials. However, the intrinsic properties of lignin, the variability of the resource, polydisperse molar masses and hyperbranched structures have hindered the development of lignins materials revealing that the use of high-purity lignin is also an important issue for its valorization. However, it has to be highlighted that lignin's isolation, purification and drying require costly investments that add up to its price as a raw material. Lignin sales value vary from low grade to high grade lignin from about 50 to 1200  $\notin$ /ton, knowing that the more well-defined is lignin, the more suitable it is for chemical modification, lignin becoming then a high value product...

The employment of lignin by chemistry and polymer industries represents an important field of research with major issues in term of scientific, economical and also environmental point of views and it seems to be justified that lignin will become a promising renewable aromatic resource in subsequent years.

### Acknowledgments

We are grateful for Alsace Region, Oséo and ANRT for their financial supports.

Cette étude bibliographique met en évidence les différents travaux et principaux axes de recherche suivis autour de la modification chimique de la lignine. Les premiers développements principalement dédiés à la caractérisation et l'élucidation de la structure des lignines, ont permis de développer de nombreuses techniques visant à fractionner, modifier ou fonctionnaliser la lignine. La plupart de ces recherches, en étroite relation avec l'industrie papetière ou encore les biotechnologies a participé à l'élargissement de nos connaissances sur cette matière biosourcée et a contribué à sa valorisation, notamment pour la synthèse de divers polymères fonctionnels, avec des architectures macromoléculaires particulières.

# II. Présentation générale des Polyuréthanes

La première synthèse de polyuréthane a été réalisée par le Dr. Otto Bayer en 1937. Cette d'ouvrir la voie à l'élaboration de nouvelles structures découverte a permis macromoléculaires aux propriétés multiples et modulables issues de la réaction entre un polyol et un diisocyanate. La chimie des polyuréthanes repose donc sur une technologie débutée il y a 75 ans et qui s'est développée très rapidement. Elle couvre actuellement une large gamme d'applications: élastomères, thermoplastiques, mousses, mastic, adhésifs, fibres et autres thermodurs...<sup>177</sup> Les matériaux polyuréthanes occupent ainsi une place de choix dans l'industrie des matières plastiques et se placent au sixième rang des polymères les plus utilisés. En 2010, la production mondiale de PU atteignait 10 Mt. La grande diversité des PU est conférée à la fois par leurs organisations mais aussi par leurs natures chimiques différentes qui permettent de moduler les propriétés physiques et chimiques. Les principaux avantages des PU résident ainsi dans une grande résistance à la rayure et l'abrasion, mais aussi dans le cas des TPU par exemple, dans une forte élasticité et une souplesse, accompagnée d'une résistance à la rupture et au déchirement qui en font un matériau de choix dans le domaine des revêtements.

Les deux principaux réactifs intervenant dans la réaction de polyaddition sont généralement issus de ressources fossiles. Néanmoins, dans le contexte économique et environnemental actuel, industriels et chercheurs se sont rapidement intéressés à la substitution d'une partie de ces réactifs par des produits bio-sourcés, issues de ressources renouvelables. Ces derniers présentent de nombreux avantages et peuvent, dans certains cas, être compétitifs même en termes de prix. C'est le cas par exemple de certains polyols utilisés dans la production de mousse PU, notamment pour l'industrie automobile ou l'isolation de bâtiments.

# 1. La chimie des polyuréthanes

Comme nous l'avons évoqué précédemment, les matrices polyuréthanes présentent une grande diversité de structures et de propriétés entre les thermodurs et les thermoplastiques, voire les élastomères, par l'intermédiaire d'une chimie modulable pour l'élaboration de diverses structures finales.

### 1.1 Mécanisme réactionnel entre un alcool et un isocyanate

La fonction uréthane est obtenue par réaction entre un alcool et un isocyanate. La réaction de polymérisation correspondante est une réaction de polyaddition (Figure I-20).



Figure I- 20. Schéma de la formation d'un polyuréthane.

Les isocyanates sont caractérisés par une réactivité importante et modulable liée à un fort caractère électrophile de l'atome de carbone, ce qui rend le groupe fonctionnel particulièrement réactif vis-à-vis d'agents nucléophiles<sup>217</sup>. Les isocyanates utilisés dans la synthèse de PU sont généralement bi-fonctionnels, ils peuvent être soit de nature aromatique soit de nature aliphatique. Les structures des principaux diisocyanates sont représentées sur la Figure I-21.



Figure I- 21. Structures des diisocyanates fréquemment utilisés.

La nature du substituant du groupe isocyanate influe également sur la réactivité de cette fonction. Ainsi, l'encombrement stérique autour de la fonction NCO peut affecter fortement la réactivité du composé. Par ailleurs, les isocyanates aromatiques sont plus réactifs que les isocyanates aliphatiques. En effet, la réactivité du groupement NCO augmente lorsqu'il y a conjugaison avec une double liaison du groupe qui le porte. Enfin, lors de la réaction d'un

diisocyanate avec un alcool, la réactivité de la fonction isocyanate restante peut être modifiée et devient souvent inférieure à celle de la première fonction ayant réagi. On pourra ainsi parfois observer une limitation de l'allongement des chaines lors de la synthèse des PU mais également une augmentation de la proportion d'isocyanate libre dues à cette baisse de réactivité.

La réaction alcool-isocyanate peut-être catalysée par un acide ou une base de Lewis générant la formation d'un complexe de coordination intermédiaire entre le catalyseur, l'alcool et l'isocyanate. En tant qu'acide de Lewis, les composés organométalliques et plus précisément les sels d'étain sont souvent utilisés. On peut par exemple citer le dilaurate de dibutylétain (DBTDL - Figure I-22) qui est un sel d'étain fréquemment utilisé pour ce type de réaction.



Figure I- 22. Structure du dilaurate de dibutylétain (DBTDL).

L'utilisation d'amines tertiaires est également possible, activant ainsi la fonction alcool en rendant le proton plus labile et donc plus réactif. Toutefois, il est à noter que ce type de catalyseur active non seulement la réaction entre l'isocyanate et l'alcool mais favorise aussi les réactions secondaires pouvant intervenir dans le système réactionnel.

### 1.2 Réactions secondaires

La réactivité importante des isocyanates est aussi à l'origine de nombreuses réactions secondaires pouvant intervenir lors de la réaction de polymérisation.

En présence d'eau, les isocyanates forment des amines qui s'accompagnent d'un dégagement de CO<sub>2</sub>. L'amine ainsi formée peut réagir avec d'autres fonctions isocyanates pour donner des groupements urée (Figure I-23). La formation d'urée est parfois recherchée dans les systèmes PU car elle confère généralement d'excellentes résistances chimiques et thermiques aux matériaux. L'utilisation de diamines comme allongeurs de chaines conduit alors à la formation de polyuréthanes-urées (PUU). La plupart des PUU étudiés dans la littérature sont des élastomères et présentent une plasticité réduite par rapport aux PU <sup>218</sup>.



Figure I- 23. Réaction de la fonction isocyanate en présence d'eau.

- A température élevée (100-140°C), les isocyanates peuvent réagir avec les groupements uréthane ou urée pour former des liaisons allophanates ou des biurets respectivement<sup>219</sup>.
   Dans le cadre de la synthèse de PU linéaires, ces réactions secondaires peuvent engendrer la formation de ramifications sur les chaînes linéaires en croissance (Figure I-24).
- Enfin, la présence de catalyseur ou encore l'utilisation de températures extrêmes peuvent entrainer la formation de dimères, trimères voire de polymères d'isocyanates<sup>220</sup>. Ces réactions peuvent ainsi participer à la réticulation partielle du matériau.



**Figure I- 24.** Ensemble des réactions secondaires pouvant s'effectuer avec les isocyanates en conditions de synthèse particulières.

Par ailleurs, il est important de signaler que la réaction alcool-isocyanate est réversible à haute température<sup>221, 222</sup>. Les liaisons uréthanes se dissocient alors pour reformer les fonctions alcool et isocyanate. Cette liaison peut toutefois se reformer lors du refroidissement tout en gardant à l'esprit la formation possible d'allophanate résultant de la réaction d'isocyanates libres avec les fonctions uréthanes. La dégradation thermique des PU est donc un paramètre qui doit être pris en compte pour toute étude de ce type de matériau.

## 2. Procédés de synthèse

Les procédés de synthèse des PU se distinguent principalement par les séquences d'ajout des réactifs. On parlera ainsi de procédé en une ou deux étapes.

### 2.1 Le procédé en deux étapes

La plupart des synthèses de polyuréthanes fait intervenir un procédé en deux étapes avec l'utilisation d'un prépolymère intermédiaire<sup>223</sup>. Ce prépolymère est tout d'abord synthétisé en mettant en présence un excès de diisocyanate et un macrodiol. Il est alors constitué de chaînes de polyols reliées les unes aux autres par des liaisons uréthanes et peut-être caractérisé par son taux de NCO correspondant au pourcentage de fonctions NCO libre dans le système<sup>224</sup>.

La seconde étape de ce procédé consiste à synthétiser le polymère final. Les fonctions isocyanates restantes en bout de chaînes du prépolymère vont réagir avec un allongeur de chaînes (composé hydroxylé de faible masse molaire, généralement un diol court du type 1,4 butanediol) pour terminer la réaction et finalement obtenir un PU linéaire (Figure I-25). Les PU ainsi obtenus sont constitués par l'alternance de chaînes flexibles (appelées *segments souples* - SS) constituées principalement de macrodiol, et de blocs rigides (appelés *segments rigides* - SR) formés par la réaction du diisocyanate avec l'allongeur de chaînes. La figure I-25 détaille les différentes étapes du procédé <sup>225</sup>.





### 2.2 Le procédé en une étape

Dans les conditions industrielles, on retrouvera également le procédé en une étape consistant à mélanger directement l'ensemble des réactifs ; le macrodiol, l'allongeur de chaîne, le diisocyanate et le catalyseur éventuellement. En revanche, ce procédé ne permet pas un contrôle précis de la structure finale du PU mais convient particulièrement pour la synthèse de réseaux thermodurcissables ou encore de mousses.

Dans le cadre de notre étude nous nous sommes concentrés sur le procédé de synthèse en deux étapes qui permet un contrôle privilégié de la croissance des chaines de PU, mais aussi favorise la séparation de phase (voir Partie *1.4 Le cas particulier des polyuréthanes segmentés*)<sup>226</sup>.

# 3. Morphologies des polyuréthanes

La très grande variété des structures chimiques d'isocyanates mais aussi de polyols permet d'accéder à une multitude d'architectures macromoléculaires de PU avec un éventail de propriétés très large. Nous allons brièvement décrire les principales morphologies que l'on peut retrouver pour les matrices PU. Enfin, nous décrirons de façon plus détaillée les polyuréthanes élastomères thermoplastiques segmentés linéaires ou TPU.

Les polyuréthanes linéaires sont obtenus par réaction de polyaddition entre des monomères (alcool et isocyanate) de fonctionnalité 2 (Figure I-26). L'utilisation de monomères aliphatiques de masse molaire élevée génèrera la formation de chaines de polymères à structure linéaire caractérisées par une température de transition vitreuse (Tg) relativement faible. En revanche, l'utilisation de diols de faible masse molaire ou de diisocyanates aromatiques permettra de former des chaines linéaires moins flexibles avec une Tg plus élevée.



Figure I- 26. Structure d'une séquence dans un polyuréthane linéaire.

- La synthèse de réseaux thermodurcissables est obtenue avec au moins un monomère de fonctionnalité supérieure à 2. L'utilisation de monomères polyfonctionnels entraine ainsi la formation de réseau tridimensionnel, hyperbranché avec une température de transition vitreuse élevée pouvant aller jusqu'à 130°C.
- Enfin, les PU segmentés linéaires ou *TPU* sont des copolymères à blocs de type (AB)<sub>n</sub>, dans lequel les blocs A et B, de nature chimique différente sont liés de façon covalente.
   En ce qui concerne les TPU, les blocs A et B représentent respectivement les segments souples (*SS*) et les segments rigides polaires (*SR*).

# 4. Le cas particulier des Polyuréthanes segmentés

Les propriétés particulières des TPU reposent sur leurs capacités à s'organiser à l'échelle macro/nanoscopique. Ce phénomène appelé « micro séparation de phase » résulte de l'immiscibilité thermodynamique entre les chaines de segments souples et les segments rigides du système, associée à l'existence de liaisons covalentes qui empêchent toute séparation macroscopique. Cette microséparation de phase entraine la formation d'un système biphasique où les segments rigides sont souvent regroupés en micro-domaines, dispersés dans une matrice de segment souples majoritairement constituée par le macrodiol (Figure I-27). Généralement, le segment rigide est caractérisé par les groupements uréthane et par les diols à chaînes courtes (allongeur de chaînes), non miscibles dans la matrice des segments souples et assurant la stabilité dimensionnelle du matériau.



**Figure I- 27.** Représentation schématique de la séparation de phase dans une matrice polyuréthane<sup>227</sup>.

Les propriétés finales de ces matériaux seront donc non seulement liées à la nature chimique des composants mais également au degré de séparation des phases entre domaines souples et rigides. La qualité de cette séparation de phase peut être reliée à différents facteurs. Par exemple, la formation de liaisons hydrogène entre les fonctions éther/ester des segments souples et les domaines rigides limitent la séparation de phase. Les polyesters contenant par ailleurs plus de fonctions polaires, sont davantage susceptibles de former des liaisons hydrogène accentuant ainsi cette structuration<sup>228</sup>. La masse molaire des segments souples est également un facteur important dans la structuration des TPU. Pour une même quantité de segment rigide, l'augmentation de la masse molaire du segment souple accentuera la séparation de phase dans la matrice<sup>218</sup>. Dans le cas des PUU, la diamine est utilisée comme allongeur de chaines pour la formation des segments rigides.

Afin de faciliter la mise en évidence et l'étude de cette ségrégation de phases, différentes techniques peuvent être utilisées telles que l'analyse calorimétrique différentielle à balayage (DSC), l'analyse mécanique dynamique (DMA), la rhéologie, la diffusion des rayons X aux petits angles (SAXS), la microscopie à force atomique (AFM)<sup>227</sup> et la microscopie électronique à balayage ou en transmission (MEB<sup>229</sup> et TEM).

# 5. Utilisation de la lignine pour l'élaboration de PU

La première partie de ce chapitre (*Review*) nous a permis de recenser les nombreuses ressources bibliographiques concernant l'utilisation de la lignine pour l'élaboration de polymères. Une littérature abondante est ainsi consacrée à la synthèse de PU à partir de lignine et les stratégies de synthèse peuvent se séparer en 2 voies distinctes. En effet, la lignine présente une réactivité réduite vis-à-vis des groupements isocyanates, en raison des fonctions hydroxyles peu accessibles, c'est pourquoi elle est généralement modifiée en vue de la synthèse de polymères. Toutefois, certaines études principalement consacrées à l'élaboration de matériaux PU par méthode de « solvent casting » utilisent la lignine dans des systèmes tri-composants faisant intervenir directement la lignine non modifiée avec un diisocyanate et un co-monomère, généralement un diol de type poly(éthylène) glycol (PEG) ou poly(propylène) oxyde (PPO) de différentes masses molaires. On peut notamment citer les travaux de Thring et al. qui ont synthétisé des PU flexibles mais relativement fragiles à partir de lignine organosolve (Alcell ®)<sup>188, 189</sup>. Des études antérieures menées par Rials et Glasser<sup>230</sup> avaient également démontré le comportement cassant et très fragile de polyuréthanes préparés

par la même méthode et synthétisés avec un mélange de lignine et de MDI. La nature aromatique de la lignine et du diioscyanate ainsi que la structure très réticulée en résultant, expliquent ces comportements mécaniques. L'introduction de segments souples dans de telles formulations s'était alors révélée indispensable afin d'améliorer les propriétés physicochimiques et mécaniques des matériaux.

La deuxième voie d'obtention de PU à partir de lignine nécessite une modification chimique préalable de celle-ci. Cette modification a pour objectif d'améliorer la réactivité de la lignine vis-à-vis des isocyanates, en rendant les fonctions hydroxyles plus accessibles et disponibles. La technique de déméthylation permet par exemple d'intégrer de nouveaux groupes hydroxyles phénoliques, plus réactifs, dans la structure. Les travaux récents de Chung et al. concernent le prétraitement de la lignine par un acide de Lewis (HBr + TBHDPB) permettant de déméthyler la lignine et d'obtenir une augmentation de ces fonctions hydroxyles d'environ 28%. Ce prétraitement suivi d'une réaction avec le TDI et enfin l'ajout d'un PEF en tant que segment souple a permis la synthèse de PU. Les matériaux ainsi obtenus se sont révélés plus performants que les PU synthétisés avec une lignine non modifiée. L'augmentation de la densité de réticulation des réseaux formés a permis d'améliorer les propriétés mécaniques.

Les nombreux travaux concernant l'élaboration de mousses rigides PU (Rigid Polyurethane Foams - RPUF) doivent également être signalés. Il s'agit de l'application la plus développée permettant de valoriser la lignine. L'élaboration de ces mousses est toujours consécutive à une réaction d'oxypropylation mettant en jeu de l'oxyde de propylène qui polymérise par ouverture de cycle à partir des fonctions hydroxyles de la lignine, formant alors des chaines de PPO greffées. Les polyols polyethers ainsi obtenus présentent des indices d'hydroxyles (concentration OH) élevés et peuvent donc être intégrés dans la formulation des mousses en réagissant avec les isocyanates, en présence de surfactant, d'agent gonflant et de catalyseur. Les mousses alors synthétisées présentent des cellules fermées et possèdent de très bonnes propriétés par rapport à des mousses PU classiques (Figure I-28).



**Figure I- 28.** Images MEB obtenues pour des mousses PU contenant respectivement (i) 25%, (ii) 50%, (iii) 75% et (iv) 100% de polyols à base de lignine organosolve (Alcell  $(\mathbb{R})^{231}$ ).

Les mousses présentent des tailles de cellules pouvant varier de 0,48 à 0,67 mm pour les celles synthétisées avec 100% de lignine en tant que polyol. Toutefois, la grande hétérogénéité dans la taille des cellules limite leurs utilisations en terme de conductivité thermique.

Nadji et al. ont également montré l'excellente tenue au vieillissement des mousses PU développées à partir de lignine organosolve et soda (Figure I-29). Les mousses présentent des  $T_g$  aux alentours de 60°C avec des propriétés semblables à celles obtenues avec des polyols commerciaux (stabilité dimensionnelle, isolation thermique...)



**Figure I- 29.** Photographie d'une mousse polyuréthane synthétisée à partir de lignine organosolve oxypropylée<sup>232</sup>.

Les polyols synthétisés à partir de lignine permettent d'obtenir des PU fortement biosourcés. L'étude de ces structures chimiques dans la littérature a mis en évidence l'influence de plusieurs paramètres tels que la nature de l'isocyanate, le ratio NCO:OH et la réticulation sur les propriétés des PU. Ces propriétés extrêmement variables entre les matériaux permettent ainsi d'expliquer l'infinité des domaines d'applications de cette classe de polymères. Par ailleurs, la fonctionnalité moyenne des réactifs, l'écartement entre les fonctions isocyanates et la présence de fonctions structurantes au sein des polyols sont autant de paramètres sur lesquels on peut agir lors de la synthèse des PU afin d'en ajuster les propriétés finales. Notre étude se positionne dans cette optique pour chaque synthèse de PU. La caractérisation de la structure du macropolyol développé à base de lignine et son influence sur les propriétés finales des matériaux seront étudiées et discutées.

\* \* \*

# Conclusion

Cette étude bibliographique réalisée en préambule de nos travaux de recherche a dressé un état de l'art sur la lignine et sa valorisation pour l'élaboration de polymères et de polyuréthanes notamment. Ce travail a ainsi contribué à l'élaboration de voies de fonctionnalisation et de synthèse originales qui seront développées dans les Chapitres II à IV de ce manuscrit.

Ceci nous a conduits à l'étude de trois systèmes différents et relativement novateurs de modification chimique pour la synthèse de nouveaux matériaux polymères d'étanchéité, tout en respectant le cahier des charges de la société SOPREMA. Compte-tenu de la faible réactivité des fonctions hydroxyles de la lignine, la modification chimique de ces dernières est indispensable pour son utilisation dans des systèmes réactifs.

L'objectif principal qui a dirigé l'ensemble de ce travail doctoral est axé sur l'amélioration de l'accessibilité et donc de la réactivité des fonctions hydroxyles de la lignine. La lignine ainsi modifiée constitue alors un synthon aromatique de base pour l'élaboration de nouvelles architectures macromoléculaires et ceci au travers de différentes approches:

- Lignine et ε-caprolactone : greffage par une technique de polymérisation par ouverture de cycle de chaine de poly(caprolactone)- PCL- sur les hydroxyles de la lignine. Etudes des paramètres réactionnels et des propriétés des matériaux obtenus.
- <u>Lignine et acide oléique</u> : estérification de la lignine par un procédé de chimie verte et fonctionnalisation des insaturations en vue de développer une nouvelle architecture de macropolyol. Elaboration de nouveaux matériaux PU.
- <u>Lignine et oxyde de propylène :</u> Hydroxyalkylation de la lignine en présence d'oxyde de propylène, greffage de chaine de poly(propylène) oxyde sur les hydroxyles phénoliques de la lignine. Modulation des propriétés des polyols obtenus pour l'élaboration de PU.

Enfin, il est intéressant de noter que nous avons privilégié, lorsque cela était possible, des procédés de modifications chimiques exempts de solvant et/ou de catalyseur, en utilisant un minimum de réactifs, parfois bio-sourcés, et au moyen d'un procédé simple, c'est-à-dire en limitant le nombre d'étapes de purification, en accord avec les douze principes de la chimie verte, exposés par Anastas et Warner<sup>233</sup>.

# Notes et Références

- N. D. Luong, N. T. T. Binh, L. D. Duong, D. O. Kim, D. S. Kim, S. H. Lee, B. J. Kim, Y. S. Lee and J. D. Nam, An eco-friendly and efficient route of lignin extraction from black liquor and a lignin-based copolyester synthesis. *Polymer Bulletin*, **2012**: 68: 879-890.
- 2. A. Gandini, M. N. Belgacem, B. Mohamed Naceur and G. Alessandro, in Monomers, Polymers and Composites from Renewable Resources, Elsevier, Amsterdam, **2008**, pp. 1-16.
- 3. G. Taylor, Biofuels and the biorefinery concept. *Energy Policy*, **2008**: 36: 4406-4409.
- 4. *Sustainable biofuels: prospects and challenges*, The Royal Society, London, **2008**.
- 5. J. Marton, *Lignin Structure and Reactions*, American Chemical Society, Washington D.C, **1966**.
- 6. M. Phillips, The chemistry of lignin. *Chemical Reviews*, **1934**: 14: 103-170.
- 7. F. Schulze, Beitrage zur Kenntniss des Lignins. *Chem. Zentr.*, **1857**: 21: 321-325.
- 8. K. V. Sarkanen and C. H. Ludwig, *Lignins: Occurrence, formation, structure and reactions*, Wiley-Interscience, New York, **1971**.
- 9. R. Benedikt and M. Bamberger, Über eine quantitative Reaction des Lignins. *Monatshefte für Chemie*, **1890**: 11: 260-267.
- 10. E. Adler, Lignin chemistry-past, present and future. *Wood Science and Technology*, **1977**: 11: 169-218.
- 11. J. L. McCarthy and A. Islam, in ACS Symposium Series, **1999**, pp. 2-66.
- 12. G. Brunow, in Lignin, Humic Substances and Coal eds. M. Hofrichter and A. Steinbüchel, **2004**, pp. 89-99.
- 13. K. Freudenberg, Biosynthesis and constitution of lignin. *Nature*, **1959**: 183: 1152-1155.
- 14. K. Freudenberg, Zur Kenntis der Cellulose. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges., 1921: 767-773.
- 15. F. S. Chakar and A. J. Ragauskas, Review of current and future softwood kraft lignin process chemistry. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2004**: 20: 131-141.
- 16. K. Freudenberg, Lignin: Its Constitution and Formation from p-Hydroxycinnamyl Alcohols. *Science*, **1965**: 48: 595-600.
- 17. C. H. Ludwig, B. J. Nist and J. L. McCarthy, Lignin. XII.1 The High Resolution Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy of Protons in Compounds Related to Lignin. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, **1964**: 86: 1186-1196.
- 18. H. Nimz, Beech Lignin-Proposal of a Constitutional Scheme. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English*, **1974**: 13: 313-321.
- 19. J. J. Lindberg, A. Kuusela Tuula and K. Levon, in Lignin, American Chemical Society, **1989**, pp. 190-204.
- 20. H. Hatakeyama and T. Hatakeyama, in Biopolymers, ed. S. Kobayashi, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, **2010**, pp. 1-63.
- J. H. Lora and W. G. Glasser, Recent industrial applications of lignin: A sustainable alternative to nonrenewable materials. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 2002: 10: 39-48.

- 22. S. Sarkanen, D. C. Teller, E. Abramowski and J. L. McCarthy, Lignin. 19. Kraft lignin component conformation and associated complex configuration in aqueous alkaline solution. *Macromolecules*, **1982**: 15: 1098-1104.
- W. G. Glasser, C. A. Barnett, P. C. Muller and K. V. Sarkanen, The chemistry of several novel bioconversion lignins. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 1983: 31: 921-930.
- 24. W. G. Glasser, in ACS Symposium Series, **1999**, pp. 216-238.
- 25. S. Sarkanen, D. C. Teller, J. Hall and J. L. McCarthy, Lignin. 18. Associative effects among organosolv lignin components. *Macromolecules*, **1981**: 14: 426-434.
- 26. Y. Li, J. Mlynar and S. Sarkanen, The first 85% kraft lignin-based thermoplastics. *Journal of Polymer Science, Part B: Polymer Physics*, **1997**: 35: 1899-1910.
- 27. W. G. Glasser, R. A. Northey and T. P. Schultz, *Lignin: Historical, Biological, and Materials Perspectives*, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, **1999**.
- 28. S. Y. Lin and C. W. Dence, *Methods in Lignin Chemistry*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, **1992**.
- 29. W. Boerjan, J. Ralph and M. Baucher, in Annual Review of Plant Biology, **2003**, pp. 519-546.
- 30. E. Dorrestijn, L. J. J. Laarhoven, I. W. C. E. Arends and P. Mulder, The occurrence and reactivity of phenoxyl linkages in lignin and low rank coal. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, **2000**: 54: 153-192.
- 31. K. Freudenberg and A. C. Nash, *Constitution and Biosynthesis of Lignin*, Berlin: Springer-Verlag, **1968**.
- 32. Y. R. Chen and S. Sarkanen, Macromolecular lignin replication: A mechanistic working hypothesis. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, **2003**: 2: 235-255.
- J. Ralph, K. Lundquist, G. Brunow, F. Lu, H. Kim, P. F. Schatz, J. M. Marita, R. D. Hatfield, S. A. Ralph, J. H. Christensen and W. Boerjan, Lignins: Natural polymers from oxidative coupling of 4-hydroxyphenyl- propanoids. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 2004: 3: 29-60.
- K. V. Sarkanen and H. L. Hergert, in Lignins: Occurence, formation structure and reactions, eds. K. V. Sarkanen and C. H. Ludwig, Wiley-Interscience, New-York, 1971, pp. 43-94.
- 35. T. Q. Hu, *Chemical Modification, Properties, and Usage of Lignin*, Kluwer Academic/ Plenum Publisher, New York, **2002**.
- 36. T. Q. Hu, *Characterization of Lignocellulosic Materials* Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, **2008**.
- G. Cazacu, M. Capraru and V. Popa, in Advances in Natural Polymers, eds. S. Thomas, P. M. Visakh and A. P. Mathew, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013, pp. 255-312.
- 38. E. Windeisen, G. Wegener, M. Editors-in-Chief: Krzysztof and M. l. Martin, in Polymer Science: A Comprehensive Reference, Elsevier, Amsterdam, **2012**, pp. 255-265.
- 39. H. Hatakeyama, J. Nakano, A. Hatano and N. Migita, Variation of infrared spectra with temperature for lignin and lignin model compounds. *Tappi*, **1969**: 52: 1724-1728.

- 40. H. Yoshida, R. Mörck, P. Kringstad Knut and H. Hatakeyama, Fractionation of Kraft Lignin by Successive Extraction with Organic Solvents. II. Thermal Properties of Kraft Lignin Fractions. *Holzforschung*, **1987**: 41: 171.
- 41. D. A. I. Goring, Thermal softening of lignin, hemicelluloses and cellulose. *Pulp Paper Mag. Can.*, **1963**: 62: 517-527.
- 42. G. M. Irvine, The glass transitions of lignin and hemicellulose and their measurement by differential thermal analysis. *Tappi*, **1984**: 67: 118-121.
- 43. J. Bouajila, P. Dole, C. Joly and A. Limare, Some laws of a lignin plasticization. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2006**: 102: 1445-1451.
- 44. T. Hatakeyama and H. Hatakeyama, in Thermal Properties of Green Polymers and Biocomposites, Kluwer Academic Publisher, **2005**.
- 45. T. Nguyen, E. Zavarin and E. M. barrall, Thermal Analysis of Lignocellulosic Materials. Part I. Unmodified Materials. *Journal of Macromolecular Science, Part C*, 1981: 20: 1-65.
- 46. T. Nguyen, E. Zavarin and E. M. Barrall, Thermal Analysis of Lignocellulosic Materials. Part II. Modified Materials. *Journal of Macromolecular Science, Part C*, 1981: 21: 1-60.
- 47. E. Jakab, O. Faix, F. Till and T. Székely, Thermogravimetry/mass spectrometry study of six lignins within the scope of an international round robin test. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, **1995**: 35: 167-179.
- 48. M. Brebu and C. Vasile, Thermal degradation of lignin A review. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, **2010**: 44: 353-363.
- 49. M. Nassar and G. MacKay, Mechanism of Thermal Decomposition of Lignin. *Wood and Fiber Science*, **1984**: 16: 441-453.
- 50. H. Niemi, J. Lahti, H. Hatakka, S. Kärki, S. Rovio, M. Kallioinen, M. Mänttäri and M. Louhi-Kultanen, Fractionation of organic and inorganic compounds from black liquor by combining membrane separation and crystallization. *Chemical Engineering and Technology*, **2011**: 34: 593-598.
- 51. N. Smolarski, in, Frost & Sullivan Paris, **2012**.
- 52. S. Fernando, S. Adhikari, C. Chandrapal and N. Murali, Biorefineries: Current status, challenges, and future direction. *Energy and Fuels*, **2006**: 20: 1727-1737.
- 53. J. H. Clark, R. Luque and A. S. Matharu, Green chemistry, biofuels, and biorefinery. *Annual Review of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering*, **2012**: 3: 183-207.
- 54. G. Vázquez, G. Antorrena, J. González and S. Freire, The influence of pulping conditions on the structure of acetosolv eucalyptus lignins. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **1997**: 17: 147-162.
- S. Baumberger, A. Abaecherli, M. Fasching, G. Gellerstedt, R. Gosselink, B. Hortling, J. Li, B. Saake and E. De Jong, Molar mass determination of lignins by size-exclusion chromatography: Towards standardisation of the method. *Holzforschung*, 2007: 61: 459-468.
- 56. J. Marton and T. Marton, Molecular weight of kraft lignin. *Tappi*, **1964**: 47: 471-476.
- 57. P. Tomani, P. Axegård, N. Berglin, A. Lovell and D. Nordgren, Integration of lignin removal into a kraft pulp mill and use of lignin as a biofuel. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, **2011**: 45: 533-540.

- 58. M. Hamaguchi, J. Kautto and E. Vakkilainen, Effects of hemicellulose extraction on the kraft pulp mill operation and energy use: Review and case study with lignin removal. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, **2013**.
- 59. F. Öhman, H. Theliander, P. Tomani and P. Axegard, LignoBoost AB, **2011**, EP 1 794 363
- 60. F. Öhman, H. Theliander, P. Tomani and P. Axegard, LIGNOBOOST AB **2010**, US 20100325947.
- 61. P. Tomani, N. Berglin and P. Axegård, in TAPPI Press TAPPI Engineering, Pulping and Environmental Conference 2009 Innovations in Energy, Fiber and Compliance, Memphis, TN, **2009**, pp. 2347-2393.
- 62. P. Tomani, The lignoboost process. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, **2010**: 44: 53-58.
- 63. A. Vishtal and A. Kraslawski, Challenges in industrial applications of technical lignins. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 3547-3568.
- 64. H. H.Nimz, in Wood Adhesives. Chemistry and Technology, ed. A. Pizzi, **1983**.
- P. Sannigrahi, A. J. Ragauskas and S. J. Miller, Lignin Structural Modifications Resulting from Ethanol Organosolv Treatment of Loblolly Pine. *Energy & Fuels*, 2009: 24: 683-689.
- 66. R. El Hage, N. Brosse, L. Chrusciel, C. Sanchez, P. Sannigrahi and A. Ragauskas, Characterization of milled wood lignin and ethanol organosolv lignin from miscanthus. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2009**: 94: 1632-1638.
- A. Ferrer, A. Vega, L. Rodríguez and L. Jiménez, Acetosolv pulping for the fractionation of empty fruit bunches from palm oil industry. *Bioresource Technology*, 2013: 132: 115-120.
- 68. N. Shukry, S. M. Fadel, F. A. Agblevor and S. F. El-Kalyoubi, Some physical properties of acetosolv lignins from bagasse. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2008**: 109: 434-444.
- 69. M. Delmas, Vegetal refining and agrichemistry. *Chemical Engineering and Technology*, **2008**: 31: 792-797.
- L. Kham, Y. Le Bigot, M. Delmas and G. Avignon, Delignification of wheat straw using a mixture of carboxylic acids and peroxoacids. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 2005: 21: 9-15.
- 71. H. Quoc Lam, Y. Le Bigot, M. Delmas and G. Avignon, A new procedure for the destructuring of vegetable matter at atmospheric pressure by a catalyst/solvent system of formic acid/acetic acid. Applied to the pulping of triticale straw. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2001**: 14: 139-144.
- K. Wörmeyer, T. Ingram, B. Saake, G. Brunner and I. Smirnova, Comparison of different pretreatment methods for lignocellulosic materials. Part II: Influence of pretreatment on the properties of rye straw lignin. *Bioresource Technology*, 2011: 102: 4157-4164.
- 73. J. Lora, B. Mohamed Naceur and G. Alessandro, in Monomers, Polymers and Composites from Renewable Resources, Elsevier, Amsterdam, **2008**, pp. 225-241.
- R. J. A. Gosselink, A. Abächerli, H. Semke, R. Malherbe, P. Käuper, A. Nadif and J. E. G. Van Dam, Analytical protocols for characterisation of sulphur-free lignin. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 2004: 19: 271-281.
- R. J. A. Gosselink, M. H. B. Snijder, A. Kranenbarg, E. R. P. Keijsers, E. De Jong and L. L. Stigsson, Characterisation and application of NovaFiber lignin. *Industrial Crops* and Products, 2004: 20: 191-203.
- 76. C. Pouteau, P. Dole, B. Cathala, L. Averous and N. Boquillon, Antioxidant properties of lignin in polypropylene. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2003**: 81: 9-18.
- 77. S. Domenek, A. Louaifi, A. Guinault and S. Baumberger, Potential of Lignins as Antioxidant Additive in Active Biodegradable Packaging Materials. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, **2013**: 1-10.
- 78. M. P. Vinardell, V. Ugartondo and M. Mitjans, Potential applications of antioxidant lignins from different sources. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2008**: 27: 220-223.
- 79. S. I. Falkehag, in Cellulose Conference, ed. T. E. Timell, Syracuse, New York, **1975**, pp. 247-257.
- 80. A. De Chirico, M. Armanini, P. Chini, G. Cioccolo, F. Provasoli and G. Audisio, Flame retardants for polypropylene based on lignin. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2003**: 79: 139-145.
- 81. L. Yu, K. Dean and L. Li, Polymer blends and composites from renewable resources. *Progress in Polymer Science (Oxford)*, **2006**: 31: 576-602.
- 82. A. Bismarck, A. Baltazar-Y-Jimenez and K. Sarikakis, Green composites as Panacea? Socio-economic aspects of green materials. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, **2006**: 8: 445-463.
- 83. C. Pouteau, S. Baumberger, B. Cathala and P. Dole, Lignin-polymer blends: Evaluation of compatibility by image analysis. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*, **2004**: 327: 935-943.
- 84. B. O. Myrvold, The polyelectrolyte behavior of randomly branched lignosulfonates. *Tappi Journal*, **2007**: 6: 10-15.
- 85. B. O. Myrvold, A new model for the structure of lignosulphonates. Part 1. Behaviour in dilute solutions. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2008**: 27: 214-219.
- 86. N. Lin, D. Fan, P. R. Chang, J. Yu, X. Cheng and J. Huang, Structure and properties of poly(butylene succinate) filled with lignin: A case of lignosulfonate. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2011**: 121: 1717-1724.
- 87. X. Li, in Advanced Materials Research, Xi'an, **2011**, pp. 676-681.
- 88. X. Erdocia, A. Toledano, M. A. Corcuera and J. Labidi, Organosolv black liquor hydrolysis to obtain low molecular weight phenolic compounds. *Chemical Engineering Transactions*, **2012**: 29: 535-540.
- 89. C. Amen-Chen, H. Pakdel and C. Roy, Production of monomeric phenols by thermochemical conversion of biomass: a review. *Bioresource Technology*, **2001**: 79: 277-299.
- 90. M. P. Pandey and C. S. Kim, Lignin Depolymerization and Conversion: A Review of Thermochemical Methods. *Chemical Engineering & Technology*, **2010**: 34: 29-41.

- 91. P. K. Swain, L. M. Das and S. N. Naik, Biomass to liquid: A prospective challenge to research and development in 21st century. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **2011**: 15: 4917-4933.
- 92. P. McKendry, Energy production from biomass (part 2): Conversion technologies. *Bioresource Technology*, **2002**: 83: 47-54.
- 93. M. Hamaguchi, M. Cardoso and E. Vakkilainen, Alternative technologies for biofuels production in kraft pulp mills-potential and prospects. *Energies*, **2012**: 5: 2288-2309.
- 94. J. Zakzeski, P. C. A. Bruijnincx, A. L. Jongerius and B. M. Weckhuysen, The catalytic valorization of lignin for the production of renewable chemicals. *Chem. Rev.*, **2010**: 110: 3552-3599.
- 95. J. Zakzeski and B. Weckhuysen, Lignin solubilization and aqueous phase reforming for the production of aromatic chemicals and hydrogen. *ChemSusChem*, **2011**: 4: 369-378.
- 96. D. J. Nowakowski, A. V. Bridgwater, D. C. Elliott, D. Meier and P. de Wild, Lignin fast pyrolysis: Results from an international collaboration. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, **2010**: 88: 53-72.
- 97. D. Mohan, C. U. Pittman Jr and P. H. Steele, Pyrolysis of wood/biomass for bio-oil: A critical review. *Energy and Fuels*, **2006**: 20: 848-889.
- A. Leonowicz, A. Matuszewska, J. Luterek, D. Ziegenhagen, M. Wojtaś-Wasilewska, N.-S. Cho, M. Hofrichter and J. Rogalski, Biodegradation of Lignin by White Rot Fungi. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, **1999**: 27: 175-185.
- 99. M. Brebu and I. Spiridon, Co-pyrolysis of LignoBoost® lignin with synthetic polymers. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2012**: 97: 2104-2109.
- 100. A. Van der Drift and H. Boerrigter, *Synthesis gas from biomass for fuels and chemicals*, Biomass, Coal and Environmental Research **2006**.
- D. Choi, D. C. Chipman, S. C. Bents and R. C. Brown, A techno-economic analysis of polyhydroxyalkanoate and hydrogen production from syngas fermentation of gasified biomass. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, **2010**: 160: 1032-1046.
- J. D. P. Araújo, C. A. Grande and A. E. Rodrigues, Vanillin production from lignin oxidation in a batch reactor. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, **2010**: 88: 1024-1032.
- J. C. Villar, A. Caperos and F. García-Ochoa, Oxidation of hardwood kraft-lignin to phenolic derivatives with oxygen as oxidant. *Wood Science and Technology*, 2001: 35: 245-255.
- 104. E. A. B. d. Silva, M. Zabkova, J. D. Araújo, C. A. Cateto, M. F. Barreiro, M. N. Belgacem and A. E. Rodrigues, An integrated process to produce vanillin and lignin-based polyurethanes from Kraft lignin. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, 2009: 87: 1276-1292.
- 105. M. B. Hocking, Vanillin: Synthetic Flavoring from Spent Sulfite Liquor. *Journal of Chemical Education*, **1997**: 79: 1055-1059.
- 106. V. E. Tarabanko, N. V. Koropatchinskaya, A. V. Kudryashev and B. N. Kuznetsov, Influence of lignin origin on the efficiency of the catalytic oxidation of lignin into vanillin and syringaldehyde. *Russian Chemical Bulletin*, **1995**: 44: 367-371.

- 107. V. E. Tarabanko, Y. V. Chelbina, A. V. Kudryashev and N. V. Tarabanko, Separation of Vanillin and Syringaldehyde Produced from Lignins. *Separation Science and Technology*, **2013**: 48: 127-132.
- 108. J. F. Stanzione III, J. M. Sadler, J. J. La Scala, K. H. Reno and R. P. Wool, Vanillinbased resin for use in composite applications. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 2346-2352.
- 109. A. S. Amarasekara, B. Wiredu and A. Razzaq, Vanillin based polymers: I. An electrochemical route to polyvanillin. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 2395-2397.
- 110. L. Mialon, R. Vanderhenst, A. G. Pemba and S. A. Miller, Polyalkylenehydroxybenzoates (PAHBs): Biorenewable aromatic/aliphatic polyesters from lignin. *Macromolecular Rapid Communications*, **2011**: 32: 1386-1392.
- 111. L. Mialon, A. G. Pemba and S. A. Miller, Biorenewable polyethylene terephthalate mimics derived from lignin and acetic acid. *Green Chemistry*, **2010**: 12: 1704-1706.
- 112. C. Aouf, J. Lecomte, P. Villeneuve, E. Dubreucq and H. Fulcrand, Chemo-enzymatic functionalization of gallic and vanillic acids: Synthesis of bio-based epoxy resins prepolymers. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 2328-2336.
- 113. E. Jasiukaityte-Grojzdek, M. Kunaver and C. Crestini, Lignin structural changes during liquefaction in acidified ethylene glycol. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **2012**: 32: 342-360.
- 114. Y. Li, Y. Han, T. Qin and F. Chu, Preparation of polyurethane foams based on liquefied corn stalk enzymatic hydrolysis lignin. *Journal of Biobased Materials and Bioenergy*, **2012**: 6: 51-58.
- 115. W. J. Lee, K. C. Chang and I. M. Tseng, Properties of phenol-formaldehyde resins prepared from phenol-liquefied lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2012**: 124: 4782-4788.
- M. Kobayashi, T. Asano, M. Kajiyama and B. Tomita, Analysis on residue formation during wood liquefaction with polyhydric alcohol. *Journal of Wood Science*, 2004: 50: 407-414.
- 117. L. Lin, Y. Yao, M. Yoshioka and N. Shiraishi, Molecular weights and molecular weight distributions of liquefied wood obtained by acid-catalyzed phenolysis. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1997**: 64: 351-357.
- 118. Y. Jin, X. Ruan, X. Cheng and Q. Lü, Liquefaction of lignin by polyethyleneglycol and glycerol. *Bioresource Technology*, **2011**: 102: 3581-3583.
- H. Zhang, H. Pang, J. Shi, T. Fu and B. Liao, Investigation of liquefied wood residues based on cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 2011: 123: 850-856.
- A. Leonowicz, A. Matuszewska, J. Luterek, D. Ziegenhagen, M. WojtaÅ-Wasilewska, N.-S. Cho, M. Hofrichter and J. Rogalski, Biodegradation of Lignin by White Rot Fungi. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, **1999**: 27: 175-185.
- 121. M. Dashtban, H. Schraft, T. A. Syed and W. Qin, Fungal biodegradation and enzymatic modification of lignin. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **2010**: 1: 36-50.
- 122. S. Malherbe and T. E. Cloete, Lignocellulose biodegradation: Fundamentals and applications. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Biotechnology*, **2002**: 1: 105-114.

- 123. Isroi, R. Millati, S. Syamsiah, C. Niklasson, M. N. Cahyanto, K. Lundquist and M. J. Taherzadeh, Biological pretreatment of lignocelluloses with white-rot fungi and its applications: A review. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 5224-5259.
- 124. D. W. S. Wong, Structure and action mechanism of ligninolytic enzymes. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, **2009**: 157: 174-209.
- 125. Y. Liu and K. Li, Preparation and characterization of demethylated ligninpolyethylenimine adhesives. *Journal of Adhesion*, **2006**: 82: 593-605.
- 126. P. Truter, A. Pizzi and H. Vermaas, Cold-setting wood adhesives from kraft hardwood lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1994**: 51: 1319-1322.
- 127. A. R. Gonçalves and P. Benar, Hydroxymethylation and oxidation of Organosolv lignins and utilization of the products. *Bioresource Technology*, **2001**: 79: 103-111.
- 128. L. Hu, H. Pan, Y. Zhou and M. Zhang, Methods to improve lignin's reactivity as a phenol substitute and as replacement for other phenolic compounds: A brief review. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 3515-3525.
- 129. Y. B. Mu, C. P. Wang, L. W. Zhao and F. X. Chu, Study on Composite Adhesive of Hydroxymethylated Lignosulfonate/Phenol-formaldehyde Resin with Low Free Formaldehyde. *Chemistry and Industry of Forest Products*, **2009**: 29: 38-42.
- 130. N. E. E. Mansouri, A. Pizzi and J. Salvado, Lignin-based polycondensation resins for wood adhesives. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2007**: 103: 1690-1699.
- 131. H. R. Mansouri, P. Navarrete, A. Pizzi, S. Tapin-Lingua, B. Benjelloun-Mlayah, H. Pasch and S. Rigolet, Synthetic-resin-free wood panel adhesives from mixed low molecular mass lignin and tannin. *European Journal of Wood and Wood Products*, 2011: 1-9.
- 132. N. E. Mansouri, Q. Yuan and F. Huang, Study of chemical modification of alkaline lignin by the glyoxalation reaction. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 4523-4536.
- P. Navarrete, A. Pizzi, H. Pasch and L. Delmotte, Study on lignin-glyoxal reaction by MALDI-TOF and CP-MAS 13C-NMR. *Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology*, 2012: 26: 1069-1082.
- 134. N. E. El Mansouri, A. Pizzi and J. Salvadó, Lignin-based wood panel adhesives without formaldehyde. *Holz als Roh und Werkstoff*, **2007**: 65: 65-70.
- 135. M. H. Schneider, Furfuryl alcohol lignin adhesive. *Industrial Bioprocessing*, 2004: 26: 10.
- 136. C. G. da Silva, S. Grelier, F. Pichavant, E. Frollini and A. Castellan, Adding value to lignins isolated from sugarcane bagasse and Miscanthus. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2013**: 42: 87-95.
- E. C. Ramires, J. D. Megiatto Jr, C. Gardrat, A. Castellan and E. Frollini, Biobased composites from glyoxal-phenolic resins and sisal fibers. *Bioresource Technology*, 2010: 101: 1998-2006.
- 138. S. Cheng, Z. Yuan, M. Anderson, M. Leitch and C. Xu, Synthesis of biobased phenolic resins/adhesives with methylolated wood-derived bio-oil. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2012**: 126: E430-E440.
- 139. W. Zhang, Y. Ma, C. Wang, S. Li, M. Zhang and F. Chu, Preparation and properties of lignin–phenol–formaldehyde resins based on different biorefinery residues of agricultural biomass. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2013**: 43: 326-333.

- 140. M. Arend, B. Westermann and N. Risch, Modern Variants of the Mannich Reaction. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, **1998**: 37: 1044-1070.
- 141. Y. Matsushita and S. Yasuda, Reactivity of a condensed-type lignin model compound in the Mannich reaction and preparation of cationic surfactant from sulfuric acid lignin. *Journal of Wood Science*, **2003**: 49: 166-171.
- 142. X. Yue, F. Chen and X. Zhou, Improved interfacial bonding of PVC/Wood-flour composites by lignin amine modification. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 2022-2034.
- 143. S. P. Huo, M. C. Nie, Z. W. Kong, G. M. Wu and J. Chen, Crosslinking kinetics of the formation of lignin-aminated polyol-based polyurethane foam. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2012**: 125: 152-157.
- 144. T. Kudanga, E. N. Prasetyo, J. Sipilä, G. M. Guebitz and G. S. Nyanhongo, Reactivity of long chain alkylamines to lignin moieties: Implications on hydrophobicity of lignocellulose materials. *Journal of Biotechnology*, **2010**: 149: 81-87.
- 145. L. Zhang and J. Huang, Effects of nitrolignin on mechanical properties of polyurethane-nitrolignin films. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2001**: 80: 1213-1219.
- J. Huang and L. Zhang, Effects of NCO/OH molar ratio on structure and properties of graft-interpenetrating polymer networks from polyurethane and nitrolignin. *Polymer*, 2002: 43: 2287-2294.
- L. Zhang and J. Huang, Effects of hard-segment compositions on properties of polyurethane-nitrolignin films. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 2001: 81: 3251-3259.
- 148. T. Hu, A. Gandini, M. Belgacem, Z.-X. Guo and S. Montanari, in Chemical Modification, Properties, and Usage of Lignin, Springer US, **2002**, pp. 57-80.
- 149. M. Nahmany and A. Melman, Chemoselectivity in reactions of esterification. *Organic and Biomolecular Chemistry*, **2004**: 2: 1563-1572.
- 150. Z.-X. Guo, A. Gandini and F. Pla, Polyesters from lignin. 1. The reaction of kraft lignin with dicarboxylic acid chlorides. *Polymer International*, **1992**: 27: 17-22.
- 151. Z.-X. Guo and A. Gandini, Polyesters from lignin 2. The copolyesterification of kraft lignin and polyethylene glycols with dicarboxylic acid chlorides. *European Polymer Journal*, **1991**: 27: 1177-1180.
- 152. R. Fang, X. S. Cheng and W. S. Lin, Preparation and application of dimer acid/lignin graft copolymer. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 2874-2884.
- 153. M. Firdaus and M. A. R. Meier, Renewable co-polymers derived from vanillin and fatty acid derivatives. *European Polymer Journal*, **2012**.
- 154. S. Thiebaud and M. E. Borredon, Solvent-free wood esterification with fatty acid chlorides. *Bioresource Technology*, **1995**: 52: 169-173.
- 155. S. Thiebaud, M. E. Borredon, G. Baziard and F. Senocq, Properties of wood esterified by fatty-acid chlorides. *Bioresource Technology*, **1997**: 59: 103-107.
- 156. T. Saito, R. H. Brown, M. A. Hunt, D. L. Pickel, J. M. Pickel, J. M. Messman, F. S. Baker, M. Keller and A. K. Naskar, Turning renewable resources into value-added polymer: Development of lignin-based thermoplastic. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 3295-3303.

- 157. G. Sivasankarapillai and A. G. McDonald, Synthesis and properties of lignin-highly branched poly (ester-amine) polymeric systems. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **2012**: 35: 919-931.
- 158. G. Sivasankarapillai, A. G. McDonald and H. Li, Lignin valorization by forming toughened lignin-co-polymers: Development of hyperbranched prepolymers for cross-linking. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **2012**: 47: 99-108.
- 159. R. R. N. Sailaja and M. V. Deepthi, Mechanical and thermal properties of compatibilized composites of polyethylene and esterified lignin. *Materials and Design*, **2010**: 31: 4369-4379.
- 160. B. Xiao, X. F. Sun and R. Sun, Chemical modification of lignins with succinic anhydride in aqueous systems. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2001**: 71: 223-231.
- B. Doczekalska, M. Bartkowiak and R. Zakrzewski, Modification of sawdust from pine and beech wood with the succinic anhydride. *Holz als Roh und Werkstoff*, 2007: 65: 187-191.
- W. Thielemans and R. P. Wool, Lignin esters for use in unsaturated thermosets: Lignin modification and solubility modeling. *Biomacromolecules*, 2005: 6: 1895-1905.
- 163. B. Ahvazi, O. Wojciechowicz, T. M. Ton-That and J. Hawari, Preparation of lignopolyols from wheat straw soda lignin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **2011**: 59: 10505-10516.
- 164. A. Effendi, H. Gerhauser and A. V. Bridgwater, Production of renewable phenolic resins by thermochemical conversion of biomass: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 2008: 12: 2092-2116.
- 165. T. That, Cardanol-lignin-based polyurethanes. *Polymer International*, **1996**: 41: 13-16.
- 166. H. Sadeghifar, C. Cui and D. S. Argyropoulos, Toward Thermoplastic Lignin Polymers; Part I: Selective Masking of Phenolic Hydroxyl Groups in Kraft Lignins via Methylation & Oxypropylation Chemistries. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 2012.
- 167. L. C. F. Wu and W. G. Glasser, Engineering Plastics From Lignin. I. Synthesis of hydroxypropyl lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1984**: 29: 1111-1123.
- S. Fernandes, C. S. R. Freire, C. P. Neto and A. Gandini, The bulk oxypropylation of chitin and chitosan and the characterization of the ensuing polyols. *Green Chemistry*, 2008: 10: 93-97.
- M. Evtiouguina, A. Margarida Barros, J. J. Cruz-Pinto, C. Pascoal Neto, N. Belgacem, C. Pavier and A. Gandini, The oxypropylation of cork residues: preliminary results. *Bioresource Technology*, 2000: 73: 187-189.
- 170. M. Evtiouguina, A. Gandini, C. P. Neto and N. M. Belgacem, Urethanes and polyurethanes based on oxypropylated cork: 1. Appraisal and reactivity of products. *Polymer International*, **2001**: 50: 1150-1155.
- 171. A. de Menezes, D. Pasquini, A. Curvelo and A. Gandini, Self-reinforced composites obtained by the partial oxypropylation of cellulose fibers. 2. Effect of catalyst on the mechanical and dynamic mechanical properties. *Cellulose*, **2009**: 16: 239-246.
- 172. C. Pavier and A. Gandini, Oxypropylation of sugar beet pulp. 1. Optimisation of the reaction. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2000**: 12: 1-8.

- 173. C. Pavier and A. Gandini, Oxypropylation of sugar beet pulp. 2. Separation of the grafted pulp from the propylene oxide homopolymer. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2000: 42: 13-17.
- 174. C. Pavier and A. Gandini, Urethanes and polyurethanes from oxypropylated sugar beet pulp. I. Kinetic study in solution. *European Polymer Journal*, **2000**: 36: 1653-1658.
- 175. J. P. S. Aniceto, I. Portugal and C. M. Silva, Biomass-based polyols through oxypropylation reaction. *ChemSusChem*, **2012**: 5: 1358-1368.
- 176. L. C. F. Wu and W. G. Glasser, Engineering Plastics from Lignin. I. Synthesis of hydroxypropyl lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1984**: 29: 1111-1123.
- 177. M. Ionescu, *Chemistry and technology of polyols for polyurethanes*, Rapra Publishing, **2005**.
- D. S. Argyropoulos, Quantitative Phosphorus-31 NMR Analysis of Lignins, a New Tool for the Lignin Chemist. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, 1994: 14: 45-63.
- 179. D. S. Argyropoulos, Quantitative Phosphorus-31 NMR Analysis of Six Soluble Lignins. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **1994**: 14: 65-82.
- 180. D. S. Argyropoulos, 31P NMR in wood chemistry: A review of recent progress. *Research on Chemical Intermediates*, **1995**: 21: 373-395.
- 181. H. Nadji, C. Bruzzese, M. N. Belgacem, A. Benaboura and A. Gandini, Oxypropylation of lignins and preparation of rigid polyurethane foams from the ensuing polyols. *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*, **2005**: 290: 1009-1016.
- 182. C. A. Cateto, M. F. Barreiro, A. E. Rodrigues and M. N. Belgacem, Optimization study of lignin oxypropylation in view of the preparation of polyurethane rigid foams. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, 2009: 48: 2583-2589.
- 183. Y. Li and A. J. Ragauskas, Ethanol organosolv lignin-based rigid polyurethane foam reinforced with cellulose nanowhiskers. *RSC Advances*, **2012**: 2: 3347-3351.
- 184. Y. Li and A. J. Ragauskas, Kraft Lignin-Based Rigid Polyurethane Foam. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **2012**: 32: 210-224.
- 185. S. S. Kelley, W. G. Glasser and T. C. Ward, Engineering plastics from lignin. XV. Polyurethane films from chain-extended hydroxypropyl lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1988**: 36: 759-772.
- 186. H. Hatakeyama, A. Hirogaki, H. Matsumura and T. Hatakeyama, Glass transition temperature of polyurethane foams derived from lignin by controlled reaction rate. *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, **2013**: 1-8.
- 187. R. W. Thring, P. Ni and S. M. Aharoni, Molecular weight effects of the soft segment on the ultimate properties of lignin-derived polyurethanes. *International Journal of Polymeric Materials*, **2004**: 53: 507-524.
- R. W. Thring, M. N. Vanderlaan and S. L. Griffin, Polyurethanes from Alcell® lignin. Biomass and Bioenergy, 1997: 13: 125-132.
- 189. M. N. Vanderlaan and R. W. Thring, Polyurethanes from Alcell® lignin fractions obtained by sequential solvent extraction. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **1998**: 14: 525-531.
- 190. C. A. Cateto, M. F. Barreiro and A. E. Rodrigues, Monitoring of lignin-based polyurethane synthesis by FTIR-ATR. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2008**: 27: 168-174.

- 191. E. Delebecq, J. P. Pascault, B. Boutevin and F. Ganachaud, On the versatility of urethane/urea bonds: Reversibility, blocked isocyanate, and non-isocyanate polyurethane. *Chemical Reviews*, **2013**: 113: 80-118.
- 192. S. Sarkar and B. Adhikari, Thermal stability of lignin-hydroxy-terminated polybutadiene copolyurethanes. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2001**: 73: 169-175.
- 193. S. Sarkar and B. Adhikari, Synthesis and characterization of lignin-HTPB copolyurethane. *European Polymer Journal*, **2001**: 37: 1391-1401.
- 194. C. Bonini, M. D'Auria, L. Emanuele, R. Ferri, R. Pucciariello and A. R. Sabia, Polyurethanes and polyesters from lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 2005: 98: 1451-1456.
- 195. H. Hatakeyama, S. Hirose and T. Hatakeyama, in Lignin, American Chemical Society, **1989**, pp. 205-218.
- 196. H. Hatakeyama, S. Hirose, S. Yano, K. Nakamura and T. Hatakeyama, in Cellulose sources and exploitation: industrial utilization, biotechnology and physico-chemical properties, ed. P. A. W. G.O. Phillips, J.F. Kennedy, Ellis Horwood Ltd, Chichester, 1990, pp. 466-471.
- 197. L. Kouisni, Y. Fang, M. Paleologou, B. Ahvazi, J. Hawari, Y. Zhang and X. M. Wang, Kraft lignin recovery and its use in the preparation of lignin-based phenol formaldehyde resins for plywood. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, **2011**: 45: 515-520.
- 198. N. E. El Mansouri, Q. Yuan and F. Huang, Synthesis and characterization of kraft lignin-based epoxy resins. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 2492-2503.
- 199. Q. Yin, W. Yang, C. Sun and M. Di, Preparation and properties of lignin-epoxy resin composite. *BioResources*, **2012**: 7: 5737-5748.
- 200. G. Sun, H. Sun, Y. Liu, B. Zhao, N. Zhu and K. Hu, Comparative study on the curing kinetics and mechanism of a lignin-based-epoxy/anhydride resin system. *Polymer*, 2007: 48: 330-337.
- 201. T. N. M. T. Ismail, H. A. Hassan, S. Hirose, Y. Taguchi, T. Hatakeyama and H. Hatakeyama, Synthesis and thermal properties of ester-type crosslinked epoxy resins derived from lignosulfonate and glycerol. *Polymer International*, **2010**: 59: 181-186.
- 202. O. Faruk and M. Sain, Continuous extrusion foaming of lignin enhanced thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU). *Journal of Biobased Materials and Bioenergy*, **2013**: 7: 309-314.
- 203. P. Cinelli, I. Anguillesi and A. Lazzeri, Green synthesis of flexible polyurethane foams from liquefied lignin. *European Polymer Journal*, **2013**: 49: 1174-1184.
- X. Pan and J. N. Saddler, Effect of replacing polyol by organosolv and kraft lignin on the property and structure of rigid polyurethane foam. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 2013: 12.
- 205. C. Ciobanu, M. Ungureanu, L. Ignat, D. Ungureanu and V. I. Popa, Properties of lignin–polyurethane films prepared by casting method. *Ind. Crop. Pro.*, **2004**: 20: 231.
- 206. Y. S. Kim and J. F. Kadla, Preparation of a thermoresponsive lignin-based biomaterial through atom transfer radical polymerization. *Biomacromolecules*, **2010**: 11: 981-988.

- G. Gao, J. I. Dallmeyer and J. F. Kadla, Synthesis of lignin nanofibers with ionicresponsive shells: Water-expandable lignin-based nanofibrous mats. *Biomacromolecules*, 2012: 13: 3602-3610.
- 208. K. Matyjaszewski, Atom Transfer Radical Polymerization (ATRP): Current Status and Future Perspectives. *Macromolecules*, **2012**: 45: 4015-4039.
- 209. J. Wang, K. Yao, A. L. Korich, S. Li, S. Ma, H. J. Ploehn, P. M. Iovine, C. Wang, F. Chu and C. Tang, Combining renewable gum rosin and lignin: Towards hydrophobic polymer composites by controlled polymerization. *Journal of Polymer Science, Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, 2011: 49: 3728-3738.
- J. F. Kadla, S. Kubo, R. A. Venditti, R. D. Gilbert, A. L. Compere and W. Griffith, Lignin-based carbon fibers for composite fiber applications. *Carbon*, 2002: 40: 2913-2920.
- 211. I. Norberg, Y. Nordström, R. Drougge, G. Gellerstedt and E. Sjöholm, A new method for stabilizing softwood kraft lignin fibers for carbon fiber production. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2013**: 128: 3824-3830.
- 212. W. Qin and J. F. Kadla, Carbon fibers based on pyrolytic lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2012**: 126: E203-E212.
- 213. Y. Nordström, I. Norberg, E. Sjöholm and R. Drougge, A new softening agent for melt spinning of softwood kraft lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2013**: 129: 1274-1279.
- 214. C. D. Warren, Low-cost carbon fiber Will the market develop? *Composites Technology*, **2006**: 12: 7-9.
- 215. S. P. Maradur, C. H. Kim, S. Y. Kim, B. H. Kim, W. C. Kim and K. S. Yang, Preparation of carbon fibers from a lignin copolymer with polyacrylonitrile. *Synthetic Metals*, **2012**: 162: 453-459.
- 216. E. R. Inone-Kauffmann, ARBOFORM® A lignin-based thermoplastic. *International Sugar Journal*, **2009**: 111: 10-11.
- J. H. Saunders and K. C. Frisch, *Polyurethanes: chemistry and technology, Part I.* (*High Polymers, Vol. XVI*). Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company, 1962.
- 218. M. C. Delpech and F. M. B. Coutinho, Waterborne anionic polyurethanes and poly(urethane-urea)s: influence of the chain extender on mechanical and adhesive properties. *Polymer Testing*, **2000**: 19: 939-952.
- 219. R. Arshady and M. H. George, The allophanate link in polyurethane synthesis. *Polymer communications* **1990**: 31: 448-450.
- 220. A. T. Dang Thi, Y. Camberlin, T. M. Lam and J. P. Pascault, Synthèse et propriétés de polyuréthanes réticulés par des cycles isocyanurates. *Die Angewandte Makromolekulare Chemie*, **1983**: 111: 29-51.
- 221. Y. Camberlin, J. P. Pascault, J. M. Letoffe and P. Claudy, Synthesis and DSC study of model hard segments from diphenyl methane diisocyanate and butane diol. *Journal of Polymer Science: Polymer Chemistry Edition*, **1982**: 20: 383-392.
- 222. W. P. Yang, C. W. Macosko and S. T. Wellinghoff, Thermal degradation of urethanes based on 4,4'-diphenylmethane diisocyanate and 1,4-butanediol (MDI/BDO). *Polymer*, **1986**: 27: 1235-1240.

- L. Cuvé, J. P. Pascault, G. Boiteux and G. Seytre, Synthesis and properties of polyurethanes based on polyolefine: 1. Rigid polyurethanes and amorphous segmented polyurethanes prepared in polar solvents under homogeneous conditions. *Polymer*, 1991: 32: 343-352.
- 224. L. H. Peebles, Hard Block Length Distribution in Segmented Block Copolymers. *Macromolecules*, **1976**: 9: 58-61.
- 225. G. Hinrichsen, Polyurethane handbook (2nd ed.). Edited by G. Oertel, Hanser Publishers, Munich 1993, 770 pp., DM 358, ISBN 3-446-17198-3. *Acta Polymerica*, 1994: 45: 398-398.
- 226. L. H. Peebles, Sequence Length Distribution in Segmented Block Copolymers. *Macromolecules*, **1974**: 7: 872-882.
- 227. C. Prisacariu, in Polyurethane Elastomers. From Morphology to Mechanical Aspects, ed. S. Verlag, **2011**, pp. 23-60.
- 228. J. K. Backus and H. G. Schmelzer, in Encyclopedia of Polymer Science and Engineering, ed. J. W. a. Sons, New-York, **1988**, pp. 243-303.
- 229. C. Prisacariu and E. Scortanu, Morphology of polyurethanes based on the chain extender ethylene glycol and aromatic flexible diisocyanates, as revealed by scanning electron microscopy. *Revue Roumaine de Chimie*, **2008**: 53: 821-825.
- 230. T. G. Rials and W. G. Glasser, Engineering plastics from lignin. XIII: Effect of lignin structure on polyurethane network formation. *Holzforschung* **1986**: 40: 353-360.
- 231. C. A. B. Cateto. Lignin-Based Polyurethanes: Characterisation, Synthesis and Applications, Porto-Grenoble, Faculdade de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto (FEUP); **2008**.
- 232. H. Nadji, C. Bruzzèse, M. N. Belgacem, A. Benaboura and A. Gandini, Oxypropylation of lignins and preparation of rigid polyurethane foams from the ensuing polyols. *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*, **2005**: 290: 1009-1016.
- 233. P. T. Anastas and J. C. Warner, *Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice*, Oxford University Press, New York, **1998**.

# Chapitre II.

# *Réaction de polymérisation par ouverture de cycle – greffage de poly(caprolactone) PCL*



# Introduction

Suite à l'étude bibliographique présentée dans le Chapitre I de ce manuscrit, les réactions d'estérification et d'éthérification sont apparues comme des voies intéressantes pour les modifications chimiques des fonctions hydroxyles de la lignine. Aussi, la polymérisation par ouverture de cycle ou ROP (Ring-Opening Polymerization) a été envisagée car elle présente plusieurs avantages vis-à-vis des différentes contraintes imposées par la lignine. En effet, outre les propriétés intrinsèques de la lignine (poudre solide non fusible) qui en limitent son utilisation, ce type de polymérisation offre la possibilité de greffer directement sur la lignine, en une seule étape, de longues chaines de polymères. Cette méthode de polymérisation, largement développée et maîtrisée, permet d'accéder à un synthon (macromère) fonctionnalisé. Par ailleurs, la synthèse de polyesters par ROP est largement étudiée depuis de nombreuses années dans notre laboratoire, notamment pour la synthèse de polymères tels que le poly(ɛ-caprolactone) (PCL).

Pour ce travail, la polymérisation par ouverture de cycle nous a donc permis de greffer des chaines de PCL à partir d'ɛ-caprolactone. Dans ce chapitre, seule la synthèse et la caractérisation des composés lignine greffée PCL seront présentées. Dans un premier temps, les caractéristiques de la polymérisation par ouverture de cycle et plus précisément pour la synthèse de polyesters vont être présentées avant d'exposer les travaux réalisés dans le cadre du présent projet de doctorat.

\* \* \*

# I. Polymérisation par ouverture de cycle

La polymérisation d'hétérocycles s'effectue suivant différents mécanismes, relatifs à la nature du monomère, de l'amorceur, et peut ainsi conduire à de nombreux produits dont certains ont trouvé des applications industrielles importantes : le poly(caprolactame), le polyamide 6-6, ou le poly(oxyde d'éthylène) par exemple. Plus spécifiquement, la polymérisation par ouverture de cycles oxygénés tels que les lactones, permet d'obtenir des polyesters aux propriétés intéressantes et représente une excellente alternative à la polycondensation. La polymérisation par ouverture de cycle donne lieu à la synthèse de polymères de masses moléculaires élevées avec un indice de polydispersité relativement faible. Basée sur un équilibre de polymérisation-dépolymérisation, ce procédé de polymérisation, dans le cas des esters cycliques (lactones) peut s'accompagner de réactions secondaires de type transestérification conduisant à une cyclisation. Dans le cas présent, nous nous sommes intéressés prioritairement à l'ɛ-caprolactone, ester cyclique de la famille des lactones pour fonctionnaliser la lignine.

Formule brute	$C_6H_{10}O_2$
Masse molaire	114,14 g.mol <sup>-1</sup>
Densité	$1,030 \text{ g.mL}^{-1}$
Température de fusion	-1°C
Température d'ébullition	253°C
	Formule brute Masse molaire Densité Température de fusion Température d'ébullition

Figure II- 1. Structure et caractéristique de l' ε-caprolactone.

Plus spécifiquement, la polymérisation par ouverture de cycle peut être amorcée par différentes voies, i.e cationique (acides de Brönsted ou acides de Lewis), anionique (carboxylate ou alcoolate de métaux alcalins) ou par coordination-insertion avec des mécanismes associés différents et propres à chacune de ces voies. Divers travaux ont montré que l'utilisation d'amorceurs ioniques ne permet pas une bonne maîtrise de la réaction, entrainant notamment des réactions secondaires de transestérifications inter et intramoléculaires. Ainsi, des métaux tels que l'aluminium, l'étain, le germanium et des métaux de transition, plus électronégatifs que les métaux alcalins utilisés en polymérisation anionique, ont été utilisés pour amorcer la réaction par mécanisme de coordination-insertion. L'utilisation spécifique de ce type de catalyseur assure un meilleur contrôle des masses

molaires. Toutefois, dans ces conditions, la vitesse de polymérisation est diminuée. Le mécanisme mis en jeu est le suivant (Figure II-2): le monomère se coordonne à l'amorceur par sa fonction carbonyle puis il y a insertion du monomère dans la liaison métal-oxygène et l'ouverture de cycle se fait par la liaison O-acyle. La réaction est terminée par une hydrolyse acide de la liaison O-métal, ce qui conduit à une extrémité hydroxyle.



**Figure II- 2.** Mécanisme de polymérisation des lactones amorcé par Al(OR)<sub>3</sub> - mécanisme de coordination-insertion.

Parmi les nombreux alcoolates de métaux utilisés, notre choix s'est porté sur des catalyseurs à base d'étain tel que le bis(2-éthylhexanoate) d'étain (ou octanoate d'étain)  $Sn(Oct)_2$ . Il s'agit de l'amorceur le plus couramment utilisé pour la préparation de divers polyesters aliphatiques et copolyesters. C'est un catalyseur très efficace, facile à préparer et soluble dans la plupart des solvants organiques. Les temps de polymérisation classiques avec ce type d'amorceur vont de quelques minutes à plusieurs heures, pour des réactions se faisant généralement en masse à 140-180°C. Il donne lieu à une polymérisation contrôlée du PCL avec des masses molaires élevées ( $10^5$  à  $10^6$  g.mol<sup>-1</sup>) en présence d'un alcool ou d'une amine.



Figure II- 3. Structure de l'octanoate d'étain.

Le PCL est un polymère semi-cristallin avec un degré de cristallinité pouvant atteindre 69%. Il se solubilise très facilement dans des solvants tels que le chloroforme, le dichlorométhane ou le benzène mais reste insoluble dans les alcools, les éthers de pétrole ou l'eau. Il s'agit par ailleurs d'un matériau résistant et flexible dont la température de transition vitreuse  $(T_g)$  est bien inférieure à la température ambiante. La gamme d'application du PCL est très vaste et offre des propriétés intéressantes modulables. De nombreuses études ont été menées afin de synthétiser et modifier ce polymère pour obtenir un éventail plus large de propriétés et ainsi satisfaire de nouvelles applications.

# **II.** Le système lignine – ε-caprolactone

Dans le cadre de notre étude, nous nous sommes donc intéressés à la polymérisation de PCL à partir de lignine. L'ouverture du cycle d'ɛ-CL est générée par la présence des hydroxyles de la lignine (qui servent alors d'amorceur) et l'utilisation d'un catalyseur permet d'accélérer la réaction. La chaine de PCL se greffe donc sur la lignine et croit directement sur celle-ci ; comme présenté sur la figure II-4.



Figure II- 4. Schéma récapitulatif de la réaction de greffage de la PCL sur la lignine.

Les travaux réalisés sur ce système lignine - ɛ-caprolactone sont présentés sous la forme d'une publication intitulée "Synthesis, thermal properties, rheological and mechanical behaviors of lignins-*grafted*-poly(ɛ-caprolactone)" publiée dans *Polymer* (2013). Plusieurs expériences ont été réalisées afin de mieux comprendre la réaction mais également dans l'objectif d'optimiser les paramètres réactionnels. Ainsi, le temps de polymérisation, la quantité de catalyseur (rapport amorceur/catalyseur) mais aussi le degré de polymérisation ont été les paramètres principaux étudiés et mis en évidence des caractéristiques différentes suivant les systèmes polymères obtenus. Pour les matériaux ayant des propriétés mécaniques intéressantes, une étude particulière et approfondie a été menée afin d'établir plus précisément les relations « structure-propriétés » de ces produits.

\* \* \*

# Synthesis, thermal properties, rheological and mechanical behaviors of lignins-*grafted*-poly(ε-caprolactone)

Stéphanie Laurichesse, Luc Avérous\*

BioTeam/ICPEES-ECPM, UMR 7515, Université de Strasbourg, 25 rue Becquerel, 67087 Strasbourg, Cedex 2, France

\* Corresponding author: Prof. Luc Avérous, Phone: + 333 68852784, Fax: + 333 68852716, E-mail: <u>luc.averous@unistra.fr</u>

Article publié dans Polymer



# Highlights

- Syntheses of different lignin-grafted polycaprolactone were successfully achieved.
- Variation on the density and length of the grafted PCL chains induces strong influences on thermal, mechanical and rheological properties of the final biobased copolymers.
- Elastomeric properties were obtained at low caprolactone/OH molar ratio.
- Catalyst content and reaction time must be strictly controlled to obtain elastomeric polymers.
- These grafted architectures should be used as building blocks for polymer synthesis.

#### Abstract

Original macromolecular architectures based on lignin, a promising biobased building block or macromer, have been elaborated and analyzed. Different soda lignins-*grafted*-poly(ɛ-caprolactone) were synthesized by ROP of ɛ-caprolactone (CL) initiated by the hydroxyl groups (OH) brought by the lignins, and catalyzed by stannous octanoate. The influence of polycaprolactone (PCL) grafted chains onto lignin was investigated with a large range of CL/OH molar ratios, from 5 to 100. Based on analyses carried out by FT-IR and DSC, it was found that PCL chain organization was controlled by both intermolecular bonding and chain length. A semi-crystalline structure was observed for samples with a CL/OH ratio from 10 to 100 mol.mol<sup>-1</sup> which implicated the formation of a well arranged structure between PCL chains grafted around lignin. However, specific behavior has been observed at a CL/OH ratio equal to 5 due to the absence of crystallinity and specific intermolecular bonding. Mechanical tensile tests and rheological analyses were performed additionally to highlight the remarkable elastomer-like behavior of this new lignin-based material.

# Key Words:

Lignin / Poly(ɛ-caprolactone)/ structures-properties/ rheological properties/ ROP

# 1. Introduction

During the last decades, there has been a growing interest in materials from the biomass, which are synthesized with biobased building blocks, or based on biopolymers i.e., polymers formed by living organisms <sup>1</sup>. Replacing petroleum based raw materials with renewable resources constitutes a major concern in terms of economic and environmental viewpoints <sup>2</sup>.

Lignin is the second most abundant biopolymer after cellulose and one of the main components in plants materials. It is an amorphous and highly branched polyphenolic macromolecule. Besides, it is an important by-product of e.g., paper and biofuel productions. Due to its numerous chemical active sites, such as the hydroxyl groups (aliphatic and phenolic); lignin is considered as a macropolyol and could be expected to be an ideal alternative to chemical feedstock. Furthermore, it is a largely-available by-product which is not in direct competition with the food production such as vegetable oil or starch, for example. However, depending on the botanical origin and the separation process <sup>3</sup>, the chemical structure of lignin differs considerably, with variations in molecular weight, in solubility and differing in architecture and amount of functional groups.

Lignin is extracted from lignocellulosic materials by different industrial and well-known processes, which can be divided into two main categories: sulfur and sulfur-free processes <sup>4</sup>. These two routes produce well-defined lignins, which are commercially and largely available. The first category includes Kraft and Lignosulfonates lignins, which are mainly produced by pulp and paper industries in huge quantities. Almost of these lignins are burned and used to generate energy and chemicals. The second category, the sulfur-free lignins, such as organosolv and soda lignins are extracted from annual crops like flax, straws, bagasse, and, to some extent, hardwoods and softwoods <sup>5</sup>. These latter as new renewable raw materials are interesting by integrating ecological and economic advantages and are considered as high value-added products <sup>6</sup>. Furthermore, these lignins are closer to that of *in-planta* lignins in comparison with Kraft lignins and Lignosulfonates. According to Wörmeyer et al. <sup>7</sup>, the soda process demonstrates the best suitability for the production of lignin products for polymer applications by producing the lignin product of the highest quality.

The nowadays trend to use more and more green and biobased materials has promoted an increasing use of lignin in various applications, both as a biopolymer or as a building block. For instance, many attempts have been made to associate lignins with others polymers for the formulation of dispersants, adhesives, and surfactants or as antioxidants in plastics and

rubbers<sup>8-10</sup>. Studies on lignin-based blends have been reported and the effects of the structures on the miscibility and the corresponding properties have been largely investigated <sup>11-14</sup>. Lignin presented a good miscibility with PEO and PET whereas PVA and PP-lignin blends appeared immiscible. The association with biodegradable aliphatic polymers such as polycaprolactone (PCL) has attracted much attention because of the biotic degradation of the corresponding blends. For example, it has been reported that within a lignin content of 25%, the corresponding materials showed good mechanical properties because of the interactions with PCL<sup>15</sup>. Considering the absence of a softening temperature for lignin, it cannot be directly processed as a conventional polymer. Hence, chemical modifications are mandatory to develop thermoplastics and advanced materials, lignin being a potential building block or macromer. Chemistry based on more or less fractionated lignin can be developed to synthesize innovative macromolecules presenting distinctive architectures. Organosolv lignins were modified by esterification reaction giving alkylated lignin with propyl, butyl or pentyl groups and formed homogeneous blends with PCL. Crystallization studies have shown that the miscibility between modified lignin and the polyester was improved as the length of alkyl chains increased <sup>16</sup>.

Different studies were also pursued in order to modify raw biobased materials such as lignin by using the "grafting-to" or "grafting-from" approaches. For instance, *\varepsilon*-caprolactone can be used to chemically modify lignin. For the "grafting-from" technique <sup>17</sup>, the polymer chains of PCL are grown directly from the hydroxyl groups of lignin whereas in the case of the "grafting to", PCL chains are synthesized at first and are only grafted afterwards. In the last decades, some studies have been focused on the grafting of PCL on lignin by using both approaches. Multiphase block copolymers presenting lignin and PCL blocks were originally developed by De Oliveira et al.<sup>18</sup>. More recently, lignin was modified with propylene oxide to produce multifunctional polymeric segments and then copolymerized with PCL. This twostep method was used to enhance the reactivity of lignin by the chain extension. Another pathway has been developed using a diisocyanate with various PCL homopolymers, to produce several polyurethanes <sup>19</sup>. In this field, the recent study of Korish et al. <sup>20, 21</sup> can be also mentioned. They presented the synthesis of graft copolymers based on the formation of arylboronate esters linkages between the 1,3-diols of lignin and boron end-functionalized caprolactone. This original approach can be foreseen for the development of new lignin-based thermoplastics.

The aim of this study was to synthesize original macromolecular structures by Ring-Opening Polymerization (ROP) of  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone (CL) onto lignin. In the present study, we chose to work with a sulfur-free lignin provided from a soda extraction process to carry out the polymerization reactions. The structural modifications were performed on the hydroxyl functions of lignin, which was previously characterized by different techniques. To evaluate the impact of the graft lengths on the thermal and mechanical properties of lignin-based materials, five grafted PCL chains were prepared. The amount of CL was varied from 5 to 100 mol per OH groups of lignin. A specific investigation using a CL/OH ratio of 5 has also been carried out to provide a better understanding on the organization of the grafted chains in the material. This study aims to contribute to the knowledge of the relationships between structure and properties of the synthesized materials in order to propose a putative structure of these macromolecular systems. Furthermore, a perspective of this work was to enhance the reactivity of lignin's hydroxyl functions to prepare a macropolyol with functional sites as a macromolecular platform which could easily react by polycondensation or polyaddition to synthesize different innovative polymers.

### 2. Experimental

#### 2.1 Materials

Alcaline soda lignin (Protobind 1000) was purchased from Green Value SA (Switzerland). Soda lignin (SL) is a sulfur-free lignin obtained after extraction and fractionation from annual plants (wheat straw) with a final molecular weight of around 1000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>. The lignin was used as received without further purification.  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone (CL) and stannous octanoate (SnOct<sub>2</sub>) were obtained from Sigma Aldrich and used as received without any purification.

#### 2.2 Sample preparation

Soda Lignin-based PCL (SLPCL) polymers were synthesized. CL has been used as the monomer for ROP, lignin being the macro-initiator through its hydroxyl groups.

The ratio of monomer to initiating groups determines the theoretical degree of polymerization (DP) of the polymer chains. The amount of CL was varied from 5 to 100 mol per OH groups of lignin. Different CL/OH ratios were used (CL/OH (mol.mol<sup>-1</sup>) = 5, 10, 20, 50, 100) to graft

lignin with different equivalent lengths of PCL chain. Polymerization reactions were carried out at 130°C in dry toluene (CL/OH=5) or in bulk (CL/OH=10, 20, 50 and 100) using stannous octanoate (SnOct<sub>2</sub>) as catalyst <sup>22</sup>. SnOct<sub>2</sub> has been selected after some preliminary tests with different catalytic systems. In the literature, SnOct<sub>2</sub> is the most often used initiator for the elaboration of grafts, block copolymers, and multibranched products. This catalyst is particularly efficient with monomers such as compound with hydroxyl groups, cyclic esters like lactides or CL <sup>23</sup>. The grafting reaction proceeded from 14 to 62 hours under anhydrous conditions, to avoid homopolymerization reactions. The corresponding polymer was isolated by precipitation into cold methanol to remove unreacted CL, filtered and dried under vacuum. SLPCL sheets with a thickness of 1mm were prepared by compression-molding at 80-100°C under 150 bars. The designation for the synthesized samples is S X <sub>Y/Z</sub>, where X is the CL/OH ratio (mol.mol<sup>-1</sup>), Y the OH/catalyst ratio (mol.mol<sup>-1</sup>) and Z the reaction time (h).

To fully assess the gratting of PCL chains onto lighth versus the synthesis of PCL free chains, some blank experiments were carried out synthesizing PCL macromolecules without lighthree lighthree chains. The same reaction parameters than SLPCL polymers were used, the resulting synthesized homopolymers will be designed by B X  $_{Y/Z}$ , with X as the ratio of the corresponding synthesis with lighthree lighthree carried been fully characterized using the same techniques than for SLPCL samples.

#### 2.3 General characterizations techniques

NMR spectra were recorded at 300 MHz on a Bruker UltraShield 300, using CDCl<sub>3</sub> as solvent. The molecular weights of the PCL chains grafted onto lignin and homopolymers were estimated from the NMR spectra by calculating the ratio of the signals at 4.02 ppm (- $CH_2O$ -PCL repeating unit) and 3.6 ppm (- $CH_2OH$ -PCL graft end groups).

The number-average molar mass ( $M_n$ ) and the polydispersity index (PDI) of the resulting samples were determined by Size Exclusion Chromatography (SEC), using Shimadzu apparatus equipped with a pre-column PLGel 5 $\mu$ , two PLGel 5 $\mu$  Mixed-C 300 mm columns and one PL 100 Å 300 mm column. Refractive index (RI) and ultra-violet (UV) detectors were used. Chloroform (CHCl<sub>3</sub>) was used as the eluent at a flow rate of 1 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>. The apparatus was calibrated with linear polystyrene standard from 580 to 1,650,000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>.

Fourier Transformed Infra-Red spectroscopy working in Attenuated Total Reflectance Mode (FTIR-ATR) was used to detect specific changes in hydroxyl and carbonyl vibrations which provide direct evidence of reaction between lignin and PCL and specific interactions between components. A Nicolet 380 FT-IR spectrometer was used to record FT-IR spectra.

DSC was performed using a TA DSC Q 200 under air flow. Sample mass was 2-5 mg. The samples were heated until 200°C with a heating rate of 10°C.min<sup>-1</sup> (first heating scan), then cooled to -80°C at 10°C.min<sup>-1</sup> and finally re-heated to 200°C at a heating rate of 10°C.min<sup>-1</sup> (second heating scan). The glass transition (T<sub>g</sub>) and the melting (T<sub>m</sub>) temperatures were determined as midpoints of the change in slop of the baseline and the maximum of melting temperature peak, respectively. These values were determined on the second heating scan in order to erase the previous thermal history of the samples during the first scan. Cristallinity was calculated according to the Equation (1), where  $\Delta H_f$  is the measured heat of fusion for the sample, and  $\Delta H_f^*$  is the heat of fusion for 100% crystalline PCL i.e., 136 J.g<sup>-1</sup> <sup>24</sup>.

$$X_{c}$$
 (%) = ( $\Delta H_{f} / \Delta H_{f}^{*}$ ) x 100 (1)

For experiments conducted with modulated DSC, samples are first stabilized at 10°C, with a modulation of  $\pm 1.5$ °C each 80 seconds and then heated with a heating rate of 1°C.min<sup>-1</sup> until 190°C.

TGA measurements were conducted under air (flow rate = 25 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>) using a Hi-Res TGA 2950 apparatus from TA Instruments. The samples (3-5 mg placed in an aluminum pan) were heated up to 750°C at 10°C.min<sup>-1</sup>. The characteristic degradation temperatures are the temperatures at the maximum of the derivative thermogram (DTG) curve ( $T_{dmax}$ ) and at which the sample weight equals 98% and 2% of the initial one ( $T_{98\%}$  and  $T_{2\%}$ , respectively).

Dynamic rheological analyses of SLPCL and neat PCL were performed by using a straincontrolled rheometer (ARES, Rheometric Scientific) with parallel-plate geometry. The oscillatory measurements were performed on 25 mm diameter disks with 1 mm thickness. The following tests have been conducted: (i) dynamic strain sweep to estimate the viscoelastic region of the samples, (ii) isothermal dynamic frequency sweep test from 100 to 0.1 rad.s<sup>-1</sup> at a temperature of 80°C. Changes in the viscous and elastic modulus were registered.

Uniaxial tensile tests were carried out with an Instron tensile testing machine (model 4204, USA, load cell: 10 kN), at 25°C and at a rate of 20 mm.min<sup>-1</sup>, using dumbbell specimens type H2 (ISO-527) (dimensions: 25 X 4 X 1 mm<sup>3</sup>). For each formulation at least five samples were tested.

#### 2.4 Specific techniques for lignin characterization

#### Methoxyl groups characterization

The methoxyl content of lignin was measured using a modification of a suggested TAPPI method T 209 su-72 "Methoxyl Content of Pulp and Wood" <sup>25</sup>. The principle of this method is based on the reaction of the methoxyl group with hydroiodic acid to generate methyl iodide. The organic iodide is then oxidized by bromine to form iodic acid, which is determined by the titration of iodine after reduction by KI.

#### Total hydroxyl groups (phenolic and aliphatic) characterization

Acetylation is frequently performed on lignin to improve its solubility in common solvents to carry out different analyses such as <sup>1</sup>H NMR. 1 g of air dry lignin was acetylated with 20 mL of acetic anhydride/pyridine (1:1, v:v) at room temperature for 24 hours in a 50 mL round-bottomed flask. After 24 hours, 5 mL of methanol were added to quench the remaining acetic anhydride and 40 mL of dichloromethane. The solution was then washed with chloride acid solution (2M), the organic layer was washed a second time with a saturated sodium bicarbonate solution and finally with deionized water. The dichloromethane solution was dried with anhydrous sodium sulfate and the product was evaporated at reduced pressure to dryness. Acetylated lignin was then dried under vacuum at 35°C for one night. NMR spectra of 10 mg acetylated lignin samples dissolved in 0.5 mL of CDCl<sub>3</sub> were recorded.

Proton signals were integrated from the baseline and referred to the integrated signal of the methoxyl protons ( $\delta = 3.7$  ppm) for proton quantification of aliphatic and phenolic hydroxyls. Aromatic and aliphatic acetates gave signals, at 2.3 and 2.0 ppm, respectively. These peaks are related to aliphatic and phenolic hydroxyl groups present in lignin before acetylation <sup>26, 27</sup>.

# 3. Results and discussion

### 3.1 Lignin characterization

The main characteristics of the lignins depend on the botanical source and on the intensity of the delignification process, which govern e.g., whether it has enough free phenolic hydroxyl groups and whether the *ortho* and *para* positions of the phenyl rings are blocked by methoxyl groups or aliphatic side chains <sup>3, 28</sup>. These chemical data constitute a key point in this work since these hydroxyls functions will be functionalized. Several analytical methods were used to analyze and determine main functional groups <sup>6, 29</sup>. Total and phenolic hydroxyl contents were quantified according different techniques including chemical titration and <sup>1</sup>H NMR based on acetylated lignin and molecular weight by Size Exclusion Chromatography (SEC) in chloroform <sup>28, 30, 31</sup>.

It is well known that the  $T_g$  of lignin is comprised between 90 and 160°C, depending on the lignin origin, the molecular weight and the corresponding extraction process <sup>32</sup>.  $T_g$  of SL (143°C) used in this study was carefully determined by modulated DSC. Results for soda lignin characterization were summarized in Table II-1, these values were found to be in the same range as that of others reported data from the literature <sup>33</sup> and also, in good correlation with values given by the lignin supplier. Among these results, it can be noticed that the PDI of soda lignin is low in comparison with Kraft or Lignosulfonate lignin <sup>33</sup>, which allow assessing that this type of lignin presents a lower polydispersity and a more defined structure. This last point must be considered as a great advantage for future chemical modifications.

Moisture content (%)		3.56
SEC analysis	$M_n(g.mol^{-1})$	1120
	$\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{w}}\left(g.mol^{-1} ight)$	4380
	$M_w/M_n$	3.9
<sup>1</sup> H NMR analysis	Total OH $(mmol.g^{-1})$	4.61
	OH phenolic $(mmol.g^{-1})$	1.67
	OH aliphatic $(mmol.g^{-1})$	2.94
	Average hydroxyl groups/ mol of lignin	5.17
Tappi method	Methoxy content $(mmol.g^{-1})$	3.25
DSC analysis	T <sub>g</sub> (°C) crude lignin	143
	Tg (°C) acetylated lignin	117

 Table II-1. Analysis results of Soda lignin.

#### 3.2 Synthesis and characterization of different SLPCL systems

The branched lignin based polycaprolactone system has been previously described as a star-like copolymer with a lignin's core and PCL arm segments <sup>34</sup>. This architecture may show a high variety of designs with different types of lignin and PCL arm lengths. In this study, the length of the chain extensions brings the main modulations to the final macromolecular architecture. A total of 9 different SLPCL were synthesized (Table II-2). On this basis, it is possible to distinguish 5 different types of architecture, based on the variations of the CL chain lengths. The influence of the amount of catalyst has also been studied. The SLPCL polymers and their corresponding blanks were synthesized with SnOct<sub>2</sub> at two different OH/catalyst ratios (mol.mol<sup>-1</sup>), 150 and 30, respectively. Table II-2 shows the main parameters used to carry out the syntheses of different SLPCL systems.

#### 3.2.1 Structural analyses

Whereas the grafting of PCL chains onto lignin is confirmed by SEC analysis, the conversion of the monomer and the arm lengths is estimated by <sup>1</sup>H NMR. These results indicate that it is possible to control the average arm length of PCL grafted onto lignin through the CL/OH ratio and the amount of catalyst. The grafting is also confirmed by SEC analysis with both detectors (RI and UV). These 2 detectors allowed checking and controlling the grafting of PCL chains onto lignin. Neat PCL can only be detected with RI detector whereas lignin is detected with both detectors. If a sample presents one sole signal using RI and UV detectors, that it means that PCL chains are grafted onto lignin. On the contrary, if there are 2 different signals on RI chromatogram and only one with UV chromatogram, it can be concluded that PCL free side chains have been synthesized. To illustrate these comments, SEC chromatograms in Figure II-5 show the grafting of PCL chains onto lignin for S5 150/17 and S50 150/48 and their corresponding blanks B5 150/17 and B50 150/48. In the case of blank syntheses, we can see that PCL homopolymers are not detected by the UV detector whereas for the corresponding syntheses with lignin, a signal is clearly detected. These results are well correlated with what we were expected, confirming that PCL is grafted onto lignin. Furthermore  $S50_{150/48}$  shows a visible shoulder on the signal detected with RI and only one by using UV detector attesting that PCL chains are grafted onto lignin, but some PCL free chains are also synthesized.



**Figure II- 5**. SEC chromatograms with RI (1 and 2) and UV (3 and 4) detectors for samples synthesized with CL/OH ratio of 5 and 50 and their corresponding blank syntheses.

For a better understanding, only the results obtained with UV detector are shown in Table II-2. They correspond to the exact molar mass of lignin grafted PCL excluding the molar mass of free homopolymer chains of PCL that could be synthesized by side reactions.

At this point, based on <sup>1</sup>H NMR and SEC results, it is possible to show that PCL chains are linked to the lignin. To go deeply into the details concerning the analysis of this reactive system, we can follow and analyze the influence of both parameters i.e., CL/OH and OH/catalyst ratios. For CL/OH ratio equal to 5 and 10, it seems to be possible to control the average arm length of PCL grafted onto lignin avoiding the formation of PCL free chains. SEC results confirmed the grafting of PCL onto lignin by an increase of lignin molecular weight, without the formation of PCL free chains. In the case of higher CL/OH ratio, from 20 to 100, it is impossible to avoid homopolymer synthesis as a side reaction; higher catalyst content increases this phenomenon. The architecture and PCL chains organization around

	<b>Reaction parameters</b>			_		SEC results using UV detector		
Samples	CL/OH ratio (mol.mol <sup>-1</sup> )	OH/catalyst ratio (mol.mol <sup>-1</sup> )	Reaction time (h)	Average arm length	wt.% of lignin	$M_n$ (10 <sup>3</sup> g.mol <sup>-1</sup> )	PDI	Free PCL chains
S5 150/17		150	17	7.0	48	2.2	6.1	No
S5 30/17	5	30	17	5.5	46	4.5	3.1	No
B5 150/17		150	17	127	-	-	-	-
S10 150/20	10	150	20	20	18	4.7	23.6	No
$S10_{\ 30/20}$	10	30	20	16.7	17	5.0	23.8	No
S20 150/27	20	150	27	15.0	-	3.9	10.3	Yes
S20 30/27	20	30	27	25.0	10	7.0	26.0	Yes
S50 150/48		150	48	24.4	6	5.1	41.9	Yes
S50 30/48	50	30	48	44.0	2	6.1	41.9	Yes
B50 150/17		150	48	149	-	-	-	-
S100 30/48	100	30	48	63.3	3	41.0	4.0	Yes

lignin were further investigated by various methods (IR, rheology...) to have a better understanding on this polymerization system.

**Table II- 2.** Main parameters of SLPCL and blank syntheses with corresponding NMR and SEC results.

FT-IR is a very efficient technique to investigate specific inter and intramolecular interactions. This method has been already used to qualitatively study interactions, which can occur between PCL and lignin <sup>11, 35</sup>. PCL and lignin have both functional groups which are able to interact between them through hydrogen-bonding, such as carbonyl groups for PCL, and hydroxyl groups (phenolic and aliphatic) for lignin. Figure II-6 shows the FT-IR spectra of the SLPCL samples, the inset figures corresponding to the spectra of the hydroxyl-stretching region (3000-3700 cm<sup>-1</sup>) and the carbonyl stretching region (1680-1760 cm<sup>-1</sup>). In the spectra of lignin, the band near 3360 cm<sup>-1</sup> is linked to the hydroxyl groups of the lignin. OH stretching and the band from 1735 to 1715 cm<sup>-1</sup> are due to the acetyl groups of the lignin molecule <sup>36</sup>. In the spectrum of neat PCL, the band of hydroxyl group is not as strong as lignin one and can be attributed to the low concentration of hydroxyl chain-ends groups of PCL. With the increasing of PCL grafts onto SLPCL (for high CL/OH ratio), the intensity of hydroxyl functions stretching band decreased. This decrease is linked to the increase of the average arm length of PCL, which induce lower hydroxyl content. For the case of CL/OH ratio of 5, it was found that the peak position of O-H stretching band shifts from 3357 to 3342

cm<sup>-1</sup>. This shift to higher frequency is probably due to the formation of intermolecular hydrogen bonding, between PCL and lignin.

The carbonyl absorption of PCL at 1724 cm<sup>-1</sup> is the most significant peak on IR spectrum. It has been previously reported that the IR carbonyl absorption of polyester including PCL shows a shift due to the formation of strong intermolecular hydrogen bond with the phenol hydroxyl groups <sup>37, 38</sup>. As shown in Figure II-6, an obvious change in the shape and position of the carbonyl peak can be shown only at a CL/OH ratio of 5. These latter results allowed concluding that at this ratio, there are possible interactions between carbonyl and hydroxyl groups. For higher content of lignin and short PCL grafts, interactions between hydroxyl and carbonyl groups are facilitated conferring special properties to the resulting polymers. In order to examine this phenomenon more carefully, we studied and analyzed in details the reaction with a CL/OH ratio of 5 in the last section of this paper.



**Figure II- 6.** FT-IR spectra of the SLPCL samples. Insets show the OH stretching (3100-3700  $\text{cm}^{-1}$ ) and C=O stretching (1680-1760  $\text{cm}^{-1}$ ) regions.

#### 3.2.2 Thermal and mechanical analyses

The SLPCL polymers were analyzed by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) and thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA). The corresponding results are summarized in Tables II-3 and II-4, respectively. It is has been largely reported that DSC thermogram of PCL presents two main thermal events at around -62 and 56°C  $^{39}$ , which can be attributed to the glass transition and the melting temperature, respectively. However, it is not possible to detect a clear T<sub>g</sub> transition for lignin <sup>40</sup>. Nevertheless, DSC analysis can provide useful information with regards to the chains mobility of the synthesized materials. Figure II-7 shows the DSC curves of samples synthesized with different CL/OH ratios, and with an OH/catalyst ratio of 30 mol.mol<sup>-1</sup>. T<sub>g</sub> of SLPCL samples can only be detected when the CL/OH ratio is 5 mol.mol<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup>. It was not found any detectable  $T_g$  for samples with higher ratios. The  $T_g$  of the PCL chains detected for the CL/OH ratio of 5 shows an obvious shift from -62°C (neat PCL) to -30°C (SLPCL). Furthermore, for S10, S20, S50 and S100 series, melting and crystallization temperatures (T<sub>m</sub> and T<sub>c</sub> respectively) have been observed. The melting point temperatures of these samples tend to 55°C, which is close to the  $T_m$  of neat PCL (60°C). Table II-3 shows in details the main data derived from DSC measurements. These DSC results suggest that there is distinct difference in terms of thermal behavior between the various synthesized products. In fact, for samples with a CL/OH ratio from 10 to 100 mol.mol<sup>-1</sup>, the crystallization of PCL segments reveals a crystalline organization for the SLPCL polymers. When PCL chains are grafted onto lignin, with different CL/OH ratios, the cristallinity contents of the resulting polymers reach a maximum of 50%. This crystalline organization can indicate that PCL chain mobility is reduced by increasing the CL/OH ratio i.e., the length of PCL grafts <sup>17</sup>. In fact, when the length of PCL molecular chains exceeds 15 units of CL, i.e. around 10% of cristallinity, the mobility of SLPCL tends to decrease significantly. From a macroscopic point of view, samples with CL/OH ratios ranging from 10 to 100 were brittle whereas those with CL/OH=5 were soft, flexible and amorphous. These first results suggest that the grafted PCL chains can induce different and specific thermal and mechanical behaviors. At that time, it is clear that the molecular motion of the main chain is restricted when PCL long chain molecules are grafted onto lignin.

	•	DSC results				
Samples	CL/OH ratio (mol.mol <sup>-1</sup> )	$T_{g}(^{\circ}C)$	$T_c$ (°C)	$T_m$ (°C)	$X_c(\%)^a$	$X_{c}(\%)^{b}$
S5 150/17		-40	-	-	-	0
$S5_{30/17}$	5	-30	-	-	-	0
B5 150/17		N.V	31	57	49.7	49.7
S10 150/20	10	-	26	48	39.1	47.7
$S10_{\ 30/20}$		-	28	50	10.1	12.2
S20 150/27	20	-	26	50	35.4	-
S20 30/27	20	-	30	52	40.1	44.5
S50 150/48		-	33	53	49.2	52.3
S50 30/48	50	-	35	55	41.2	42.9
B50 150/17		-	36	57	44.1	44.1
S100 30/48	100	-	37	53	49.8	51.3

Table II- 3. Thermal properties of SLPCL and blank samples.

<sup>a</sup>: compared to neat PCL <sup>b</sup>: compared to synthesized material

N.V: Not Visible



Figure II-7. DSC curves showing the effect of chain lengths on the thermal properties.

TGA was used to investigate the influence of CL/OH on the thermal stability of the resulting synthesized polymers. In general, the neat PCL presents a two-stage degradation mechanism. The first degradation step generates water, CO<sub>2</sub> and carboxylic acid as evolved products. Then, the pyrolysis step generates chain cleavages and depolymerization <sup>41</sup>. Figure II-8 shows that the thermal stability of SLPCL samples is improved compared to neat PCL. For instance, at 400°C, the weight loss of neat PCL is about 75% and that of SLPCL samples with CL/OH ratio of 20 is only about 68%. Moreover, the sample with higher content of lignin (CL/OH=5) has less weight loss. Above 400°C, we can suppose that the residue is mainly due to the lignin. From samples S10 to S100, with a high PCL content, the maximal degradation temperature is closed to neat PCL. However, for S5 sample, the onset temperature of degradation is higher compared to neat lignin. In this case, the grafting of PCL onto lignin has a stabilizing effect and shows a higher thermal resistance compared to neat PCL  $^{\rm 38}$  . For the case with CL/OH ratio of 5, it can be noticed that  $T_{98\%}$  is the same that for neat PCL and T<sub>2%</sub> is quite similar than those of Soda lignin. The thermal degradation of the system with the lowest PCL content does not modify significantly the degradation of the lignin counterpart. In major case, the SLPCL polymers synthesized in this study display thermal decomposition profiles dominated by PCL-like data. The only exception is the S5 series.

Samples	T <sub>98%</sub> (°C)	T <sub>dmax</sub> (°C)	$T_{2\%}$ (°C)
S5 30/17	224	527	544
S10 30/20	251	394	N.D.
S20 30/27	257	394	N.D.
S50 30/48	225	375	565
S100 30/48	265	388	455
PCL	224	390	466
SL (Soda lignin)	148	517	562

Table II- 4. Main degradation temperatures for the different SLPCL samples.

N.D.: Not Determined



Figure II-8. TG curves of SLCPL and neat Soda lignin and PCL samples.

Rheological analyses provided complementary information about the macromolecular architecture of the lignin-grafted PCL. Figure II-9 shows the results of isothermal dynamic frequency tests at 80°C. For a CL/OH ratio of 5, it can be noticed that the elastic (or solidlike) modulus (G') is greater than the loss (or fluid-like) modulus at all frequencies. This behavior is usually related to an elastomeric amorphous and highly cross-linked polymer. On the contrary, for the other samples synthesized with CL/OH ratios higher than 5, G'' is always greater than G' at all frequencies, which is usually the behavior of conventional thermoplastic polymers. The storage and the loss modulus of SLPCL samples are linked to the amount of lignin. For instance, G' and G'' increased when the CL/OH ratio decreased. Furthermore, additional rheological tests were performed with blank syntheses compounds B5 150/17 and B50 150/17, respectively, to study the influence of PCL grafts onto lignin compared to PCL homopolymers. Figure II-10 depicts clearly the thermoplastic properties of neat PCL, elastic and loss modulus decrease with frequency. In the present case, the grafting of PCL short chains onto lignin showed a clear rheological effect, compared to the corresponding blank. The covalents bonds between PCL chains and lignin seem to confer an elastomeric-like behavior to S5 product, whereas PCL chains synthesized in the same conditions presented thermoplastic behavior. For S50 and B50 samples the difference is not as important as S5 series, however, the elastic modulus for lignin grafted PCL decreased less than the corresponding homopolymer. This behavior suggests that PCL grafted onto lignin reinforces the properties of neat PCL.



**Figure II- 9.** Isothermal dynamic frequency tests of SLPCL samples with different CL/OH ratios, at 80°C.



**Figure II-10.** Isothermal dynamic frequency tests of SLPCL samples with different CL/OH ratios of 5 and 50 and their corresponding blank syntheses (neat PCL), at 80°C.

S5: G'(□) - G''(□);	S50: G'(○) - G''(●);
B5: $G'(\Delta) - G''(\blacktriangle);$	B50: G'(◊) - G''(♦);
Based on the analyses that have been carried out onto lignin based materials, it should be emphasized that SLPCL polymers synthesized in this study can be classified into two main categories. When PCL grafted chains are short and relatively mobile ( $T_g$  around -42°C), they cannot be integrated in a crystalline organization based on the PCL arms. For higher CL/OH molar ratios, PCL grafts are associated to form a crystalline structure around lignin molecule. These results have to be compared to those previously published from blends of PCL and lignin. Previous studies have already been carried out on the blends of lignin and PCL obtained by mechanical mixing and other solution casting <sup>15</sup>. The corresponding results based on these blends had shown that the glass transition temperature, the melting temperature and the crystallinity of PCL were kept almost constant, until 40% of lignin incorporated in the blends. These previous results were totally different than those obtained in this study. For instance, at high lignin content (around 50%), no melting temperature is observed whereas a glass transition was observed at around -30°C. Then, it is obvious that the grafting of PCL onto lignin imparts to SLPCL polymers new thermal, mechanical, and rheological properties compare to conventional PCL/lignin blends.

#### **3.3** A particular case: CL/OH ratio= 5

Considering the results and the specific behavior of the samples with a CL/OH ratio of 5, additional experiments have been carried out for this ratio value. The amount of SnOct<sub>2</sub> as catalyst and time of reaction have been studied to evaluate their influence on the final properties of the corresponding SLPCL samples. Each experiment has been carried out using the same quantities of lignin and CL, only the amount of catalyst varies from 30 to 120 mol.mol<sup>-1</sup> (Table II-5).

	Reaction parameters			DSC	SEC results using UV	
	iteaction pure		results	detector		
Samples	OH/catalyst ratio	Reaction	wt.% of	$T_{g}(^{\circ}C)$	$M_n$	PDI
	$(mol.mol^{-1})$	time (h)	lignin	ē ` ´	$(10^{\circ} \text{ g.mol}^{-1})$	
S5 30/14	30	14	53	-35	4.4	22.3
$S5_{30/15}$		15	42	-47	5.6	16.1
$S5_{\ 30/18}$		18	37	-52	5.7	20.1
S5 30/23		23	29	-52	6.0	16.5
S5 60/14		14	52	-33	9.0	641
$S5_{\ 60/18}$	60	18	43	-45	4.3	24.2
$S5_{\ 60/21}$		21	40	-44	4.8	34.5
S5 <sub>60/24</sub>		24	40	-45	5.0	11.4
S5 60/38		38	29	-50	8.3	19.1
S5 120/16		16	48	-40	4.9	351
S5 120/18	120	18	42	-43	5.0	21.6
S5 120/21		21	40	-45	4.5	16.0
S5 120/24		24	33	-50	4.4	29.4

Table II- 5. Reaction parameters for SLPCL synthesis with SEC and DSC results.

It has already been shown that the kinetics of the chain propagation during the ROP of CL under conventional thermal conditions is first order and follows Equation (2), where  $k_p$  is the rate constant of chain propagation.  $[P_n^*]$  represents the concentration of propagating species and t denotes the polymerization time.

$$\ln([CL]_0 / [CL]) = k_p [P_n^*]t$$
 (2)

According to Equation (2), the reaction time and the amount of catalyst have an influence on the kinetic of SLPCL polymerization.

Figures II-11 and II-12 show the relationships between the average number of CL units per grafted chain or conversion of monomer and the reaction time, respectively. The reported SEC and <sup>1</sup>H NMR results seem to point out that high catalyst content (i.e., low OH/catalyst ratio) gives high conversion rate and increase the number of CL units per grafted PCL chains. This complementary study reveals also that lignin's total hydroxyls are not all activated during the reaction. At high conversion rate (around 90%), the length of PCL grafts can reach a maximum of 16 units of CL, whereas the theoretical value should be 5 units. Moreover, the impact of catalyst content can influence the graft density of PCL chains onto lignin. For high

catalyst ratio, the graft density decreases thus conducting to the grafting of a higher length of PCL grafts.

Among all of experiments carried out, only five of them give SLPCL samples with an elastomeric behavior (oval area on Figure II-11). However, all of these samples have more or less the same  $T_g$  values. The increase of  $T_g$  compared to neat PCL can be attributed to a decrease of PCL chain's mobility due to the grafting. Moreover, as it has already been described in a previous study <sup>17</sup>, the motion of the grafted chains can also be correlated to interactions between PCL and lignin. This interaction can probably be due to the beginning of the formation of a network based on hydrogen bonds, between carbonyl (PCL) and hydroxyl groups (lignin).



**Figure II- 11.** Relationships between the average-number of CL units per grafted chains and the reaction time for various OH/catalyst ratios. ( $\bullet$ ; 30,  $\blacktriangle$ ; 60,  $\blacksquare$ ; 120).



**Figure II- 12.** Relationships between the conversion of CL and the reaction time for various OH/catalyst ratios. ( $\bullet$ ; 30,  $\blacktriangle$ ; 60,  $\blacksquare$ ; 120).

Dynamic rheological analyses were performed on each experiment at a CL/OH ratio of 5. Figure II-13 shows only the data for dynamic storage modulus (G'), G' being always greater than the dynamic loss modulus (G''), which is not presented to ease the discussion. In previous experiments, we have shown that SLPL is an amorphous elastomeric polymer. However, a specific zone can be noticed at low frequencies where G' is independent of the frequency (Figure II-13) and could mean that highly branched amorphous copolymers have been synthesized. In this case, it can be said that at low frequencies, when G' reached a level-off, the value of G' is inversely proportional to the molar mass implicated between the linked chains.

It was found that a critical G' value could be highlighted. In fact, for samples S5  $_{60/18}$ , S5  $_{60/21}$ , S5  $_{60/24}$ , S5  $_{120/18}$  and S5  $_{120/21}$ , materials are soft and flexible whereas for S5  $_{60/14}$  and S5  $_{60/38}$ , there are completely brittle. We can assume that a specific modulus G' range exists where the material shows flexibility.



Figure II- 13. Isothermal dynamic frequency test of SLPCL samples.

S5 <sub>60/38</sub> : G'(◊)
S5 <sub>120/18</sub> : G'(♦)
S5 120/21: G'(X)

Uniaxial tensile tests were performed on samples to investigate the mechanical properties in the solid state. Maximum strength ( $\sigma$ ), Young's modulus (E) and elongation at break ( $\epsilon$ ) were evaluated from the stress-strain curves. The main experimental results were presented in Table II-6. Highest Young's moduli were observed for samples synthesized with an OH/catalyst ratio of 60 while comparing to those prepared with a ratio of 120. In addition, the tensile strength is quite similar for all samples with an OH/catalyst ratio of 60 and higher, than that synthesized with lower catalyst content. These results suggest that the amount of catalyst used for these syntheses plays an important role in the final properties of the materials. As previously observed, the amount of catalyst has an impact on the graft density of PCL onto lignin. For low catalyst ratio, the number of grafted chains onto lignin increases whereas their lengths decrease. The difference between the four samples with "soft behavior" is the graft density, the chain's length for OH/catalyst ratio of 60 is quite high but we can suppose that there are fewer PCL grafts around lignin that allow having higher elongation at break.

				Traction	
	OH/catalyst	Average units of	- Maximum	c Flongation at	E Young's
Samples	ratio	CL per grafted	o Maximum	E Eloligation at	Modulus,
	$(mol.mol^{-1})$	chains	strength (MPa)	break (%)	(MPa)
S5 60/18	60	8.0	$2.03\pm0.11$	$33.0\pm0.5$	$24.6\pm4.5$
S5 60/21	60	9.3	$2.02\pm0.05$	$33.5\pm2.7$	$21.8\pm1.3$
S5 120/18	120	7.5	$1.33\pm0.06$	$28.1 \pm 1.1$	$15.5 \pm 2.4$
S5 120/21	120	9.7	$1.33\pm0.21$	$29.0\pm1.3$	$13.2 \pm 1.4$

Table II- 6. Uniaxial tensile tests results for samples with "soft behaviors".

### 4. Conclusion

Soda lignin-*grafted*-Poly(ɛ-caprolactone) can be synthesized by ROP in the presence of stannous octanoate by using hydroxyl functions of lignin. This reaction allowed converting hydroxyl groups of lignin into readily available reactive sites.

Different techniques have been used to determine the properties and structure of different lignin-*grafted*-Poly(ɛ-caprolactone) - SLPCL materials, compared to neat PCL. DSC, SEC, FT-IR and rheological characterizations have showed that the macromolecular organization of the different SLPCL structures varies, according to the length of the grafted chains and the synthesis conditions. This work allowed us to highlight two different behaviors, whose one lead to a material with remarkable intrinsic performances.

When the CL/OH ratio was 5, the corresponding polymer was mainly lignin and the carbonyl group C=O of PCL was possibly linked to phenolic hydroxyl group. Thus, amorphous materials based on 3D hydrogen bonds networks were synthesized. The synthesized products do not show a crystalline structure. Flexible polymers with specific properties are obtained. Rheological tests indicate that there is a critical G', corresponding to a specific interval of molar mass implicated between the cross linked chains of PCL.

For samples synthesized with a CL/OH ratio higher than 5, the grafted PCL chains form a semi-crystalline structure, which leads to PCL/lignin phases segregation. As a result, the intermolecular bonds between PCL and lignin decrease and the previous flexible network disappears. Brittle materials are obtained in this case.

These chemically modified lignins lead to long branched polyester with OH groups at the end that can constitute potential macropolyol (building blocks) with original structure, which could also be a macromolecular platform to synthesize different and original polymers. Polycondensation or polyaddition reactions can be considered from the OH reactive terminal sites.

### Acknowledgments

We are grateful for Alsace Region, Oséo and ANRT for their financial supports. We also gratefully acknowledge Dr. Jairo H. Lora at Green Value for providing the lignin samples, Chheng Ngov for her help in SEC analysis and Sébastien Gallet for helpful discussion on chemistry.

## III. Conclusion & perspectives de l'étude

Au terme de cette étude, différents polymères ont pu être synthétisés et les premières caractérisations de ces produits ont montré tout l'intérêt et le potentiel qu'offrait une stratégie de fonctionnalisation de la lignine. En effet, la polymérisation de l'ɛ-caprolactone à partir des fonctions hydroxyles de la lignine nous a permis de synthétiser différents matériaux qui peuvent se mettre en œuvre facilement, et qui présentent un large éventail de propriétés physico chimiques et mécaniques. L'influence des différents paramètres réactionnels sur les architectures macromoléculaires synthétisées a été mise en évidence.

Par ailleurs, grâce à l'optimisation des conditions opératoires, il a été possible de maitriser la longueur des chaines de polymères greffées mais également la densité de greffage sur la lignine. Cette première partie nous a permis de mettre en exergue différents points clés par rapport à l'application industrielle finale visée. En effet, l'utilisation de polymère fortement cristallin semble difficile à intégrer dans l'élaboration de ce type de matériau. Malgré de bonnes propriétés mécaniques et notamment des modules d'Young relativement élevés, le PCL associé à la lignine ne confère pas des propriétés de souplesse et d'élasticité suffisantes et nécessaires à la réalisation d'une membrane d'étanchéité (voir Annexe de ce manuscrit). Toutefois, dans certains cas et pour des degrés de polymérisation faibles (DPn≈5), des phénomènes très intéressants ont été observés démontrant la présence d'interactions faibles entre les chaines de polymères greffées et la lignine, responsables d'une certaine souplesse pour les matériaux obtenus (Figure II-14). Ces résultats prometteurs nous ont ainsi conduits à approfondir cette étude en faisant varier les temps de réaction et les quantités de catalyseurs sur ces systèmes.



**Figure II- 14.** Photographies illustrant la flexibilité des matériaux synthétisés pour la série S5- a) S5  $_{120/21}$ ; b) S5  $_{60/18}$ ; c) S5  $_{60/21}$ .

Par ailleurs, dans tous les systèmes élaborés à partir de lignine modifiée, cette dernière joue le rôle de point de réticulation physique et chimique et apporte généralement de la rigidité et parfois même de la fragilité au matériau synthétisé. Il est donc important d'apporter de la souplesse au système par l'introduction de chaines amorphes de faible  $T_g$  ou encore de polymères linéaires de masse molaire élevée. La lignine, de par sa structure, peut conférer au polymère final une certaine structuration et une rigidité, cependant, sa poly-fonctionnalité entraine inéluctablement la formation de réseau et la réticulation du matériau. L'espacement des molécules de lignine, le taux de réticulation et la présence de fonctions structurantes au sein des polymères ou molécules greffés sur la lignine sont autant de leviers permettant d'ajuster les propriétés finales des matériaux que nous allons moduler afin de développer un matériau répondant au cahier des charges. D'autres voies de modification chimique de la lignine ont donc été effectuées et sont présentées dans les chapitres suivants.

### Notes et Références

- M. Vert, Y. Doi, K. H. Hellwich, M. Hess, P. Hodge, P. Kubisa, M. Rinaudo and F. Schué, Terminology for biorelated polymers and applications (IUPAC recommendations 2012). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 2012: 84: 377-410.
- 2. D. K. Chattopadhyay and D. C. Webster, Thermal stability and flame retardancy of polyurethanes. *Progress in Polymer Science*, **2009**: 34: 1068-1133.
- 3. G. Vázquez, G. Antorrena, J. González and S. Freire, The influence of pulping conditions on the structure of acetosolv eucalyptus lignins. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **1997**: 17: 147-162.
- 4. R. J. A. Gosselink, E. De Jong, B. Guran and A. Abächerli, Co-ordination network for lignin Standardisation, production and applications adapted to market requirements (EUROLIGNIN). *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2004**: 20: 121-129.
- 5. A. Vishtal and A. Kraslawski, Challenges in industrial applications of technical lignins. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 3547-3568.
- R. J. A. Gosselink, A. Abächerli, H. Semke, R. Malherbe, P. Käuper, A. Nadif and J. E. G. Van Dam, Analytical protocols for characterisation of sulphur-free lignin. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 2004: 19: 271-281.
- K. Wörmeyer, T. Ingram, B. Saake, G. Brunner and I. Smirnova, Comparison of different pretreatment methods for lignocellulosic materials. Part II: Influence of pretreatment on the properties of rye straw lignin. *Bioresource Technology*, 2011: 102: 4157-4164.
- 8. F. G. Calvo-Flores and J. A. Dobado, Lignin as renewable raw material. *ChemSusChem*, **2010**: 3: 1227-1235.
- 9. A. Gandini, The irruption of polymers from renewable resources on the scene of macromolecular science and technology. *Green Chemistry*, **2011**: 13: 1061-1083.
- 10. C. Pouteau, P. Dole, B. Cathala, L. Averous and N. Boquillon, Antioxidant properties of lignin in polypropylene. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2003**: 81: 9-18.
- 11. N. Henry, D. Harper and M. Dadmun, Optimizing noncovalent interactions between lignin and synthetic polymers to develop effective compatibilizers. *Macromolecular Chemistry and Physics*, **2012**: 213: 1196-1205.
- S. Kubo and J. F. Kadla, Kraft lignin/poly(ethylene oxide) blends: Effect of lignin structure on miscibility and hydrogen bonding. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 2005: 98: 1437-1444.
- 13. J. F. Kadla and S. Kubo, Lignin-based polymer blends: analysis of intermolecular interactions in lignin-synthetic polymer blends. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, **2004**: 35: 395-400.
- P. Song, Z. Cao, Q. Meng, S. Fu, Z. Fang, Q. Wu and J. Ye, Effect of lignin incorporation and reactive compatibilization on the morphological, rheological, and mechanical properties of ABS resin. *Journal of Macromolecular Science, Part B: Physics*, 2012: 51: 720-735.
- J. Li, Y. He and Y. Inoue, Study on thermal and mechanical properties of biodegradable blends of poly(ε-caprolactone) and lignin. *Polymer Journal*, 2001: 33: 336-343.

- Y. Teramoto, S. H. Lee and T. Endo, Phase structure and mechanical property of blends of Organosolv lignin alkyl esters with poly(ε-caprolactone). *Polymer Journal*, 2009: 41: 219-227.
- 17. T. Hatakeyama, Y. Izuta, S. Hirose and H. Hatakeyama, Phase transitions of ligninbased polycaprolactones and their polyurethane derivatives. *Polymer*, **2002**: 43: 1177-1182.
- 18. W. de Oliveira and W. G. Glasser, in American Chemical Society, Polymer Preprints, Division of Polymer Chemistry, Publ by ACS, Boston, MA, USA, **1990**, pp. 655-656.
- 19. C. A. Cateto, M. F. Barreiro, A. E. Rodrigues and M. N. Belgacem, Kinetic study of the formation of lignin-based polyurethanes in bulk. *Reactive and Functional Polymers*, **2011**: 71: 863-869.
- 20. A. L. Korich, K. M. Clarke, D. Wallace and P. M. Iovine, Chemical modification of a lignin model polymer via arylboronate ester formation under mild reaction conditions. *Macromolecules*, **2009**: 42: 5906-5908.
- 21. A. L. Korich, A. B. Fleming, A. R. Walker, J. Wang, C. Tang and P. M. Iovine, Chemical modification of organosolv lignin using boronic acid-containing reagents. *Polymer*, **2012**: 53: 87-93.
- 22. M. Labet and W. Thielemans, Synthesis of polycaprolactone: A review. *Chemical Society Reviews*, **2009**: 38: 3484-3504.
- A. Kowalski, A. Duda and S. Penczek, Kinetics and mechanism of cyclic esters polymerization initiated with tin(II) octoate, 1: Polymerization of Îμ-caprolactone. *Macromolecular Rapid Communications*, **1998**: 19: 567-572.
- 24. F. B. Khambatta, F. Warner, T. Russell and R. S. Stein, Small-angle x-ray and light scattering studies of the morphology of blends of poly(ε-caprolactone) with poly(vinyl chloride). *Journal of Polymer Science: Polymer Physics Edition*, **1976**: 14: 1391-1424.
- 25. Methoxyl Content of Pulp and Wood. *TAPPI Test Methods*, **1972**: T 209 su-72.
- 26. K. Lundquist, Stern,K, Analysis of lignin by 1H NMR spectroscopy. *Nordic Pulp & Paper Research*, **1989**: 3: 210-213.
- 27. K. Lundquist, NMR study of lignin. 2 .Interpretation of the 1H NMR spectrum of acetylated birch lignin. *Acta Chemica Scandinavica*, **1979**: B33: 27-30.
- N. E. E. Mansouri and J. Salvadó, Structural characterization of technical lignins for the production of adhesives: Application to lignosulfonate, kraft, soda-anthraquinone, organosolv and ethanol process lignins. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 2006: 24: 8-16.
- 29. N. E. El Mansouri and J. Salvadó, Analytical methods for determining functional groups in various technical lignins. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2007**: 26: 116-124.
- S. Baumberger, A. Abaecherli, M. Fasching, G. Gellerstedt, R. Gosselink, B. Hortling, J. Li, B. Saake and E. De Jong, Molar mass determination of lignins by size-exclusion chromatography: Towards standardisation of the method. *Holzforschung*, 2007: 61: 459-468.
- 31. E. A. Capanema, M. Y. Balakshin and J. F. Kadla, A Comprehensive Approach for Quantitative Lignin Characterization by NMR Spectroscopy. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **2004**: 52: 1850-1860.
- 32. W. G. Glasser, in ACS Symposium Series, **1999**, pp. 216-238.

- J. H. Lora and W. G. Glasser, Recent industrial applications of lignin: A sustainable alternative to nonrenewable materials. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 2002: 10: 39-48.
- 34. W. De Oliveira and W. G. Glasser, Multiphase materials with lignin. 11. Starlike copolymers with caprolactone. *Macromolecules*, **1994**: 27: 5-11.
- 35. A.-A. M. A. Nada, M. El-Sakhawy and S. M. Kamel, Infra-red spectroscopic study of lignins. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **1998**: 60: 247-251.
- 36. S. Kubo and J. F. Kadla, Hydrogen bonding in lignin: A fourier transform infrared model compound study. *Biomacromolecules*, **2005**: 6: 2815-2821.
- 37. J. Li, Y. He and Y. Inoue, Thermal and mechanical properties of biodegradable blends of poly(L-lactic acid) and lignin. *Polymer International*, **2003**: 52: 949-955.
- 38. S. Hirose, T. Hatakeyama, Y. Izuta and H. Hatakeyama, TG-FTIR studies on ligninbased polycaprolactones. *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, **2002**: 70: 853-860.
- 39. L. Averous, L. Moro, P. Dole and C. Fringant, Properties of thermoplastic blends: Starch-polycaprolactone. *Polymer*, **2000**: 41: 4157-4167.
- 40. S. C. Fox and A. G. McDonald, Chemical and thermal characterization of three industrial lignins and their corresponding lignin esters. *BioResources*, **2010**: 5: 990-1009.
- 41. O. Persenaire, M. Alexandre, P. Degée and P. Dubois, Mechanisms and Kinetics of Thermal Degradation of Poly(ε-caprolactone). *Biomacromolecules*, **2001**: 2: 288-294.

# Chapitre III.

# Estérification de la lignine avec l'acide oléique – Fonctionnalisation et Synthèse de polyuréthanes



### Introduction

La valorisation de la lignine pour la synthèse de polymères fonctionnels repose sur sa modification chimique préalable. Pour ce faire, notre démarche scientifique s'est axée sur la fonctionnalisation de la lignine afin d'en faire un synthon principal (polyol) dans la synthèse de PU pour une application dans le domaine des membranes d'étanchéité.

L'étude réalisée dans le Chapitre II a permis de développer une fonctionnalisation spécifique de la lignine permettant d'aboutir directement à un matériau qui a pu être mis en œuvre. L'objectif de ce nouveau chapitre est de proposer une alternative à l'utilisation du Poly(Caprolactone), dont la cristallinité s'est révélée être un point bloquant en vue de l'élaboration de matériaux souples et flexibles.

Les huiles végétales représentent une ressource naturelle abondante, variée, peu onéreuse et disponible. Majoritairement constituées de triglycérides, elles font l'objet de nombreux projets de recherches et apparaissent comme une alternative crédible pour répondre aux préoccupations environnementales. Les publications et brevets dans ce domaine attestent des nombreuses possibilités offertes par l'oléochimie pour l'élaboration de matériaux thermoplastiques ou thermodurs.

Dans cette optique, nous nous sommes donc tournés vers l'utilisation de dérivés des huiles végétales, et particulièrement les acides gras, pour modifier la lignine. Cette modification chimique fait écho aux techniques de fonctionnalisation du bois ou de la cellulose notamment à l'aide de dérivés d'acide gras. Dans un premier temps, nous présenterons l'oléochimie et développerons les principales voies de modifications chimiques des huiles végétales et de leurs dérivés aboutissant à l'introduction de fonctions hydroxyles. Enfin, nous présenterons les travaux originaux effectués au laboratoire mettant en jeu la lignine et un dérivé d'huile végétale afin d'élaborer un nouveau synthon bio-sourcé pour l'élaboration de polymères.

\* \* \*

## I. L'oléochimie et la modification des acides gras

De façon générale, l'oléochimie regroupe les transformations physico-chimiques appliquées aux huiles et aux graisses aussi bien animales que végétales. Utilisée depuis l'antiquité, notamment pour la fabrication des savons, l'oléochimie est actuellement présente dans de nombreux secteurs industriels allant de l'agro-alimentaire au secteur pharmaceutique en passant par la cosmétique ainsi que diverses industries (adhésifs, revêtements, détergents, lubrifiants, solvants...).

Dans le cadre de notre étude, une des stratégies de synthèse retenue est la fonctionnalisation des insaturations présentes sur les molécules d'acides gras (Tableau III-1). En effet, de nombreuses voies de modifications chimiques utilisant des doubles liaisons ont été étudiées et vont nous permettre d'envisager de nouvelles stratégies de synthèse à partir de la lignine estérifiée.

Acide gras	Formule brute	Structure
Acide undécylénique	$C_{11}H_{20}O_2$	ОН
Acide palmitoléique	$C_{16}H_{30}O_2$	ОН
Acide oléique	$C_{18}H_{34}O_2$	ОН
Acide linoléique	$C_{18}H_{32}O_2$	ОН
Acide linolénique	$C_{18}H_{30}O_2$	O OH
Acide ricinoléique	$C_{18}H_{30}O_2$	OH O OH OH
Acide vernolique	$C_{18}H_{30}O_3$	ОС
Acide licanique	$C_{18}H_{28}O_3$	ОН

**Tableau III- 1.** Formules brutes et structures des principaux acides gras contenant des insaturations.

L'objectif principal de cette fonctionnalisation repose sur l'introduction de fonctions hydroxyles dans la nouvelle architecture moléculaire élaborée à partir de lignine et d'acide gras. Il est à noter que certaines huiles végétales et leurs acides gras associés comme l'huile de ricin (acide ricinoléique) possèdent déjà des fonctions hydroxyles dans leurs structures. Pour les acides gras ne possédant pas ces fonctions, il est possible de les introduire en procédant à une ou des modifications chimiques. Les 6 voies principales de synthèse permettant d'aboutir à des fonctions hydroxyles à partir des insaturations présentes sur les acides gras sont représentées sur la Figure III-1 et détaillées dans la suite de ce manuscrit.



**Figure III- 1.** Résumé des divers composés obtenus à partir de la fonctionnalisation des insaturations présentes sur les dérivés d'huiles végétales.

### **1.** Epoxydation des insaturations et conversion en alcool

La première voie de fonctionnalisation décrite repose sur l'époxydation des insaturations. La formation d'oxacyclopropane offre en effet la possibilité d'accéder à de nombreuses réactions par l'ouverture du cycle et permet ainsi d'envisager la fonctionnalisation de la chaîne grasse par l'ajout de nouveaux sites réactifs tels que les fonctions hydroxyles. L'époxydation constitue alors une première étape dans une stratégie de synthèse plus complexe faisant intervenir au minimum 2 étapes.

Parmi la multitude des acides gras que l'on peut trouver, seul l'acide vernolique est naturellement époxydé. Ce composé présente un intérêt majeur pour la fabrication d'époxydes entre autres mais n'est disponible qu'en très faibles quantités (extrait principalement des graines d'une plante originaire d'Afrique appelé *Vernonia galamensis*). Par ailleurs, il est possible de trouver des huiles époxydées commerciales qui ont déjà prouvé leur efficacité dans de nombreuses applications industrielles. On peut par exemple citer l'utilisation d'huile de soja époxydée (ESBO Epoxidized Soybean Oil) pour diminuer la dégradation thermique du PVC lors de son extrusion <sup>1-3</sup>.



Figure III- 2. Structure de la linoléine époxydée.

L'époxydation d'une double liaison s'effectue par action d'un agent d'oxydation, classiquement un péracide (généralement *m*CPBA : acide *méta* chloroperoxybenzoïque) à température ambiante en présence d'un solvant inerte. Le mécanisme rentrant alors en jeu est un mécanisme de type électrophile. Les taux de conversion de cette réaction peuvent atteindre 100% <sup>4</sup>. Il est possible d'accélérer la réaction en enrichissant la double liaison à l'aide de groupes donneurs d'électrons. En revanche, si des groupes attracteurs d'électrons sont présents autour de cette double liaison, il sera plus difficile d'utiliser des peracides usuels. On aura alors recours à des péracides de type CF<sub>3</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>H. A plus grande échelle et, notamment

dans l'industrie, le *m*CPBA, explosif sous l'action de chocs, a été remplacé par le monoperoxyphtalate de magnésium (MMPP).



**Figure III- 3.** Formation d'une fonction époxyde sous l'action d'un péracide et mécanisme associé.

Le traitement des oxacyclopropanes pour obtenir des fonctions hydroxyles peut s'opérer de deux manières différentes. Dans le cadre de notre étude, on s'intéressera à l'ouverture de cycle en milieu acide ou basique ainsi qu'à l'hydrogénation catalytique.

L'ouverture des cycles époxydes peut s'effectuer aussi bien sous conditions acides que basiques ; on peut ainsi résumer cette réaction par le schéma suivant (Figure III-4) :



Figure III- 4. Ouverture du cycle époxyde.

En milieu basique, l'époxyde -relativement fragile- peut-être ouvert par un nucléophile qui attaque alors sur le carbone le moins encombré. Le mécanisme associé est de type  $SN_2$  (Substitution Nucléophile d'ordre 2).

En milieu acide, le mécanisme est différent. Il y a formation d'un carbocation intermédiaire, l'oxygène est tout d'abord protoné, le carbone le plus substitué devient alors le plus riche en électrons et par conséquent le site préférentiel pour recevoir l'attaque nucléophile.

Les mécanismes réactionnels associés sont présentés sur la figure III-5:



Figure III- 5. Mécanisme de l'ouverture du cycle époxy en conditions basique et acide.

En pratique, l'ouverture de la fonction époxyde se fait par hydrolyse, c'est-à-dire par action de l'eau en présence d'un catalyseur acide ou basique. Cette réaction fait ainsi apparaître deux nouvelles fonctions hydroxyles (alcools secondaires).

Enfin, l'utilisation d'un alcool en présence d'un catalyseur (acide ou basique) permet d'obtenir une seule fonction hydroxyle secondaire<sup>4, 5</sup>. La réaction consiste ainsi à chauffer le mélange réactionnel à la température de reflux de l'alcool (le méthanol est classiquement utilisé) en présence d'un catalyseur. Les catalyseurs généralement utilisés sont de l'acide sulfurique concentré, l'acide paratoluène sulfonique (APTS) ou encore une résine échangeuse d'ions (type Amberlyst 15).



Figure III- 6 : Schéma général de la formation d'un diol vicinal à partir d'une fonction époxy.

Enfin, les époxydes sont susceptibles d'être directement hydrogénés par le dihydrogène en présence d'un catalyseur, généralement le nickel de Raney<sup>6</sup>. Les composés obtenus sont alors porteurs d'une seule fonction hydroxyle secondaire, le deuxième carbone impliqué dans la double liaison n'est quant à lui pas substitué. Cette méthode est largement utilisée pour les triglycérides car la suppression des insaturations améliore la tenue à l'oxydation des produits.

### 2. Oxydation des insaturations en péroxydes et réduction en alcool

Les doubles liaisons peuvent être oxydées pour former des hydro-peroxydes allyliques pouvant ensuite être réduits en alcools secondaires<sup>7</sup>. La réaction alors mise en jeu est une réaction photochimique. On utilise généralement un réacteur photochimique équipé d'une lampe à vapeur de sodium sous flux d'oxygène en présence de pyrophosphate de thiamine (TPP) et de dichlorométhane. Une fois le composé hydro-peroxyde formé, la réaction s'effectue à l'aide de borohydrure de sodium (NaBH<sub>4</sub>) dans du méthanol à 0 °C.



Figure III- 7. Synthèse d'hydroperoxydes allyliques réduits en alcools secondaires.

### 3. Mécanisme d'ozonolyse-réduction

La coupure oxydante d'une double liaison par l'intermédiaire de l'ozone  $(O_3)$  conduit à la formation d'un aldéhyde<sup>8</sup>. Une étape de réduction des aldéhydes en alcools primaires permet d'obtenir une fonction alcool.

L'ozone  $O_3$  est un oxydant gazeux puissant, que l'on représente sous trois formes mésomères schématisées sur la Figure III-8:



Figure III- 8. Les 3 formes mésomères de l'ozone.

Le mécanisme de la réaction d'ozonolyse implique, dans un premier temps, l'addition électrophile de l'ozone à la double liaison. Le composé intermédiaire alors formé est le 1,2,3-trioxolane ou molozonide. Ce complexe relativement instable forme un mélange d'entités carbonylées et un zwitterion (oxyde de carbonyle). La recombinaison de ces deux fragments aboutit à la formation de l'ozonide final ou 1,2,4-trioxolane. La deuxième étape consiste en la réduction de l'ozonide. Cette étape se fait par la mise en contact de l'intermédiaire avec du zinc dans de l'acide acétique ou encore par réaction avec le sulfure de diméthyle.



Figure III- 9. Schéma de la réaction d'ozonolyze des alcènes.

Le résultat global de cette séquence ozonolyse-réduction est la scission de la molécule au niveau de l'insaturation conduisant ainsi à la formation d'aldéhyde et/ou de cétone. Une étape supplémentaire de réduction des aldéhydes en alcools primaires permet d'obtenir des polyols à partir des dérivés d'huiles végétales<sup>9-11</sup>. Une fonctionnalité maximale de 3 peut alors être obtenue à partir de triglycérides insaturés, par exemple.

### 4. L'hydroformylation

L'hydroformylation, également appelée oxo-procédé, permet d'introduire une fonction aldéhyde sur les acides gras et triglycérides pouvant à son tour être modifiée pour aboutir à la formation d'alcools primaires.

De façon générale, l'hydroformylation consiste à faire réagir un composé oléfinique avec un mélange d'oxyde de carbone et d'hydrogène sous pression pour former un aldéhyde. Cette étape est généralement réalisée en présence d'un catalyseur. Les deux métaux les plus couramment utilisés sont le cobalt et le rhodium, les catalyseurs associés se présentent alors sous forme d'hydrures carbonylés<sup>12-14</sup> (rhodium dicarbonyl acétylacetonate par exemple) et sont solubles dans le milieu réactionnel : on parle alors de réaction catalytique homogène.

En pratique, la réaction s'effectue sous un courant d'un mélange de monoxyde de carbone et d'hydrogène à 110°C et permet d'obtenir des taux de conversion pouvant atteindre 95%. Les aldéhydes ainsi obtenus constituent des synthons de base et peuvent alors être convertis en alcools, esters, acides ou encore amines.

Dans le cas présent, nous nous intéresserons à l'étape d'hydrogénation qui, associée à l'hydroformylation, permet d'aboutir à la formation d'alcool primaire<sup>15, 16</sup>. Il s'agit simplement de la réduction de la fonction aldéhyde en alcool en présence d'un courant d'hydrogène et d'un catalyseur type Nickel de Raney.



**Figure III- 10.** Réaction d'hydroformylation de l'insaturation suivie d'une hydrogénation catalytique.

Il est important de noter que cette réaction permet d'aboutir à une fonction alcool primaire contrairement aux étapes d'ouverture d'époxy qui génèrent la formation d'alcools secondaires. Comme cela a déjà été souligné dans plusieurs études, la nature du polyol tient un rôle très important dans la synthèse des PU et influence de façon significative les propriétés finales du matériau ainsi synthétisé<sup>17</sup>.

### 5. Addition électrophile

Les électrons  $\pi$  appartenant à la double liaison sont relativement réactifs et sont donc susceptibles d'être attaqués par des espèces électrophiles. Ainsi, l'addition de formaldéhyde sur les acides gras insaturés permet d'accéder à de nouvelles chaines grasses difonctionnelles : des acides hydroxycarboxyliques<sup>18, 19</sup> (Figure III-11).



Figure III- 11. Addition de formaldéhyde sur l'acide oléique et l'acide undécylénique.

### 6. Couplage thiol-ène

Comme nous l'avons vu dans les sections précédentes, la plupart des fonctionnalisations d'huiles végétales se déroulent en deux étapes au moins et nécessitent l'emploi de catalyseurs souvent coûteux. La réaction thiol-ène permet quant à elle la synthèse de polyols porteurs d'alcools en une seule étape et représente une réaction versatile pour l'obtention d'intermédiaires fonctionnels bio-sourcés<sup>20</sup>. En effet, cette réaction de « click chemistry » est particulièrement intéressante ; insensible à l'oxygène, elle offre le choix d'une activation photochimique ou thermique et conduit à des rendements élevés. Récemment, le greffage de mercaptoéthanol sur les dérivés d'huiles a fait l'objet de plusieurs publications. Nous pouvons ainsi citer les travaux de Meier concernant le greffage de mercaptoethanol sur les dérivés d'huiles afait l'objet de plusieurs publications.

Le mécanisme réactionnel sur lequel repose le couplage thiol-ène est celui de l'addition radicalaire de divers composés par l'intermédiaire de la double liaison particulièrement riche en électrons<sup>22, 23</sup> (Figure III-12).

 $\frac{Initiation}{R-SH + lnit^{\bullet} \longrightarrow R-S^{\bullet} + lnit-H}$   $\frac{Propagation}{R-S^{\bullet} + R^{\bullet} R'} \xrightarrow{RS \atop R R'} \xrightarrow{RS \atop R R'} + R-SH \xrightarrow{RS \atop R R'} + R-S^{\bullet}$   $\frac{Terminaison}{2 R-S^{\bullet} R-S-S-R}$ 

Figure III- 12. Mécanisme radicalaire de l'addition d'un thiol sur une double liaison.

La méthode thiol-ène connait un réel développement durant ces dernières années, avec un grand nombre de publications dédiées. Elle semble en effet particulièrement adaptée à la fonctionnalisation des huiles végétales étant donnée sa « robustesse » vis-à-vis des variations de qualité de la matière première, sa facilité de mise en œuvre et la diversité des fonctions réactives qu'elle permet de greffer. En outre, le couplage thiol-ène fait appel à des réactifs peu couteux et disponibles dans l'industrie. Cependant, cette réaction n'a pas été mise en place dans notre étude mais fera l'objet d'une étude plus approfondie si cette voie de fonctionnalisation se révèle prometteuse.

\* \* \*

Dans le cadre de nos travaux de recherche, une nouvelle stratégie de synthèse a été retenue dans la perspective d'élaborer des macropolyols originaux à partir de lignine estérifiée par des acides gras. Cette stratégie de synthèse est présentée dans la partie suivante sous la forme d'une troisième publication.

# II. Modification de la lignine par l'acide oléique, synthèse de polyuréthanes

La troisième publication reportée dans ce chapitre et intitulée "Original polyol based on organosolv lignin and fatty acids: new bio-based building blocks for segmented polyurethane synthesis" fait état de l'estérification de la lignine par un acide gras et de sa modification pour l'élaboration d'une nouvelle architecture de macropolyol. L'intégration de ce nouveau synthon dans la synthèse de PU est ensuite abordée. Afin d'étendre et de compléter ces résultats, divers paramètres ont été étudiés, notamment l'influence du ratio NCO:OH dans la formulation du PU mais également l'impact de la masse molaire des chaines de poly(propylène) oxyde introduites dans le système réactionnel.



Figure III-13. Schéma récapitulatif de la stratégie de synthèse développée dans le chapitre III.

# Original polyols based on organosolv lignin and fatty acids: new bio-based building blocks for segmented polyurethanes synthesis

Stéphanie Laurichesse <sup>a</sup>, Cédric Huillet <sup>a</sup>, Pascal Pichon <sup>b</sup>, Luc Avérous <sup>a\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> BioTeam/ICPEES-ECPM, UMR 7515,

Université de Strasbourg, 25 rue Becquerel, 67087 Strasbourg, Cedex 2, France

<sup>b</sup> SOPREMA, 14 rue de Saint Nazaire, CS 60121, 67025 Strasbourg Cedex, France

\* Corresponding author: Prof. Luc Avérous, Phone: + 333 68852784, Fax: + 333 68852716, E-mail: <u>luc.averous@unistra.fr</u>

Green chemistry – Soumis ultérieurement



### Abstract

Macropolyols were successfully prepared through combining two different biomolecules from biomass i.e., lignin and oleic acid, using a solvent-free and catalyst-free method. The chemical structures of this original lignin-fatty acid based polyol and its intermediates were determined by <sup>1</sup>H NMR and FT-IR analyses. A serie of polyurethanes (PUs) were then prepared on a two-step procedure. Three linear isocyanate prepolymers were first synthesized from 4,4' methylenebis(phenyl isocyanate) and different molecular weight poly(propylene) oxide (PPO - 425, 1000 and 2000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>). These intermediates were used to obtain different PUs macromolecular architectures by varying reaction parameters in presence of the lignin-fatty acid based macropolyol. The final lignin-based polyurethanes were thoroughly chemically characterized by FT-IR studies, whereas the properties of these polymers were assessed through DSC, TGA, DMTA, and tensile tests experiments. All this was performed in order to evaluate the influence of NCO:OH molar ratio (from 0.2 to 1.0) as well as the influence of PPO chain length. These new polymers with controlled architectures presented advanced properties. The high biobased content (until 89%) depicts an important output for the valorisation of the lignin and then may be an optimal alternative to conventional PUs.

### **Keywords:**

Lignin, polyol, polyurethane, building-blocks, fatty acid.

### 1. Introduction

Renewable resources have recently gained interest as a petroleum substitute in chemical and polymer applications<sup>24</sup>. Biomass can also be the starting point of innovative pathways for designing new tailor-made building blocks and then original macromolecular architecture<sup>25</sup>. Among the multitude of resources which are extracted from the biomass, vegetable oils and lignocellulosic components represent a great potential and have attracted a lot of researches, notably to design monomers (mainly polyols) for the synthesis of bio-based polymers<sup>26</sup>.

Lignin, a lignocellulosic component, represents after cellulose the most abundant biopolymer on Earth. It is a substituted hyperbranched polyphenol and constitutes a natural aromatic polymer that accounts for up 18-35% by weight of wood<sup>27</sup>. Lignin can be extracted from lignocellulosic biomass (wood, annual plants such as wheat straw and agricultural residues) by different extraction processes but its chemical structure still remains under investigation. It is an amorphous polymer consisting of phenylpropane units, originating from three aromatic alcohol precursors (monolignols), *p*-coumaryl, coniferyl and sinapyl alcohols<sup>28</sup>. Given its unattractive structure, lignin possesses therefore significant potential for being a source of macromolecular materials due to its huge availability and variety of functional groups. In fact, the numerous sites on the lignin backbone offer many opportunities for chemical modifications. Several studies have tried to take advantage of this aromatic structure by performing reactions that would confer to lignin higher reactivity and suitability for industrial applications, e.g. for the synthesis of polymers<sup>29</sup>. In that frame, chemical modification of lignin can be used to introduce reactive sites such as available hydroxyl groups and improve the capacity of hydrogen bonding with other components. The production of lignin-based polymers is however limited by its hindered structure i.e. its high crosslink density and the highly polydisperse molecular weight of the molecule.

Development of new advanced lignin-derived polymer is thus related to chemical modifications that can be carried out on this macromolecule. Similarly to thermoplastic cellulose ester derivatives, one method adopted to improve the properties and use of lignin as a thermoplastic polymer is by esterification. This procedure is an effective way to solubilise it in a common solvent and to easily characterize it. Various studies have been performed on lignin esterification by using organic acids such as acid anhydrides or acyl chlorides in presence of suitable acid or basic catalysts (sulfuric acid or pyridine). Lignin esterification using diacids has already been done<sup>30, 31</sup> but the use of fatty acid has only been seen for the

functionnalisation of wood to enhance its thermoplastic properties, flexibility and melting temperature <sup>32, 33</sup>.

Recently, with the rapid development of green chemistry and engineering, a large quantity of polymeric materials mainly derived from plant oil and its derivatives have been reported<sup>20, 34, 35</sup>. During the last decades, a plentiful literature has been dedicated to the synthesis of polyol based on vegetable oil functionalization through their double bonds<sup>36, 37</sup>. These latter are generally performed by epoxidation and direct hydroformylation reactions whereas the ester bonds can be derivatized by e.g., transesterification or amidation. Those functionalization processes require the epoxidation of double bonds followed by the oxirane ring-opening by ozonolysis<sup>9</sup>, hydroformylation<sup>12</sup> and more recently metathesis<sup>38, 39</sup> and thiolene coupling reactions<sup>21, 40, 41</sup> offer a new and green approach to modify fatty acids derivatives. In this way, a great variety of polyols based on vegetable oils have been synthesized and suggests interesting intermediates for designing e.g., polyurethanes (PUs) with new macromolecular architectures.

PUs represent one of the most important and versatile classes of polymeric materials. They can vary from thermoplastic to thermosetting materials with broad applications such as flexible or rigid foams, thermoplastic elastomers, adhesives and coatings<sup>42</sup>. The production of PUs is based on a polyaddition reaction between oligomeric polyol with terminal hydroxyl groups and a diisocyanate (or polyisocyanate)<sup>43</sup>. Thanks to the high variety of design for oligomeric polyols, it is possible to modulate the architecture and then final properties of PUs. Among them, we have mainly focused our investigations on segmented polyurethanes (PUs), well-known for their versatility with a wide range of behaviours and applications. They are multi-phase copolymers structured with soft and hard segments. The soft block is built out of a polyol responsible for the flexibility and elastomeric character of the PU whereas the hard block, constructed from a chain extender and isocyanate gives its toughness and physical performance properties.

Through an original approach we have used vegetable oils derivatives (triglycerides and fatty acids) as a raw material for lignin chemical modification. This methods depicts an innovative way for designing new tailor-made bio-based building blocks an then new macromolecular architectures<sup>44</sup>. The aim of this study is focused on the esterification of lignin with chlorinated fatty acid (oleoyl chloride) in a solvent-free system to develop a new polyol. The resulting biobased polyester, with an original core-shell structure, can represent a promising precursor for polymer synthesis.

This paper also reports the PUs synthesis in a two-step procedure with synthesized prepolymers. A total of three isocyanate prepolymers intermediates were produced with different molecular weight poly(propylene) oxide (PPO) i.e 425, 1000 and 2000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>. Final PUs were performed between the biobased macropolyol and the different isocyanate prepolymers. Properties of the resulting PUs were modulated by varying NCO:OH molar ratio from 0.2 to 1.0, and the PPO chain length. The synthesized chemicals (intermediates and lignin-based polyurethanes) were first analyzed by FT-IR and DSC. To further investigate the thermo-mechanical properties and their thermal stability, TGA, DMTA and tensile tests were performed to define the structure and determine the behaviour of the resulting polymers.

### 2. Experimental section

### 2.1 Raw materials

Organosolv lignin (Alcell) from hardwood was supplied by Lignol Company (Canada) and used as received without any further purification. Specific techniques for lignin characterization have been carried out according different methods previously reported<sup>29</sup> (Table III-1). Oleic acid (91% C18:1, 4% C18:2, 2% C16, 2% C18) was purchased from Croda. It is a yellowy transparent viscous liquid with an acid number of 199 mg KOH.g<sup>-1</sup>. Peracetic acid (35 wt.% in an acetic acid solution), dichloromethane (DCM - 99.9%), methanol (99.6%), Tetrahydrofuran (THF - 99.8%), *para*-toluene sulfonic acid (APTS) and Dibutyl Tin Dilaurate (DBTDL - 95%) were all obtained from Sigma Aldrich. Poly(propylene) oxide polymers (PPO) of 425, 1000 and 2000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup> were obtained from Acros and were dried under reduced pressure at 100°C before using. All of the solvents were distilled before their utilization for chemical synthesis.

Moisture content (%)		3.83
SEC analysis	$M_n(g.mol^{-1})$	1000
	$M_w(g.mol^{-1})$	2275
	PDI $(M_w/M_n)$	2.28
<sup>1</sup> H NMR analysis	Total OH $(mmol.g^{-1})$	2.26
	OH phenolic $(mmol.g^{-1})$	1.30
	OH aliphatic $(mmol.g^{-1})$	0.96
	Average hydroxyl groups/ mol of lignin	2.26
Tappi method	Methoxy content $(mmol.g^{-1})$	2.07
DSC analysis	T <sub>g</sub> (°C) crude lignin	76

Table III- 1. Analysis results performed on organosolv lignin.

### 2.2 General methods and analysis

<sup>1</sup>H NMR were recorded in CDCl<sub>3</sub> on a Bruker UltraShield 300 spectrometer operating at 300 MHz. Chemical shifts ( $\delta$ -ppm) are reported in parts per million relative to the internal standard tetramethylsilane (TMS,  $\delta$  = 0.00 ppm). Polymer analysis was performed with a size exclusion chromatography (SEC) system from Shimadzu equipped with a pre-column PLGel 5 $\mu$ , two PLGel 5 $\mu$  Mixed-C 300 mm columns, one PL 100 Å 300 mm column and refractive index (RI) and ultra-violet (UV) detectors. All determinations of molar mass were performed relative to linear Polystyrene standards from 580 to 1,650,000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>.

Fourier Transformed Infra-Red spectroscopy was carried out with a Nicolet 380 FT-IR spectrometer working in Attenuated Total Reflectance Mode (FTIR-ATR). This analysis was used to detect specific chemical groups which provide direct evidence of different reactions performed onto lignin.

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) experiments were carried out with a TA DSC Q200 calorimeter, under nitrogen atmosphere using a sample mass in the range 2-5 mg. The samples were heated until 120°C with a heating rate of 10°C.min<sup>-1</sup> (first heating scan), then cooled to -80°C at 10°C.min<sup>-1</sup> and finally re-heated to 120°C at a heating rate of 10°C.min<sup>-1</sup> (second heating scan). The glass transition temperature,  $T_g$ , is reported as the midpoint of the heat capacity change. These values were determined on the second heating scan in order to erase the previous thermal history of the samples during the first scan.

Thermogravimetric analyses (TGA) were performed on a Hi-Res TGA 2950 apparatus from TA Instruments at a heating rate of  $10^{\circ}$ C min<sup>-1</sup> up to  $750^{\circ}$ C under a nitrogen atmosphere (flow rate = 25 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>).

Dynamic mechanical thermal analysis (DMTA) was performed on polymers (with dimensions around 23 x 4 x 1 mm<sup>3</sup>) with RSA-II apparatus from TA Instruments equipped with a liquid-nitrogen cooling system. Experiments were recorded on PU films with traction mode at a maximum strain from 0.003% to 0.9% and a frequency of 1Hz. The sample was heated from  $-100^{\circ}$ C to  $200^{\circ}$ C at a heating rate of  $2^{\circ}$ C.min<sup>-1</sup>.

Dynamic rheological analyses (DRA) were performed by using a strain-controlled rheometer (ARES, Rheometric Scientific) with parallel-plate geometry (25 mm in diameter). The dynamic storage modulus (G') and dynamic loss modulus (G'') were measured as a

function of the temperature ranging from 0°C to 200°C. A fixed strain was used to ensure that the measurements were taken well within the linear viscoelastic range of the material investigated. Results of rheological experiments are only presented in *Supplementary Information* section.

From uniaxial tensile tests, Young's modulus (E), ultimate strength ( $\sigma$ ) and strain at break ( $\epsilon$ ) were obtained using a Zwick/Roell machine. The experiments were performed at room temperature, using a crosshead speed of 20 mm.min<sup>-1</sup> and a load cell of 20N sensitivity. After adjusting the parameters, experiments were carried out 5 times for each sample.

### 2.3 Synthesis and characterization of lignin-fatty acid based polyol

Lignin-fatty acid based polyol (LOAP) is performed in a multistep synthesis involving the esterification of lignin with oleic acid, followed by the epoxydation of the fatty acid double bond and then the oxirane ring-opening.

### 2.3.1 Esterification of organosolv lignin

Lignin esterification has been performed with oleic acid from sunflower oil (Figure III-14). In order to improve reactivity of the oleic acid, a chloration step of the compound has been carried out before esterification. According the procedure established by Thiebaud et al.<sup>32, 33</sup>, esterification has been then performed by a solvent-free and catalyst free reaction using oleoyl chloride.

### Chloration step

The reaction took place into a three-necked 500 mL round-bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, a nitrogen-gas bubbling system and an outlet connected to a wash-bottle containing an aqueous sodium hydroxide solution to trap the hydrogen chloride formed. The chloration step is carried out with an excess of oxalyl chloride, oleic acid:oxalyl chloride (1:2). Oleic acid (40.0 g; 0.14 mol) was first dissolved into ethyl acetate (300 mL) and was cooled to 0°C under nitrogen flow. An excess of oxalyl chloride (36.0 g; 0.28 mol) was then added drop by drop at 0°C (15 min) and finally heated at 50°C during 5h. The solvent and the excess of oxalyl chloride were then distilled out from the reactive mixture.

Oleoyl chloride (OC) was obtained as a yellow viscous product.

<sup>1</sup>**H-NMR** (300MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>, δ (ppm)): 0.88 (3H, t, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.87 (2H, t, CH<sub>2</sub>-COCl), 5.32-5.38 (vinylic protons).

**IR** (cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3005 (C=C-H), 1799 (C=O chloride group).

### Esterification step

The esterification procedure was carried out in a 500 mL reactor having a mechanical stirrer, a nitrogen-gas bubbling system and an outlet connected to a wash-bottle containing an aqueous sodium hydroxide solution. Organosolv dried lignin (30.0 g; 67.8 mmol OH) and OC (40.7 g; 135.6 mmol) were successively introduced in the reactor. The reaction was then conducted at 130°C under agitation and a continuous nitrogen stream for 15h. At the end of the reaction a brown viscous but homogeneous product was obtained. The esterified lignin (EL) was washed with cold methanol in order to remove the excess of acid chloride.

The esterification reaction was confirmed by NMR and IR analyses and the remaining fatty acid has been quantified.

<sup>1</sup>**H-NMR** (300MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>, δ (ppm)): 0.88 (3H, t, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.29 (2H, t, CH<sub>2</sub>-COOCH<sub>3</sub>), 2.54 (2H, t, CH<sub>2</sub>-COO-lignin), 3.88 (3H, OCH<sub>3</sub> lignin methoxy) 5.32-5.38 (vinylic protons). **IR** (cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3005 (C=C-H), 1761 and 1737 (ester band).



Figure III- 14. Reaction schemes for the synthesis of the esterified lignin – EL.

### 2.3.2 Epoxydation of oleic acid double bond

A 500 mL round-bottomed flask was charged with esterified lignin (EL) (45.0 g, 72 mmol of double bonds) dissolved into DCM (250 mL) and stirred until obtain homogenous solution. Peracetic acid (10.9 g; 144 mmol) was added in small portions. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 5 h. The organic layer was washed three times with brine and dried over sodium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and then dried under vacuum at 35°C for one night to obtain the epoxy-lignin oleate (ELO).

<sup>1</sup>H-NMR (300MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>, δ (ppm)): 0.87 (3H, t, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.20-1.70 (methylene protons), 2.29 (2H, t, CH<sub>2</sub>-COOCH<sub>3</sub>), 2.54 (2H, t, CH<sub>2</sub>-COO-lignin), 2.89 (2H, epoxy ring proton).
IR (cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1740 (COOCH<sub>3</sub> – ester bond), 841 (epoxy).

### 2.3.3 Oxirane Ring-Opening synthesis

A 500 mL round-bottomed flask was charged with epoxy lignin oleate (ELO), methanol, and APTS (2 wt.% vs. ELO) as the catalyst. The reaction mixture was stirred under reflux and nitrogen flow for 15h. After completion of the reaction, the methanol was distilled out under reduced pressure. The product was then dissolved in DCM and washed three times with brine to remove the catalyst. The organic layer was dried over sodium sulfate, filtered and evaporated under reduced pressure to obtain the lignin-oleic acid polyol (LOAP).

<sup>1</sup>**H-NMR** (300MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>, δ (ppm)): 0.88 (3H, t, CH<sub>3</sub>), 120-1.70 (methylene protons), 2.29 (2H, t, *CH*<sub>2</sub>-COOCH<sub>3</sub>), 2.54 (2H, t, *CH*<sub>2</sub>-COO-lignin), 2.99 (1H, dd, *CH*-OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.41 (3H, s, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.49 (1H, m, *CH*-OH). **IR** (cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3480 (OH), 1740 (COOCH<sub>3</sub>).


**Figure III- 15.** Synthetic pathway to macropolyol - LOAP (Lignin Oleic Acid Polyol) - from lignin and oleic acid. Schematic representation of lignin-fatty acid based polyol.

#### 2.3.4 Characterization of the LOAP

Before the PU synthesis, the synthesized lignin-fatty acid based polyols have been characterized. A standard method has been developed to evaluate the amount of hydroxyl groups available for the reaction with isocyanates. This parameter is defined as the hydroxyl number or as the hydroxyl index.

## Hydroxyl Index determination

The hydroxyl index of polyol has been determined and expressed as milligrams of potassium hydroxide equivalent for one gram of the sample (mg KOH.g<sup>-1</sup>). The method used for hydroxyl index determination was adapted from the standard ASTM 4274-99 method. It is particularly recommended for polyester and polyether polyols containing primary and secondary hydroxyl groups. This method is based on the reaction of hydroxyl terminal groups with organic acids (acetic anhydride or phthalic anhydride). Two solutions were previously prepared, reactive solution (phthalic anhydride in pyridine-1mol.L<sup>-1</sup>) and titration solution (sodium hydroxide in water-1mol.L<sup>-1</sup>). 2g of polyol were introduced in Erlenmeyer with 20 mL of phthalic anhydride solution and stirred magnetically until complete dissolution. The reactive mixture was then heated under reflux at 130°C for 45 min. After the reflux, the flask was left to cool at room temperature before adding 30 mL of pyridine and 30 mL of deionized

water. The acid carboxylic groups resulting from the excess of phthalic anhydride were then titrated by a pHmetric method with a solution of sodium hydroxide. Titration was carried out 2 times and one blank was also performed. Hydroxyl index (I<sub>OH</sub>) in mg of KOH.g<sup>-1</sup>, was determined according to equation (1):

$$I_{OH} = \frac{(V_{blank} - V_P) \times C \times 56.1}{W_P}$$
(1)

Where  $V_{blank}$  (mL) is the NaOH volume required for blank titration,  $V_P$  (mL) is the NaOH volume required for polyol sample titration,  $C \pmod{L^{-1}}$  is the NaOH concentration and  $W_P$ (g) is the polyol weight.

#### 2.4 **Polyurethane synthesis**

The general procedure followed for polyurethane (PU) synthesis is based on a two-step procedure. Firstly, three isocyanate prepolymers have been synthesized by varying the diol (PPO) molar mass while the molar ratio of isocyanate and hydroxyl groups remains constant. Then in a second step, different PUs are synthesised with the bio-based polyol building blocks and the prepolymers (Figure III-16).



Figure III- 16. Synthesis of lignin based PU – LPU.

#### 2.4.1 Prepolymer synthesis

A three-necked 250 mL round-bottomed flask was fitted with a nitrogen inlet tube and a mechanical stirrer. Poly(propylene) oxide and 4,4' MDI (f=2) were added into the flask and stirred at 70°C during 5 hours to yield isocyanate prepolymer with a 1.8 molar ratio of NCO:OH. The ensuing isocyanate prepolymers were coded as  $P_{425}$ ,  $P_{1000}$  and  $P_{2000}$  for syntheses with PPO with molecular weights of 425, 1000 and 2000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The exact concentration of free isocyanate functions on the prepolymer was then determined.

#### NCO content determination

This method allows determining the amount of isocyanate which reacts with one equivalent of N-Dibutylamine, and gives NCO content by weight per cent.

% NCO = 
$$\frac{\left(V_{\text{blank}} - V_{\text{s}}\right) \times 42 \times 0.1}{W_{\text{P}}}$$
(2)

Where  $V_{blank}$  (mL) is the hydrochloric acid volume required for blank titration,  $V_s$  (mL) is the HCl volume required for polyol sample titration and  $W_P$  (g) is the polyol weight.

#### 2.4.2 Polymer synthesis

The typical procedure used is as follow: three-necked 100 mL round-bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, nitrogen inlet and condenser was charged with LOAP and around 40 mL of anhydrous THF. The solution stirred at 70°C under nitrogen flow until the complete dissolution of polyol. Then, the isocyanate prepolymer previously dissolved in THF (P<sub>425</sub>, P<sub>1000</sub> or P<sub>2000</sub>) and DBTDL (5 wt.% based on lignin monomers) were added. The NCO:OH molar ratios, also known as isocyanate index, were calculated on the basis of hydroxyl index of the polyol and NCO content from the prepolymers. Five different molar ratios were used for the syntheses: 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8 and 1.0. The reaction mixture was stirred at 70°C for 4h. After completion of the reaction, THF was evaporated and the PU was dried over one night at 35°C under vacuum. It may be noticed from Table III-2 that in PU series, up to 89 wt.% of lignin/oleic acid based macropoyol (LOAP) could be incorporated, highlighting the high content of biobased products in PU formulations. The resulting PUs were characterized to determine their structures and their physicochemical and mechanical properties by IR, DSC, DMTA, DRA and uniaxial tensile tests. Rheological and mechanical

				PU formulation		
Samples	Isocyanate prepolymer	NCO:OH molar ratio	% LOAP <sup>a</sup> (w/w)	OH from LOAP (mol)	PPO (mol)	NCO (mol)
LPU-1		0.2	89	3.67	1	1.8
LPU-2	-	0.4	81	1.83	1	1.8
LPU-3	P <sub>425</sub>	0.6	74	1.22	1	1.8
LPU-4	-	0.8	68	0.92	1	1.8
LPU-5	-	1.0	63	0.73	1	1.8
LPU-6		0.2	82	4.02	1	1.8
LPU-7	-	0.4	69	2.02	1	1.8
LPU-8	$P_{1000}$	0.6	60	1.35	1	1.8
LPU-9	-	0.8	53	1.00	1	1.8
LPU-10	-	1.0	47	0.80	1	1.8
LPU-11		0.2	78	5.35	1	1.8
LPU-12	-	0.4	64	2.70	1	1.8
LPU-13	P <sub>2000</sub>	0.6	54	1.80	1	1.8
LPU-14	-	0.8	47	1.35	1	1.8
LPU-15	-	1.0	42	1.10	1	1.8

tests were performed on PUs processed into films obtained by compression moulding between two plates, at 100-120°C.

Table III- 2. Synthesis of the different PUs with the corresponding designations and formulations.

<sup>a</sup>: % of biobased content (LOAP is composed by lignin and oleic acid)

## 3. Results and discussion

The results are presented in six sections. First, lignin has been characterized to clearly define its chemical properties in view of chemical modification. Afterwards, the polyol building block and PU were analyzed by FT-IR and <sup>1</sup>H NMR to confirm reaction and the properties of the resulting materials are discussed subsequently. The influence of reaction parameters such as NCO:OH molar ratio and PPO molar mass on PU materials are further investigated. In the last section, thermal stability of PU is also studied by TGA experiments.

#### 3.1 Lignin characterization

The lignin was produced from an ethanol-water pulping (Alcell process) as already described elsewhere<sup>45</sup>. The main characteristics of this lignin have been reported in Table III-1. These data were found to be in the same range as that of others reported in the literature<sup>46</sup> and were also in good agreement with the values given by the supplier. The chemical data constitute a key point since the hydroxyl functions were functionalized. Total and phenolic hydroxyl contents were quantified according different techniques including chemical titration and <sup>1</sup>H NMR based on acetylated lignin and SEC in chloroform<sup>47-49</sup>. As can be observed from Table III-1, results found for Alcell lignin showed low hydroxyl content of 2.26 mmol.g<sup>-1</sup> with a low number average molecular weight ( $M_n = 1000 \text{ g.mol}^{-1}$ ), compared to kraft lignin and lignosulfonate. Therefore, SEC results should be taken as "relative values". This lignin is well known to present a high purity (low ash and sugar content) and also presents a good solubility in most solvent, particularly in THF and pyridine which must be considered as a great advantage for chemical modifications.

#### 3.2 Synthesis and characterization of macropolyol

The main objective of this part was to synthesize a macromonomer. The resulting LOAP macropolyol with secondary hydroxyl groups was designed to react in a second time with isocyanate functions. LOAP was synthesized in a four step pathways (Figures III-14 and III-15). The structures of all the intermediates were analyzed. The targeted chemical structures were confirmed by FT-IR and <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectroscopy (Figures III-17 and III-18).

In the first step, chloration of oleic acid with oxalyl chloride yield OC. FT-IR of oleic acid shows a band at 1708 cm<sup>-1</sup> linked to the carbonyl group (C=O) from carboxylic acid function

and a broad band from 3100 to 3500 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to the hydroxyl groups, while a C=C-H stretching vibration band is observed at 3005 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The chloration of oleic acid was confirmed by the shift of the carbonyl group band from 1708 to 1798 cm<sup>-1</sup> due to the formation of a more withdrawing chloride group and disappearance of hydroxyl band in the region of 3100-3500 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

The esterification of lignin with OC gave EL as the main product along with oleic acid as remaining product from the corresponding synthesis. EL was characterized by FT-IR and <sup>1</sup>H NMR. Esterification reaction resulted in a drastic reduction of the OH absorption band along with the appearance of the ester bands at 1761 and 1737 cm<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to the esterification of aliphatic and phenolic hydroxyl groups, respectively. <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of EL is presented in Figure III-18. The appearance of peaks at 3.60 ppm confirms the formation of ester protons whereas a peak at 2.34 ppm assigned to  $CH_2$  to which carboxylic group is attached is still remaining and assigned to the presence of oleic acid in the final product. The amount of oleic acid chain present in this mixture was estimated by NMR integration at 80% of fatty acid grafted onto lignin whereas 20% are free chains. EL is a very viscous product where residual free oleic acid chains are partially imbedded due to a challenging incomplete extraction of the oleic acid in excess.

In the third step, EL was treated with peracetic acid to obtain epoxy lignin oleate (ELO). FT-IR spectrum of intermediate ELO shows the absence of a band at 3005 cm<sup>-1</sup> which was linked to the C=C-H group. The corresponding molecular structure was also confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR with the appearance of a new peak at 2.89 ppm due to the epoxy ring protons and the disappearance of the vinylic protons at 5.32 ppm. The fourth and last step of the reaction pathway consists in the ring-opening of epoxide using methanol in the presence of acid catalyst (APTS) to obtain a mixture of two regioisomers (4/4'- LOAP) containing secondary hydroxyl groups. Further onward, only one isomer structure will be used for the simplicity of the reaction scheme (see Figure III-15). FT-IR spectrum of the resulting macropolyol shows the appearance of a band at 3432 cm<sup>-1</sup> due to the hydroxyl groups and another band at 1097 cm<sup>-1</sup> attributed to ether bond. Moreover, the appearance of three new significant peaks at 2.99, 3.41 and 3.49 ppm in <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum confirmed the ring-opening of the epoxides. These peaks are attributed to CH to which methoxy groups is attached, methoxy protons and CH to which hydroxyl groups is attached, respectively. The resulting macropolyol was then characterized by pH metric titration; the hydroxyl value was estimated at 60 mg KOH.g<sup>-1</sup> of

sample. This value is in the range of hydroxyl value for bio-based polyester polyols usually used for PU synthesis (between 30 and 200 mg  $KOH.g^{-1}$ )<sup>50, 51</sup>.



Figure III- 17. FTIR spectra of intermediates based on lignin and oleic acid.



Figure III- 18. <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of intermediates based on lignin and oleic acid.

#### 3.3 Synthesis and characterization of PUs

The reaction between LOAP and isocyanate was followed, analyzed and confirmed by FT-IR analyses. The isocyanate absorption band is assigned at approximately 2270 cm<sup>-1</sup> and the absence of this absorbance can be used to monitor and check the isocyanate group conversion during the polymerization reaction. In this study, the absorbance corresponding to the NH stretching region, assigned at approximately 3300 cm<sup>-1</sup> was used to follow and confirm the reaction between isocyanate and hydroxyl groups but also to qualitatively evaluate the effect

of the NCO:OH molar ratio. Figure III-19 shows the FT-IR spectra of PU samples synthesized with  $P_{425}$  at five different NCO:OH ratios. The signal attributed to OH stretching band at around 3500 cm<sup>-1</sup> tends to decrease with increasing NCO:OH ratios whereas the NH stretching band becomes more intense. The conversion rate can be controlled and followed through the formation of urethane functions and the disappearance of the hydroxyl groups from macropolyol.

Concerning the properties of the synthesized PUs, thermal and mechanical behaviours should reflect the corresponding structural chemical organization, e.g., the cross-linking efficiency (related to the evolution of the NCO:OH molar ratio) and the chain prepolymer length in the flexible domain of the PU architecture. These statements will be investigated in the following sections.



**Figure III- 19.** FTIR spectra of PUs synthesized with  $P_{425}$  and different NCO:OH molar ratios.

## 3.4 Effect of the NCO:OH molar ratio

Polyaddition reactions between LOAP and  $P_{425}$ ,  $P_{1000}$  or  $P_{2000}$  were carried out at 70°C in anhydrous THF in the presence of DBTDL. The NCO:OH molar ratio was regulated based on the hydroxyl value and isocyanate index of the macropolyol and prepolymers respectively (Table III-3).

Designation	Description	Structural formula	I <sub>OH</sub> (mg KOH.g <sup>-1</sup> )	% NCO	Functionality	$T_{g}(^{\circ}C)$
LOAP	Polyol		60	-	-	-24
P <sub>425</sub>			-	7.9	2	-11
P <sub>1000</sub>	Isocyanate prepolymer	OCN to hoco	-	4.7	2	-30
P <sub>2000</sub>			-	3.7	2	-48
DBTDL	Catalyst		-	-	-	-

**Table III- 3.** Chemicals and materials used in the PU synthesis with their corresponding properties.

In comparison with linear TPU resulting from the reaction between diols and diisocyanates molecules, we may obtain a highly branched and three-dimensional polyurethane network derived from the lignin macropolyols<sup>52</sup> (as suggested in Figure III-20). In these systems, lignin should act as a crosslinking point, covalently bonded with more or less flexible PPO-based chains.



Figure III- 20. Schematic representation of PU networks with different NCO:OH molar ratios.

Table III-4 showed  $T_g$  data for synthesized PUs. Neither melting nor crystallization transition temperatures were observed by DSC, indicating the amorphous nature of these PUs. DMTA experiments were carried out in order to obtain further information on the morphology of these PUs. Figure III-21 shows storage modulus as function of temperature for PUs films based on different NCO:OH molar ratio, in a large temperature range from -100 to 140°C. With increasing temperature, all polymer materials showed a similar trend. In details, E' presents no variations in the glassy plateau from -100°C to around -50°C and show for some samples a very broad transition before reaching the rubbery state, or decreasing for the others until the limit of the measurement. All the samples with high NCO:OH molar ratio display a decrease of storage modulus. The cross-linking density (v<sub>e</sub>) was calculated by Equation (3) derived from the theory of rubber elasticity<sup>53, 54</sup>:

$$v_{e} = \frac{E'}{3 RT}$$
(3)

Equation 3 establishes the relationship between crosslink density and Young's Modulus (E) of polymers above  $T_g$ . Since the storage modulus (E') obtained from DMTA can be associated to the elastic modulus (E) at temperature above  $T_g$  (in the rubbery region at  $T_g + 40$ °C), E' can be substituted in Equation (3) to determine  $v_e$ . R is the gas constant (8,31 J.mol<sup>-1</sup>.K<sup>-1</sup>) and T is the temperature in Kelvin. The resulting data are summarized in Table III-4. As expected, for polymers presenting a rubbery plateau, the cross-linking density increases with the NCO:OH molar ratio<sup>46</sup>, which confirm that a modulation of the properties of these PU systems is possible.



**Figure III- 21.** DMTA curves of the PUs (a : E' of PU based on  $P_{425}$  systems ; b :E' of PU based on  $P_{1000}$  systems; c: E' of PU based on  $P_{2000}$  systems ).

As widely reported in literature on lignin and/or fatty acid based polymers and their corresponding morphological behaviours<sup>55-58</sup>; we should expect a phase separation on the segmented PU materials between soft and hard segments. Transition temperatures of both types of segments were determined by DSC and DMTA experiments.

The  $T_g$  of the prepolymers (i.e  $P_{425}$ ,  $P_{1000}$  and  $P_{2000}$ ) measured by DSC (Table III-3) were in the range of -48 to -10°C. These values were in good correlation with the first transition observed in DSC for PUs (Table III-4). This  $T_g$  can be attributed to the relative chain's motion of PPO soft segments into the PU architecture. It is also worth to mention, that the  $T_g$  of soft segment in PU material is related to the NCO:OH molar ratio, i.e the presence of crosslinking points.

A second transition ( $T_a$ ) was observed at higher temperature by DMTA from the peak maximum in tan  $\delta$ . This transition was also observed and then confirmed by DRA (*Supplementary Information*) which exhibit a relaxation temperature (maximum tan  $\delta$ ) in the same range than by DMTA. This second type of transition temperatures were above ambient temperature from 30 to 54°C. This relaxation temperature can be attributed to the transition linked to the hard segments motion, mainly composed by lignin-based crosslinking points and urethane bonds. Moreover, modulated DSC experiment carried out on crude organosolv lignin showed a  $T_g$  at 76°C (Table III-1). This glass transition can be associated to the relaxation temperature obtained from DMTA experiments with PU samples. In addition, this transition becomes closer to the  $T_g$  of crude lignin as the lignin content increases in the PU.

These different results may indicate a phase separation behaviour of PU samples, which is in good correlation with those reported in literature. While the  $T_g$  attributed to the soft segments is below the ambient temperature, the  $T_g$  of hard domains is above. In summary, these synthesized PUs might be at least partially described as amorphous segmented polyurethane with phase separation. Soft phase is composed by PPO polymer while lignin and urea groups form hard segment. This microphase separation is also responsible for the elastomeric properties of these polyurethanes as shown by ambient stress-strain curves <sup>57</sup>. Table III-5 presents main mechanical properties under uniaxial tensile tests including tensile strength, Young's Modulus and elongation at break, obtained from the corresponding stress-strain curves. At ambient temperature, these materials present rubbery behaviour with a high elongation at break from 170 to 360 % and corresponding quite low modulus, from 0.2 to 2.8 MPa. The maximum strength significantly increased with the NCO:OH molar ratio. These results can be explained by the increasing of cross-linking points between isocyanate and hydroxyl groups causing the formation of a PU with strong bonds, thus giving a more rigid

			DSC	DMTA	
Samples	Isocyanate prepolymer	NCO:OH molar ratio	T <sub>g</sub> (°C)	$T_{\alpha}(^{\circ}C)$	v <sub>e</sub> (mol.m <sup>-3</sup> )
LPU-1		0.2	-7	53	-
LPU-2	-	0.4	-7	49	20.6
LPU-3	P <sub>425</sub>	0.6	-10	42	35.2
LPU-4	-	0.8	-7	42	75.6
LPU-5	-	1.0	-6	41	28.5
LPU-6		0.2	-27	51	-
LPU-7	-	0.4	-19	44	10.1
LPU-8	P <sub>1000</sub>	0.6	-24	31	30.8
LPU-9	-	0.8	-19	29	43.0
LPU-10	-	1.0	-15	22	14.6
LPU-11		0.2	-36	51	-
LPU-12	-	0.4	-39	50	1.8
LPU-13	P <sub>2000</sub>	0.6	-42	38	8.2
LPU-14	-	0.8	-41	34	12.2
LPU-15	-	1.0	-42	30	44.8

material. The highest value is obtained for PU synthesized with  $P_{425}$  and with the highest NCO:OH molar ratio (i.e., NCO:OH = 1.0) and reached 9.6 MPa.

Table III- 4. Dynamical mechanical and thermal properties for the synthesized polyurethanes.

## **3.5** Effect of the prepolymer molar mass

The stress-strain curves of all the polymer materials show no decrease in the stress evolution vs. strain, until the rupture occurred. This typical mechanical behaviour can be compared to those of lightly crosslinked amorphous rubbers. The values of elongation-atbreak display a very interesting trend which was linked to the evolution of the molar masses  $(M_n = 425, 1000 \text{ or } 2000 \text{ g.mol}^{-1})$  of the prepolymers,  $P_{425}$ ,  $P_{1000}$  and  $P_{2000}$ , respectively. The decreasing of PPO molecular weight results in the decreasing of elongation at break for all PUs series. In addition, longer soft segments are more able to respond to tensile deformations leading to higher elongations at break. As explained before, since the isocyanate prepolymers are incorporated into the PU network, the stretching distance between the macropolyol (LOAP) and isocyanate groups is modified by variation of the molecular weight of PPO. PPO chains provide flexibility to the resulting PUs and act as soft segment in the macromolecular architecture where lignin macropolyol acts as a cross-linking point. The increasing of v<sub>e</sub> is linked to the decreasing of prepolymer molecular weight. PPO with low molecular weight bring stiffness and stability at high temperature (large rubbery plateau) whereas PPO with higher molecular weight bring flexibility at room temperature. However, it is relevant to notice that LPU 11 to 13 flow up to 80-100°C.

	Isocyanate prepolymer	NCO:OH molar ratio	Traction			
Samples			σ	3	Е	
			Maximum	Elongation at	Young's	
			strength	break (%)	Modulus,	
			(MPa)		(MPa)	
LPU-1		0.2	$2.7\pm0.1$	$173\pm22$	$1.6\pm0.1$	
LPU-2	-	0.4	$4.7\pm0.7$	$235\pm62$	$2.5\pm0.2$	
LPU-3	P <sub>425</sub>	0.6	$6.6\pm0.8$	$255\pm34$	$2.3\pm0.3$	
LPU-4	-	0.8	$6.1\pm0.2$	$201\pm2$	$2.0\pm0.2$	
LPU-5	-	1.0	$9.6\pm0.8$	$181\pm10$	$2.8\pm0.2$	
LPU-6		0.2	$3.2\pm0.1$	$235\pm22$	$0.8\pm0.1$	
LPU-7	-	0.4	$3.5\pm0.2$	$240 \pm 22$	$0.7\pm0.1$	
LPU-8	$P_{1000}$	0.6	$4.1\pm0.5$	$205\pm15$	$0.7\pm0.1$	
LPU-9	-	0.8	$5.2\pm1.0$	$202\pm21$	$0.9\pm0.0$	
LPU-10	-	1.0	-	-	-	
LPU-11		0.2	$1.7\pm0.1$	$317\pm12$	$0.5\pm0.0$	
LPU-12	-	0.4	$1.5\pm0.2$	$360 \pm 6$	$0.2\pm0.0$	
LPU-13	P <sub>2000</sub>	0.6	$1.4\pm0.1$	$230\pm35$	$0.2\pm0.0$	
LPU-14	_	0.8	$1.5\pm0.2$	$237\pm 6$	$0.2\pm0.0$	
LPU-15	-	1.0	-	-	-	

**Table III- 5.** Mechanical properties from uniaxial tensile tests of different synthesized PUs at ambient temperature with a crosshead speed of 20 mm.min<sup>-1</sup>.

## **3.6** Thermogravimetric analysis

Segmented LPUs are mainly composed by two different structural blocks based on LOAP and isocyanate prepolymer, respectively. Their relative compositions affect their thermal degradation. Usually, PUs thermal decomposition is a multi-stage process with e.g., the decomposition of urethane bonds and the degradation of the soft segments<sup>59</sup>. Figure III-22 (a, b and c) displays the TGA and DTGA curves of PU samples under nitrogen atmosphere at  $10^{\circ}$ C.min<sup>-1</sup>. It can be observed that all of the PU materials show quite similar a two-step degradation behavior. First degradation step occurs between 200°C and 300°C (T<sub>1max</sub>) and concerns decomposition of hard segments attributed to LOAP component. On the other hand

the second step is attributed to soft segments decomposition<sup>50</sup> with  $T_{2max}$  is between 350-400°C. In fact, the degradation of isocyanate prepolymer ( $P_{425}$ ,  $P_{1000}$  and  $P_{2000}$ ) is based on urethane bonds decomposition which begins at 240°C and reaches a maximum rate at 302-359°C depending on molar mass of PPO used. While LPU based on  $P_{2000}$  and  $P_{1000}$  show a clear two-step degradation mechanism, LPU-1 to 5, show a broader degradation with no distinctive peak on DTGA curves similar to LOAP behavior. However this LPU series shows the best thermal resistance compared to the others. This might be due to the high content of LOAP into the LPU matrix (from 89 to 63 % w/w). Figure III-22 also shows a char residue at 750°C for all LPUs materials. This high char residue (almost 20% of weight) is due to the high thermal resistance of lignin due to the large number of ether linkages and aromatic groups in its chemical structure<sup>60</sup>.



**Figure III- 22.** TGA/DTGA curves for PUs based on LOAP and isocyanate prepolymers  $(P_{425}, P_{1000} \text{ and } P_{2000})$ .

- a) LPU-1 to 5 and their respective components (LOAP and  $P_{425}$ ).
- b) LPU-6 to 10 and their respective components (LOAP and  $P_{1000}$ ).
- c) LPU-11 to 15 and their respective components (LOAP and  $P_{2000}$ ).

## 4. Conclusion

The reaction conditions of lignin esterification and fatty acid modification were investigated leading to the synthesis of a new original macropolyol based both on lignin and fatty acid. This macropolyol was then characterized and subsequently used as an efficient building block for the synthesis of PU architectures. The macromolecular structure of the resulting PUs were designed in series by varying the NCO:OH molar ratio and the molecular weight of PPO soft segments. The thermal, mechanical and rheological properties of the corresponding LPUs were investigated by DSC, TGA, DMTA and uniaxial tensile tests.

For high NCO:OH molar ratio, LPUs exhibit a temperature independent rubbery plateau (indicated by dynamic mechanical thermal analysis) and a clear phase separation based on DSC and DMTA results. It has been concluded that soft segments were composed by PPO polymer chains and hard domains were mainly based on lignin crosslinking points. Each domain was characterized through their characteristic temperatures, which are below and above ambient temperature for soft and hard segments, respectively.

The increases in the molecular weight of PPO soft segments resulted in greater soft segment mobility and a lower glass transition temperature. In term of thermal stability of LPU samples, lignin confers to material a high thermal resistance compared to isocyanate prepolymer.

From this study, it can be concluded that a new type of macropolyol based on lignin can be used as a building block to design a new PU architecture with advanced properties. Such organized macromolecular systems with a high biobased content (up to 89%), might be foreseen to widen the scope of materials used for certain durable applications (e.g. in building and automotive industries). Hence, this work highlighted new possibilities for the valorization of crude lignin in comparison with its currently known applications. It is now worth considering the use of this industrial by-product for a larger range of green applications without competition with food.

### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Prof. Jean Pierre Pascault (INSA Lyon, France) and Sébastien Gallet (ICPEES-Strasbourg, France) for helpful discussions. We are grateful for Alsace Region, Oséo and ANRT for their financial supports. We also gratefully acknowledge Lignol Company for providing the lignin samples.

## 5. Supplementary information

To illustrate the influence of lignin-fatty acid based polyol (LOAP) on the PU network, three blank syntheses have been performed in the presence of Poly(Propylene) Oxide and 4,4' MDI. So far, three polyurethanes have been synthesized by varying the diol (PPO) molar mass (425, 1000 and 2000 g.mol-1) while the molar ratio of isocyanate and hydroxyl groups remains constant, i;e NCO:OH = 1.03.

#### Polymer synthesis procedure

A 250mL round-bottomed flask was fitted with a nitrogen inlet tube and a mechanical stirrer. Poly(Propylene) oxide and 4,4' MDI (f=2) were added into the flask and stirred at 70°C during 5 hours to yield PUs. The ensuing PUs were coded as  $BPU_{425}$ ,  $BPU_{1000}$  and  $BPU_{2000}$  for blank syntheses with PPO with molecular weights of 425, 1000 and 2000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.

### Characterization of BPUs

The ensuing BPUs were analyzed by DSC and TGA according the procedure described in the publication (see Table III-S1 and Figure III-S1).

Samples	<b>T</b> <sub>g</sub> (° <b>C</b> )
<b>BPU</b> <sub>425</sub>	33
<b>BPU</b> <sub>1000</sub>	-27
<b>BPU</b> <sub>2000</sub>	-57

Table III-S1. Tg data obtained from DSC experiments for blank PUs.



Figure III-S1.TGA/DTGA curves for BPUs based on PPO and 4,4' MDI (BPU<sub>425</sub>, BPU<sub>1000</sub> and BPU<sub>2000</sub>).



The following figures III-S2 display the dependence of tan  $\delta$  for the LPUs samples on temperature by DMTA.

**Figure III-S 2.**Changes in the position and intensity of the relaxation transition (Tan  $\delta$ ) on the stoichiometric ratio of the component. (a: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>425</sub> systems; b: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>1000</sub> systems; c: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>2000</sub> systems).

The following figures III-S3 display the dependence of tan  $\delta$  for the LPUs samples on temperature. Analyses have been performed by DRA (Dynamic rheological analyses) at a heating rate of 2°C.min<sup>-1</sup>.



**Figure III-S3.** Temperature sweep of loss tangent (Tan  $\delta$ ) for synthesized PU performed by using a strain-controlled rheometer with parallel-plate geometry (a: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>425</sub> systems; b: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>1000</sub> systems; c: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on P<sub>2000</sub> systems).

Table III-S2 displays results obtained by means of DSC, DMTA and DRA. As can be seen, these results confirmed the previous comments. The difference observed between  $T_{g\ SS}$  obtained from DSC and DMTA tests is caused by the nature of these two methods. DSC measures the change in heat capacity from frozen to unfrozen chains, while DMTA measures the change in the mechanical response of the polymer chains. However, these results seem to corroborate the phase separation behavior of LPUs samples with two different  $T_g$  attributed to soft segments and hard segments, respectively.

	<b>T</b> <sub>g SS</sub> (°C)		T <sub>g HS</sub> - tan δ maximum (°C)		
Samples	By DSC	By DMTA (max E'')	By DMTA	By DRA	
LPU-1	-7	-18	53	63	
LPU-2	-7	-11	49	57	
LPU-3	-10	-	42	46	
LPU-4	-7	11	42	47	
LPU-5	-6	-7	41	40	
LPU-6	-27	-54	51	49	
LPU-7	-19	-35	44	58	
LPU-8	-24	-38	31	38	
LPU-9	-19	-	29	32	
LPU-10	-15	-	22	-	
LPU-11	-36	-48	51	51	
LPU-12	-39	-60	50	44	
LPU-13	-42	-64	38	34	
LPU-14	-41	-44	34	29	
LPU-15	-42	-	30	-	

**Table III-S2.** Glass transitions of soft and hard segments in lignin-based polyurethanes. Comparison of data obtained by DSC, DMTA and DRA experiments.

#### \* \* \*

## III. Conclusion & perspectives de l'étude

Les réactions d'estérification figurent parmi les plus étudiées dans le domaine de la modification chimique du bois et généralement des matériaux lignocellulosiques. La bonne réactivité entre les fonctions hydroxyles (cellulose, bois...) et les groupements acides a permis le greffage de nombreux composés, souvent bi-fonctionnels dotés de propriétés variées. Toutefois à notre connaissance, aucune référence bibliographique ne fait état de l'estérification de lignines techniques par des dérivés d'acides gras. Ainsi, les travaux développés dans le cadre de cette thèse se positionnent comme des sujets novateurs associant alors deux composés issus de la biomasse et mettant en jeu des réactions chimiques appliquées aux dérivés d'huiles végétales.

A la suite de ces travaux, d'autres molécules issues d'huiles végétales ont été identifiées comme composés intéressants pour intégrer la stratégie de synthèse mise au point dans notre laboratoire. L'utilisation d'autres mono-acides gras présentant une ou plusieurs insaturations à des positions différentes sur la chaine alkyle pourrait en effet être étudiée.

La position et le nombre de groupements fonctionnels (insaturations), sites potentiels de réticulation dans un système PU, permettent une modulation très importante des architectures macromoléculaires résultantes et des propriétés thermo-mécaniques finales des matériaux correspondants.

Toutefois, une étude approfondie de ces systèmes serait nécessaire et plusieurs verrous technologiques sont encore à lever, notamment la maitrise des réactions secondaires (e.g., transestérifications dans le cas de l'acide ricinoléique) et le contrôle de l'indice d'hydroxyle des polyols finaux.

Cette étude a néanmoins mis en évidence l'efficacité de la réaction d'estérification, associée à la modification des insaturations pour la synthèse de polyols agro-sourcés. Le travail sur les conditions de synthèse en laboratoire a permis l'optimisation des paramètres et la mise en place d'un protocole opérationnel. Les deux matières premières rentrant en jeu dans la synthèse, à savoir la lignine et l'acide oléique sont disponibles à des échelles industrielles et nous permettent d'envisager dans un premier temps, un passage à l'échelle pilote avec l'entreprise partenaire du projet.

Ce changement d'échelle nous permettrait ainsi de réaliser de plus amples essais sur la synthèse de PU mais également sur la formulation complète de ces matériaux (charges, renforts, additifs...)

L'extrusion réactive représente également une alternative intéressante pour développer le procédé de synthèse d'estérification de la lignine. Cette méthode permet à la fois d'améliorer la mise en œuvre de la synthèse mais également facilite le passage de la réaction à plus grande échelle. Ce procédé continu ouvre ainsi la voie à la synthèse potentielle de PU en ligne sur une même extrudeuse.

Enfin, dans un souci de diminution du nombre d'étapes dans la stratégie de synthèse, une optimisation du procédé de synthèse est fortement encouragée. Comme évoqué dans la partie I de ce chapitre, la réaction thiol-ène, couramment classée parmi les réactions de « click chemistry » en raison de ses rendements élevés, de son adaptabilité et de sa facilité de mise en œuvre représente une excellente alternative. Appliquée sur des dérivés d'acide gras, cette méthode a permis le développement de nouveaux précurseurs pour la synthèse de polyuréthanes <sup>61-64</sup> et pourrait être un atout supplémentaire vers l'industrialisation de la synthèse de polyol à base de lignine et d'acide gras.

## Notes et références

- 1. P. Karmalm, T. Hjertberg, A. Jansson and R. Dahl, Thermal stability of poly(vinyl chloride) with epoxidised soybean oil as primary plasticizer. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2009**: 94: 2275-2281.
- 2. P. Karmalm, T. Hjertberg, A. Jansson, R. Dahl and K. Ankner, Network formation by epoxidised soybean oil in plastisol poly(vinyl chloride). *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2009**: 94: 1986-1990.
- 3. F. E. Okieimen, Studies in the utilisation of epoxidised vegetable oils as thermal stabiliser for polyvinyl chloride. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2002**: 15: 71-75.
- 4. A. Zlatanić, Z. S. Petrović and K. Dušek, Structure and Properties of Triolein-Based Polyurethane Networks. *Biomacromolecules*, **2002**: 3: 1048-1056.
- 5. Z. S. Petrović, A. Guo and W. Zhang, Structure and properties of polyurethanes based on halogenated and nonhalogenated soy–polyols. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2000**: 38: 4062-4069.
- Z. S. Petrović, L. Yang, A. Zlatanić, W. Zhang and I. Javni, Network structure and properties of polyurethanes from soybean oil. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 2007: 105: 2717-2727.
- 7. A. Köckritz and A. Martin, Oxidation of unsaturated fatty acid derivatives and vegetable oils. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **2008**: 110: 812-824.
- 8. N. Ramani, D. Graiver, K. W. Farminer, P. T. Tran and T. Tran, **2010**, US 2010/0,084,603 A1.
- 9. I. Cvetković, J. Milić, M. Ionescu and Z. S. Petrović, Preparation of 9hydroxynonanoic acid methyl ester by ozonolysis of vegetable oils and its polycondensation. *Hemijska Industrija*, **2008**: 62: 319-328.
- Z. S. Petrović, W. Zhang and I. Javni, Structure and Properties of Polyurethanes Prepared from Triglyceride Polyols by Ozonolysis. *Biomacromolecules*, 2005: 6: 713-719.
- 11. X. Kong and S. S. Narine, Physical properties of polyurethane plastic sheets produced from polyols from canola oil. *Biomacromolecules*, **2007**: 8: 2203-2209.
- A. Guo, D. Demydov, W. Zhang and Z. S. Petrovic, Polyols and polyurethanes from hydroformylation of soybean oil. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 2002: 10: 49-52.
- 13. C. K. Lyon, V. H. Garrett and E. N. Frankel, Rigid urethane foams from hydroxymethylated castor oil, safflower oil, oleic safflower oil, and polyol esters of castor acids. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, **1974**: 51: 331-334.
- 14. T. H. Khoe, F. Otey, E. N. Frankel and J. C. Cowan, Polyurethane foams from hydroxymethylated fatty diethanolamides. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, **1973**: 50: 331-333.
- 15. A. Guo, W. Zhang and Z. Petrovic, Structure-property relationships in polyurethanes derived from soybean oil. *Journal of Materials Science*, **2006**: 41: 4914-4920.

- 16. T. H. Khoe, F. H. Otey and E. N. Frankel, Rigid urethane foams from hydroxymethylated linseed oil and polyol esters. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, **1972**: 49: 615-618.
- 17. Z. S. Petrovic, Polyurethanes from vegetable oils. *Polymer Reviews*, **2008**: 48: 109-155.
- M. Van der Steen and C. V. Stevens, Undecylenic Acid: A Valuable and Physiologically Active Renewable Building Block from Castor Oil. *ChemSusChem*, 2009: 2: 692-713.
- U. Biermann, W. Friedt, S. Lang, W. Lühs, G. Machmüller, U. O. Metzger, M. R. Gen. Klaas, H. J. Schäfer and M. P. Schneider, in Biorefineries-Industrial Processes and Products, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH, 2008, pp. 253-289.
- 20. R. J. González-Paz, C. Lluch, G. Lligadas, J. C. Ronda, M. Galià and V. Cádiz, A green approach toward oleic- and undecylenic acid-derived polyurethanes. *Journal of Polymer Science, Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2011**: 49: 2407-2416.
- 21. O. Türünç and M. A. R. Meier, Fatty acid derived monomers and related polymers via thiol-ene (Click) additions. *Macromolecular Rapid Communications*, **2010**: 31: 1822-1826.
- 22. G. B. Bantchev, J. A. Kenar, G. Biresaw and M. G. Han, Free Radical Addition of Butanethiol to Vegetable Oil Double Bonds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **2009**: 57: 1282-1290.
- J. Samuelsson, M. Jonsson, T. Brinck and M. Johansson, Thiol-ene coupling reaction of fatty acid monomers. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, 2004: 42: 6346-6352.
- 24. A. Gandini, Polymers from renewable resources: A challenge for the future of macromolecular materials. *Macromolecules*, **2008**: 41: 9491-9504.
- 25. D. K. Chattopadhyay and D. C. Webster, Thermal stability and flame retardancy of polyurethanes. *Progress in Polymer Science*, **2009**: 34: 1068-1133.
- 26. A. Gandini, The irruption of polymers from renewable resources on the scene of macromolecular science and technology. *Green Chemistry*, **2011**: 13: 1061-1083.
- 27. C. Pettersen Roger, in The Chemistry of Solid Wood, American Chemical Society, **1984**, pp. 57-126.
- 28. E. Dorrestijn, L. J. J. Laarhoven, I. W. C. E. Arends and P. Mulder, The occurrence and reactivity of phenoxyl linkages in lignin and low rank coal. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, **2000**: 54: 153-192.
- 29. S. Laurichesse and L. Avérous, Synthesis, thermal properties, rheological and mechanical behaviors of lignins-grafted-poly(ε-caprolactone). *Polymer (United Kingdom)*, **2013**: 54: 3882-3890.
- 30. R. Fang, X. S. Cheng and W. S. Lin, Preparation and application of dimer acid/lignin graft copolymer. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 2874-2884.
- 31. W. Thielemans and R. P. Wool, Lignin esters for use in unsaturated thermosets: Lignin modification and solubility modeling. *Biomacromolecules*, **2005**: 6: 1895-1905.
- 32. S. Thiebaud and M. E. Borredon, Solvent-free wood esterification with fatty acid chlorides. *Bioresource Technology*, **1995**: 52: 169-173.

- 33. S. Thiebaud, M. E. Borredon, G. Baziard and F. Senocq, Properties of wood esterified by fatty-acid chlorides. *Bioresource Technology*, **1997**: 59: 103-107.
- 34. D. V. Palaskar, A. Boyer, E. Cloutet, J. F. Le Meins, B. Gadenne, C. Alfos, C. Farcet and H. Cramail, Original diols from sunflower and ricin oils: Synthesis, characterization, and use as polyurethane building blocks. *Journal of Polymer Science*, *Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2012**: 50: 1766-1782.
- 35. A. S. More, B. Gadenne, C. Alfos and H. Cramail, AB type polyaddition route to thermoplastic polyurethanes from fatty acid derivatives. *Polymer Chemistry*, **2012**: 3: 1594-1605.
- 36. P. Mousavioun and W. O. S. Doherty, Chemical and thermal properties of fractionated bagasse soda lignin. *Industrial Crops and Products*: 31: 52-58.
- 37. P. p. Kiatsimkul, G. J. Suppes, F. h. Hsieh, Z. Lozada and Y. C. Tu, Preparation of high hydroxyl equivalent weight polyols from vegetable oils. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2008**: 27: 257-264.
- 38. A. Rybak, P. A. Fokou and M. A. R. Meier, Metathesis as a versatile tool in oleochemistry. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **2008**: 110: 797-804.
- 39. X. Miao, C. Fischmeister, P. H. Dixneuf, C. Bruneau, J. L. Dubois and J. L. Couturier, Polyamide precursors from renewable 10-undecenenitrile and methyl acrylate via olefin cross-metathesis. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 2179-2183.
- M. Desroches, S. Caillol, V. Lapinte, R. Auvergne and B. Boutevin, Synthesis of biobased polyols by thiol-ene coupling from vegetable oils. *Macromolecules*, 2011: 44: 2489-2500.
- 41. C. Lluch, J. C. Ronda, M. Galià, G. Lligadas and V. Cádiz, Rapid approach to biobased telechelics through two one-pot thiol-ene click reactions. *Biomacromolecules*, **2010**: 11: 1646-1653.
- 42. M. Szycher, *Szycher's Handbook of Polyurethanes, Second Edition*, CRC Press, **2012**.
- 43. M. Ionescu, *Chemistry and Technology of Polyols for Polyuerethanes*, Rapra Technology, **2005**.
- 44. M. A. R. Meier, J. O. Metzger and U. S. Schubert, Plant oil renewable resources as green alternatives in polymer science. *Chemical Society Reviews*, **2007**: 36: 1788-1802.
- 45. E. K. Pye, The alcell process a proven alternative to kraft pulping. *Tappi Journal*, **1991**: 74.
- 46. R. W. Thring, M. N. Vanderlaan and S. L. Griffin, Polyurethanes from Alcell® lignin. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **1997**: 13: 125-132.
- 47. S. Baumberger, A. Abaecherli, M. Fasching, G. Gellerstedt, R. Gosselink, B. Hortling, J. Li, B. Saake and E. De Jong, Molar mass determination of lignins by size-exclusion chromatography: Towards standardisation of the method. *Holzforschung*, 2007: 61: 459-468.
- N. E. E. Mansouri and J. Salvadó, Structural characterization of technical lignins for the production of adhesives: Application to lignosulfonate, kraft, soda-anthraquinone, organosolv and ethanol process lignins. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 2006: 24: 8-16.

- 49. E. A. Capanema, M. Y. Balakshin and J. F. Kadla, A Comprehensive Approach for Quantitative Lignin Characterization by NMR Spectroscopy. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **2004**: 52: 1850-1860.
- 50. S. Caillol, M. Desroches, G. Boutevin, C. Loubat, R. Auvergne and B. Boutevin, Synthesis of new polyester polyols from epoxidized vegetable oils and biobased acids. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **2012**: 114: 1447-1459.
- 51. G. Lligadas, J. C. Ronda, M. Galià, U. Biermann and J. O. Metzger, Synthesis and characterization of polyurethanes from epoxidized methyl oleate based polyether polyols as renewable resources. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2006**: 44: 634-645.
- 52. R. W. Thring, P. Ni and S. M. Aharoni, Molecular weight effects of the soft segment on the ultimate properties of lignin-derived polyurethanes. *International Journal of Polymeric Materials*, **2004**: 53: 507-524.
- 53. Q. Ma, X. Liu, R. Zhang, J. Zhu and Y. Jiang, Synthesis and properties of full biobased thermosetting resins from rosin acid and soybean oil: the role of rosin acid derivatives. *Green Chemistry*, **2013**: 15: 1300-1310.
- 54. G. R. Palmese and R. L. McCullough, Effect of epoxy-amine stoichiometry on cured resin material properties. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1992**: 46: 1863-1873.
- J. Huang and L. Zhang, Effects of NCO/OH molar ratio on structure and properties of graft-interpenetrating polymer networks from polyurethane and nitrolignin. *Polymer*, 2002: 43: 2287-2294.
- 56. T. Saito, R. H. Brown, M. A. Hunt, D. L. Pickel, J. M. Pickel, J. M. Messman, F. S. Baker, M. Keller and A. K. Naskar, Turning renewable resources into value-added polymer: Development of lignin-based thermoplastic. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 3295-3303.
- 57. Y. Xu, Z. Petrovic, S. Das and G. L. Wilkes, Morphology and properties of thermoplastic polyurethanes with dangling chains in ricinoleate-based soft segments. *Polymer*, **2008**: 49: 4248-4258.
- 58. Z. S. Petrović, D. Hong, I. Javni, N. Erina, F. Zhang and J. Ilavskýd, Phase structure in segmented polyurethanes having fatty acid-based soft segments. *Polymer*, **2013**: 54: 372-380.
- 59. C. Ciobanu, M. Ungureanu, L. Ignat, D. Ungureanu and V. I. Popa, Properties of lignin–polyurethane films prepared by casting method. *Ind. Crop. Pro.*, **2004**: 20: 231.
- 60. M. Brebu and C. Vasile, Thermal degradation of lignin A review. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, **2010**: 44: 353-363.
- 61. G. Lligadas, J. C. Ronda, M. Galiá and V. Cádiz, Plant oils as platform chemicals for polyurethane synthesis: Current state-of-the-art. *Biomacromolecules*, **2010**: 11: 2825-2835.
- 62. D. P. Pfister, Y. Xia and R. C. Larock, Recent advances in vegetable oil-based polyurethanes. *ChemSusChem*, **2011**: 4: 703-717.
- 63. A. B. Lowe, Thiol-ene "click" reactions and recent applications in polymer and materials synthesis. *Polymer Chemistry*, **2010**: 1: 17-36.

64. G. Lligadas, J. C. Ronda, M. Galià and V. Cádiz, Monomers and polymers from plant oils via click chemistry reactions. *Journal of Polymer Science, Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2013**: 51: 2111-2124.

# Chapitre IV.

## Oxypropylation de la lignine –Elaboration de macropolyols pour la synthèse de polyuréthanes



## Introduction

Les polyuréthanes synthétisés par l'intermédiaire des synthons lignine-acide oléique (Chapitre III) ont démontré la possibilité d'élaborer des polymères aux propriétés intéressantes à partir de lignine fonctionnalisée. Cette voie de modification basée sur l'estérification de la lignine à partir d'acide gras suivie de réactions chimiques *in-situ*, confère à la biomacromolécule de nouvelles fonctionnalités. Les résultats prometteurs quant à l'obtention d'un nouveau polyol, ont toutefois soulevé quelques interrogations sur le scaling-up et l'industrialisation future de telles modifications (synthèse en trois étapes) sur une biomacromolécule de structure variable et non clairement définie. Cependant, l'étude développée dans le Chapitre II avait démontré le potentiel de la ROP comme voie de synthèse pertinente pour le greffage de chaines de polymères de longueur contrôlée. De ce fait, l'association des résultats obtenus dans les études précédentes (Chapitre II et III) nous a conduits à développer une réaction de polymérisation par ouverture de cycle pour la synthèse de matériaux PU.

Suite à l'étude bibliographique présentée dans le Chapitre I, il est apparu intéressant de s'orienter vers la réaction d'oxypropylation ou hydroxyalkylation des fonctions hydroxyles de la lignine. Cette technique, couramment utilisée sur des dérivés et résidus de la biomasse (cellulose, chitine, chitosane, résidu de liège, noyaux d'olive...) en raison de sa capacité à transformer des composés solides en produits liquides/visqueux, de sa rapidité et de sa facilité de mise en œuvre, permet en effet en une unique étape d'accéder à des synthons polyols polyethers. En outre, cette réaction présente l'avantage de reposer sur un procédé simple, limitant le nombre d'intermédiaires réactionnels, rendant cette modification facilement transposable en milieu industriel. L'oxypropylation s'est ainsi révélée être une excellente alternative dans une approche de chimie verte, car sans solvant et réduisant significativement le nombre d'étapes réactionnelles. Cette réaction nous a permis de développer des polyols à base de lignine conduisant à la synthèse de polyuréthanes.

Comme nous l'avons déjà évoqué, l'oxypropylation est une technologie déjà utilisée pour de nombreux composés hydroxylés issus de la biomasse. Elle a fait l'objet de nombreuses publications et brevets, dont l'exemple le plus souvent étudié est celui de lignine. La synthèse de polyuréthanes élastomères est quant à elle très peu décrite dans la littérature, la principale

application demeurant l'élaboration de mousses polyuréthane rigides. Ceci s'explique par un indice d'hydroxyle relativement élevé pour les polyols finaux.

L'oxypropylation est une voie de synthèse très adaptée puisqu'elle permet d'augmenter la réactivité de la lignine en lui conférant des fonctions hydroxyles plus accessibles et donc plus réactives, mais aussi une architecture macromoléculaire contrôlable par les paramètres réactionnels rentrant en jeu lors de la synthèse.

\* \* \*

## I. Oxypropylation de la lignine, synthèse de polyuréthanes

La quatrième publication présentée dans ce chapitre et intitulée "Novel segmented polyurethanes based on oxypropylated soda lignins: toward high performance materials" présente l'élaboration de polyuréthanes à partir de lignines qui sont oxypropylées. Différentes architectures macromoléculaires ont été synthétisées et caractérisées.

Dans un souci de cohérence de notre étude, la stratégie de synthèse élaborée dans ce chapitre s'est appuyée sur les résultats obtenus dans le chapitre précédent et sont présentés de la même façon. L'utilisation des polyols polyéthers à base de lignine oxypropylée a permis de développer cette stratégie de synthèse des PU préalablement mise au point. Un prépolymère isocyanate est par conséquent utilisé. Dans le cas présent (Figure IV-1), quatre polyols différents ont été élaborés pour la synthèse des polyuréthanes finaux. Quatre séries de PU ont donc été synthétisées et nous ont notamment permis d'étudier l'influence de la structure des lignines fonctionnalisées sur les propriétés finales des matériaux. Ainsi, contrairement à l'étude précédente, l'architecture macromoléculaire du polyol a été modulée afin d'évaluer son impact sur l'organisation des segments souples et rigides au sein du polymère.

Par ailleurs, l'influence du ratio molaire NCO:OH a été étudiée et son impact sur les propriétés des matériaux est discutée au travers des différentes analyses physico-chimiques et mécaniques réalisées.



Figure IV-1. Schéma récapitulatif de la stratégie de synthèse développée dans le chapitre IV.

## Novel segmented polyurethanes based on oxypropylated soda lignins: toward high performance materials.

Stéphanie Laurichesse, Canan Ilan, Luc Avérous\*

*BioTeam/ICPEES-ECPM, UMR 7515, Université de Strasbourg, 25 rue Becquerel, 67087 Strasbourg, Cedex 2, France* 

\* Corresponding author: Prof. Luc Avérous, Phone: + 333 68852784, Fax: + 333 68852716, E-mail: <u>luc.averous@unistra.fr</u>

## Green chemistry – Article soumis



#### Abstract

Oxypropylation represents an excellent alternative to circumvent the problem of hydroxyl group's reactivity of lignin to produce attractive polymer precursors by transforming lignin into a reactive and biobased macropolyol. Oxypropylation reactions have thus been carried out onto soda lignin with different propylene oxide/lignin (PO/L) ratios. A series of four lignin-based polyether-polyols (oxypropylated lignins: OL) were synthesized and carefully characterized by several analytical methods (<sup>31</sup>P and <sup>1</sup>H quantitative NMR, IR, SEC, DSC) in view of polymer synthesis. Various polyurethanes (PU) with different macromolecular architectures were subsequently synthesized with OL and isocyanate prepolymers. The ratio of the isocyanate and hydroxyl groups (NCO:OH ratio) was varied between 0.2 and 1.0. The influence of OL structure and NCO:OH molar ratio and the morphology of OL impacted the behaviour of the final PU materials such as the transition temperatures of the different phases and the mechanical properties. Preparing different OL enabled successful preparation of tailor-made segmented PU presenting a multiphase morphology based on soft and hard microphases, with some advanced properties and a biobased content up to 40 wt.%.

#### Keywords

Lignin, oxypropylation, <sup>31</sup>P NMR, segmented polyurethane.
# 1. Introduction

In the last decades, notable efforts have been directed toward the modification and the characterization of biopolymers extracted from the biomass for elaboration of high-value green chemicals and biobased materials<sup>1</sup>. Economic and environmental context, but also the increasing price of petroleum has thus encouraged industrials to find alternative to petrochemicals and their derivatives by promoting the use of sustainable sources of raw materials and the development of a greener chemistry.

Polyurethane polymers (PU) are among the most important polymers with a large scope of application as foams, thermoplastic elastomers, adhesives, coatings, sealants, fibers...<sup>2</sup> They can be produced, in one or several steps, by combination of poly(isocyanate) and polyol compounds. Despite the fact that all the history of PU was strongly linked to some renewable resources (glycerol)<sup>3</sup>, the development of bio-based polyols has attracted several researches for the last decades. In this light, different biobased polyols have gained a recent interest, such as e.g., lignins. Its availability and the emerging of new types of technical lignins, namely sulfur-free lignins, also motivated by the recent development of biorefinery, have offered the opportunity to valorise this sustainable resource as a macromonomer in PU synthesis.

Lignin is the most abundant polyphenol occurring in vascular plants and the second most abundant natural polymer after cellulose. It acts as a bonding agent between the cell wall components, i.e. cellulose and hemicellulose<sup>4</sup>. From a chemical point of view, it comprises three monomeric units, namely, *p*-hydroxyphenyl, guaiacyl, and syringyl phenylpropanoïd units cross-linked together by enzymatic polymerization of three alcohol monomers (monolignols); *p*-coumaryl, coniferyl and sinapyl alcohols respectively<sup>5</sup>. The resulting macromolecule consists of a three-dimensional network with a highly complex and variable structure which still remains under investigations<sup>6,7</sup>. Lignin is a polyfunctional macromolecule including hydroxyl, methoxy, carbonyl and carboxyl groups present in various amount depending on its botanic origin (hardwood, softwood, annual plants...)<sup>8</sup> and the pre-treatment process. However, the hydroxyl groups are the most important and can be used as reaction sites<sup>9</sup> for e.g., polyester or polyurethane syntheses. Regarding to their accessibility, phenolic and aliphatic hydroxyls groups show different reactivity.

Currently considered as a by-product of pulp, paper and biofuel industries, only 2% of lignin production is nowadays valorised for different industrial applications (binders, adhesives, additives, surfactants...). Lignin is one of the major potential aromatic building block for the future, since this fragmented biomacromolecule doesn't compete with food

resource. However, in light of the high variability of lignins in terms of structure and reactivity, few industrials applications have emerged. In order to widen the scope of lignin applications, it is necessary to overcome the poor reactivity and accessibility of its hydroxyl group. By making those hydroxyl sites more readily available, the reaction of lignin with isocyanate compounds can be considered to synthesize polyurethane materials (PU). Among all of chemical modifications performed on lignin, etherification reaction and particularly, oxypropylation of lignin, has been considered as the most viable and promising approach to add value to this industrial by-product<sup>10</sup>. Through an anionic ring-opening polymerization involving the use of propylene oxide (PO) and appropriate catalyst at elevated temperature and high pressure, polypropylene oxide chains are grafted from lignin. This reaction allows deploying hydroxyl groups entrapped inside the lignin molecule becoming then more reactive and free from steric and/or electronic hindrance. The chain extension yielded to a lignin-based macropolyol resulting in a viscous liquid product due to the introduction of ether moieties. Since the first studies carried out by Wu and Glasser on lignin<sup>11,12</sup>, oxypropylation have been investigated extensively on different biopolymers and biobased materials bearing also hydroxyl groups such as chitosan<sup>13</sup>, cork<sup>14, 15</sup>, pine bark, corn starch<sup>16</sup>, sugar beet pulp<sup>17-19</sup> and sugar cane bagasse. This reaction has also been applied for a partial modification by a superficial treatment on the surface of different polysaccharides<sup>20-22</sup>.

Considering the number of publications and patents involved in this research area, oxypropylation reaction has attracted several academic and industrials researches in view of synthesizing renewable biobased polyols. Different technical lignins have already been modified by oxypropylation, namely sulfur and sulfur-free lignins<sup>23, 24</sup>. Both types of lignins are reactive through this modification but sulfur-free lignins reacted considerably faster than sulfur lignins. Soda lignin is therefore more reactive than organosolv thanks to its intrinsic structure that is richer in phenol propane moieties which are more reactive than hydroxyl from syringylic and guaiacylic units of organosolv lignin<sup>25</sup>. To that extent, we have decided to work with a lignin extracted from a soda process.

To consider new perspectives in this field, it is critical to precisely understand the chemical structure of oxypropylated lignin. Therefore, a fundamental study has been performed on four polyol systems by using four different propylene oxide/ lignin (PO/L: w/w) ratios: 80/20, 70/30, 60/40 and 50/50. In this study, we report the polyol purification and its complete chemical characterization in view of PU synthesis by FT-IR, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>31</sup>P NMR. The synthesis of segmented and biobased polyurethanes with oxypropylated lignin and prepolymer with free

isocyanate groups has been carried out. For each oxypropylated lignin, a series of PUs were synthesized with 5 different NCO:OH molar ratios: 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8 and 1.0 with a biobased content up to 40%. An important objective was to determine the influence of oxypropylation parameters on the properties of lignin macropolyol. The stoichiometric balance (i.e. NCO:OH molar ratio) was also controlled to modulate the final architectures and the corresponding properties of the PU materials.

# 2. Experimental section

#### 2.1 Raw materials

Soda lignin from wheat straw (Green Value - Protobind 1000) was used as the starting material. It was used as received without further purification.

Propylene oxide, Poly(propylene) glycol also named Poly(propylene) oxyde (PPO – 1000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>), Tetrahydrofuran (THF - 99.8%), and Pyridine were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. For NMR analyses, pentafluorobenzaldehyde (PFB), 2-chloro-4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaphospholane (TMDP), cholesterol and Chromium (III) acetylacetonate were also obtained from Sigma Aldrich and used as received without purification.

All of the solvents were distilled and PPO was dried under reduced pressure at 100°C before their utilization for chemical synthesis.

## 2.2 General methods and instrumentation

#### Chemical properties.

Infrared spectra were obtained on a Nicolet 380 FT-IR spectrometer using an attenuated total reflection (ATR) mode.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra were recorded using a Bruker UltraShield 400 MHz at room temperature by dissolving the samples in deuterated DMSO. In the present study, quantitative <sup>1</sup>H NMR was used to estimate the degree of polymerization of PO onto lignin. A standard solution of pentafluorobenzaldehyde (PFB) in DMSO-d<sub>6</sub> was prepared by weighting 33.0 mg of PFB diluted in 0.40 mL of DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>. 20 mg of oxypropylated lignin (OL) was dissolved in 800  $\mu$ L and an aliquot of the standard solution (0.10 mL) was added. The solution was then transferred into a 5 mm NMR tube for the NMR experiment. The relaxation delay was set to 10s with 32 scans. Quantitative <sup>31</sup>P NMR spectra were acquired using a Bruker 400 MHz equipped with a "Quad probe" dedicated to <sup>31</sup>P, <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>19</sup>F and <sup>1</sup>H NMR acquisition. A relaxation delay of 10s was used, and the number of scans was 512. According previous procedure describe in literature, samples were prepared as follow. A solvent solution of anhydrous pyridine and deuterated chloroform (1.6:1, v:v) was first prepared. It was then used for the preparation of the relaxation reagent (Chromium (III) acetylacetonate, 5 mg.mL<sup>-1</sup>) and the internal standard solutions (Cholesterol, 5 mg.mL<sup>-1</sup>). Approximately 25-30 g of lignin sample or OL was dissolved in 800  $\mu$ L of the solvent solution, followed by the addition of 100 $\mu$ L of the internal standard and relaxation solutions respectively. Finally, the mixture was treated with 100 $\mu$ L of phosphitylating reagent (2-chloro- 4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaphospholane,TMDP) and was transferred into a 5 mm NMR tube for subsequent NMR analysis. The reaction of TMDP with hydroxyl functional groups is illustrated in Figure IV-2. TMDP reacts with hydroxyl functional groups to give phosphite products which are resolvable by <sup>31</sup>P NMR into separate regions arising from aliphatic hydroxyl, phenolic, and carboxylic acids groups.

$$R-OH + \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ P-CI \end{array} \begin{array}{c} CDCI_{3} \\ Pyridine \end{array} \begin{array}{c} R \\ O-P \\ O \end{array} \begin{array}{c} + HCI \\ P \end{array}$$

**Figure IV-2.** Derivatization of active hydrogen compounds with 2–chloro–4,4,5,5–tetramethyl–1,3,2 dioxaphospholane (TMDP).

Size exclusion chromatography (SEC) analyses were performed in THF (HPLC grade–1 mL.min<sup>-1</sup>) in a Malvern Instrument liquid chromatograph with a setup consisting of a thermostated oven with a 8 $\mu$  guard column and three 6 $\mu$  300 mm-columns (50, 150 and 500 Å), and two online detectors : a refractive index detector (RI) and a UV detector. Molecular weights and polydispersity indexes were calculated using a calibration curve based on polystyrene standard from 162 to 20,000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>. Samples were dissolved in THF (concentration 5 mg.mL<sup>-1</sup>) and filtered through a 0,2 $\mu$  PTFE membrane.

### Mechanical and physicochemical properties

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) were performed using a TA DSC Q200 calorimeter, under nitrogen atmosphere, at a heating rate of  $10^{\circ}$ C.min<sup>-1</sup> from 25°C to 120°C to erase thermal history, cooled to -80°C at a cooling rate of  $10^{\circ}$ C.min<sup>-1</sup>, and then heated again to 120°C at a heating rate of  $10^{\circ}$ C.min<sup>-1</sup>. The second heating was selected to be analyzed for the collection of T<sub>g</sub> data.

Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) is used to determine lignin thermal stability by monitoring sample weight lost as a function of temperature. TGA was carried out on a Hi-Res TGA 2950 apparatus from TA Instruments. Samples were heated from 25°C to 750°C under dry Nitrogen at constant heating rate of 10°C.min<sup>-1</sup>.

Dynamic mechanical thermal analysis (DMTA) were carried out on a RSA-II apparatus (TA Instruments) equipped with a liquid-nitrogen cooling system in the traction mode, with a constant heating rate of  $2^{\circ}$ C.min<sup>-1</sup> from -100°C to 200°C. The size of samples was 23 x 4 x 1 mm<sup>3</sup>. The measurements were performed with a maximum strain from 0.01 to 0.9% and at a fixed frequency of 1Hz.

Specimens for tensile measurements were cut out from the PU sheets using dumbbell specimens type H2 (ISO-527) (dimensions: 25 X 4 X 1 mm<sup>3</sup>) standard. The tests were performed at room temperature using a Zwick Roell tensile test machine (model Z005 TN) equipped with a 20N load cell. The used cross-head speed was 20 mm.min<sup>-1</sup>. At least five identical dumbbell-shaped specimens for each sample were tested, and their average mechanical properties are reported.

## 2.3 Syntheses

#### 2.3.1 Lignin oxypropylation

The typical process used for OL synthesis is a bulk process, which constitutes an excellent alternative of reaction performed in aqueous or solvent media. In this light, the reaction was carried out in bulk using a 600 mL Parr pressure reactor (model N°4568) equipped with a heating mantle, mechanical stirrer, thermocouple and manometer. The grafting reaction was performed under stirring at 150°C in presence of the desire amount of lignin (L), PO and catalyst (C). In a general way, the reaction is catalyzed by basic catalyst such as potassium hydroxide (KOH) although acid catalysts can be used but they are therefore rarely used<sup>3, 25</sup>. In our case, KOH in fine powder was used. After reaching a maximum (P<sub>max</sub> = 13-16 bars) the

pressure inside the reactor decreased almost instantaneously, in 1 to 3 minutes, reflecting the entire PO consumption. When the relative pressure ( $P_{relative}$ ) reached zero, the reactor was cooled under stirring and the ensuing lignin-based macropolyol recovered.

Several studies have already investigated the influence of reaction parameters such as the type of lignin (kraft, lignosulfonate, soda or organosolv), PO/L ratio, temperature (80 to 200°C), the nature and amount of catalyst, on the properties of the resulting lignin-based macropolyol<sup>17, 26</sup>. OL were made by varying PO/L ratio (w/w) while keeping C/L ratio (w/w) constant, i.e. 5%. A total of four PO/L ratios were studied: 80/20, 70/30, 60/40 and 50/50 keeping always the same volume of PO introduced, i.e. 100 mL. The following terminology will be used to identify samples:  $OL_{PO/L}$  (ratio between PO and lignin). For example,  $OL_{80/20}$  means a sample with a PO/L ratio of 80/20 (w/w).



Figure IV-3. Reaction scheme for lignin oxypropylation.

Keeping in mind the future application of this new macropolyol in PU synthesis, the purification of OL was performed in two steps, involving firstly the removal of C following by the extraction of homopolymer (PPO-H) chains.

*Catalyst removal.* Oxypropylated lignin was first dissolved in dichloromethane and then washed twice with distilled water. The organic layer was then dried with anhydrous sodium sulfate and the product was evaporated at reduced pressure. The polyol mixture was dried under vacuum at 35°C for one night.

*Homopolymer extraction.* PPO-H chains were removed by extracting twice the polyol mixture with cyclohexane under reflux according to the method established by Pavier et al.<sup>18</sup>. The recovered fraction, OL and PPO-H were subsequently dried under vacuum at 60°C over one

night to remove cyclohexane. Both fractions were then weighted to determine the PPO-H content in the polyol mixture. The corresponding data are collected in Table IV-1 for each reaction parameters used.

Hydroxyl index (I<sub>OH</sub>) in mg of KOH.g<sup>-1</sup>, was determined according to Equation (1):

$$I_{OH} = \frac{(V_{blank} - V_P) \times C \times 56.1}{W_P}$$
(1)

Where  $V_{blank}$  (mL) is the NaOH volume required for blank titration,  $V_P$  (mL) is the NaOH volume required for polyol sample titration, C (mol.L<sup>-1</sup>) is the NaOH concentration and  $W_P$  (g) is the polyol weight.

	Oxypropylated samples	OL <sub>80/20</sub>	OL <sub>70/30</sub>	OL <sub>60/40</sub>	OL <sub>50/50</sub>
	PO/L ratio (w/w)	80/20	70/30	60/40	50/50
sıa	C/L ratio (%)	5	5	5	5
umete	Propylene oxide (mL)	100	100	100	100
ı para	Lignin (g)	20.7	35.6	55.3	83.0
uction	T <sub>max</sub> (°C)	231	248	233	223
Rea	P <sub>max</sub> (bar)	16.1	15.5	13.7	12.6
	Reaction time (h)	2.5	1.8	2.0	2.5

Table IV-1. Reaction parameters and operating conditions used during the oxypropylation.

### 2.3.2 Polymer synthesis

The preparation of polyurethanes (OLPU) based on OL has been performed by a two-step synthetic strategy. The first step is the prepolymerization reaction between PPO (1000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>) and an excess of MDI to prepare isocyanate-terminated prepolymers  $P_{1000}$  ( $T_g = -30.3^{\circ}C$ , %NCO = 5.03). The second step is the reaction of OL with isocyanate prepolymer.

#### Polyurethane prepolymer synthesis.

A three-necked 250 mL round-bottomed flask was fitted with a nitrogen inlet tube and a mechanical stirrer. PPO (1000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>) and 4,4' MDI (fonctionnality = 2) were added into the flask and stirred at 70°C during 5 hours to yield isocyanate prepolymer with a 1.8 molar ratio

of NCO:OH. The ensuing isocyanate prepolymers was coded  $P_{1000}$ . The precise concentration of free isocyanate functions on the prepolymer was then determined.

*NCO content determination*. This method allows determining the amount of isocyanate which reacts with one equivalent of N-Dibutylamine, and gives NCO content by weight per cent according equation (2).

% NCO = 
$$\frac{\left(V_{\text{blank}} - V_s\right) \times 42 \times 0.1}{W_P}$$
 (2)

Where  $V_{blank}$  (mL) is the hydrochloric acid volume required for blank titration,  $V_s$  (mL) is the HCl volume required for polyol sample titration and  $W_P$  (g) is the polyol weight.

#### Polyurethane synthesis (OLPU).

Weighted quantity of OL and  $P_{1000}$  were separately solubilised in anhydrous THF. The solutions were stirred for 10-20 minutes at room temperature until all the components were completely dissolved. A three-necked 100 mL round-bottomed flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, nitrogen inlet and condenser was charged with the solution of OL. The solution was stirred at 70°C under nitrogen flow and  $P_{1000}$  was added. The reaction mixture was stirred at 70°C for 4h. After completion of the reaction, the THF was evaporated and the OLPU was dried over one night at 35°C under vacuum. Four different OL samples were used to prepare OLPUs namely,  $OL_{80/20}$ ,  $OL_{70/30}$ ,  $OL_{60/40}$  and  $OL_{50/50}$  respectively. In this way, four different sets of OLPUs were prepared by varying the NCO:OH ratio of 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8 and 1.0. Reaction parameters and samples designations are given in Table IV-2.

The NCO:OH ratio was calculated according to the hydroxyl value of OL and the content of free NCO groups of the isocyanate prepolymer. PUs with different NCO:OH molar ratio are usually synthesized by changing chain extender content while keeping the same content of other components. In the present study, content of PPO and 4,4'MDI kept constants in PU formulation whereas the content of OL and thus lignin content varied (Table IV-3).

Dynamical and mechanical tests were performed on PUs processed into films obtained by compression moulding between 2 plates at 100 - 120°C.

Complex	Oxypropylated	NCO:OH	% OL
Samples	lignin samples	molar ratio	(w/w)
OLPU-1		0.2	70
OLPU-2		0.4	53
OLPU-3	OL <sub>80/20</sub>	0.6	43
OLPU-4		0.8	36
OLPU-5		1.0	30
OLPU-6		0.2	68
OLPU-7		0.4	52
OLPU-8	OL <sub>70/30</sub>	0.6	42
OLPU-9		0.8	35
OLPU-10		1.0	30
OLPU-11		0.2	64
OLPU-12		0.4	47
OLPU-13	OL <sub>60/40</sub>	0.6	37
OLPU-14		0.8	31
OLPU-15		1.0	26
OLPU-16		0.2	69
OLPU-17	OL <sub>50/50</sub>	0.6	36
OLPU-18		1.0	26

Table IV-2. Reaction details for PU synthesis with four different oxypropylated lignins.

	PU formulation				
NCO:OH	OH from OL	PPG	NCO		
molar ratio	(mol)	(mol)	(mol)		
0.2	8.77	1	1.8		
0.4	4.34	1	1.8		
0.6	2.90	1	1.8		
0.8	2.13	1	1.8		
1.0	1.74	1	1.8		

 Table IV-3. Data concerning the PU formulations.

# **3.** Results and discussion

## 3.1 Lignin characterization

It is widely accepted that lignin is not a clearly defined compound. Nevertheless, this physically and chemically heterogeneous material consists of phenylpropane units with hydroxyl groups, phenolic and aliphatic sites, respectively<sup>9</sup>. The extraction process and the botanical resource induce the amount and nature of the different functional groups, which control the chemical reactivity of the lignin. The lignin used in this study is extracted from wheat straw by a soda pulping process The main characteristics of this lignin are summarized in Tables IV-4 (SEC and DSC) and IV-7 (<sup>31</sup>P NMR). The chemical and physical data were found to be in the same range to those reported from the literature, and in good correlation with values given by the supplier. As can be observed, results found showed a low number average molar mass ( $M_n = 1120 \text{ g.mol}^{-1}$ ) compared to sulfur lignins, namely Kraft and Lignosulfonates. The hydroxyl content and T<sub>g</sub> values of soda lignin, determined according previous published method <sup>27</sup>, will be then compared to those obtained for modified lignin.

Moisture content (%)		3.56
SEC analysis	$M_n(g.mol^{-1})$	1120
	$M_w (g.mol^{-1})$	4380
	$M_{\rm w}/M_{\rm n}$	3.9
DSC analysis	$T_g$ (°C) crude lignin	143

Table IV-4. Analysis results performed on Soda lignin.

### 3.2 Synthesis and characterization of oxypropylated lignin macromonomers

Oxypropylation is a ring-opening polymerization through lignin hydroxyl groups which is always accompanied by the homopolymerization of propylene oxide through transfer reactions during the anionic grafting mechanism. In fact, alkoxy anions are formed from the hydroxyl groups of lignin in presence of KOH and the chain growth starts, but monomer transfer can lead to the removal of the anionic species and finally to PO homopolymerization (Figure IV-4)<sup>25, 28</sup>. The resulting product is then a mixture of PO oligomers, PPO-H, and OL. In our case, no specific study has been developed concerning the nature and amount of C used since previous studies demonstrated that KOH is an adequate choice for this type of reaction. Besides, Cateto et al. (2008) showed that the amount of catalyst did not influence significantly the formation of PPO-H and the viscosity of the resulting polyol mixture<sup>29</sup>. However,

temperatures involved during oxypropylation reaction can induce a self-condensation of lignin which can give insoluble fraction into the mixture<sup>24, 30</sup>. In the present study, the polyol mixtures are brown viscous products, without insoluble fraction.

The reaction parameters and the polymerization conditions are summarized in Table IV-1. It is worth mentioning that the reactor temperature set point was fixed at 150°C, but this temperature was always exceeded until it reached a maximum ( $T_{max}$ ), e.g., 250°C for OL<sub>70/30</sub> synthesis with a subsequent increase of pressure inside the reactor. The pressure reached its maximum only during few seconds and then started to decline rapidly due to PO consumption accompanied by a temperature decrease until the set point (*Supplementary info*).



**Figure IV-4.** Schematic representation of the oxypropylation reaction mechanism; biomass activation, anionic grafting reaction on biomass and homopolymerization step are represented.

PO polymerization onto lignin was studied and followed by FT-IR and <sup>1</sup>H NMR. The FT-IR spectra of the soda lignin starting material and the OL<sub>70/30</sub> are presented in Figure IV-5. As

shown in FT-IR spectra, several characteristics bands indicated the grafting of PPO chains onto lignin such as (i) an increase in the aliphatic CH stretching region (2800-3000 cm<sup>-1</sup>) with the appearance of a new peak at 2970 cm<sup>-1</sup> attributed to the methyl groups from grafted PO units, (ii) a reduction in the intensity of carbonyl groups (1726 cm<sup>-1</sup>), (iii) an increase in the C-O stretching region (1000-1110 cm<sup>-1</sup>) associated to ether moieties and (iv) a new peak at 1375 cm<sup>-1</sup>, confirming the introduction of CH<sub>3</sub> groups. Furthermore, it has to be mentioned that the relative increase in intensity of these peaks is related to the extent of oxypropylation. <sup>1</sup>H NMR also confirmed the reaction and allowed to quantitatively determine the structure of polyols by methods that are detailed in further sections.



Figure IV-5. FTIR spectra of Soda lignin and oxypropylated sample (OL<sub>70/30</sub>).

Tables IV-5 and IV-6 show a summary of the main properties obtained for lignin-based polyol mixture (i.e., homopolymer content,  $I_{OH}$ , number average molar mass ( $M_n$ ) and  $T_g$ ). SEC analyses have been performed on OL. The increase on  $M_n$ , which varied from 1200 g.mol<sup>-1</sup> for original soda lignin to 7700, 4600 and 3670 g.mol<sup>-1</sup> for OL<sub>80/20</sub>, OL<sub>70/30</sub> and OL<sub>60/40</sub> respectively, confirmed also the grafting reaction. The result obtained for OL<sub>50/50</sub> was not expected and cannot be easily explained. The inspection of chromatographic profile as a function of PO/L content, and the corresponding SEC values reveals that molecular weight distribution shifts apparently towards lower molecular weight when PO/L ratio decreases. To

facilitate the analysis between the chromatographic profiles, normalized traces have been used (Figure IV-6). The same trend has also been observed in the case of the chromatographic profiles for PPO-H and polyol mixture (*Supplementary information*).



Figure IV-6. Chromatographic profile elution as a function of PO/L ratios.

The evolution of homopolymer content on polyol mixture revealed that the formation of neat PPO chains decreases with the increase of lignin content. This tendency has already been observed by Gandini's research groups for sugar beet pulp and lignin<sup>21, 31</sup>. It is interesting to note that polyol synthesized with high lignin content are sometimes brittle but often very viscous due to the presence of a small amount of residual PPO-H, which can play the role of plasticizer into the mixture. This plasticization effect can be also noticed through the evolution of the T<sub>g</sub> of the corresponding mixture on Table IV-5, which depend on the PPO-H content. For a better understanding of OL structure, PPO-H has always been removed from the mixture. It is worth mentioning that the PPO-H content decreased as the lignin content increased resulting in a better polymerization of PO onto lignin. The PPO-H removed is a yellowy viscous product whose T<sub>g</sub> is close to that of PPO oligomers (i.e.,  $-70^{\circ}$ C)<sup>17</sup>. From DSC experiments, theoretical T<sub>g</sub> of polyol mixture could be determined according the following Fox Law Equation (3):

$$\frac{1}{T_{g \text{ polyol mixture}}} = \frac{W_{H}}{T_{g H}} + \frac{W_{OL}}{T_{g OL}}$$
(3)

In Equation (3),  $W_H$  and  $W_{OL}$  refer to the weight fraction of PPO-H and OL in the polyol mixture, respectively. As can be observed, from the data collected in Table IV-5, the T<sub>g</sub> of polyol mixture seems to fit reasonably with the Fox theory and can thus be described as an homogenous mixture composed by PPO-H and OL.

The value of hydroxyl indexes ( $I_{OH}$ ) for OL samples (without PPO-H) were about 150-200 mg KOH.g<sup>-1</sup>. This index increased with increasing lignin content. The same tendencies were mentioned in previous studies and the results were in good correlation with data collected by Cateto et al. (2008) and Nadji et al. (2005)<sup>26, 30</sup>. Furthermore, it was also observed that  $I_{OH}$  values were quite lower than that of original lignin (258 mg KOH.g<sup>-1</sup>) especially for reaction performed with low lignin content (i.e. PO/L of 80/20 and 70/30).

	Oxypropylated samples	OL <sub>80/20</sub>	OL <sub>70/30</sub>	OL <sub>60/40</sub>	OL <sub>50/50</sub>
	Extracted homopolymer content (%) <sup>a</sup>	56	39	23	12
	I <sub>OH</sub> (mg KOH.g <sup>-1</sup> )	149	155	188	193
ults	$T_{g polyol mixture} (^{\circ}C)^{b}$	-61	-49	-19	32
C resi	$T_{g H}(^{\circ}C)$	-65	-66	-63	-61
DSC	$T_{g OL}(^{\circ}C)$	-37	-9	33	72
Theretical results	$T_{g polyol mixture} (^{\circ}C)^{c}$	-53	-35	4	48

Table IV-5. Chemical and thermal properties of oxypropylated lignins (OL).

<sup>a</sup> Percentage of PPO-H extracted from the polyol mixture.

<sup>b</sup> Polyol mixture : OL + PPO-H (without catalyst).

<sup>c</sup> According calculations based on Equation (3)

	PO/L ratio (w/w)	80/20	70/30	60/40	50/50
uo	$M_n(g.mol^{-1})$	7723	4601	3670	7410
fracti	$\mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{w}}\left(g.mol^{-1} ight)$	31700	19420	23001	27273
0T)	PDI	4.1	4.2	6.3	3.7
L 2	$M_n(g.mol^{-1})$	846	485	359	369
PO-H action	$\mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{w}}\left(g.mol^{-1} ight)$	1670	810	678	663
P.	PDI	2.0	1.7	1.9	1.8

Table IV-6. SEC results for OL and PPO-H fractions using PS standard.

Under basic conditions, it is well-known that monoalkyl-substituted epoxides react predominantly at the less substituted carbon, due to the steric effects. This reaction can be considered as an SN<sub>2</sub> type reaction (Figure IV-4). In the case of lignin oxypropylation, the rate constant of reaction (k) will greatly depend on the pKa of lignin hydroxyl groups with which the epoxide is reacting whereby:  $k_{phenolic OH} > k_{primary OH} > k_{secondary OH} > k_{tertiary OH}$ . The degree of derivatization of hydroxyl groups from lignin will be deeper investigated with following quantitative <sup>31</sup>P NMR results.

**Quantitative** <sup>31</sup>**P NMR**. Oxypropylation reaction was monitored and analyzed by quantitative <sup>31</sup>**P NMR** using previous published procedures<sup>32-35</sup>. According to the method developed by Argyropoulos's research group<sup>32</sup>, the discrimination of the three forms of phenolic hydroxyl groups (*p*-hydroxyphenyl, guaiacyl, and syringyl structures), as well as aliphatic hydroxyl functions and carboxylic acid has been possible. The degree of oxypropylation of soda lignin could then be easily calculated. All chemical shifts reported are relative to the reaction product of water with phosphylating reagent, which has been observed to give a sharp signal in pyridine/CDCl<sub>3</sub> at 132.2 ppm. <sup>31</sup>P NMR spectra from OL (Figure IV-7) show that both condensed and non-condensed phenolic units were efficiently hydroxypropylated. COOH and aliphatic hydroxyl groups react also with PO but some of them remain unreactive. The different hydroxyl groups (primary OH and new hydroxyalkylated OH) and phenolic units.



Figure IV-7. Quantitative <sup>31</sup>P NMR spectra of OL samples and soda lignin.

**Quantitative** <sup>1</sup>**H NMR**. Quantitative <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra were recorded in an effort to accurately characterize OL, to estimate the average number of PO units appended to each OH function on lignin macromolecule, as described by Sadeghifar et al. (2012)<sup>36</sup>. Figure IV-8 illustrates the distinct regions attributed respectively to aromatic protons (6.0-8.0 ppm), methylene and methoxy protons (2.8-4.2 ppm) and new aliphatic methyl protons from PPO chains grafted onto lignin (0.2-1.5 ppm). Quantitative <sup>1</sup>H NMR allows estimating methyl groups formed during PO ring-opening. For example, 2.72 mmol.g<sup>-1</sup> of new hydroxyalkylated hydroxyl groups were determined in OL<sub>80/20</sub> by quantitative <sup>31</sup>P NMR (Table IV-7) whereas 95.7

mmol.g<sup>-1</sup> of methyl groups were estimated by <sup>1</sup>H NMR analyses. Hence, the average length of PPO chains grafted onto lignin after oxypropylation was approximately 35.2 units of PO per chain.



**Figure IV-8.** Quantitative <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of oxypropylated lignin sample (OL<sub>70/30</sub>) and soda lignin.

Taking into account the data collected from <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>31</sup>P NMR, it has been possible to fully determine the main characteristics of OL. Table IV-8 gives some precise information concerning the chemical structure of OL, i.e., the average length of PO grafts and their number per lignin molecule. This characterization constitutes the key point of this study considering that OL is the starting point in PU synthesis. The average length of PPO grafts increases with the decreasing of lignin content, whereas the number of grafts increases. Furthermore, the number of grafted chains per lignin has to be compared to the number of phenolic hydroxyl groups per lignin macromolecule determined by <sup>31</sup>P NMR (i.e. 1.67 phenolic OH), which are the most reactive functions through oxypropylation reaction. As we can see, the number of grafts per lignin is lower than the number of phenolic hydroxyl groups, but in the same range. This tendency is in good correlation with hydroxyl index values and

confirmed that the increase of lignin content induced an increase of PPO grafts and simultaneous decrease of the average lengths of grafts. The determination of the number of grafts per lignin macromolecule has never been clearly determined in the literature and still remains investigated considering the high variability of the lignins structures. This result has thus to be considered as a first result to understand the lignin reactivity and then the properties of the resulting synthesized polymers.

Hydroxyl groups	Integration	Soda	OI	OI	OI	OI
(mmol.g <sup>-1</sup> )	region (ppm)	lignin	OL <sub>80/20</sub>	OL <sub>70/30</sub>	<b>UL</b> 60/40	OL <sub>50/50</sub>
Aliphatic –OH	145.3 - 150.0					
Hydroxyalkylated –OH	145.3 - 146.0	-	2.72	2.87	2.48	2.35
Primary –OH	146.5 - 150.0	1.49	0.18	0.52	0.32	0.58
Phenolic –OH	136.6 - 144.7	2.35	-	-	-	-
Total OH		3.84	2.90	3.39	2.8	2.93

**Table IV-7.** Signal assignments, hydroxyl content value and average arm lengths of PPO grafts from quantitative <sup>31</sup>P and <sup>1</sup>H analyses of soda lignin and OL samples.

	OL <sub>80/20</sub>	OL <sub>70/30</sub>	OL <sub>60/40</sub>	OL <sub>50/50</sub>
Number of PO units per chains ( <sup>1</sup> H NMR analysis)	35.2	21.3	16.5	11.2
Average number of hydroxyalkylated OH per lignin molecule	1.20	1.29	1.35	1.51

**Table IV-8.** Main characteristics of OL samples based on quantitative <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>31</sup>P NMR results.

It is well-known that chemical modification of lignin can affect its thermal properties such as glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ). As the degree of derivatization increases, the  $T_g$  of the lignin-based derivatives decreases (Table IV-5). This evolution is expected since the derivatizations affect the hydrogen bonding patterns of these materials. Depending on the structure and architecture of the substituent, the free volume of the new lignin-based polymer system may increase, resulting in the decrease of  $T_g$ . In this respect,  $T_g$  of polyol mixture increase with the decrease of PPO-H content formed during oxypropylation. As already mentioned previously, PPO acts as plasticizer with a decreasing of the  $T_g$  for resulting products. When the PPO-H is removed from the mixture, the products become more viscous, and even brittle in the case of  $OL_{50/50}$ . The difference between  $T_g$  values of OL samples can be attributed to the PPO chains length grafted to lignin. Short chains grafted will give products with high  $T_g$  due to their low mobility, whereas long chains will provide more flexibility to samples and a resulting  $T_g$  below ambient temperature. The impact of  $T_g$  of these polyether macropolyols on the final polyurethane polymers will be discussed below.

In that frame, it is possible to understand that a wide range of macropoyol can be synthesized by modulating its properties, e.g. viscosity,  $T_g$  and hydroxyl index ( $I_{OH}$ ). The high functionality and suitability of OL make them potential polyol for preparation of engineering plastic and synthesis of polyurethanes.

#### 3.3 Synthesis and characterization of polyurethanes

The reaction between OL and the isocyanate prepolymer was confirmed by FT-IR analyses. The urethane link formation was monitored by some typical absorbance values such as (i) the carbonyl stretching vibration of polyurethane occurred at 1725 cm<sup>-1</sup>, (ii) a combination of N-H deformation and C-N stretching vibrations at 1535 and 1225 cm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, and (iii) a new peak at 1309 cm<sup>-1</sup> attributed at –OCONH asymmetric stretching vibrations. Moreover, the absence of the absorption band at approximately 2270 cm<sup>-1</sup> confirmed the complete isocyanate group conversion during the polymerization reaction.

In this study, the absorbance corresponding to the NH stretching region, assigned at approximately 3300 cm<sup>-1</sup> was used to assess the formation of urethane linkages but also to qualitatively evaluate the effect of NCO:OH ratio. Figure IV-9 shows the FT-IR spectra of the PUs samples synthesized with  $OL_{60/40}$  and five different NCO:OH ratios. The broad band centred at 3500 cm<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to O-H stretching tends to decrease with the increasing of NCO:OH ratio whereas the NH stretching band (3295 cm<sup>-1</sup>) becomes more intense. This observation also suggests that it is possible to control the conversion rate of hydroxyl groups from macropolyol by varying the NCO:OH molar ratio.

In the present study, block-copolymers were synthesized resulting in the creation of segmented structures. From an intensive literature survey on lignin based polyurethanes and their morphologies<sup>37-39</sup>, we can expect a phase separation on segmented PU material between

soft and hard segments. Transition temperatures of soft and hard segments were determined by both DSC and DMTA experiments.



Figure IV-9. FTIR spectra of LPUs synthesized with P<sub>425</sub> and different NCO:OH molar ratios.

## 3.4 Influence of NCO:OH molar ratio on polymer properties

A good understanding of the effect of NCO:OH molar ratio on the structure and the final polymer properties is essential for the elaboration of high performance PU materials. Consequently, a wide range of PUs was so far synthesized to investigate the level of cross-linking on the structures of the obtained materials.

The  $T_g$  values of OLPUs determined by DSC are shown in Table IV-9. In our case, the OLPUs synthesized do not present crystalline domain. Both block polymers (OL and isocyanate prepolymer) used in the synthesis were completely amorphous with one  $T_g$  respectively. For each OLPU series, the data clearly showed that  $T_g$  increased as expected

with the NCO:OH molar ratio and was correlated to a high degree of crosslinking. These  $T_g$  values seem to be associated of the soft segments ( $T_{g SS}$ ) in OLPU architecture and attributed to the motion of the isocyanate prepolymer segments. The relative difference of structure of OL seems to affect the soft domain organization. Furthermore, we can observe that  $T_{g SS}$  is not greatly impacted by the variation of the NCO:OH molar ratio.

Figures IV-10 and IV-11 show the temperature dependence of the storage modulus (E') and loss factor (tan  $\delta$ ) of the PUs. The dynamic mechanical properties of the OLPU were obtained as a function of temperature beginning in the glassy state (from -100 to -20°C) and ending into the rubbery plateau for each material (from 70 to 200°C). From the DMTA curves, the plateau of the elastic modulus in the rubbery state can be used to make qualitative comparisons of the level of crosslinking among the various polymers synthesized in each series. Table IV-9 summarizes value of crosslinking density (v<sub>e</sub>) determined from Equation (4).

$$v_e = \frac{E'}{3 RT}$$
(4)

Equation (4) is derived from the theory of rubber elasticity<sup>40, 41</sup>, which establishes the relationship between crosslink density and Young's Modulus (E) of polymers above  $T_g$ . Since the storage modulus (E') obtained from DMTA can be associated to the elastic modulus (E) at temperature above  $T_g$  (in the rubbery region at  $T_g + 40$ °C), E' can be substituted in Equation 4 to determine  $v_e$ . R is the gas constant (8,31 J.mol<sup>-1</sup>.K<sup>-1</sup>) and T is the temperature in Kelvin. As expected, the cross-linking density increases with the NCO:OH molar ratio<sup>38</sup>. It is thus possible to modulate PU properties by varying this parameter. Furthermore, the presence of a rubbery plateau for each OLPU revealed the elastomeric behaviour of these materials.

From DMTA data, relaxation temperature of crosslinked materials detected at the maximum of tan  $\delta$  can be determined. As can be observed from Figure IV-11, the maximum of tan  $\delta$  shifts towards higher temperature and the peak becomes broader as the NCO:OH molar ratio decreased, i.e. as the lignin content increased. As previously demonstrated in the case of PU based on vegetable oils<sup>42</sup>, the maximum of tan  $\delta$  is characteristic of the glass transition temperature of hard segment. This hard domain is mainly composed by lignin-based crosslinking points and urethane bonds. As the hard segment increased (% of OL in PU formulation), the transition temperature become higher reflecting in an organized structure of hard segments into the continuous soft segment phase.

			DSC	DMTA		
Samples	Oxypropylated lignin samples	NCO:OH molar ratio	$T_{g SS} (^{\circ}C)^{a}$	$T_{g HS} (^{\circ}C)^{b}$	$v_e$ (mol.m <sup>-3</sup> )	biobased content (%)
OLPU-1		0.2	-36	-	-	32
OLPU-2	_	0.4	-26	-0.5	12.6	24
OLPU-3	OL <sub>80/20</sub>	0.6	-24	-3.8	22.7	19
OLPU-4	_	0.8	-27	-3.1	29.6	16
OLPU-5	_	1.0	-24	-5.4	51.7	14
OLPU-6		0.2	-11	32.1	6.8	33
OLPU-7	_	0.4	-12	21.9	23.6	26
OLPU-8	OL <sub>70/30</sub>	0.6	-13	25.1	37.1	21
OLPU-9	_	0.8	-18	17.7	77.7	17
OLPU-10	_	1.0	-11	10.1	70.7	15
OLPU-11		0.2	-5	60.2	57.8	33
OLPU-12	_	0.4	-6	50.5	49.8	24
OLPU-13	OL <sub>60/40</sub>	0.6	-6	40.5	42.5	19
OLPU-14	_	0.8	-4	36.7	75.3	16
OLPU-15	_	1.0	-7	36.2	140.9	13
OLPU-16		0.2	1	90.7	15.8	39
OLPU-17	OL <sub>50/50</sub>	0.6	2	55.9	42.5	20
OLPU-28	_	1.0	-6	39.9	3.0	15

Table IV-9. Dynamical mechanical and thermal properties for the synthesized polyurethanes.

<sup>a</sup>:  $T_g SS$ :  $T_g$  of soft segment

<sup>b</sup>:  $T_{g HS}$ :  $T_{g}$  of hard segment

These different observations combining DSC and DMTA results may indicate the existence of two different phases in OLPU samples, in good correlation with the literature<sup>43-46</sup>. While the  $T_g$  of soft segment is observed by DSC below ambient temperature, the  $T_g$  of hard domains, is determined by DMTA in the range from -5 to 90°C. In summary, these series of polyurethanes might be partially described as amorphous segmented polyurethane where lignin hard segments are bridged with soft segments. The mobility of soft domain which is mainly composed by the isocyanate prepolymer is greatly affected by the structure of OL which forms the greatest part of the hard segment. This microphase separation is also responsible for the elastomeric properties of these polyurethanes<sup>42</sup>.

Chapith

Table IV-10 shows the mechanical properties of the OLPU based on  $OL_{70/30}$  and  $OL_{60/40}$ , respectively, determined by uniaxial tensile testing. Samples synthesized with respectively,  $OL_{80/20}$  and  $OL_{50/50}$  were too soft and too brittle, to be investigated. As shown in Table IV-10, for materials synthesized with  $OL_{70/30}$ , there is no influence of the NCO:OH molar ratio, since the elongation at break varied from 296 to 400% whereas the modulus and the maximum strength remains quite constant. The tendency is different for OLPU based on  $OL_{60/40}$ : maximum strength and Young's Modulus significantly decrease with the increasing of crosslinking density. At that time, we can suppose that modified lignin plays an important role in segmented OLPU morphology. However it can be notice that OLPU-11 sample displays interesting mechanical properties with high strength at break and Young's Modulus, respectively.



**Figure IV-10.** DMTA curves of the PUs (a: E' of PU based on  $OL_{80/20}$ ; b: E' of PU based on  $OL_{70/30}$ ; c: E' of PU based on  $OL_{60/40}$ ; d: E' of PU based on  $OL_{50/50}$ ).



**Figure IV-11.** Evolutions in the position and intensity of the relaxation transition (Tan  $\delta$ ) on the stoichiometric ratio of the component. (a: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on OL<sub>80/20</sub>; b: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on OL<sub>70/30</sub>; c: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on OL<sub>60/40</sub>; d: tan  $\delta$  of PU based on OL<sub>50/50</sub>).

### 3.5 Influence of macropolyol structure on polymer properties

OL structures varied according to oxypropylation reaction conditions. Whether, numerous short PO chains (e.g.  $OL_{60/40}$  and  $OL_{50/50}$ ) were grafted to the lignin core, or the lignin only presented a few long PO grafted chains (e.g.  $OL_{80/20}$  and  $OL_{70/30}$ ). These differences in structures could also been observed in the thermal properties (DSC and DMTA). Indeed, for the lignin bearing long PO chains, the  $T_{g HS}$  values are lower than for pure lignin. This can be explained by the fact that the PO chains act as a thermal plasticizer improving the chains motion and thus lower the obtained  $T_{g HS}$ . This observation is confirmed by the  $T_{g SS}$  value that is close to the  $T_g$  of  $P_{1000}$  ( $T_g = -30$  °C). We could then schematically represent the overall

Hard domain

Soft domain

structure by a two phases organization (Figure IV-12) where the hard segments are composed of lignin cores and the soft segment includes both the prepolymers and the long grafted PO chains. On the other hand, for  $OL_{60/40}$  and  $OL_{50/50}$ , the hard segments are defined by lignin and short grafted PO chains. In this case, the  $T_{g HS}$  values are closed to the one of pure lignin. It is worth mentioning that with this structure, the higher  $T_{g SS}$  reflects the loss of mobility of the overall soft domain.

It has thus been proved that the OL chemical structure governs the general OLPU matrix selforganisation by well-defining the resulting soft and hard segments composition.



#### Soft and hard domain organization in OLPUs

**Figure IV-12.** Schematic representation of OLPU domain organization – Partial structure of OLPU.

Furthermore, the presence of high lignin content gives appreciable stiffness to the network structure by increasing the Young's Modulus and maximum strength e.g., OLPU-11 is more rigid that OLPU-15. The average length of PO grafted impacts also the elongation at break.

Long grafted PO chains (high PO/L ratio) bring high elongation at break. This trend is in good correlation with the tendency observed for crosslink density.

To resume, the PO/L ratio plays an important role in the macromolecular structure of the macropolyol and consequently affects properties to the resulting PU materials. Thus,  $OL_{70/30}$  and  $OL_{60/40}$  seem to give PU materials with the highest mechanical properties, i.e. high elongation at break and high Young's Modulus.  $OL_{70/30}$  with longer grafted chains provides high elongation at break whereas OLPUs with  $OL_{60/40}$  polyol exhibit better mechanical resistance.

			Traction		
			σ	3	E
Samplag	Oxypropylated	NCO:OH	Maximum	Elongation	Young's
Samples	lignin samples	molar ratio	strength	at break (%)	Modulus,
			(MPa)		(MPa)
OLPU-6		0.2	$3.7\pm1.0$	$296\pm26$	$0.3\pm0.1$
OLPU-7	OL <sub>70/30</sub>	0.4	$3.4\pm0.1$	$404\pm35$	$0.3\pm0.0$
OLPU-8		0.6	$3.7\pm0.6$	$325\pm28$	$0.4\pm0.0$
OLPU-11		0.2	$9.8\pm0.8$	$119\pm29$	$7.0 \pm 1.2$
OLPU-12		0.4	$6.9\pm0.6$	$107 \pm 9$	$4.4\pm0.6$
OLPU-13	OL <sub>60/40</sub>	0.6	$2.6\pm0.7$	$48 \pm 16$	$2.0\pm0.3$
OLPU-14		0.8	$2.6\pm0.7$	$83\pm19$	$1.8\pm0.2$
OLPU-15		1.0	$5.2 \pm 1.4$	$160 \pm 59$	$1.9\pm0.1$

**Table IV-10.** Mechanical properties from uniaxial tensile tests of different synthesized OLPUs at ambient temperature with a crosshead speed of 20 mm.min<sup>-1</sup>.

#### **3.6** Influence of the residual PPO-H on the material properties

The role of the residual PPO-H into the polyol mixture after oxpropylation has been more particularly studied. In this case, only catalyst has been removed from the resulting mixture by liquid-liquid extraction with water. Consequently, the code used for these new starting polyols is  $PM_{70/30}$  and  $PM_{60/40}$  for polyol synthesized with PO/L of 70/30 and 60/40, respectively. The hydroxyl indexes of polyol mixtures (PM) were determined by chemical titration, the resulting  $I_{OH}$  are presented in Table IV-11 with the corresponding  $T_g$  values from DSC measurements. The NCO:OH ratio was varied from 0.2 to 1.0. As can be observed, the  $T_g$  values of soft segments are lower to those for PU synthesized with only OL. In this way,

				DSC
Samples	Polyol mixture	I <sub>OH</sub> of Polyol mixture (mg KOH.g <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>a</sup>	NCO:OH molar ratio	T <sub>g</sub> (°C)
OLPU-16			0.2	-38
OLPU-17	PM 70/30	193	0.6	-33
OLPU-18		-	1.0	-27
OLPU-19			0.2	-28
OLPU-20	PM 60/40	219	0.4	-25
OLPU-21		-	0.6	-19

the effect of the homopolymer chains as plasticizer in OLPU material is clearly demonstrated. In fact, free PPO-H can act as plasticizer but also as a chain extender for OLPU.

**Table IV-11.** DSC results obtained for OLPU synthesized with  $PM_{70/30}$  and  $PM_{60/40}$  with various NCO:OH molar ratio respectively.

<sup>a</sup>: determined by chemical titration

## 3.7 Thermal analysis

The original neat lignin was subjected to TGA analysis at a heating rate of 10°C.min<sup>-1</sup> in a nitrogen atmosphere. For comparison, OL, PPO-H and polyol mixture thermal stability were also determined (Figure IV-13). An abundant literature on lignin thermal degradation reports the different radical coupling mechanisms occurring at pyrolitic temperatures<sup>9, 47, 48</sup>. TG curves indicated that thermal decomposition of lignin started at 200°C, while the slight mass decreasing between 0 and 150°C is attributed to vaporization of residual water in the sample. The maximum peak temperature appeared in derivative TG curve of crude lignin at 375°C and the residual mass of lignin at 500°C was 40% which is in good agreement with previous observation made by Hatakeyama and Hatakeyama  $(2010)^9$ . Lignin derivatives (i.e., PM<sub>80/20</sub> and  $OL_{80/20}$ ) show lower thermal stability due to the degradation of polyether chains grafted onto lignin. The TG curve of single PPO-H is on agreement with these previous results from Argyropoulos' team, which have highlighted the improved thermal stability of lignin by selective masking of phenolic hydroxyl groups<sup>49</sup>. After several repeated cycles of heating and cooling for up to three hours at 120°C, OL shows a higher stability compared to the neat lignin, regarding the evolution of molecular weight. This last behaviour may provide good perspectives for the use of OL samples for polymer processing.



**Figure IV-13.** TGA/DTGA curves for soda lignin, PM, OL and PPO-H in case of PO/L of 80/20.

The thermal stability of the OLPU was also investigated by TGA, and the obtained weight loss curves of OLPU-11 to 15 are shown e.g., in Figure IV-14. A blank polyurethane synthesis (without lignin) has also been performed in order to compared the thermal behaviour of OLPUs samples to a PU synthesised with PPO (1000 g.mol<sup>-1</sup>) and 4,4' MDI (NCO:OH = 1.03). This resulting PU is coded as BPU<sub>1000</sub>.

Polyurethanes are well-known to have a relatively low thermal stability, mainly because of the presence of urethane bonds. In their study, Saunders et al.<sup>50</sup> proposed a three-step degradation mechanism of urethane bond decompositions consisting in (i) dissociation to isocyanate and alcohol, (ii) formation of primary amine and olefin and finally, and (iii) the formation of secondary amine. Taking into account that all of these reactions may proceed simultaneously.

As can be observed, the thermal behaviour observed for all OLPU samples is similar. This behaviour is not surprisingly considering that the PU structures are based on the same composition of polyols and isocyanate prepolymers. On the contrary,  $BPU_{1000}$  depicts a lower thermal stability with a  $T_{max}$  of 330°C and a residual mass at 500°C of 2.8%. For OLPUs a first shouldered peak in DTG curves (around 300°C) can be attributed to the main degradation of urethanes<sup>51</sup> whereas, the maximum peak can assigned to OL degradation. These results put

in evidence that lignin, as a macromer, promotes significant thermal stability of the polyurethanes, compared to those synthesized without it.



**Figure IV-14.** TGA/DTGA curves for OLPUs based on OL60/40 with various NCO:OH molar ratios.

# 4. Conclusion

Lignin-based polyether polyols were successfully synthesized by oxypropylation process. Lignin recovered from a soda process has been modified by varying PO/L ratio. Four sets of lignin derivatives have been synthesized and then fully characterized by various analytical methods in view of polyurethane synthesis. The structure of oxypropylated lignin was precisely investigated through quantitative <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>31</sup>P NMR analyses, demonstrating the control of poly(propylene) oxide chain lengths and the degree of pendant reactive sites (I<sub>OH</sub>) by modulating oxypropylation reaction parameters. The potential of OL is clearly demonstrated, providing tailor-made polyols suitable for integration into various polymer systems. The use of these polyols as starting raw materials for biobased polyurethanes synthesis was investigated. PUs with different macromolecular architectures were designed in series by varying the NCO:OH molar ratio from 0.2 to 1.0 with a final biobased content up to 40 wt.%.

Thermal analyses performed by DSC and DMTA indicated two different transitions in these polymers. The two glass transition temperatures were assigned to the relaxation of soft and hard segments, respectively. The glass transition temperature of the hard and soft phases varies with the NCO:OH molar ratio and also lignin content, indicating changes in phase structure and in the composition of the phases. The mobility of soft segments is mainly affected by NCO:OH molar ratio whereas the motion of hard segments is more related to the amount and structure of lignin-based starting polyol.  $OL_{80/20}$  and  $OL_{70/30}$ , with long and flexible grafted PPO chains, have a small influence on relaxation of hard segment mainly caused by the formation of urethane linkages whereas  $OL_{60/40}$  and  $OL_{50/50}$  significantly decrease motion of hard segments.

From this study, it has been concluded that  $OL_{70/30}$  and  $OL_{60/40}$  starting polyols were the most suitable for synthesizing lignin-derived polyurethanes with promising mechanical and thermal properties. Mechanical properties of the corresponding PUs depend strongly on the NCO:OH molar ratio and the chemical composition of OL. The data obtained were consistent with the fact that lignin with long grafted chains have high elongation at break with low modulus associated. On the contrary,  $OL_{60/40}$  with shorter grafted chains greatly contributed to the formation of large and stiff phases yielding to rigid material with increased ultimate strength and Young's Modulus.

In order to improve the green balance of the system, we could suggest the use of residual PPO-H to synthesize PPO-based prepolymer instead of using exogenous PPO with highly controlled molar masses.

Oxypropylation process constitutes one of the most promising approach to develop ligninbased building blocks for high performance materials. These lignin-based materials have the potential to be used in conventional PU elastomer applications. This success opens up new perspectives to incorporate oxypropylated lignin as a component for high biobased content polymers. Besides, it is a promising modification to valorise lignin, since this renewable resource is a largely available by-product from different biorefinery processes, without competition with food. The resulting biobased polymers show advanced properties, which compete with synthetic polymers from fossil resources.

# 5. Supplementary information

The pressure reactor (Parr reactor) used for this study was equipped with sensors for online monitoring the evolution of pressure and temperature during the reaction. In figure IV-S1, the evolution of temperature and pressure with time is shown for each oxypropylation reactions carried out at different PO/L ratio: 80/20, 70/30, 60/40 and 50/50. As temperature increased, the vapor pressure of PO also increased thus raising the system's pressure level as illustrated in figure IV-S1 b).



**Figure IV-S1.** Variation of pressure (a) and temperature (b) along time during the oxypropylation of soda lignin with propylene oxide at different PO/L ratios (80/20, 70/30, 60/40 and 50/50).

To illustrate the influence of PO/L ratio, chromatographic profiles elution of polyol mixtures (PM) and homopolymers (PPO-H) are shown on figures IV-S2 and IV-S3.



**Figure IV-S2.**Chromatographic profile elution of polyol mixtures (PM) as a function of PO/L ratios.



**Figure IV-S3.** Chromatographic profile elution of homopolymers (PPO-H) as a function of PO/L ratios.

# Acknowledgements

We are grateful for Alsace Region, Oséo and ANRT for their financial supports. We also gratefully acknowledge Dr. Jairo H. Lora at Green Value for providing the lignin samples and Sébastien Gallet for his technical contribution and helpful discussion on chemistry.

\* \* \*

# II. Conclusion & perspectives de l'étude

La réaction d'oxypropylation est une des voies de modification chimique de la lignine les plus étudiées, en vue de l'élaboration de matériaux polymères. De ce fait, dans le cadre de ce chapitre nous nous sommes intéressés à l'oxypropylation d'une lignine soda. L'objectif final de ce travail reposait sur l'élaboration et l'étude de polyuréthanes. La structure de la lignine oxypropylée et le taux de réticulation ont été les deux paramètres particulièrement étudiés et discutés.

Notre étude s'est tout d'abord orientée sur la purification et la caractérisation complète des lignines oxypropylées. Ce travail s'est appuyé sur de nombreuses méthodes analytiques RMN (<sup>1</sup>H et <sup>31</sup>P), IR et DSC qui nous ont apporté des informations précieuses sur le degré de polymérisation et la densité de greffage des chaines de PPO sur la lignine. Les polyols ainsi obtenus ont pu être intégrés dans la synthèse de polyuréthanes faisant intervenir un prépolymère isocyanate à base de PPO. Grâce aux caractérisations préalables des polyols, associées aux analyses DSC, DMTA et mécaniques des polymères, il a été possible de mettre en avant la structuration des PU en deux phases distinctes : souple et rigide, conférant à chacun des polymères synthétisés des propriétés distinctes.

Ces résultats prometteurs nous ont conduits à envisager de nombreuses perspectives pour ce travail et notamment l'utilisation de la lignine oxypropylée sans extraction de l'homopolymère résiduel. Cette première voie a par ailleurs été évoquée dans ce chapitre soulignant le caractère plastifiant de l'homopolymère, se traduisant par une diminution de la  $T_g$  finale du matériau. Par ailleurs, l'homopolymère extrait pourrait être utilisé pour la synthèse du prépolymère isocyanate. L'ensemble des produits issus de l'oxypropylation serait ainsi valorisé permettant de s'inscrire dans une démarche complète de « chimie verte », avec une diminution des coproduits non valorisés.



**Figure IV- 15.** Lignine oxypropylée avec un ratio PO/L = 70/30. De gauche à droite : Mélange obtenue en fin de réaction, homopolymère extrait (PPO-H), polyol purifié sans homopolymère.

D'autre part, la réaction d'oxypropylation est une réaction facile à mettre en œuvre et le passage à une production à plus grande échelle est actuellement envisagé. L'utilisation de lignines soda, Kraft et organosolve a été effectuée et les résultats prometteurs, sans présence de fractions solides insolubles nous encouragent à poursuivre dans cette voie de transposition avec un scaling-up graduel.

L'oxyde de propylène mais aussi l'oxyde d'éthylène ont été étudiés pour modifier la lignine par éthérification. Dans le cadre de notre étude, reposant sur l'élaboration de PU biosourcés, le remplacement de ces molécules par d'autres potentiellement biosoucées est aussi à mettre en avant. Dans cette même optique de valorisation de la biomasse, la transposition de la réaction d'oxypropylation à d'autres molécules est une autre voie à explorer. En effet, toute molécule présentant des fonctions hydroxyles accessibles peut être modifiée par ce type de réaction. Des polyols naturels de nature aromatique ou aliphatique (ramifiés ou linéaires) tels que les tannins, le glycérol ou des sucres sont des molécules pour lesquelles divers travaux de recherches sont engagés au sein de notre équipe *BioTeam*. Les perspectives de ce travail sont multiples et les choix des futurs travaux de recherches seront effectués en fonction des résultats obtenus avec la lignine.

# Notes and références

- 1. R. Babu, K. O'Connor and R. Seeram, Current progress on bio-based polymers and their future trends. *Progress in Biomaterials C7 8*, **2013**: 2: 1-16.
- 2. M. Szycher, Szycher's Handbook of Polyurethanes, Second Edition, CRC Press, 2012.
- 3. M. Ionescu, *Chemistry and technology of polyols for polyurethanes*, Rapra Publishing, **2005**.
- 4. L. J. Gibson, The hierarchical structure and mechanics of plant materials. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, **2012**: 9: 2749-2766.
- 5. W. Boerjan, J. Ralph and M. Baucher, in Annual Review of Plant Biology, **2003**, pp. 519-546.
- 6. G. Brunow, in Lignin, Humic Substances and Coal eds. M. Hofrichter and A. Steinbüchel, **2004**, pp. 89-99.
- 7. Y. r. Chen and S. Sarkanen, Macromolecular replication during lignin biosynthesis. *Phytochemistry*, **2010**: 71: 453-462.
- 8. G. Vázquez, G. Antorrena, J. González and S. Freire, The influence of pulping conditions on the structure of acetosolv eucalyptus lignins. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **1997**: 17: 147-162.
- 9. H. Hatakeyama and T. Hatakeyama, in Biopolymers, ed. S. Kobayashi, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, **2010**, pp. 1-63.
- E. A. B. d. Silva, M. Zabkova, J. D. Araújo, C. A. Cateto, M. F. Barreiro, M. N. Belgacem and A. E. Rodrigues, An integrated process to produce vanillin and lignin-based polyurethanes from Kraft lignin. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, 2009: 87: 1276-1292.
- 11. L. C. F. Wu and W. G. Glasser, Engineering plastics from lignin. I. Synthesis of hydroxypropyl lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1984**: 29: 1111-1123.
- 12. L. C. F. Wu and W. G. Glasser, Engineering Plastics From Lignin. I. Synthesis of hydroxypropyl lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1984**: 29: 1111-1123.
- W. G. Glasser, C. A. Barnett, T. G. Rials and V. P. Saraf, Engineering Plastics From Lignin - II Characterization of hydroxyalkyl derivatives. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1984**: 29: 1815-1830.
- S. Fernandes, C. S. R. Freire, C. P. Neto and A. Gandini, The bulk oxypropylation of chitin and chitosan and the characterization of the ensuing polyols. *Green Chemistry*, 2008: 10: 93-97.
- M. Evtiouguina, A. Margarida Barros, J. J. Cruz-Pinto, C. Pascoal Neto, N. Belgacem, C. Pavier and A. Gandini, The oxypropylation of cork residues: preliminary results. *Bioresource Technology*, 2000: 73: 187-189.
- M. Evtiouguina, A. Gandini, C. P. Neto and N. M. Belgacem, Urethanes and polyurethanes based on oxypropylated cork: 1. Appraisal and reactivity of products. *Polymer International*, 2001: 50: 1150-1155.
- 17. A. de Menezes, D. Pasquini, A. Curvelo and A. Gandini, Self-reinforced composites obtained by the partial oxypropylation of cellulose fibers. 2. Effect of catalyst on the mechanical and dynamic mechanical properties. *Cellulose*, **2009**: 16: 239-246.
- 18. C. Pavier and A. Gandini, Oxypropylation of sugar beet pulp. 1. Optimisation of the reaction. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2000**: 12: 1-8.
- 19. C. Pavier and A. Gandini, Oxypropylation of sugar beet pulp. 2. Separation of the grafted pulp from the propylene oxide homopolymer. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2000: 42: 13-17.
- 20. C. Pavier and A. Gandini, Urethanes and polyurethanes from oxypropylated sugar beet pulp. I. Kinetic study in solution. *European Polymer Journal*, **2000**: 36: 1653-1658.
- 21. A. Gandini, A. A. da Silva Curvelo, D. Pasquini and A. J. de Menezes, Direct transformation of cellulose fibres into self-reinforced composites by partial oxypropylation. *Polymer*, **2005**: 46: 10611-10613.
- 22. A. Gandini, M. N. Belgacem, B. Mohamed Naceur and G. Alessandro, in Monomers, Polymers and Composites from Renewable Resources, Elsevier, Amsterdam, **2008**, pp. 273-288.
- 23. A. J. de Menezes, D. Pasquini, A. A. S. Curvelo and A. Gandini, Novel thermoplastic materials based on the outer-shell oxypropylation of corn starch granules. *Biomacromolecules*, **2007**: 8: 2047-2050.
- 24. H. Nadji, C. Bruzzese, M. N. Belgacem, A. Benaboura and A. Gandini, Oxypropylation of lignins and preparation of rigid polyurethane foams from the ensuing polyols. *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*, **2005**: 290: 1009-1016.
- 25. A. Gandini and M. N. Belgacem, Recent contributions to the preparation of polymers derived from renewable resources. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, **2002**: 10: 105-114.
- 26. J. P. S. Aniceto, I. Portugal and C. M. Silva, Biomass-based polyols through oxypropylation reaction. *ChemSusChem*, **2012**: 5: 1358-1368.
- 27. C. A. Cateto, M. F. Barreiro, A. E. Rodrigues and M. N. Belgacem, Optimization study of lignin oxypropylation in view of the preparation of polyurethane rigid foams. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, **2009**: 48: 2583-2589.
- 28. S. Laurichesse and L. Avérous, Synthesis, thermal properties, rheological and mechanical behaviors of lignins-grafted-poly(ε-caprolactone). *Polymer (United Kingdom)*, **2013**: 54: 3882-3890.
- 29. G. Lammers, E. J. Stamhuis and A. A. C. M. Beenackers, Kinetics of the hydroxypropylation of potato starch in aqueous solution. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, **1993**: 32: 835-842.
- 30. C. A. B. Cateto. Lignin-Based Polyurethanes: Characterisation, Synthesis and Applications, Porto-Grenoble, Faculdade de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto (FEUP); **2008**.
- 31. H. Nadji, C. Bruzzèse, M. N. Belgacem, A. Benaboura and A. Gandini, Oxypropylation of lignins and preparation of rigid polyurethane foams from the ensuing polyols. *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*, **2005**: 290: 1009-1016.
- A. Gandini, M. N. Belgacem, B. Mohamed Naceur and G. Alessandro, in Monomers, Polymers and Composites from Renewable Resources, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2008, pp. 243-271.

- 33. D. S. Argyropoulos, Quantitative Phosphorus-31 NMR Analysis of Lignins, a New Tool for the Lignin Chemist. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, 1994: 14: 45-63.
- 34. D. S. Argyropoulos, Quantitative Phosphorus-31 NMR Analysis of Six Soluble Lignins. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **1994**: 14: 65-82.
- 35. D. S. Argyropoulos, 31P NMR in wood chemistry: A review of recent progress. *Research on Chemical Intermediates*, **1995**: 21: 373-395.
- 36. A. Granata and D. S. Argyropoulos, 2-Chloro-4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaphospholane, a reagent for the accurate determination of the uncondensed and condensed phenolic moieties in lignins. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 1995: 43: 1538-1544.
- 37. H. Sadeghifar, C. Cui and D. S. Argyropoulos, Toward Thermoplastic Lignin Polymers; Part I: Selective Masking of Phenolic Hydroxyl Groups in Kraft Lignins via Methylation & Oxypropylation Chemistries. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, **2012**.
- 38. T. Saito, R. H. Brown, M. A. Hunt, D. L. Pickel, J. M. Pickel, J. M. Messman, F. S. Baker, M. Keller and A. K. Naskar, Turning renewable resources into value-added polymer: Development of lignin-based thermoplastic. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 3295-3303.
- R. W. Thring, M. N. Vanderlaan and S. L. Griffin, Polyurethanes from Alcell® lignin. Biomass and Bioenergy, 1997: 13: 125-132.
- 40. R. W. Thring, P. Ni and S. M. Aharoni, Molecular weight effects of the soft segment on the ultimate properties of lignin-derived polyurethanes. *International Journal of Polymeric Materials*, **2004**: 53: 507-524.
- 41. Q. Ma, X. Liu, R. Zhang, J. Zhu and Y. Jiang, Synthesis and properties of full biobased thermosetting resins from rosin acid and soybean oil: the role of rosin acid derivatives. *Green Chemistry*, **2013**: 15: 1300-1310.
- 42. G. R. Palmese and R. L. McCullough, Effect of epoxy-amine stoichiometry on cured resin material properties. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1992**: 46: 1863-1873.
- 43. Y. Xu, Z. Petrovic, S. Das and G. L. Wilkes, Morphology and properties of thermoplastic polyurethanes with dangling chains in ricinoleate-based soft segments. *Polymer*, **2008**: 49: 4248-4258.
- 44. C. Prisacariu, in Polyurethane Elastomers. From Morphology to Mechanical Aspects, ed. S. Verlag, **2011**, pp. 23-60.
- 45. S. Velankar and S. L. Cooper, Microphase separation and rheological properties of polyurethane melts. 2. Effect of block incompatibility on the microstructure. *Macromolecules*, **2000**: 33: 382-394.
- 46. S. Velankar and S. L. Cooper, Microphase separation and rheological properties of polyurethane melts. 1. Effect of block length. *Macromolecules*, **1998**: 31: 9181-9192.
- 47. S. Velankar and S. L. Cooper, Microphase separation and rheological properties of polyurethane melts. 3. Effect of block incompatibility on the viscoelastic properties. *Macromolecules*, **2000**: 33: 395-403.
- 48. M. Brebu and C. Vasile, Thermal degradation of lignin A review. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, **2010**: 44: 353-363.

- 49. T. Hatakeyama and H. Hatakeyama, in Thermal Properties of Green Polymers and Biocomposites, Kluwer Academic Publisher, **2005**.
- 50. C. Cui, H. Sadeghifar, S. Sen and D. S. Argyropoulos, Toward thermoplastic lignin polymers; Part II: Thermal & polymer characteristics of kraft lignin & derivatives. *BioResources*, **2013**: 8: 864-886.
- 51. J. H. Saunders, The Reactions of Isocyanates and Isocyanate Derivatives at Elevated Temperatures. *Rubber Chemistry and Technology*, **1959**: 32: 337-345.
- 52. I. Javni, Z. S. Petrović, A. Guo and R. Fuller, Thermal stability of polyurethanes based on vegetable oils. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2000**: 77: 1723-1734.

## Conclusion générale & Perspectives

Ce travail de thèse pluridisciplinaire, associant la synthèse, la physico-chimie et la caractérisation des matériaux polymères avait pour objectif l'élaboration et l'étude de nouveaux matériaux bio-sourcés à base de lignine. La valorisation de la lignine en tant que matériau de substitution ou complémentaire aux polymères synthétiques classiques a ainsi été étudiée. De ce fait, la démarche scientifique retenue pour notre travail s'est axée autour du développement de nouvelles architectures (macro)moléculaires à partir de lignine pour l'élaboration de polymères fonctionnels. Dans notre cas, l'objectif final de ce travail de doctorat reposait sur l'utilisation de ressources renouvelables afin de développer des matériaux innovants et performants pour l'industrie du bâtiment et notamment l'étanchéité des toitures-terrasses.

L'étude bibliographique présentée dans le Chapitre I a dressé un état de l'art sur la lignine, ses modes d'extraction ainsi que les propriétés associées, mais aussi sur ses différentes voies de valorisation. Cette étape nous a permis de mettre en exergue les différents verrous technologiques qu'il reste à lever pour envisager l'utilisation de la lignine à l'échelle industrielle en tant que polyol bio-sourcé pour la synthèse de nouveaux polyuréthanes (PU). Le choix particulier du polymère est principalement lié au fait que les PU sont largement utilisés dans le domaine du bâtiment. Ils font également l'objet de nombreuses études en recherche académique pour l'élaboration de nouveaux polymères bio-sourcés.

Cet état de l'art nous a ainsi conduits à identifier et sélectionner des techniques de modification qui ont ensuite été approfondies lors de ce travail de recherche.

Les stratégies développées dans cette thèse et détaillées dans les chapitres II à IV sont basées sur l'utilisation de différentes lignines techniques, qui ont été préalablement analysées et caractérisées. Ces analyses nous ont conduits à la sélection de deux lignines techniques dites sans-soufre : une lignine soda et une lignine organosolve. Ce choix s'est révélé être un paramètre essentiel dans la suite de notre étude car la qualité de la lignine et principalement sa solubilité, conditionne les réactions chimiques développées sur cette biomacromolécule. Le développement de méthodes analytiques, à savoir la caractérisation et la quantification des principales fonctionnalités de la lignine ont constitué un des premiers axes de notre travail. Il a fallu ensuite développer une chimie spécifique permettant la modification de ce macromère. Une exploitation à plus grande échelle a orienté les choix de synthèse opérés. Par ailleurs, le respect des critères économiques inhérent à une future application industrielle a permis d'envisager la lignine comme un candidat potentiel pour la substitution de monomères traditionnels issus du pétrole.

Les Chapitres II à IV reflètent les différentes stratégies mises en place pour la synthèse de polymères fonctionnels. Différents polyols ont effectivement été élaborés à partir de lignine, soit par réaction de polymérisation par ouverture de cycle (ROP) d'ɛ-caprolactone ou d'oxyde de propylène, soit par une estérification combinée à une fonctionnalisation des insaturations de l'acide gras (Figure C-1).



Figure C-1. Schéma récapitulatif des différentes voies de modification chimique explorées.

Les réactions associées ont été optimisées et font l'objet d'études spécifiques notamment en ce qui concerne les différents paramètres réactionnels utilisés. Chacune de ces modifications s'est révélée très efficace pour la synthèse de nouveaux polyols bio-sourcés. Les polyols ainsi obtenus ont conduit à l'élaboration de matériaux originaux: poly(caprolactone) greffé sur la lignine (Chapitre II) ou PU (Chapitres III et IV). Les divers polymères obtenus ont été caractérisés par des analyses chimiques, physico-chimiques et mécaniques.

Le Chapitre II s'est focalisé sur la modification de la lignine par le poly(caprolactone). Par conséquent, les polymères résultants ont démontré un caractère cristallin très marqué engendré par la présence des chaines de PCL greffées. Afin d'apporter une véritable contribution et de répondre à certains questionnements scientifiques par rapport à la

bibliographie actuelle, deux paramètres réactionnels ont notamment été étudiés, à savoir le temps de réaction ainsi que la quantité de catalyseur (l'octanoate d'étain- SnOct<sub>2</sub>). Nous avons montré au travers de méthodes de caractérisation complémentaires d'IR et de rhéologie, l'existence de liaisons intermoléculaires entre les chaines de PCL et la lignine. Ces dernières donnent lieu à la formation d'un réseau amorphe et flexible pour des degrés de polymérisation relativement faibles. Au-delà d'un certain seuil, le polymère devient semi-cristallin, rigide et cassant. Le comportement particulier observé pour les degrés de polymérisation faibles, a fait l'objet d'une étude scientifique approfondie dans le cadre de ce travail de doctorat. Compte tenu de l'application finale visée, ces matériaux n'ont pas été retenus pour envisager une future application industrielle. Ce travail a néanmoins permis (i) de développer des matériaux innovants avec de nouvelles architectures macromoléculaires, et (ii) de mettre en avant des relations spécifiques structure-propriétés conférant au matériau final des propriétés intéressantes, associées à une teneur en composés biosourcés importante (Tableau 1).

Le développement d'un nouveau polyester polyol pour la synthèse de PU originaux à base de lignine et d'acide oléique a été abordé dans le Chapitre III. L'intégration de ce nouvel intermédiaire dans diverses architectures PU a permis l'élaboration de différents réseaux polymères plus ou moins branchés et réticulés. La compréhension de l'organisation macromoléculaire a mis en évidence une séparation de phase du PU entre des segments souples et rigides, caractérisée par des températures de transition vitreuses respectives différentes.

La troisième et dernière approche développée dans le Chapitre IV présente une seule étape de synthèse pour l'élaboration du polyol de base. De nouveaux polyether polyols ont été obtenus par oxypropylation de la lignine en vue d'intégrer ces intermédiaires réactionnels dans la synthèse de PU. La structure macromoléculaire de ce synthon joue un rôle clé dans la structuration de la matrice polymère, dont les propriétés finales sont directement dépendantes. De la même façon qu'avec le système polyol-acide oléique, une séparation de phase a été mise en évidence et a révélé la coexistence de micro-domaines souples et rigides.

Les performances des matériaux obtenus à partir des trois voies de modification développées ont été comparées à celle d'un polymère conventionnel (TPU) qui rentre dans l'élaboration de membranes d'étanchéité commerciales. Les résultats sont présentés dans le tableau ci dessous (Tableau C-1) et permettent d'évaluer les différentes propriétés obtenues par rapport à cette référence. L'adéquation des différents matériaux développés par rapport au

cahier des charges a ainsi pu être appréciée. Ainsi, l'utilisation de polyol à base de lignine et d'acide gras semble à cet instant réunir de nombreux avantages ; notamment en termes de performances techniques en accord avec le cahier des charges mais aussi en terme de valorisation de la biomasse et de la lignine en particulier (forte teneur en composés biosourcés).

	PCL Chapitre II	Acide gras Chapitre III	Oxypropylation Chapitre IV	Référence liant d'étanchéité
	10	40.00	10.00	0
Teneur en biosource (%)	48	42 - 89	13 - 39	0
$T_g$ (°C)	-50 / -35	-42 / -7 (T <sub>g SS</sub> ) 22 / 53 (T <sub>g SR</sub> )	-36 / 2 (T <sub>g SS</sub> ) -5 / 90 (T <sub>g SR</sub> )	-45
$T_{\text{mise en œuvre}}(^{\circ}C)$	80-100	100-120	100	160
Module d'Young (MPa)	13 - 25	0.2 - 2.8	0.3 - 7	2.0 - 2.5
Allongement à la rupture (%)	28 - 30	170 – 360	50 - 400	300 - 400
Contrainte à la rupture (MPa)	1.3 - 2	1 – 10	2 - 9	2 - 3
$T_{dégradation}$ (°C)	520	300 - 400	250 - 400	300 - 400
Aspect matériau	Noir - Souple	Noir – Souple - Elastomère	Noir – Souple –Mise en œuvre parfois difficile	
Adéquation par rapport au cahier des charges	+/-	++	+	

**Tableau C-1.** Bilan des différentes caractéristiques des matériaux obtenus pour chacune des stratégies de synthèse retenues – Comparaison par rapport à un liant de référence pour une membrane d'étanchéité.

Enfin, cette thèse rédigée sous format articles nous a permis de soumettre trois publications scientifiques dans des journaux à comités de lecture et ainsi de valoriser notre travail. Parmi celles-ci une publication a d'ores et déjà été acceptée et publiée dans la revue *Polymer*, les deux autres articles sont en phase de révision. De plus, compte-tenu des résultats prometteurs et de l'originalité des travaux présentés, ces recherches ont fait l'objet d'un dépôt d'une

enveloppe Soleau avant la rédaction d'un éventuel brevet. Ainsi, un article complémentaire va être soumis prochainement dans la revue *Green Chemistry*.

\* \* \*

Les résultats très encourageants obtenus lors de ces études n'ont pas permis à ce jour d'atteindre complètement l'objectif de formulation d'une membrane d'étanchéité à base de lignine. Cependant, l'élargissement récent des compétences de la société Soprema dans de nouveaux domaines d'activités permet d'envisager l'utilisation de certains polyols à base de lignine dans de nouvelles applications telles que les mousses d'isolations thermiques et phoniques...

Ce travail effectué dans le laboratoire au sein de l'équipe de recherche *BioTeam* était le premier sur le thème de la valorisation chimique de la lignine et a permis d'élargir les compétences de l'équipe dans ce domaine de recherche. Cette approche scientifique novatrice et différente des autres travaux de recherches précédents, associée à la mise au point de méthodes de synthèse réactionnelle a participé au développement d'une nouvelle expertise, actuellement étendue dans le cadre d'un autre sujet de recherche développé par la *BioTeam*. Les techniques de synthèses développées s'appuient essentiellement sur la modification des fonctions hydroxyles de la lignine, sites réactionnels abondants que l'on peut également retrouver dans plusieurs composés de la biomasse. Les approches de modification développées lors de ce travail peuvent ainsi s'appliquer à d'autres produits tels que les tannins ou les polysaccharides par exemple.

Ce sont principalement les PU élaborés au cours de cette étude qui retiennent notre attention. L'estérification de la lignine en l'absence de solvant et de catalyseur constitue une véritable avancée dans le domaine de la chimie de ce macromère. On peut envisager cette estérification avec différents types d'acides gras ou dérivés d'acides. Par ailleurs, la réaction thiol-ène (« click chemistry ») sur les acides gras représente une alternative prometteuse à la stratégie en deux étapes développée pour la modification de l'insaturation. Certains essais préliminaires et prometteurs ont d'ores et déjà été effectués au laboratoire et doivent encore être optimisés.

Enfin, un travail important reste à mener concernant la connaissance plus précise des mécanismes impliqués dans la réaction d'oxypropylation afin de contrôler de manière plus efficace la fonctionnalité d'une (macro)molécule de lignine oxypropylée. L'utilisation des techniques de RMN quantitatives <sup>31</sup>P et <sup>1</sup>H couplées à des méthodes de dosages chimiques sur des lignines modifiées doivent permettre une meilleure caractérisation de la structure en vue de l'élaboration de matériaux thermoplastiques élastomères (TPE).

Afin de pouvoir développer des membranes fonctionnelles pour l'industrie du bâtiment, la formulation complète de ces matériaux semble indispensable pour pouvoir répondre au cahier des charges fonctionnel en termes de résistance aux UV, tenue au vieillissement ou encore d'absorption d'eau... L'introduction de charges minérales mais aussi de fibres telles que les fibres ligno-cellulosiques permettra alors d'apporter des fonctionnalités complémentaires à ces matrices biosourcées (processabilité, résistance, ergonomie des membranes...). Un travail sur l'affinité fibre/matrice ou charge/matrice serait notamment nécessaire afin d'atteindre les propriétés mécaniques et physico-chimiques en accord avec l'application visée. Ces renforts mécaniques doivent être aussi associés à d'autres additifs tels que des antioxydants et anti-UV afin d'apporter aux matériaux finaux des propriétés d'usage avec une garantie d'utilisation décennale. Ce travail nécessite un fort développement en termes de formulation associé aux procédés de mise en œuvre des membranes d'étanchéité finales.

Enfin, dans le cadre de ce travail doctoral, des polymères originaux ont été développés et permettent d'envisager une utilisation dans d'autres domaines d'applications pour certains d'entre eux. Il serait alors intéressant d'identifier précisément ces domaines et de poursuivre le développement de formulations adéquates associé à des approches de scaling-up.

Par ailleurs, les enjeux industriels doivent également être pris en compte et l'ouverture des travaux vers l'utilisation de lignines techniques plus disponibles et moins coûteuses doit être envisagée. Les lignines Kraft représentent en ce sens la meilleure alternative et la transposition de nos travaux, notamment l'oxypropylation et l'estérification avec des acides gras doit se poursuivre.

## Bibliographie générale

Methoxyl Content of Pulp and Wood. TAPPI Test Methods, 1972: T 209 su-72.

Sustainable biofuels: prospects and challenges, The Royal Society, London, 2008.

Adler, E., Lignin chemistry-past, present and future. *Wood Science and Technology*, **1977**: 11: 169-218.

Ahvazi, B., Wojciechowicz, O., Ton-That, T. M., & Hawari, J., Preparation of lignopolyols from wheat straw soda lignin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **2011**: 59: 10505-10516.

Amarasekara, A. S., Wiredu, B., & Razzaq, A., Vanillin based polymers: I. An electrochemical route to polyvanillin. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 2395-2397.

Amen-Chen, C., Pakdel, H., & Roy, C., Production of monomeric phenols by thermochemical conversion of biomass: a review. *Bioresource Technology*, **2001**: 79: 277-299.

Anastas, P. T., & Warner, J. C., *Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice*, Oxford University Press, New York, **1998**.

Aniceto, J. P. S., Portugal, I., & Silva, C. M., Biomass-based polyols through oxypropylation reaction. *ChemSusChem*, **2012**: 5: 1358-1368.

Aouf, C., Lecomte, J., Villeneuve, P., Dubreucq, E., & Fulcrand, H., Chemo-enzymatic functionalization of gallic and vanillic acids: Synthesis of bio-based epoxy resins prepolymers. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 2328-2336.

Araújo, J. D. P., Grande, C. A., & Rodrigues, A. E., Vanillin production from lignin oxidation in a batch reactor. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, **2010**: 88: 1024-1032.

Arend, M., Westermann, B., & Risch, N., Modern Variants of the Mannich Reaction. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, **1998**: 37: 1044-1070.

Argyropoulos, D. S., Quantitative Phosphorus-31 NMR Analysis of Lignins, a New Tool for the Lignin Chemist. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **1994a**: 14: 45-63.

Argyropoulos, D. S., Quantitative Phosphorus-31 NMR Analysis of Six Soluble Lignins. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **1994b**: 14: 65-82

Argyropoulos, D. S., 31P NMR in wood chemistry: A review of recent progress. *Research on Chemical Intermediates*, **1995**: 21: 373-395.

Arshady, R., & George, M. H., The allophanate link in polyurethane synthesis. *Polymer* communications, **1990**: 31: 448-450.

Averous, L., Moro, L., Dole, P., & Fringant, C., Properties of thermoplastic blends: Starch-polycaprolactone. *Polymer*, **2000**: 41: 4157-4167.

Babu, R., O'Connor, K., & Seeram, R., Current progress on bio-based polymers and their future trends. *Progress in Biomaterials C7* - 8, **2013**: 2: 1-16.

Backus, J. K., & Schmelzer, H. G., in *Encyclopedia of Polymer Science and Engineering*, ed. J. W. a. Sons, New-York, **1988**, pp. 243-303.

Bantchev, G. B., Kenar, J. A., Biresaw, G., & Han, M. G., Free Radical Addition of Butanethiol to Vegetable Oil Double Bonds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **2009**: 57: 1282-1290.

Baumberger, S., Abaecherli, A., Fasching, M., Gellerstedt, G., Gosselink, R., Hortling, B., Li, J., Saake, B., & De Jong, E., Molar mass determination of lignins by size-exclusion chromatography: Towards standardisation of the method. *Holzforschung*, **2007**: 61: 459-468.

Benedikt, R., & Bamberger, M., Über eine quantitative Reaction des Lignins. *Monatshefte für Chemie*, **1890**: 11: 260-267.

Biermann, U., Friedt, W., Lang, S., Lühs, W., Machmüller, G., Metzger, U. O., Gen. Klaas, M. R., Schäfer, H. J., & Schneider, M. P., in *Biorefineries-Industrial Processes and Products*, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH, **2008** pp.253-289.

Bismarck, A., Baltazar-Y-Jimenez, A., & Sarikakis, K., Green composites as Panacea? Socioeconomic aspects of green materials. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, **2006**: 8: 445-463.

Boerjan, W., Ralph, J., & Baucher, M., in Annual Review of Plant Biology, 2003, pp. 519-546.

Bonini, C., D'Auria, M., Emanuele, L., Ferri, R., Pucciariello, R., & Sabia, A. R., Polyurethanes and polyesters from lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2005**: 98: 1451-1456.

Bouajila, J., Dole, P., Joly, C., & Limare, A., Some laws of a lignin plasticization. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2006**: 102: 1445-1451.

Brebu, M., & Spiridon, I., Co-pyrolysis of LignoBoost® lignin with synthetic polymers. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2012**: 97: 2104-2109.

Brebu, M., & Vasile, C., Thermal degradation of lignin - A review. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, **2010**: 44: 353-363.

Brunow, G., in *Lignin, Humic Substances and Coal* eds.M. Hofrichter, & A. Steinbüchel, **2004** pp.89-99.

Caillol, S., Desroches, M., Boutevin, G., Loubat, C., Auvergne, R., & Boutevin, B., Synthesis of new polyester polyols from epoxidized vegetable oils and biobased acids. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **2012**: 114: 1447-1459.

Calvo-Flores, F. G., & Dobado, J. A., Lignin as renewable raw material. *ChemSusChem*, **2010**: 3: 1227-1235.

Camberlin, Y., Pascault, J. P., Letoffe, J. M., & Claudy, P., Synthesis and DSC study of model hard segments from diphenyl methane diisocyanate and butane diol. *Journal of Polymer Science: Polymer Chemistry Edition*, **1982**: 20: 383-392.

Capanema, E. A., Balakshin, M. Y., & Kadla, J. F., A Comprehensive Approach for Quantitative Lignin Characterization by NMR Spectroscopy. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **2004**: 52: 1850-1860.

Cateto, C. A., Barreiro, M. F., & Rodrigues, A. E., Monitoring of lignin-based polyurethane synthesis by FTIR-ATR. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2008**: 27: 168-174.

Cateto, C. A., Barreiro, M. F., Rodrigues, A. E., & Belgacem, M. N., Optimization study of lignin oxypropylation in view of the preparation of polyurethane rigid foams. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, **2009**: 48: 2583-2589.

Cateto, C. A., Barreiro, M. F., Rodrigues, A. E., & Belgacem, M. N., Kinetic study of the formation of lignin-based polyurethanes in bulk. *Reactive and Functional Polymers*, **2011**: 71: 863-869.

Cateto, C. A. B., in, Faculdade de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto (FEUP), Porto-Grenoble, **2008**.

Cazacu, G., Capraru, M., & Popa, V., in *Advances in Natural Polymers*eds.S. Thomas, P. M. Visakh, & A. P. Mathew, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, **2013** pp.255-312.

Chakar, F. S., & Ragauskas, A. J., Review of current and future softwood kraft lignin process chemistry. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2004**: 20: 131-141.

Chattopadhyay, D. K., & Webster, D. C., Thermal stability and flame retardancy of polyurethanes. *Progress in Polymer Science*, **2009**: 34: 1068-1133.

Chen, Y. R., & Sarkanen, S., Macromolecular lignin replication: A mechanistic working hypothesis. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, **2003**: 2: 235-255.

Chen, Y. r., & Sarkanen, S., Macromolecular replication during lignin biosynthesis. *Phytochemistry*, **2010**: 71: 453-462.

Cheng, S., Yuan, Z., Anderson, M., Leitch, M., & Xu, C., Synthesis of biobased phenolic resins/adhesives with methylolated wood-derived bio-oil. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2012**: 126: E430-E440.

Choi, D., Chipman, D. C., Bents, S. C., & Brown, R. C., A techno-economic analysis of polyhydroxyalkanoate and hydrogen production from syngas fermentation of gasified biomass. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, **2010**: 160: 1032-1046.

Cinelli, P., Anguillesi, I., & Lazzeri, A., Green synthesis of flexible polyurethane foams from liquefied lignin. *European Polymer Journal*, **2013**: 49: 1174-1184.

Ciobanu, C., Ungureanu, M., Ignat, L., Ungureanu, D., & Popa, V. I., Properties of lignin-polyurethane films prepared by casting method. *Ind. Crop. Pro.*, **2004**: 20: 231.

Clark, J. H., Luque, R., & Matharu, A. S., Green chemistry, biofuels, and biorefinery. *Annual Review of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering*, **2012**: 3: 183-207.

Cui, C., Sadeghifar, H., Sen, S., & Argyropoulos, D. S., Toward thermoplastic lignin polymers; Part II: Thermal & polymer characteristics of kraft lignin & derivatives. *BioResources*, **2013**: 8: 864-886.

Cuvé, L., Pascault, J. P., Boiteux, G., & Seytre, G., Synthesis and properties of polyurethanes based on polyolefine: 1. Rigid polyurethanes and amorphous segmented polyurethanes prepared in polar solvents under homogeneous conditions. *Polymer*, **1991**: 32: 343-352.

Cvetković, I., Milić, J., Ionescu, M., & Petrović, Z. S., Preparation of 9-hydroxynonanoic acid methyl ester by ozonolysis of vegetable oils and its polycondensation. *Hemijska Industrija*, **2008**: 62: 319-328.

da Silva, C. G., Grelier, S., Pichavant, F., Frollini, E., & Castellan, A., Adding value to lignins isolated from sugarcane bagasse and Miscanthus. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2013**: 42: 87-95.

Dang Thi, A. T., Camberlin, Y., Lam, T. M., & Pascault, J. P., Synthèse et propriétés de polyuréthanes réticulés par des cycles isocyanurates. *Die Angewandte Makromolekulare Chemie*, **1983**: 111: 29-51.

Dashtban, M., Schraft, H., Syed, T. A., & Qin, W., Fungal biodegradation and enzymatic modification of lignin. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **2010**: 1: 36-50.

De Chirico, A., Armanini, M., Chini, P., Cioccolo, G., Provasoli, F., & Audisio, G., Flame retardants for polypropylene based on lignin. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2003**: 79: 139-145.

de Menezes, A., Pasquini, D., Curvelo, A., & Gandini, A., Self-reinforced composites obtained by the partial oxypropylation of cellulose fibers. 2. Effect of catalyst on the mechanical and dynamic mechanical properties. *Cellulose*, **2009**: 16: 239-246.

de Menezes, A. J., Pasquini, D., Curvelo, A. A. S., & Gandini, A., Novel thermoplastic materials based on the outer-shell oxypropylation of corn starch granules. *Biomacromolecules*, **2007**: 8: 2047-2050.

de Oliveira, W., & Glasser, W. G., in American Chemical Society, Polymer Preprints, Division of Polymer Chemistry, Publ by ACS, Boston, MA, USA, **1990**, pp. 655-656.

De Oliveira, W., & Glasser, W. G., Multiphase materials with lignin. 11. Starlike copolymers with caprolactone. *Macromolecules*, **1994**: 27: 5-11.

Delebecq, E., Pascault, J. P., Boutevin, B., & Ganachaud, F., On the versatility of urethane/urea bonds: Reversibility, blocked isocyanate, and non-isocyanate polyurethane. *Chemical Reviews*, **2013**: 113: 80-118.

Delmas, M., Vegetal refining and agrichemistry. *Chemical Engineering and Technology*, **2008**: 31: 792-797.

Delpech, M. C., & Coutinho, F. M. B., Waterborne anionic polyurethanes and poly(urethaneurea)s: influence of the chain extender on mechanical and adhesive properties. *Polymer Testing*, **2000**: 19: 939-952.

Desroches, M., Caillol, S., Lapinte, V., Auvergne, R., & Boutevin, B., Synthesis of biobased polyols by thiol-ene coupling from vegetable oils. *Macromolecules*, **2011**: 44: 2489-2500.

Doczekalska, B., Bartkowiak, M., & Zakrzewski, R., Modification of sawdust from pine and beech wood with the succinic anhydride. *Holz als Roh - und Werkstoff*, **2007**: 65: 187-191.

Domenek, S., Louaifi, A., Guinault, A., & Baumberger, S., Potential of Lignins as Antioxidant Additive in Active Biodegradable Packaging Materials. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, **2013**: 1-10.

Dorrestijn, E., Laarhoven, L. J. J., Arends, I. W. C. E., & Mulder, P., The occurrence and reactivity of phenoxyl linkages in lignin and low rank coal. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, **2000**: 54: 153-192.

Effendi, A., Gerhauser, H., & Bridgwater, A. V., Production of renewable phenolic resins by thermochemical conversion of biomass: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **2008**: 12: 2092-2116.

El Hage, R., Brosse, N., Chrusciel, L., Sanchez, C., Sannigrahi, P., & Ragauskas, A., Characterization of milled wood lignin and ethanol organosolv lignin from miscanthus. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2009**: 94: 1632-1638.

El Mansouri, N. E., Pizzi, A., & Salvadó, J., Lignin-based wood panel adhesives without formaldehyde. *Holz als Roh - und Werkstoff*, **2007**: 65: 65-70.

El Mansouri, N. E., & Salvadó, J., Analytical methods for determining functional groups in various technical lignins. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2007**: 26: 116-124.

El Mansouri, N. E., Yuan, Q., & Huang, F., Synthesis and characterization of kraft ligninbased epoxy resins. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 2492-2503.

Erdocia, X., Toledano, A., Corcuera, M. A., & Labidi, J., Organosolv black liquor hydrolysis to obtain low molecular weight phenolic compounds. *Chemical Engineering Transactions*, **2012**: 29: 535-540.

Evtiouguina, M., Gandini, A., Neto, C. P., & Belgacem, N. M., Urethanes and polyurethanes based on oxypropylated cork: 1. Appraisal and reactivity of products. *Polymer International*, **2001**: 50: 1150-1155.

Evtiouguina, M., Margarida Barros, A., Cruz-Pinto, J. J., Pascoal Neto, C., Belgacem, N., Pavier, C., & Gandini, A., The oxypropylation of cork residues: preliminary results. *Bioresource Technology*, **2000**: 73: 187-189.

Falkehag, S. I., in *Cellulose Conference*, ed. T. E. Timell, Syracuse, New York, **1975**, pp. 247-257.

Fang, R., Cheng, X. S., & Lin, W. S., Preparation and application of dimer acid/lignin graft copolymer. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 2874-2884.

Faruk, O., & Sain, M., Continuous extrusion foaming of lignin enhanced thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU). *Journal of Biobased Materials and Bioenergy*, **2013**: 7: 309-314.

Fernandes, S., Freire, C. S. R., Neto, C. P., & Gandini, A., The bulk oxypropylation of chitin and chitosan and the characterization of the ensuing polyols. *Green Chemistry*, **2008**: 10: 93-97.

Fernando, S., Adhikari, S., Chandrapal, C., & Murali, N., Biorefineries: Current status, challenges, and future direction. *Energy and Fuels*, **2006**: 20: 1727-1737.

Ferrer, A., Vega, A., Rodríguez, L., & Jiménez, L., Acetosolv pulping for the fractionation of empty fruit bunches from palm oil industry. *Bioresource Technology*, **2013**: 132: 115-120.

Firdaus, M., & Meier, M. A. R., Renewable co-polymers derived from vanillin and fatty acid derivatives. *European Polymer Journal*, **2012**.

Fox, S. C., & McDonald, A. G., Chemical and thermal characterization of three industrial lignins and their corresponding lignin esters. *BioResources*, **2010**: 5: 990-1009.

Freudenberg, K., Zur Kenntis der Cellulose. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges., 1921: 767-773.

Freudenberg, K., Biosynthesis and constitution of lignin. Nature, 1959: 183: 1152-1155.

Freudenberg, K., Lignin: Its Constitution and Formation from p-Hydroxycinnamyl Alcohols. *Science*, **1965**: 48: 595-600.

Freudenberg, K., & Nash, A. C., *Constitution and Biosynthesis of Lignin*, Berlin: Springer-Verlag, **1968**.

Gandini, A., Polymers from renewable resources: A challenge for the future of macromolecular materials. *Macromolecules*, **2008**: 41: 9491-9504.

Gandini, A., The irruption of polymers from renewable resources on the scene of macromolecular science and technology. *Green Chemistry*, **2011**: 13: 1061-1083.

Gandini, A., & Belgacem, M. N., Recent contributions to the preparation of polymers derived from renewable resources. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, **2002**: 10: 105-114.

Gandini, A., Belgacem, M. N., Mohamed Naceur, B., & Alessandro, G., in *Monomers, Polymers and Composites from Renewable Resources*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, **2008a** pp.1-16.

Gandini, A., Belgacem, M. N., Mohamed Naceur, B., & Alessandro, G., in *Monomers, Polymers and Composites from Renewable Resources*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, **2008b** pp.243-271.

Gandini, A., Belgacem, M. N., Mohamed Naceur, B., & Alessandro, G., in *Monomers, Polymers and Composites from Renewable Resources*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, **2008c** pp.273-288.

Gandini, A., da Silva Curvelo, A. A., Pasquini, D., & de Menezes, A. J., Direct transformation of cellulose fibres into self-reinforced composites by partial oxypropylation. *Polymer*, **2005**: 46: 10611-10613.

Gao, G., Dallmeyer, J. I., & Kadla, J. F., Synthesis of lignin nanofibers with ionic-responsive shells: Water-expandable lignin-based nanofibrous mats. *Biomacromolecules*, **2012**: 13: 3602-3610.

Gibson, L. J., The hierarchical structure and mechanics of plant materials. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, **2012**: 9: 2749-2766.

Glasser, W. G., in ACS Symposium Series, 1999, pp. 216-238.

Glasser, W. G., Barnett, C. A., Muller, P. C., & Sarkanen, K. V., The chemistry of several novel bioconversion lignins. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **1983**: 31: 921-930.

Glasser, W. G., Barnett, C. A., Rials, T. G., & Saraf, V. P., Engineering Plastics From Lignin - II Characterization of hydroxyalkyl derivatives. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1984**: 29: 1815-1830.

Glasser, W. G., Northey, R. A., & Schultz, T. P., *Lignin: Historical, Biological, and Materials Perspectives*, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, **1999**.

Gonçalves, A. R., & Benar, P., Hydroxymethylation and oxidation of Organosolv lignins and utilization of the products. *Bioresource Technology*, **2001**: 79: 103-111.

González-Paz, R. J., Lluch, C., Lligadas, G., Ronda, J. C., Galià, M., & Cádiz, V., A green approach toward oleic- and undecylenic acid-derived polyurethanes. *Journal of Polymer Science, Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2011**: 49: 2407-2416.

Goring, D. A. I., Thermal softening of lignin, hemicelluloses and cellulose. *Pulp Paper Mag. Can.*, **1963**: 62: 517-527.

Gosselink, R. J. A., Abächerli, A., Semke, H., Malherbe, R., Käuper, P., Nadif, A., & Van Dam, J. E. G., Analytical protocols for characterisation of sulphur-free lignin. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2004**: 19: 271-281.

Gosselink, R. J. A., De Jong, E., Guran, B., & Abächerli, A., Co-ordination network for lignin -Standardisation, production and applications adapted to market requirements (EUROLIGNIN). *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2004**: 20: 121-129.

Gosselink, R. J. A., Snijder, M. H. B., Kranenbarg, A., Keijsers, E. R. P., De Jong, E., & Stigsson, L. L., Characterisation and application of NovaFiber lignin. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2004**: 20: 191-203.

Granata, A., & Argyropoulos, D. S., 2-Chloro-4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaphospholane, a reagent for the accurate determination of the uncondensed and condensed phenolic moieties in lignins. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **1995**: 43: 1538-1544.

Guo, A., Demydov, D., Zhang, W., & Petrovic, Z. S., Polyols and polyurethanes from hydroformylation of soybean oil. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, **2002**: 10: 49-52.

Guo, A., Zhang, W., & Petrovic, Z., Structure-property relationships in polyurethanes derived from soybean oil. *Journal of Materials Science*, **2006**: 41: 4914-4920.

Guo, Z.-X., & Gandini, A., Polyesters from lignin 2. The copolyesterification of kraft lignin and polyethylene glycols with dicarboxylic acid chlorides. *European Polymer Journal*, **1991**: 27: 1177-1180.

Guo, Z.-X., Gandini, A., & Pla, F., Polyesters from lignin. 1. The reaction of kraft lignin with dicarboxylic acid chlorides. *Polymer International*, **1992**: 27: 17-22.

H.Nimz, H., in Wood Adhesives. Chemistry and Technology, ed.A. Pizzi, 1983.

Hamaguchi, M., Cardoso, M., & Vakkilainen, E., Alternative technologies for biofuels production in kraft pulp mills-potential and prospects. *Energies*, **2012**: 5: 2288-2309.

Hamaguchi, M., Kautto, J., & Vakkilainen, E., Effects of hemicellulose extraction on the kraft pulp mill operation and energy use: Review and case study with lignin removal. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, **2013**.

Hatakeyama, H., & Hatakeyama, T., in *Biopolymers*,ed.S. Kobayashi, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, **2010** pp.1-63.

Hatakeyama, H., Hirogaki, A., Matsumura, H., & Hatakeyama, T., Glass transition temperature of polyurethane foams derived from lignin by controlled reaction rate. *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, **2013**: 1-8.

Hatakeyama, H., Hirose, S., & Hatakeyama, T., in *Lignin*, American Chemical Society, **1989** pp.205-218.

Hatakeyama, H., Hirose, S., Yano, S., Nakamura, K., & Hatakeyama, T., in *Cellulose sources and exploitation: industrial utilization, biotechnology and physico-chemical properties*,ed.P. A. W. G.O. Phillips, J.F. Kennedy, Ellis Horwood Ltd, Chichester, **1990** pp.466-471.

Hatakeyama, H., Nakano, J., Hatano, A., & Migita, N., Variation of infrared spectra with temperature for lignin and lignin model compounds. *Tappi*, **1969**: 52: 1724-1728.

Hatakeyama, T., & Hatakeyama, H., in *Thermal Properties of Green Polymers and Biocomposites*, Kluwer Academic Publisher, **2005**.

Hatakeyama, T., Izuta, Y., Hirose, S., & Hatakeyama, H., Phase transitions of lignin-based polycaprolactones and their polyurethane derivatives. *Polymer*, **2002**: 43: 1177-1182.

Henry, N., Harper, D., & Dadmun, M., Optimizing noncovalent interactions between lignin and synthetic polymers to develop effective compatibilizers. *Macromolecular Chemistry and Physics*, **2012**: 213: 1196-1205.

Hinrichsen, G., Polyurethane handbook (2nd ed.). Edited by G. Oertel, Hanser Publishers, Munich 1993, 770 pp., DM 358, ISBN 3-446-17198-3. *Acta Polymerica*, **1994**: 45: 398-398.

Hirose, S., Hatakeyama, T., Izuta, Y., & Hatakeyama, H., TG-FTIR studies on lignin-based polycaprolactones. *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, **2002**: 70: 853-860.

Hocking, M. B., Vanillin: Synthetic Flavoring from Spent Sulfite Liquor. *Journal of Chemical Education*, **1997**: 79: 1055-1059.

Hu, L., Pan, H., Zhou, Y., & Zhang, M., Methods to improve lignin's reactivity as a phenol substitute and as replacement for other phenolic compounds: A brief review. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 3515-3525.

Hu, T., Gandini, A., Belgacem, M., Guo, Z.-X., & Montanari, S., in *Chemical Modification*, *Properties, and Usage of Lignin*, Springer US, **2002** pp.57-80.

Hu, T. Q., *Chemical Modification, Properties, and Usage of Lignin*, Kluwer Academic/ Plenum Publisher, New York, **2002**.

Hu, T. Q., Characterization of Lignocellulosic Materials Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, 2008.

Huang, J., & Zhang, L., Effects of NCO/OH molar ratio on structure and properties of graftinterpenetrating polymer networks from polyurethane and nitrolignin. *Polymer*, **2002**: 43: 2287-2294.

Huo, S. P., Nie, M. C., Kong, Z. W., Wu, G. M., & Chen, J., Crosslinking kinetics of the formation of lignin-aminated polyol-based polyurethane foam. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2012**: 125: 152-157.

Inone-Kauffmann, E. R., ARBOFORM® - A lignin-based thermoplastic. *International Sugar Journal*, **2009**: 111: 10-11.

Ionescu, M., *Chemistry and Technology of Polyols for Polyuerethanes*, Rapra Technology, 2005a.

Ionescu, M., Chemistry and technology of polyols for polyurethanes, Rapra Publishing, 2005b.

Irvine, G. M., The glass transitions of lignin and hemicellulose and their measurement by differential thermal analysis. *Tappi*, **1984**: 67: 118-121.

Ismail, T. N. M. T., Hassan, H. A., Hirose, S., Taguchi, Y., Hatakeyama, T., & Hatakeyama, H., Synthesis and thermal properties of ester-type crosslinked epoxy resins derived from lignosulfonate and glycerol. *Polymer International*, **2010**: 59: 181-186.

Isroi, Millati, R., Syamsiah, S., Niklasson, C., Cahyanto, M. N., Lundquist, K., & Taherzadeh, M. J., Biological pretreatment of lignocelluloses with white-rot fungi and its applications: A review. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 5224-5259.

Jakab, E., Faix, O., Till, F., & Székely, T., Thermogravimetry/mass spectrometry study of six lignins within the scope of an international round robin test. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, **1995**: 35: 167-179.

Jasiukaityte-Grojzdek, E., Kunaver, M., & Crestini, C., Lignin structural changes during liquefaction in acidified ethylene glycol. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **2012**: 32: 342-360.

Javni, I., Petrović, Z. S., Guo, A., & Fuller, R., Thermal stability of polyurethanes based on vegetable oils. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2000**: 77: 1723-1734.

Jin, Y., Ruan, X., Cheng, X., & Lü, Q., Liquefaction of lignin by polyethyleneglycol and glycerol. *Bioresource Technology*, **2011**: 102: 3581-3583.

Kadla, J. F., & Kubo, S., Lignin-based polymer blends: analysis of intermolecular interactions in lignin-synthetic polymer blends. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, **2004**: 35: 395-400.

Kadla, J. F., Kubo, S., Venditti, R. A., Gilbert, R. D., Compere, A. L., & Griffith, W., Ligninbased carbon fibers for composite fiber applications. *Carbon*, **2002**: 40: 2913-2920.

Karmalm, P., Hjertberg, T., Jansson, A., & Dahl, R., Thermal stability of poly(vinyl chloride) with epoxidised soybean oil as primary plasticizer. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2009**: 94: 2275-2281.

Karmalm, P., Hjertberg, T., Jansson, A., Dahl, R., & Ankner, K., Network formation by epoxidised soybean oil in plastisol poly(vinyl chloride). *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2009**: 94: 1986-1990.

Kelley, S. S., Glasser, W. G., & Ward, T. C., Engineering plastics from lignin. XV. Polyurethane films from chain-extended hydroxypropyl lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1988**: 36: 759-772.

Kham, L., Le Bigot, Y., Delmas, M., & Avignon, G., Delignification of wheat straw using a mixture of carboxylic acids and peroxoacids. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2005**: 21: 9-15.

Khambatta, F. B., Warner, F., Russell, T., & Stein, R. S., Small-angle x-ray and light scattering studies of the morphology of blends of  $poly(\epsilon$ -caprolactone) with poly(vinyl chloride). *Journal of Polymer Science: Polymer Physics Edition*, **1976**: 14: 1391-1424.

Khoe, T. H., Otey, F., Frankel, E. N., & Cowan, J. C., Polyurethane foams from hydroxymethylated fatty diethanolamides. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, **1973**: 50: 331-333.

Khoe, T. H., Otey, F. H., & Frankel, E. N., Rigid urethane foams from hydroxymethylated linseed oil and polyol esters. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, **1972**: 49: 615-618.

Kiatsimkul, P. p., Suppes, G. J., Hsieh, F. h., Lozada, Z., & Tu, Y. C., Preparation of high hydroxyl equivalent weight polyols from vegetable oils. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2008**: 27: 257-264.

Kim, Y. S., & Kadla, J. F., Preparation of a thermoresponsive lignin-based biomaterial through atom transfer radical polymerization. *Biomacromolecules*, **2010**: 11: 981-988.

Kobayashi, M., Asano, T., Kajiyama, M., & Tomita, B., Analysis on residue formation during wood liquefaction with polyhydric alcohol. *Journal of Wood Science*, **2004**: 50: 407-414.

Köckritz, A., & Martin, A., Oxidation of unsaturated fatty acid derivatives and vegetable oils. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **2008**: 110: 812-824.

Kong, X., & Narine, S. S., Physical properties of polyurethane plastic sheets produced from polyols from canola oil. *Biomacromolecules*, **2007**: 8: 2203-2209.

Korich, A. L., Clarke, K. M., Wallace, D., & Iovine, P. M., Chemical modification of a lignin model polymer via arylboronate ester formation under mild reaction conditions. *Macromolecules*, **2009**: 42: 5906-5908.

Korich, A. L., Fleming, A. B., Walker, A. R., Wang, J., Tang, C., & Iovine, P. M., Chemical modification of organosolv lignin using boronic acid-containing reagents. *Polymer*, **2012**: 53: 87-93.

Kouisni, L., Fang, Y., Paleologou, M., Ahvazi, B., Hawari, J., Zhang, Y., & Wang, X. M., Kraft lignin recovery and its use in the preparation of lignin-based phenol formaldehyde resins for plywood. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, **2011**: 45: 515-520.

Kowalski, A., Duda, A., & Penczek, S., Kinetics and mechanism of cyclic esters polymerization initiated with tin(II) octoate, 1: Polymerization of  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone. *Macromolecular Rapid Communications*, **1998**: 19: 567-572.

Kubo, S., & Kadla, J. F., Hydrogen bonding in lignin: A fourier transform infrared model compound study. *Biomacromolecules*, **2005a**: 6: 2815-2821.

Kubo, S., & Kadla, J. F., Kraft lignin/poly(ethylene oxide) blends: Effect of lignin structure on miscibility and hydrogen bonding. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2005b**: 98: 1437-1444.

Kudanga, T., Prasetyo, E. N., Sipilä, J., Guebitz, G. M., & Nyanhongo, G. S., Reactivity of long chain alkylamines to lignin moieties: Implications on hydrophobicity of lignocellulose materials. *Journal of Biotechnology*, **2010**: 149: 81-87.

Labet, M., & Thielemans, W., Synthesis of polycaprolactone: A review. *Chemical Society Reviews*, **2009**: 38: 3484-3504.

Lammers, G., Stamhuis, E. J., & Beenackers, A. A. C. M., Kinetics of the hydroxypropylation of potato starch in aqueous solution. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, **1993**: 32: 835-842.

Laurichesse, S., & Avérous, L., Synthesis, thermal properties, rheological and mechanical behaviors of lignins-grafted-poly( $\epsilon$ -caprolactone). *Polymer (United Kingdom)*, **2013**: 54: 3882-3890.

Lee, W. J., Chang, K. C., & Tseng, I. M., Properties of phenol-formaldehyde resins prepared from phenol-liquefied lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2012**: 124: 4782-4788.

Leonowicz, A., Matuszewska, A., Luterek, J., Ziegenhagen, D., WojtaÅ-Wasilewska, M., Cho, N.-S., Hofrichter, M., & Rogalski, J., Biodegradation of Lignin by White Rot Fungi. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, **1999a**: 27: 175-185.

Leonowicz, A., Matuszewska, A., Luterek, J., Ziegenhagen, D., Wojtaś-Wasilewska, M., Cho, N.-S., Hofrichter, M., & Rogalski, J., Biodegradation of Lignin by White Rot Fungi. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, **1999b**: 27: 175-185.

Li, J., He, Y., & Inoue, Y., Study on thermal and mechanical properties of biodegradable blends of poly( $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) and lignin. *Polymer Journal*, **2001**: 33: 336-343.

Li, J., He, Y., & Inoue, Y., Thermal and mechanical properties of biodegradable blends of poly(L-lactic acid) and lignin. *Polymer International*, **2003**: 52: 949-955.

Li, X., in Advanced Materials Research, Xi'an, 2011, pp. 676-681.

Li, Y., Han, Y., Qin, T., & Chu, F., Preparation of polyurethane foams based on liquefied corn stalk enzymatic hydrolysis lignin. *Journal of Biobased Materials and Bioenergy*, **2012**: 6: 51-58.

Li, Y., Mlynar, J., & Sarkanen, S., The first 85% kraft lignin-based thermoplastics. *Journal of Polymer Science, Part B: Polymer Physics*, **1997**: 35: 1899-1910.

Li, Y., & Ragauskas, A. J., Ethanol organosolv lignin-based rigid polyurethane foam reinforced with cellulose nanowhiskers. *RSC Advances*, **2012a**: 2: 3347-3351.

Li, Y., & Ragauskas, A. J., Kraft Lignin-Based Rigid Polyurethane Foam. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **2012b**: 32: 210-224.

Lin, L., Yao, Y., Yoshioka, M., & Shiraishi, N., Molecular weights and molecular weight distributions of liquefied wood obtained by acid-catalyzed phenolysis. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1997**: 64: 351-357.

Lin, N., Fan, D., Chang, P. R., Yu, J., Cheng, X., & Huang, J., Structure and properties of poly(butylene succinate) filled with lignin: A case of lignosulfonate. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2011**: 121: 1717-1724.

Lin, S. Y., & Dence, C. W., Methods in Lignin Chemistry, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992.

Lindberg, J. J., Kuusela Tuula, A., & Levon, K., in *Lignin*, American Chemical Society, **1989** pp.190-204.

Liu, Y., & Li, K., Preparation and characterization of demethylated lignin-polyethylenimine adhesives. *Journal of Adhesion*, **2006**: 82: 593-605.

Lligadas, G., Ronda, J. C., Galià, M., Biermann, U., & Metzger, J. O., Synthesis and characterization of polyurethanes from epoxidized methyl oleate based polyether polyols as renewable resources. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2006**: 44: 634-645.

Lligadas, G., Ronda, J. C., Galiá, M., & Cádiz, V., Plant oils as platform chemicals for polyurethane synthesis: Current state-of-the-art. *Biomacromolecules*, **2010**: 11: 2825-2835.

Lligadas, G., Ronda, J. C., Galià, M., & Cádiz, V., Monomers and polymers from plant oils via click chemistry reactions. *Journal of Polymer Science, Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2013**: 51: 2111-2124.

Lluch, C., Ronda, J. C., Galià, M., Lligadas, G., & Cádiz, V., Rapid approach to biobased telechelics through two one-pot thiol-ene click reactions. *Biomacromolecules*, **2010**: 11: 1646-1653.

Lora, J., Mohamed Naceur, B., & Alessandro, G., in *Monomers, Polymers and Composites from Renewable Resources*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, **2008** pp.225-241.

Lora, J. H., & Glasser, W. G., Recent industrial applications of lignin: A sustainable alternative to nonrenewable materials. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, **2002**: 10: 39-48.

Lowe, A. B., Thiol-ene "click" reactions and recent applications in polymer and materials synthesis. *Polymer Chemistry*, **2010**: 1: 17-36.

Ludwig, C. H., Nist, B. J., & McCarthy, J. L., Lignin. XII.1 The High Resolution Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy of Protons in Compounds Related to Lignin. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, **1964**: 86: 1186-1196.

Lundquist, K., NMR study of lignin. 2 .Interpretation of the 1H NMR spectrum of acetylated birch lignin. *Acta Chemica Scandinavica*, **1979**: B33: 27-30.

Lundquist, K., Stern, K., Analysis of lignin by 1H NMR spectroscopy. *Nordic Pulp & Paper Research*, **1989**: 3: 210-213.

Luong, N. D., Binh, N. T. T., Duong, L. D., Kim, D. O., Kim, D. S., Lee, S. H., Kim, B. J., Lee, Y. S., & Nam, J. D., An eco-friendly and efficient route of lignin extraction from black liquor and a lignin-based copolyester synthesis. *Polymer Bulletin*, **2012**: 68: 879-890.

Lyon, C. K., Garrett, V. H., & Frankel, E. N., Rigid urethane foams from hydroxymethylated castor oil, safflower oil, oleic safflower oil, and polyol esters of castor acids. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, **1974**: 51: 331-334.

Ma, Q., Liu, X., Zhang, R., Zhu, J., & Jiang, Y., Synthesis and properties of full bio-based thermosetting resins from rosin acid and soybean oil: the role of rosin acid derivatives. *Green Chemistry*, **2013**: 15: 1300-1310.

Malherbe, S., & Cloete, T. E., Lignocellulose biodegradation: Fundamentals and applications. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Biotechnology*, **2002**: 1: 105-114.

Mansouri, H. R., Navarrete, P., Pizzi, A., Tapin-Lingua, S., Benjelloun-Mlayah, B., Pasch, H., & Rigolet, S., Synthetic-resin-free wood panel adhesives from mixed low molecular mass lignin and tannin. *European Journal of Wood and Wood Products*, **2011**: 1-9.

Mansouri, N. E., Yuan, Q., & Huang, F., Study of chemical modification of alkaline lignin by the glyoxalation reaction. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 4523-4536.

Mansouri, N. E. E., Pizzi, A., & Salvado, J., Lignin-based polycondensation resins for wood adhesives. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2007**: 103: 1690-1699.

Mansouri, N. E. E., & Salvadó, J., Structural characterization of technical lignins for the production of adhesives: Application to lignosulfonate, kraft, soda-anthraquinone, organosolv and ethanol process lignins. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2006**: 24: 8-16.

Maradur, S. P., Kim, C. H., Kim, S. Y., Kim, B. H., Kim, W. C., & Yang, K. S., Preparation of carbon fibers from a lignin copolymer with polyacrylonitrile. *Synthetic Metals*, **2012**: 162: 453-459.

Marton, J., Lignin Structure and Reactions, American Chemical Society, Washington D.C, 1966.

Marton, J., & Marton, T., Molecular weight of kraft lignin. Tappi, 1964: 47: 471-476.

Matsushita, Y., & Yasuda, S., Reactivity of a condensed-type lignin model compound in the Mannich reaction and preparation of cationic surfactant from sulfuric acid lignin. *Journal of Wood Science*, **2003**: 49: 166-171.

Matyjaszewski, K., Atom Transfer Radical Polymerization (ATRP): Current Status and Future Perspectives. *Macromolecules*, **2012**: 45: 4015-4039.

McCarthy, J. L., & Islam, A., in ACS Symposium Series, 1999, pp. 2-66.

McKendry, P., Energy production from biomass (part 2): Conversion technologies. *Bioresource Technology*, **2002**: 83: 47-54.

Meier, M. A. R., Metzger, J. O., & Schubert, U. S., Plant oil renewable resources as green alternatives in polymer science. *Chemical Society Reviews*, **2007**: 36: 1788-1802.

Mialon, L., Pemba, A. G., & Miller, S. A., Biorenewable polyethylene terephthalate mimics derived from lignin and acetic acid. *Green Chemistry*, **2010**: 12: 1704-1706.

Mialon, L., Vanderhenst, R., Pemba, A. G., & Miller, S. A., Polyalkylenehydroxybenzoates (PAHBs): Biorenewable aromatic/aliphatic polyesters from lignin. *Macromolecular Rapid Communications*, **2011**: 32: 1386-1392.

Miao, X., Fischmeister, C., Dixneuf, P. H., Bruneau, C., Dubois, J. L., & Couturier, J. L., Polyamide precursors from renewable 10-undecenenitrile and methyl acrylate via olefin cross-metathesis. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 2179-2183.

Mohan, D., Pittman Jr, C. U., & Steele, P. H., Pyrolysis of wood/biomass for bio-oil: A critical review. *Energy and Fuels*, **2006**: 20: 848-889.

More, A. S., Gadenne, B., Alfos, C., & Cramail, H., AB type polyaddition route to thermoplastic polyurethanes from fatty acid derivatives. *Polymer Chemistry*, **2012**: 3: 1594-1605.

Mousavioun, P., & Doherty, W. O. S., Chemical and thermal properties of fractionated bagasse soda lignin. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2010**: 31: 52-58.

Mu, Y. B., Wang, C. P., Zhao, L. W., & Chu, F. X., Study on Composite Adhesive of Hydroxymethylated Lignosulfonate/Phenol-formaldehyde Resin with Low Free Formaldehyde. *Chemistry and Industry of Forest Products*, **2009**: 29: 38-42.

Myrvold, B. O., The polyelectrolyte behavior of randomly branched lignosulfonates. *Tappi Journal*, **2007**: 6: 10-15.

Myrvold, B. O., A new model for the structure of lignosulphonates. Part 1. Behaviour in dilute solutions. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2008**: 27: 214-219.

Nada, A.-A. M. A., El-Sakhawy, M., & Kamel, S. M., Infra-red spectroscopic study of lignins. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **1998**: 60: 247-251.

Nadji, H., Bruzzese, C., Belgacem, M. N., Benaboura, A., & Gandini, A., Oxypropylation of lignins and preparation of rigid polyurethane foams from the ensuing polyols. *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*, **2005**: 290: 1009-1016.

Nadji, H., Bruzzèse, C., Belgacem, M. N., Benaboura, A., & Gandini, A., Oxypropylation of lignins and preparation of rigid polyurethane foams from the ensuing polyols. *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering*, **2005**: 290: 1009-1016.

Nahmany, M., & Melman, A., Chemoselectivity in reactions of esterification. *Organic and Biomolecular Chemistry*, **2004**: 2: 1563-1572.

Nassar, M., & MacKay, G., Mechanism of Thermal Decomposition of Lignin. *Wood and Fiber Science*, **1984**: 16: 441-453.

Navarrete, P., Pizzi, A., Pasch, H., & Delmotte, L., Study on lignin-glyoxal reaction by MALDI-TOF and CP-MAS 13C-NMR. *Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology*, **2012**: 26: 1069-1082.

Nguyen, T., Zavarin, E., & barrall, E. M., Thermal Analysis of Lignocellulosic Materials. Part I. Unmodified Materials. *Journal of Macromolecular Science, Part C*, **1981a**: 20: 1-65.

Nguyen, T., Zavarin, E., & Barrall, E. M., Thermal Analysis of Lignocellulosic Materials. Part II. Modified Materials. *Journal of Macromolecular Science, Part C*, **1981b**: 21: 1-60.

Niemi, H., Lahti, J., Hatakka, H., Kärki, S., Rovio, S., Kallioinen, M., Mänttäri, M., & Louhi-Kultanen, M., Fractionation of organic and inorganic compounds from black liquor by combining membrane separation and crystallization. *Chemical Engineering and Technology*, **2011**: 34: 593-598.

Nimz, H., Beech Lignin-Proposal of a Constitutional Scheme. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English*, **1974**: 13: 313-321.

Norberg, I., Nordström, Y., Drougge, R., Gellerstedt, G., & Sjöholm, E., A new method for stabilizing softwood kraft lignin fibers for carbon fiber production. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2013**: 128: 3824-3830.

Nordström, Y., Norberg, I., Sjöholm, E., & Drougge, R., A new softening agent for melt spinning of softwood kraft lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2013**: 129: 1274-1279.

Nowakowski, D. J., Bridgwater, A. V., Elliott, D. C., Meier, D., & de Wild, P., Lignin fast pyrolysis: Results from an international collaboration. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, **2010**: 88: 53-72.

Öhman, F., Theliander, H., Tomani, P., & Axegard, P., LIGNOBOOST AB 2010, US 20100325947.

Öhman, F., Theliander, H., Tomani, P., & Axegard, P., LignoBoost AB, 2011, EP 1 794 363.

Okieimen, F. E., Studies in the utilisation of epoxidised vegetable oils as thermal stabiliser for polyvinyl chloride. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2002**: 15: 71-75.

Palaskar, D. V., Boyer, A., Cloutet, E., Le Meins, J. F., Gadenne, B., Alfos, C., Farcet, C., & Cramail, H., Original diols from sunflower and ricin oils: Synthesis, characterization, and use

as polyurethane building blocks. *Journal of Polymer Science, Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2012**: 50: 1766-1782.

Palmese, G. R., & McCullough, R. L., Effect of epoxy-amine stoichiometry on cured resin material properties. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1992**: 46: 1863-1873.

Pan, X., & Saddler, J. N., Effect of replacing polyol by organosolv and kraft lignin on the property and structure of rigid polyurethane foam. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, **2013**: 12.

Pandey, M. P., & Kim, C. S., Lignin Depolymerization and Conversion: A Review of Thermochemical Methods. *Chemical Engineering & Technology*, **2010**: 34: 29-41.

Pavier, C., & Gandini, A., Oxypropylation of sugar beet pulp. 1. Optimisation of the reaction. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2000a**: 12: 1-8.

Pavier, C., & Gandini, A., Oxypropylation of sugar beet pulp. 2. Separation of the grafted pulp from the propylene oxide homopolymer. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **2000b**: 42: 13-17.

Pavier, C., & Gandini, A., Urethanes and polyurethanes from oxypropylated sugar beet pulp. I. Kinetic study in solution. *European Polymer Journal*, **2000c**: 36: 1653-1658.

Peebles, L. H., Sequence Length Distribution in Segmented Block Copolymers. *Macromolecules*, **1974**: 7: 872-882.

Peebles, L. H., Hard Block Length Distribution in Segmented Block Copolymers. *Macromolecules*, **1976**: 9: 58-61.

Persenaire, O., Alexandre, M., Degée, P., & Dubois, P., Mechanisms and Kinetics of Thermal Degradation of Poly(ε-caprolactone). *Biomacromolecules*, **2001**: 2: 288-294.

Petrovic, Z. S., Polyurethanes from vegetable oils. Polymer Reviews, 2008: 48: 109-155.

Petrović, Z. S., Guo, A., & Zhang, W., Structure and properties of polyurethanes based on halogenated and nonhalogenated soy-polyols. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2000**: 38: 4062-4069.

Petrović, Z. S., Hong, D., Javni, I., Erina, N., Zhang, F., & Ilavskýd, J., Phase structure in segmented polyurethanes having fatty acid-based soft segments. *Polymer*, **2013**: 54: 372-380.

Petrović, Z. S., Yang, L., Zlatanić, A., Zhang, W., & Javni, I., Network structure and properties of polyurethanes from soybean oil. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2007**: 105: 2717-2727.

Petrović, Z. S., Zhang, W., & Javni, I., Structure and Properties of Polyurethanes Prepared from Triglyceride Polyols by Ozonolysis. *Biomacromolecules*, **2005**: 6: 713-719.

Pettersen Roger, C., in *The Chemistry of Solid Wood*, American Chemical Society, **1984** pp.57-126.

Pfister, D. P., Xia, Y., & Larock, R. C., Recent advances in vegetable oil-based polyurethanes. *ChemSusChem*, **2011**: 4: 703-717.

Phillips, M., The chemistry of lignin. Chemical Reviews, 1934: 14: 103-170.

Pouteau, C., Baumberger, S., Cathala, B., & Dole, P., Lignin-polymer blends: Evaluation of compatibility by image analysis. *Comptes Rendus - Biologies*, **2004**: 327: 935-943.

Pouteau, C., Dole, P., Cathala, B., Averous, L., & Boquillon, N., Antioxidant properties of lignin in polypropylene. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2003**: 81: 9-18.

Prisacariu, C., in *Polyurethane Elastomers*. From Morphology to Mechanical Aspects, ed.S. Verlag, **2011**pp.23-60.

Prisacariu, C., & Scortanu, E., Morphology of polyurethanes based on the chain extender ethylene glycol and aromatic flexible diisocyanates, as revealed by scanning electron microscopy. *Revue Roumaine de Chimie*, **2008**: 53: 821-825.

Pye, E. K., The alcell process a proven alternative to kraft pulping. *Tappi Journal*, **1991**: 74. Qin, W., & Kadla, J. F., Carbon fibers based on pyrolytic lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2012**: 126: E203-E212.

Quoc Lam, H., Le Bigot, Y., Delmas, M., & Avignon, G., A new procedure for the destructuring of vegetable matter at atmospheric pressure by a catalyst/solvent system of formic acid/acetic acid. Applied to the pulping of triticale straw. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2001**: 14: 139-144.

Ralph, J., Lundquist, K., Brunow, G., Lu, F., Kim, H., Schatz, P. F., Marita, J. M., Hatfield, R. D., Ralph, S. A., Christensen, J. H., & Boerjan, W., Lignins: Natural polymers from oxidative coupling of 4-hydroxyphenyl- propanoids. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, **2004**: 3: 29-60.

Ramani, N., Graiver, D., Farminer, K. W., Tran, P. T., & Tran, T., **2010**, US 2010/0,084,603 A1.

Ramires, E. C., Megiatto Jr, J. D., Gardrat, C., Castellan, A., & Frollini, E., Biobased composites from glyoxal-phenolic resins and sisal fibers. *Bioresource Technology*, **2010**: 101: 1998-2006.

Rials, T. G., & Glasser, W. G., Engineering plastics from lignin. XIII: Effect of lignin structure on polyurethane network formation. *Holzforschung*, **1986**: 40: 353-360.

Rybak, A., Fokou, P. A., & Meier, M. A. R., Metathesis as a versatile tool in oleochemistry. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **2008**: 110: 797-804.

Sadeghifar, H., Cui, C., & Argyropoulos, D. S., Toward Thermoplastic Lignin Polymers; Part I: Selective Masking of Phenolic Hydroxyl Groups in Kraft Lignins via Methylation & Oxypropylation Chemistries. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, **2012**.

Sailaja, R. R. N., & Deepthi, M. V., Mechanical and thermal properties of compatibilized composites of polyethylene and esterified lignin. *Materials and Design*, **2010**: 31: 4369-4379. Saito, T., Brown, R. H., Hunt, M. A., Pickel, D. L., Pickel, J. M., Messman, J. M., Baker, F. S., Keller, M., & Naskar, A. K., Turning renewable resources into value-added polymer: Development of lignin-based thermoplastic. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 3295-3303.

Samuelsson, J., Jonsson, M., Brinck, T., & Johansson, M., Thiol-ene coupling reaction of fatty acid monomers. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2004**: 42: 6346-6352.

Sannigrahi, P., Ragauskas, A. J., & Miller, S. J., Lignin Structural Modifications Resulting from Ethanol Organosolv Treatment of Loblolly Pine. *Energy & Fuels*, **2009**: 24: 683-689.

Sarkanen, K. V., & Hergert, H. L., in *Lignins: Occurence, formation structure and reactions*eds.K. V. Sarkanen, & C. H. Ludwig, Wiley-Interscience, New-York, **1971** pp.43-94.

Sarkanen, K. V., & Ludwig, C. H., *Lignins: Occurrence, formation, structure and reactions*, Wiley-Interscience, New York, **1971**.

Sarkanen, S., Teller, D. C., Abramowski, E., & McCarthy, J. L., Lignin. 19. Kraft lignin component conformation and associated complex configuration in aqueous alkaline solution. *Macromolecules*, **1982**: 15: 1098-1104.

Sarkanen, S., Teller, D. C., Hall, J., & McCarthy, J. L., Lignin. 18. Associative effects among organosolv lignin components. *Macromolecules*, **1981**: 14: 426-434.

Sarkar, S., & Adhikari, B., Synthesis and characterization of lignin-HTPB copolyurethane. *European Polymer Journal*, **2001a**: 37: 1391-1401.

Sarkar, S., & Adhikari, B., Thermal stability of lignin-hydroxy-terminated polybutadiene copolyurethanes. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2001b**: 73: 169-175.

Saunders, J. H., The Reactions of Isocyanates and Isocyanate Derivatives at Elevated Temperatures. *Rubber Chemistry and Technology*, **1959**: 32: 337-345.

Saunders, J. H., & Frisch, K. C., *Polyurethanes: chemistry and technology, Part I. (High Polymers, Vol. XVI)*. Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company, **1962**.

Schneider, M. H., Furfuryl alcohol lignin adhesive. Industrial Bioprocessing, 2004: 26: 10.

Schulze, F., Beitrage zur Kenntniss des Lignins. Chem. Zentr., 1857: 21: 321-325.

Shukry, N., Fadel, S. M., Agblevor, F. A., & El-Kalyoubi, S. F., Some physical properties of acetosolv lignins from bagasse. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2008**: 109: 434-444.

Silva, E. A. B. d., Zabkova, M., Araújo, J. D., Cateto, C. A., Barreiro, M. F., Belgacem, M. N., & Rodrigues, A. E., An integrated process to produce vanillin and lignin-based

polyurethanes from Kraft lignin. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, **2009**: 87: 1276-1292.

Sivasankarapillai, G., & McDonald, A. G., Synthesis and properties of lignin-highly branched poly (ester-amine) polymeric systems. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **2012**: 35: 919-931.

Sivasankarapillai, G., McDonald, A. G., & Li, H., Lignin valorization by forming toughened lignin-co-polymers: Development of hyperbranched prepolymers for cross-linking. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **2012**: 47: 99-108.

Smolarski, N., Frost & Sullivan Paris, 2012.

Song, P., Cao, Z., Meng, Q., Fu, S., Fang, Z., Wu, Q., & Ye, J., Effect of lignin incorporation and reactive compatibilization on the morphological, rheological, and mechanical properties of ABS resin. *Journal of Macromolecular Science, Part B: Physics*, **2012**: 51: 720-735.

Stanzione III, J. F., Sadler, J. M., La Scala, J. J., Reno, K. H., & Wool, R. P., Vanillin-based resin for use in composite applications. *Green Chemistry*, **2012**: 14: 2346-2352.

Sun, G., Sun, H., Liu, Y., Zhao, B., Zhu, N., & Hu, K., Comparative study on the curing kinetics and mechanism of a lignin-based-epoxy/anhydride resin system. *Polymer*, **2007**: 48: 330-337.

Swain, P. K., Das, L. M., & Naik, S. N., Biomass to liquid: A prospective challenge to research and development in 21st century. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **2011**: 15: 4917-4933.

Szycher, M., Szycher's Handbook of Polyurethanes, Second Edition, CRC Press, 2012.

Tarabanko, V. E., Chelbina, Y. V., Kudryashev, A. V., & Tarabanko, N. V., Separation of Vanillin and Syringaldehyde Produced from Lignins. *Separation Science and Technology*, **2013**: 48: 127-132.

Tarabanko, V. E., Koropatchinskaya, N. V., Kudryashev, A. V., & Kuznetsov, B. N., Influence of lignin origin on the efficiency of the catalytic oxidation of lignin into vanillin and syringaldehyde. *Russian Chemical Bulletin*, **1995**: 44: 367-371.

Taylor, G., Biofuels and the biorefinery concept. *Energy Policy*, 2008: 36: 4406-4409.

Teramoto, Y., Lee, S. H., & Endo, T., Phase structure and mechanical property of blends of Organosolv lignin alkyl esters with poly(ε-caprolactone). *Polymer Journal*, **2009**: 41: 219-227.

That, T., Cardanol-lignin-based polyurethanes. *Polymer International*, **1996**: 41: 13-16. Thiebaud, S., & Borredon, M. E., Solvent-free wood esterification with fatty acid chlorides. *Bioresource Technology*, **1995**: 52: 169-173.

Thiebaud, S., Borredon, M. E., Baziard, G., & Senocq, F., Properties of wood esterified by fatty-acid chlorides. *Bioresource Technology*, **1997**: 59: 103-107.

Thielemans, W., & Wool, R. P., Lignin esters for use in unsaturated thermosets: Lignin modification and solubility modeling. *Biomacromolecules*, **2005**: 6: 1895-1905.

Thring, R. W., Ni, P., & Aharoni, S. M., Molecular weight effects of the soft segment on the ultimate properties of lignin-derived polyurethanes. *International Journal of Polymeric Materials*, **2004**: 53: 507-524.

Thring, R. W., Vanderlaan, M. N., & Griffin, S. L., Polyurethanes from Alcell® lignin. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **1997**: 13: 125-132.

Tomani, P., The lignoboost process. Cellulose Chemistry and Technology, 2010: 44: 53-58.

Tomani, P., Axegård, P., Berglin, N., Lovell, A., & Nordgren, D., Integration of lignin removal into a kraft pulp mill and use of lignin as a biofuel. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, **2011**: 45: 533-540.

Tomani, P., Berglin, N., & Axegård, P., in *TAPPI Press - TAPPI Engineering, Pulping and Environmental Conference 2009 - Innovations in Energy, Fiber and Compliance*, Memphis, TN, **2009**, pp. 2347-2393.

Truter, P., Pizzi, A., & Vermaas, H., Cold-setting wood adhesives from kraft hardwood lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1994**: 51: 1319-1322.

Türünç, O., & Meier, M. A. R., Fatty acid derived monomers and related polymers via thiolene (Click) additions. *Macromolecular Rapid Communications*, **2010**: 31: 1822-1826.

Van der Drift, A., & Boerrigter, H., *Synthesis gas from biomass for fuels and chemicals*, Biomass, Coal and Environmental Research **2006**.

Van der Steen, M., & Stevens, C. V., Undecylenic Acid: A Valuable and Physiologically Active Renewable Building Block from Castor Oil. *ChemSusChem*, **2009**: 2: 692-713.

Vanderlaan, M. N., & Thring, R. W., Polyurethanes from Alcell® lignin fractions obtained by sequential solvent extraction. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **1998**: 14: 525-531.

Vázquez, G., Antorrena, G., González, J., & Freire, S., The influence of pulping conditions on the structure of acetosolv eucalyptus lignins. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, **1997**: 17: 147-162.

Velankar, S., & Cooper, S. L., Microphase separation and rheological properties of polyurethane melts. 1. Effect of block length. *Macromolecules*, **1998**: 31: 9181-9192.

Velankar, S., & Cooper, S. L., Microphase separation and rheological properties of polyurethane melts. 2. Effect of block incompatibility on the microstructure. *Macromolecules*, **2000a**: 33: 382-394.

Velankar, S., & Cooper, S. L., Microphase separation and rheological properties of polyurethane melts. 3. Effect of block incompatibility on the viscoelastic properties. *Macromolecules*, **2000b**: 33: 395-403.

Vert, M., Doi, Y., Hellwich, K. H., Hess, M., Hodge, P., Kubisa, P., Rinaudo, M., & Schué, F., Terminology for biorelated polymers and applications (IUPAC recommendations 2012). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, **2012**: 84: 377-410.

Villar, J. C., Caperos, A., & García-Ochoa, F., Oxidation of hardwood kraft-lignin to phenolic derivatives with oxygen as oxidant. *Wood Science and Technology*, **2001**: 35: 245-255.

Vinardell, M. P., Ugartondo, V., & Mitjans, M., Potential applications of antioxidant lignins from different sources. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2008**: 27: 220-223.

Vishtal, A., & Kraslawski, A., Challenges in industrial applications of technical lignins. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 3547-3568.

Wang, J., Yao, K., Korich, A. L., Li, S., Ma, S., Ploehn, H. J., Iovine, P. M., Wang, C., Chu, F., & Tang, C., Combining renewable gum rosin and lignin: Towards hydrophobic polymer composites by controlled polymerization. *Journal of Polymer Science, Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, **2011**: 49: 3728-3738.

Warren, C. D., Low-cost carbon fiber - Will the market develop? *Composites Technology*, **2006**: 12: 7-9.

Windeisen, E., Wegener, G., Editors-in-Chief: Krzysztof, M., & Martin, M. l., in *Polymer Science: A Comprehensive Reference*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, **2012** pp.255-265.

Wong, D. W. S., Structure and action mechanism of ligninolytic enzymes. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, **2009**: 157: 174-209.

Wörmeyer, K., Ingram, T., Saake, B., Brunner, G., & Smirnova, I., Comparison of different pretreatment methods for lignocellulosic materials. Part II: Influence of pretreatment on the properties of rye straw lignin. *Bioresource Technology*, **2011**: 102: 4157-4164.

Wu, L. C. F., & Glasser, W. G., Engineering plastics from lignin. I. Synthesis of hydroxypropyl lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1984a**: 29: 1111-1123.

Wu, L. C. F., & Glasser, W. G., Engineering Plastics From Lignin. I. Synthesis of hydroxypropyl lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **1984b**: 29: 1111-1123.

Xiao, B., Sun, X. F., & Sun, R., Chemical modification of lignins with succinic anhydride in aqueous systems. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **2001**: 71: 223-231.

Xu, Y., Petrovic, Z., Das, S., & Wilkes, G. L., Morphology and properties of thermoplastic polyurethanes with dangling chains in ricinoleate-based soft segments. *Polymer*, **2008**: 49: 4248-4258.

Yang, W. P., Macosko, C. W., & Wellinghoff, S. T., Thermal degradation of urethanes based on 4,4'-diphenylmethane diisocyanate and 1,4-butanediol (MDI/BDO). *Polymer*, **1986**: 27: 1235-1240.

Yin, Q., Yang, W., Sun, C., & Di, M., Preparation and properties of lignin-epoxy resin composite. *BioResources*, **2012**: 7: 5737-5748.

Yoshida, H., Mörck, R., Kringstad Knut, P., & Hatakeyama, H., Fractionation of Kraft Lignin by Successive Extraction with Organic Solvents. II. Thermal Properties of Kraft Lignin Fractions. *Holzforschung*, **1987**: 41: 171.

Yu, L., Dean, K., & Li, L., Polymer blends and composites from renewable resources. *Progress in Polymer Science (Oxford)*, **2006**: 31: 576-602.

Yue, X., Chen, F., & Zhou, X., Improved interfacial bonding of PVC/Wood-flour composites by lignin amine modification. *BioResources*, **2011**: 6: 2022-2034.

Zakzeski, J., Bruijnincx, P. C. A., Jongerius, A. L., & Weckhuysen, B. M., The catalytic valorization of lignin for the production of renewable chemicals. *Chem. Rev.*, **2010**: 110: 3552-3599.

Zakzeski, J., & Weckhuysen, B., Lignin solubilization and aqueous phase reforming for the production of aromatic chemicals and hydrogen. *ChemSusChem*, **2011**: 4: 369-378.

Zhang, H., Pang, H., Shi, J., Fu, T., & Liao, B., Investigation of liquefied wood residues based on cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2011**: 123: 850-856.

Zhang, L., & Huang, J., Effects of hard-segment compositions on properties of polyurethanenitrolignin films. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2001a**: 81: 3251-3259.

Zhang, L., & Huang, J., Effects of nitrolignin on mechanical properties of polyurethanenitrolignin films. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, **2001b**: 80: 1213-1219.

Zhang, W., Ma, Y., Wang, C., Li, S., Zhang, M., & Chu, F., Preparation and properties of lignin–phenol–formaldehyde resins based on different biorefinery residues of agricultural biomass. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **2013**: 43: 326-333.

Zlatanić, A., Petrović, Z. S., & Dušek, K., Structure and Properties of Triolein-Based Polyurethane Networks. *Biomacromolecules*, **2002**: 3: 1048-1056.
# Annexes

## I. L'étanchéité des bâtiments

L'étanchéité, permet sous différentes formes, de protéger un bâtiment ou un ouvrage de génie civil des intempéries et des diverses sollicitations climatiques.

L'étanchéité est généralement utilisée dans le cadre de toitures-terrasses plates ou inclinées, de murs enterrés, de balcons, de loggias ou de bassins de rétention d'eau... La mise en œuvre du revêtement d'étanchéité (en indépendance, en semi-indépendance, en adhérence ou fixé mécaniquement), varie en fonction de plusieurs paramètres à connaître, notamment la destination de l'ouvrage (accessible, non accessible, jardin,...) ainsi que l'élément porteur (bois, béton, acier,...), la pente de la toiture, l'isolant du support d'étanchéité et la protection.

Les différents revêtements d'étanchéité se classent en trois catégories principales:

- Revêtement d'étanchéité bitumineux
- Membranes synthétiques
- Etanchéité liquide

## 1. Revêtement d'étanchéité bitumineux

Les membranes d'étanchéité bitumineuses sont constituées de deux parties principales :

- Le liant bitumineux, mélange de bitume et d'un élastomère (SBS- Styrène-Butadiène-Styrène ou APP-Polypropylène Atactique) assurant l'étanchéité de façon durable.
- (ii) Le renfort, constitué d'un « non tissé » à base de fibres de verre ou de polyester, renforçant la membrane tout en limitant son fluage lors du stockage, ou sur un toit lorsqu'elle est soumise à de hautes températures.

La face supérieure des membranes est toujours recouverte de paillettes d'ardoise ou d'une feuille d'aluminium dans le but de la protéger des agressions extérieures et plus particulièrement d'éviter la dégradation de l'élastomère (généralement le SBS) par les rayonnements ultraviolets du soleil. Une partie de la face supérieure, appelée galon, est laissée « nue » dans le but de pouvoir fusionner les lés de membranes entre eux lors de leur pose sur un toit et ainsi assurer des joints étanches, résistants et durables (Figure A-1).

Le liant d'étanchéité bitumineux est thermoplastique et l'application sur chantier se fait en fusionnant le liant de façon à le faire adhérer sur le support ou sur lui-même.



**Figure A-1.** Représentation d'une coupe transversale d'une membrane d'étanchéité – Photographie d'une membrane d'étanchéité SOPREMA à base de bitume élastomère et d'une armature en grille de verre/voile de verre auto protégée par des paillettes d'ardoise.

Les bitumes élastomères offrent par ailleurs les propriétés suivantes : (i) une grande élasticité, (ii) un meilleur comportement à basse température, (iii) de la souplesse, (iv) un grand pouvoir d'adhérence au support ainsi (v) qu'une étanchéité des joints fiable.

Les étanchéités bitumineuses représentent 75 à 80% du marché mondial de l'étanchéité des toitures terrasses.

#### 2. Membranes synthétiques

Il existe plusieurs types de membranes d'étanchéité synthétiques, notamment les membranes PVC (Polychlorure de vinyle), les membranes TPE (Thermoplastiques élastomères) et les membranes TPO (polyoléfine thermoplastique). Ces membranes peuvent s'adapter à de nombreuses situations d'étanchéité de toiture-terrasse (accessible et non accessible) mais sont également destinées à l'étanchéité des bassins de rétention et des chéneaux. Ce sont elles aussi des membranes thermoplastiques qui sont mises en œuvre par soudure à air chaud ou par collage et généralement en monocouche (Figure A-2). Ces membranes d'étanchéité synthétiques s'adaptent aux principaux éléments porteurs avec ou sans isolant support.



**Figure A-2.** Schéma de la mise en œuvre de membranes synthétiques – Soudure à air chaud d'un joint d'étanchéité.

Les procédés de fabrication généralement utilisés sont l'extrusion-calandrage dans le cas des membranes PVC plastifiés ou les polyoléfines, et l'enduction pour le PVC plastisol (mélange PVC + plastifiant).

Les étanchéités liquides représentent 15 à 20% du marché mondial et tendent à prendre une place de plus en plus importante.

## 3. L'étanchéité liquide

L'étanchéité liquide est particulièrement adaptée aux chantiers interdisant l'utilisation de flamme. Ce type d'étanchéité peut aussi être utilisé dans le cadre de traitement de points singuliers associé à des étanchéités bitumineuses. Le procédé est également adapté pour le traitement de petites surfaces telles que les balcons et loggias. Les étanchéités liquides du marché sont diverses: résine polyuréthanne, résine polyester, résine de polymères méthacryliques et polyuréthannes (PU), dispersion de polymères acryliques et résine en polyméthacrylate de méthyle (PMMA).

Ce sont des matériaux thermodurcissables pour lesquels le film assurant l'étancheité est généralement formé in situ. Les mécanismes réactionnels associés sont variés:

- (i) Réaction de polyaddition avec l'humidité de l'air pour les PU mono composants,
- (ii) Réaction de polyaddition après mélange des réactifs sur chantier (polyol + isocyanate par exemple)
- (iii)Réaction radicalaire déclenchée après ajout de l'amorceur dans la résine sur chantier : peroxyde de benzoyle dans les résines PMMA.

Dans le cadre de notre travail de thèse, l'objectif principal était la synthèse d'un nouveau polymère biosourcé pouvant rentrer dans l'élaboration d'une nouvelle « éco-membrane ». Nous nous sommes donc concentrés principalement sur l'élaboration de nouveaux polymères pouvant s'intégrer dans la réalisation de membranes d'étanchéité thermoplastiques bitumineuses ou synthétiques. En outre, la nouvelle « éco-membrane » devra respecter un cahier des charges strict et fixé par l'industriel. Les caractéristiques principales de ce cahier des charges font l'objet de la seconde partie de cette annexe.

## II. Le cahier des charges de la nouvelle « éco-membrane »

La nouvelle membrane d'étanchéité verte doit respecter un cahier des charges contraignant et strict. Il est attendu de cette dernière :

- (i) d'être étanche et avoir une faible prise en eau,
- (ii) qu'elle respecte la garantie décennale, règle imposée pour tout matériau du bâtiment,
- (iii) qu'elle soit souple à basses températures et qu'elle ne flue pas à hautes températures,
- (iv) qu'elle présente des joints fusibles, solides et durables.

Dans le cadre de nos travaux de recherche, il s'agit principalement de développer de nouveaux polymères fonctionnels pouvant s'intégrer totalement ou partiellement dans la formulation du liant d'étanchéité. Celui-ci doit respecter le cahier des charges présenté dans le tableau suivant (Tableau A-2).

Désignation	Critère	Propriétés
SERVICE	Etre étanche	Hydrophobe
MISE EN FORME	Résister aux conditions de mise en œuvre (enduction, mélange, extrusion)	Viscosité, rhéologie,
	Résister aux hautes températures	Fluage
	Résister au calandrage	
MISE EN ŒUVRE /	Résister lors de la pose (allongement, résistance aux chocs,	Rémanence viscosité
POSE DES MATERIAUX	poinçonnement statistique, résistance à la déchirure)	Kemanence, viscosne
	Faciliter la pose des membranes	Soudabilité des membranes
		Caractère thermoplastique
VIELLISSEMENT ET DURABILITE	Suivre les mouvements du bâtiment	
	Résister à la lumière (UV)	Résistance à la fatigue
	Résister à l'oxygène (oxydation)	Aspect visuel
	Résister à l'humidité	Variation de masse
	Résister aux micro-organismes naturels (moisissures)	Hydrophobe
	Résister aux variations de températures	Fluage
	Résister au vent	Rémanence
	Résister à la pollution	
RESISTANCE AU FEU	Classement au feu	
STABIILITE DIMENSIONNELLE	Retrait libre	
DURABILITE	Garantie décennale	
AGREMENT / CONFORT	Etre facilement stockable	Volume occupé par un rouleau de membrane
	Etre facilement transportable	Poids du rouleau
	Etre esthétique	Couleur / Texture
COÛT / QUALITE / DISPONIBILITE	Respecter le coût du produit	Prix de revient d'un kilogramme de matière première
	Respecter la garantie de durabilité dans le temps	Garantie décennale
	Etre réalisable avec des matières premières disponibles	Tonnage des matières premières produites par an
RECYCLAGE	Etre recyclable	Etre valorisable/ broyable pour une utilisation future en tant que charge

Tableau A-1. Cahier des charges d'une membrane d'étanchéité.





#### Résumé

De nouvelles architectures macromoléculaires ont été synthétisées à partir de lignine afin de développer des matériaux pour des applications dans le bâtiment. Trois voies différentes de modifications chimiques ont été retenues afin d'apporter de nouvelles propriétés à la lignine pour répondre à un cahier des charges précis. Dans un premier temps, des chaines de poly(caprolactone) ont été greffées sur la lignine par polymérisation par ouverture de cycle conférant ainsi à la lignine des propriétés particulières en fonction de la longueur des chaines de PCL greffées. La valorisation de la lignine pour la synthèse de polymères fonctionnels repose ainsi sur sa modification chimique. Notre démarche scientifique s'est par la suite axée sur la fonctionnalisation de la lignine afin d'en faire un synthon principal pour la synthèse de polyuréthanes (PU). Cette stratégie a été poursuivi avec l'addition d'acide oléique sur la lignine. Une réaction d'estérification a été mise au point par un procédé non solvanté en l'absence de catalyseur. Cet intermédiaire a été fonctionnalisé en vue d'obtenir un macropolyol réactif pour la synthèse de PU. Les propriétés des polymères ont été investiguées en modulant certains paramètres réactionnels. Les performances des matériaux obtenus ont montré l'intérêt de cette stratégie globale pour les applications finales visées. Enfin, dans une troisième et dernière approche, la réaction d'oxypropylation a été étudiée. Des chaines de polypropylène glycol ont été greffées sur la lignine aboutissant à l'obtention de quatre macropolyols différents avec des architectures macromoléculaires variées. Des PU ont été synthétisés à partir de ces macropolyols et les paramètres réactionnels ajustés en vue de moduler les propriétés finales des matériaux. Tous les PU réalisés ont démontré une séparation de phase attestant d'une organisation spécifique en segments souples/rigides et conférant des propriétés élastomères aux matériaux finaux. Cette étude a permis d'intégrer jusqu'à 89 % de matériaux biosourcés et renouvelables dans les polymères finaux et a montré le fort potentiel de la lignine pour l'élaboration de matériaux performants.

*Mots clés : Lignine, Polyuréthane, estérification, éthérification, relation structure-propriétés.* 

#### Abstract

New macromolecular architectures have been performed by using lignin to develop new advanced materials for building applications. Three synthetic pathways have been carried out in order to impart specific properties to lignin-based materials. A Ring-Opening Polymerization has first been performed with  $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone to graft polymer chains onto lignin. Branching efficiency was confirmed by analysis and allows giving advanced properties to lignin materials. This first modification highlights the importance of lignin functionalization as building block for polymer synthesis. Then, we pursue the investigations by esterifying lignin with oleic acid by a solvent and catalyst-free method. Doubles bond were functionalized to obtain a lignin/fatty acid-based macropolyol that was then used for polyurethane synthesis (PU). Mechanical and thermal properties have been modulated by varying NCO:OH molar ratio and prepolymer molecular weight. Finally, oxypropylation was performed onto lignin by using various reaction parameters to obtain different macromolecular architectures for the resulting polyols. PUs have then been synthesized with the resulting macropolyols. The structure of macropolyols impacts greatly the thermal and mechanical properties of polymers, the influence of NCO:OH molar ratio was also studied.

All of the PU reported in this work presented a micro-phase separation resulting in a specific organization (rigid/soft segments) into the polymer matrix. The lignin-based material revealed advanced thermal and mechanical properties with a high bio-based content up to 89%. This work allows emphasizing the potential of lignin as a starting material in the synthesis of sustainable material for building applications.

Keywords: Lignin, Polyurethane, esterification, etherification, relationship structure-properties